
Page 1 of 3 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, JULY 15, 2024 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL, 220 CLAY STREET 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Approval of the minutes of the Regular City Council meeting of July 1, 2024. 

Agenda Revisions 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics relevant to City 

business.) 

Staff Updates 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public hearing on the proposed conveyance of certain vacated alley right-of way abutting 1307 
Longview Street. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 07/06/2024) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Quit Claim Deed conveying certain vacated 
alley right-of-way abutting 1307 Longview Street. 

3. Public hearing on the FFY2024-2028 Consortium 5-Year Consolidated Plan for Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) & HOME programs. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 07/06/2024) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and adopting the FFY2024-2028 Consortium 5-Year Consolidated Plan for 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) & HOME programs. 

Old Business 

1



Page 2 of 3 

4. Pass Ordinance #3069, amending the Zoning Map by removing real estate located at 2216 Main 
Street and 127 East 23rd Street, Commercial District, upon its third & final consideration. 

5. Pass Ordinance #3070, amending Chapter 10, Garbage and Refuse, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to containers; placement for collection; penalty of violation and service charges – 
established, upon its third & final consideration. 

6. Pass Ordinance #3071, amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
controller/city treasurer, information systems manager, city clerk, appointment, powers and duties of 
city attorney, appointment, powers and duties of human resources manager, planning and 
community services manager, manager, building official, manager of operations and maintenance, 
city engineer, and water reclamation manager, upon its second consideration. 

7. Pass Ordinance #3072, amending Chapter 17, Parks and Recreation, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to public events on city property, upon its second consideration. 

8. Pass Ordinance #3073, amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to parking prohibited on specific streets, upon its second consideration. 

9. Pass Ordinance #3074, amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
residence district, upon its second consideration. 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 

discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

10. Receive and file the City Council Committee of the Whole minutes of July 1, 2024 relative to the 
following items: 
a) Cash Management Report. 
b) Proposed Health Plan Amendments. 

11. Approve the following recommendation of the Mayor relative to the reappointment of members to 
Boards and Commissions: 
a) Peter Berendzen, Art & Culture Board, term ending 07/01/2028. 

12. Receive and file communication from the Civil Service Commission relative to the following certified 
list: 
a) Maintenance Worker. 

13. Receive, file and approve the FY2025 Cash Management Report. 

14. Receive and file revised bylaws for the Art & Culture Board. 

15. Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Dollar General, 1922 Valley Park Drive, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 
b) Cypress Lounge, 209 A State Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 
c) Wal-Mart, 525 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 
d) Wal-Mart, 525 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class E retail alcohol - change in ownership. 
e) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street - Plaza, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service -
temporary expansion of outdoor service area. (August 31 - September 1, September 14 & 
September 26, 2024) 
f) Patton, 317 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol - temporary outdoor service/sidewalk café. (July 16 
- November 15, 2024) 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

16. Resolution Calendar with items considered separately. 

17. Resolution amending CFD 1121, Section 2.4, regarding City Council Electronic Meeting Procedures. 

2



Page 3 of 3 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Easement Agreement, in conjunction with a 
sidewalk café at 315 Main Street. 

19. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an amended Joinder Agreement for Group Term 
Life Insurance with National Insurance Services of Wisconsin Insurance Trust relative to Group Term 
Life Insurance & Accidental Death & Dismemberment (AD&D) Insurance. 

20. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Subordination Agreement between U.S. Bank 
National Association relative to the Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Project. 

21. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with Lyngsoe Systems for an 
Automated Materials Handler (AMH) for the Cedar Falls Public Library. 

22. Resolution rescinding Resolution #23,667, being a Resolution approving and authorizing the 
expenditure of funds for the purchase of Glock 26 Pistols with Trijicon SRO2 Optic firearms for the 
Public Safety Department. 

23. Resolution approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of Glock 26 Pistols 
with Trijicon SRO2 Optic firearms for the Public Safety Department. 

24. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of two Red House Studio Lease Extensions relative 
to the use of 224 West Seerley Boulevard as artists’ studio space, in conjunction with the Hearst 
Center’s Visiting Artist Program. 

25. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Red House Studio Lease with Monica Sanguino 
relative to the use of 224 West Seerley Boulevard as artists’ studio space, in conjunction with the 
Hearst Center’s Visiting Artist Program. 

26. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Addendum to the Agreement with the Iowa 
Department of Transportation (IDOT) relative to the West 1st Street Reconstruction Project. 

27. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product Agreement for Custodial 
Services with Fresh Start Cleaning Solutions, Inc. relative to providing custodial services for city 
buildings from September 1, 2024 through August 31, 2027. 

28. Resolution approving and accepting nine Temporary Construction Easements, in conjunction with 
the North Cedar Heights Drive Project - Phase 1A. 

29. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of two Owner Purchase Agreements; and approving 
and accepting two Temporary Construction Easements, in conjunction with the Main Street 
Reconstruction Project. 

30. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of two Owner Purchase Agreements; and approving 
and accepting one Temporary Construction Easement; one Crop Loss Agreement, in conjunction 
with the Viking Road & Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements Project. 

31. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting August 5, 2024 as the date of public hearing on the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the Viking Road & Prairie 
Parkway Intersection Improvements Project. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

32. Allow Bills and Claims for July 15, 2024. 

Council Updates and Announcements 

Council Referrals 

Adjournment 

3



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, JULY 1, 2024 
REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 

MAYOR DANIEL LAUDICK PRESIDING 
  

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:13 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Schultz, Latta, Kruse 
(via electronic), Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman. Absent: Dunn. Mayor Laudick led 
the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
 
54848 - It was moved by Latta and seconded by Ganfield that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of June 17, 2024 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54849 - Rick Sharp, Cedar Falls, expressed concerns with fireworks and requested 

enforcement of the ordinance. Mayor Laudick and Director of Public Safety Berte 
commented. 

  
  David Spreitzer, Cedar Falls, commented on safety concerns regarding dead tree 

branches on his street that need attention. Mayor Laudick and Director of Public 
Works Schrage commented. 

   
54850 - Director of Public Safety Berte commented on fireworks usage and enforcement. 

Mayor Laudick commented.  
   
  Library Director Stern announced the 20th birthday of the Library Building and 

commented on the Summer Reading Program. Stern also announced the 1st  
  Birthday of Library Mascot, Fable the Fox, and a celebration to be held in the 

Library Parking lot July 12, from 3: 30 PM – 5:30 PM. 
 
54851 - Mayor Laudick announced that in accordance with the public notice of June 25, 

2024, this was the time and place for a public hearing on a proposal to undertake 
a public improvement project for the Katoski Drive Box Culvert Replacement 
Project, and to authorize acquisition of private property for said project. It was 
then moved by Ganfield and seconded by Crisman that the proof of publication of 
notice of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

54852 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 
project. Upon being advised that there were no written communications on file, 
the Mayor then called for oral comments. City Engineer Wicke provided an 
update on the project. There being no one else present wishing to speak about 
the project, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the next order 
of business. 

54853 - It was moved by Hawbaker and seconded by Crisman that Resolution #23,685, 
approving a public improvement project for the Katoski Drive Box Culvert 
Replacement Project, and to authorize acquisition of private property for said 
project, be adopted. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 

4

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

#23,685 duly passed and adopted. 

54854 - Mayor Laudick announced that in accordance with the public notice of June 25, 
2024, this was the time and place for a public hearing on a proposal to undertake 
a public improvement project for the South Main Street Sanitary Sewer Extension 
Project, and to authorize acquisition of private property for said project. It was 
then moved by Crisman and seconded by Ganfield that the proof of publication of 
notice of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

54855 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 
project. Upon being advised that there was one written communication on file, 
the Mayor then called for oral comments. City Engineer Wicke provided an 
update on the project. Following supportive comments by Cedar Falls resident 
Walt Rogers, opposing comments by Cedar Falls residents Sandy Lawry and 
Natalie Morfitt, and general comments and questions by Denzel, Cedar Falls, 
Rick Sharp, Cedar Falls, Carrie Sherwood, Dike, and Kim Jensen Jordan, Cedar 
Falls, and responses by Director of Public Works Schrage, Mayor Laudick, City 
Attorney Rogers, and AECOM Engineer Tony Hemann,  the Mayor declared the 
hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

54856 - It was moved by Crisman and seconded by Hawbaker that Resolution #23,686, 
approving a public improvement project for the South Main Street Sanitary Sewer 
Extension Project, and to authorize acquisition of private property for said project, 
be adopted. Following questions and comments by Councilmembers Ganfield, 
Latta, Crisman, Schultz, and Kruse, Cedar Falls residents Barb Shepard and 
Emily Olson, and responses by Director of Public Works Schrage, City Attorney 
Rogers, and Mayor Laudick, it was moved by Kruse and seconded by Schultz to 
postpone consideration to allow staff time to prepare further studies of three 
separate projects. Following a comment by Schrage, and comments and 
questions by Councilmembers Hawbaker, Crisman, Kruse, Schultz, Ganfield, and 
Latta, and responses by Mayor Laudick, Schrage, Rogers, and City Administrator 
Gaines, the motion to postpone failed 2-4, with Latta, Hawbaker, Ganfield, and 
Crisman voting Nay. The Mayor then put the question on the original motion and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted.  Aye: Schultz, 
Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The 
Mayor then declared Resolution #23,686 duly passed and adopted. 

54857 - It was moved by Latta and seconded by Crisman that Ordinance #3068, 
amending Chapter 6, Animals, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
impoundment of dogs, cats or poultry running at-large, redemption of impounded 
animals, permitting dog, cat or poultry to run at-large, disposition of impoundment 
animals and notice of destruction of animal; appeal, be passed upon its third and 
final consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance #3068 
duly passed and adopted. 

54858 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Schultz that Ordinance #3069, 
amending the Zoning Map by removing real estate located at 2216 Main Street 
and 127 East 23rd Street, Commercial District, be passed upon its second 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman. Nay: None. Motion carried.  

54859 - It was moved by Latta and seconded by Ganfield that Ordinance #3070, 
amending Chapter 10, Garbage and Refuse, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to containers; placement for collection; penalty of violation and service charges – 
established, be passed upon its second consideration. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, 
Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54860 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Latta that the following items on the 
Consent Calendar be received, filed, and approved:  

 
 Receive and file the City Council Committee of the Whole minutes of June 17, 

2024 relative to the following item: 
a) Parking Study Report. 

 Receive and file the following resignations of members from Boards and 
Commissions: 
a) Jason Droste, Human Rights Commission. 
b) Brad Leeper, Planning & Zoning Commission. 

 Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Chuck E. Cheese's, 5911 University Avenue, Special Class C retail alcohol - 
renewal. 
b) Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar, 6301 University Avenue, Class C retail 
alcohol - renewal. 
c) Carlos O'Kelly's Mexican Café, 6507 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol 
- renewal. 
d) Cooper’s Taproom, 2002 College Street, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 
e) Le Petit, 119 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 
f  Montage, 222-224 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – 
renewal. 
g) Texas Roadhouse, 5715 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 
h) Carlos O'Kelly's Mexican Café, 6507 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol 
– change in ownership. 
i) Jorgensen Plaza (Table 1912, Diamond Event Center and Gilmore’s Pub), 
5307 Caraway Lane, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - temporary 
expansion of outdoor service area. (July 25, 2024 and August 29, 2024) 

 Motion carried unanimously. 

54861 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Latta that the following resolutions be 
introduced and adopted: 

 Resolution #23,687, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement in 
Support of Cedar Falls Community School District relative to FY2025 Cedar Falls 
Health Trust Services Funding. 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

 Resolution #23,688, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement in 
Support of NAMI Black Hawk County relative to FY2025 Cedar Falls Health Trust 
Services Funding. 

 Resolution #23,689, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement in 
Support of Family YMCA of Black Hawk County relative to FY2025 Cedar Falls 
Health Trust Services Funding. 

 Resolution #23,690, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with 
the University of Northern Iowa relative to a City Employee Climate Survey. 

 Resolution #23,691, approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product 
Agreement for asbestos removal and disposal services with All Star 
Environmental relative to property located at 523 West 1st Street. 

 Resolution #23,692, approving an amendment to the PC-2, Planned Commercial 
Zoning District Master Plan and site plan for construction of a practice soccer 
field to be located at 924 West Viking Road. 

 Resolution #23,693, approving the minor plat of Geisler Minor Subdivision Plat 
No. 1, replat of Lots 7, 8, & 9, Normal Addition. 

 Resolution #23,694, approving a College Hill Neighborhood Overlay District 
design review for two new duplexes located at 2511 Franklin Street. (Contingent 
upon approval of previous item) 

 Resolution #23,695, approving and authorizing execution of a License 
Agreement with Aureon Network Services relative to installing a fiber optic 
telecommunications system within the public right-of-way of West 27th Street.  

 Resolution #23,696, approving and authorizing execution of a License 
Agreement with Aureon Network Services relative to installing a fiber optic 
telecommunications system within the public right-of-way of Orchard Drive.  

 Resolution #23,697, approving and accepting three Warranty Deeds in 
conjunction with the North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Project. 

 Resolution #23,698, setting July 15 as the date of public hearing on the proposed 
conveyance of certain vacated alley right-of-way abutting 1307 Longview Street. 

 Resolution #23,699, setting July 15 as the date of public hearing on the 
FFY2024-2028 Consortium 5-Year Consolidated Plan for Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) & HOME Programs.  

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #23,687 through #23,699 duly 
passed and adopted. 

54862 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Crisman that Resolution #23,700, 
approving and adopting an Amendment to the City's Health Insurance Benefits 
and Summary Plan Document relative to continuation of health coverage for 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

dependents of eligible peace officers and firefighters, be adopted.  Following 
comments by Carrie Sherwood, Dike, and Rick Sharp, Cedar Falls, and 
questions and comments by Councilmembers Hawbaker, Schultz, Ganfield, and 
Crisman, and responses by Human Resources Manager Schindel and Mayor 
Laudick, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, 
Ganfield, Crisman. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared 
Resolution #23,700 duly passed and adopted. 

54863 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Latta that Resolution #23,701, 
approving and adopting amendments to CFD 2251: Personnel Policy – Insurance 
Benefits, be adopted. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman. Nay: None.  Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#23,701 duly passed and adopted. 

54864 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Latta that Resolution #23,702, 
approving and adopting an Amendment to the City's Health Insurance Benefits 
and Summary Plan Document relative to continuation of existing health coverage 
for one additional month, be adopted. Following due consideration by the 
Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, 
Ganfield, Crisman. Nay: None.  Motion carried. The Mayor then declared 
Resolution #23,702 duly passed and adopted. 

54865 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Crisman that Ordinance #3071, 
amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
controller/city treasurer, information systems manager, city clerk, appointment, 
powers and duties of city attorney, appointment, powers and duties of human 
resources manager, planning and community services manager, manager, 
building official, manager of operations and maintenance, city engineer, and 
water reclamation manager, be passed upon its first consideration. Following 
comments by Councilmember Ganfield and Mayor Laudick, and Rick Sharp, 
Cedar Falls, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, 
the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, 
Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54866 - It was moved by Latta and seconded by Crisman that Ordinance #3072, 
amending Chapter 17, Parks and Recreation, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to public events on city property, be passed upon its first consideration. Following 
a question by Denzel, Cedar Falls, and response by City Attorney Rogers, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54867 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Crisman that Ordinance #3073, 
amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to parking prohibited on specific streets, be passed upon its first 
consideration. Following comments by Councilmember Ganfield, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named 

8

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54868 - It was moved by Crisman and seconded by Ganfield that Ordinance #3074, 
amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to residence 
district, be passed upon its first consideration. Following questions and 
comments by Councilmembers Schultz and Ganfield, and responses by City 
Attorney Rogers, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the 
roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, 
Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54869 -  It was moved by Latta and seconded by Schultz that the bills and claims of July 
1, 2024 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer be 
authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper funds in 
payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. 

 
54870 -     Councilmember Schultz commented on the recent fireworks display and the 

Sturgis Falls events and thanked all involved. 
     
    City Administrator Gaines thanked staff for work during Sturgis Falls while also 

fighting a flood. Mayor Laudick agreed. 
 
54871 -     It was moved by Crisman and seconded by Hawbaker to adjourn to Executive 

Session to discuss Property Acquisition per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(j) to 
discuss the purchase or sale of particular real estate only where premature 
disclosure could be reasonably expected to increase the price the governmental 
body would have to pay for that property or reduce the price the governmental 
body would receive for that property; and to discuss Information contained in 
records in the custody of a governmental body that are confidential records 
pursuant to Iowa Code Section 22.7(50). Upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted.  Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman.  Nay: None.  Motion carried. 

 
     The City Council adjourned to Executive Session at 8:59 P.M. 
 
     Mayor Laudick reconvened the Council meeting at 9:59 P.M.   
 
54872 -  It was moved by Crisman and seconded by Latta that the meeting be adjourned 

at 10:00 P.M. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
                                                           __________________________________ 
                                                           Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

9

Item 1.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council  

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: July 15, 2024 

 SUBJECT:  Public Hearing to consider offers to purchase and to convey vacated right-
of-way alley abutting 1317 Longview Street 

 

 
REQUEST: 

 
Consideration of offer(s) to purchase and to convey vacated portion of  
alley ROW abutting 1307 Longview Street (Case #VAC24-001) 
 

LOCATION: 
 

1,728 sq. ft. of public property located on the west side of Hudson Road 
approximately 200 feet north of the intersection of Ashworth Drive.  
 

 

PROPOSAL 
Arthur Hesse requested a vacation of the portion of the public alley that abuts his property 
at 1307 Longview Street with the intent to purchase the vacated right-of-way at fair market 
value. The applicant’s garage was built on the unimproved alley years ago. Purchasing 
the vacated alley abutting his property will allow Mr. Hesse to establish clear title to the 
land where his garage is constructed. The unimproved alley extends from Cedar Street 
to Longview Street, west of Pine Street, east of Longview Court. After a hearing on May 
20, 2024, and three readings, the City Council adopted an ordinance to vacate said 
portion of the alley on June 17, 2024. As per Iowa Code Section 306.23, the City notified 
persons who were to be given preference to purchase the vacated right-of-way.  An offer 
to purchase the vacated ROW along with certified check made payable to the City of 
Cedar Falls for the fair market value of $4,500 was received from Arthur Hesse.  Fair 
market value was determined by independent appraisal with reductions for easements 
retained 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
Staff recommends approval of a resolution to convey the vacated real estate, subject to 
establishment of a perpetual utility easement and further subject to existing easements 
of record, all as shown on the attached vacation plat, to Arthur Hesse for the fair market 
value of $4,500 and to authorize the Mayor and the City Clerk to execute a Quit Claim 
Deed for the described real estate and to deliver said Quit Claim Deed to the Grantee.  
 
 
Attachments: Resolution to Convey Vacated ROW and execute a Quit Claim Deed 
   Right of Way Vacation Plat 

10

Item 2.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by:  Michelle Pezley, Planning III, 220 Clay St., Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. ____________________ 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A QUIT CLAIM DEED 
CONVEYING VACATED PORTION OF ALLEY RIGHT-OF-WAY BETWEEN CEDAR STREET 

AND LONGVIEW STREET IN CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls received an application as outlined in Cedar Falls 
Code of Ordinances Sec. 20-144 to vacate a portion of alley right-of-way between Cedar Street 
and Longview Street in Cedar Falls, and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission held a meeting on April 24, 2024 and 

recommended approval to City Council to vacate the alley, and  
  
WHEREAS, the City Council held a public hearing on May 20, 2024, regarding an 

ordinance to vacate a portion of the alley right-of-way between Cedar Street and Longview Street, 
as legally described below, with the intent to make this land available for sale and conveyance 
according to State law; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council found that the alley was not in use and the City does not 

have future use for the alley; and  
 
WHEREAS, on June 17, 2024, the City Council adopted an ordinance vacating the 

aforementioned portion of right-of-way alley between Cedar Street and Longview Street; and 
 
WHEREAS, an offer to purchase the vacated right-of-way, attached hereto, along with a 

certified check made payable to the City of Cedar Falls for the fair market value of $4,500.00 were 
received from Authur Hesse, by July 8, 2024, with fair market value being determined by 
independent appraisal by Rally Appraisal, LLC dated February 13, 2024; and 

 
 WHEREAS, Authur Hesse, being a current owner of land adjacent to said vacated right-

of-way, is entitled to preference as to any offer made equaling or exceeding the fair market value 
of the vacated right-of-way under Iowa Code § 306.23; and 

 
WHEREAS, no other offers were received within the statutory 60-day period for receiving 

offers after certified mail notice of vacation was provided by the City to qualified and preferenced 
property owners according to Iowa Code. 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, that the real estate described below is hereby conveyed, as shown on the vacation plat 
attached hereto and incorporated herein, subject to any existing easements of record; and   

 
11

Item 2.



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to 
execute a Quit Claim Deed for said described real estate accordingly to Arthur Hesse, 1307 
Longview Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 and to deliver said Quit Claim Deed to said Grantees, 
and to do any other things and to execute any other documents as may be necessary to convey 
such real estate. 

 
  

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER (NE1/4) OF SECTION TWO (02), TOWNSHIP 
EIGHTY-NINE NORTH (89N) RANGE FOURTEEN WEST (14W), OF THE FIFTH PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 54, BRUHN’S SUBDIVISION; THENCE 
N01°24’46”W 59.91 FEET ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 54 TO THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF LOT 53, SAID SUBDIVISION; THENCE N01°24’46”W 60 FEET ALONG THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 53 TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 53; THENCE 
S89°13’49”W 15 FEET ALONG THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF 
SAID LOT 53 TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF PARCEL DESCRIBED IN LAND DEED 569, 
PAGE 774 IN THE BLACK HAWK COUNTY RECORDER’S OFFICE. THENCE S01°24’46”E 
119.93 FEET ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID PARCEL TO THE WESTERLY EXTENSION 
OF THE SOUTH LINE OF AFORESAID LOT 54; THENCE N89°11’57”E 15 FEET ALONG SAID 
WESTERLY EXTENSION OF THE POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 1799 SQUARE 
FEET.   
 
ADOPTED this 15th day of July 2024. 
 
 
 
 ______________________________________ 
 Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST:   ______________________________ 
 Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

12

Item 2.



13

Item 2.



14

Item 2.



15

Item 2.



16

Item 2.



17

Item 2.



18

Item 2.



19

Item 2.



20

Item 2.



21

Item 2.



22

Item 2.



23

Item 2.



24

Item 2.



25

Item 2.



26

Item 2.



27

Item 2.



28

Item 2.



29

Item 2.



30

Item 2.



31

Item 2.



32

Item 2.



33

Item 2.



34

Item 2.



35

Item 2.



36

Item 2.



37

Item 2.



38

Item 2.



39

Item 2.



40

Item 2.



41

Item 2.



42

Item 2.



43

Item 2.



44

Item 2.



45

Item 2.



46

Item 2.



47

Item 2.



48

Item 2.



49

Item 2.



50

Item 2.



51

Item 2.



52

Item 2.



53

Item 2.



54

Item 2.



55

Item 2.



56

Item 2.



57

Item 2.



58

Item 2.



59

Item 2.



60

Item 2.



61

Item 2.



62

Item 2.



63

Item 2.



64

Item 2.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
   
TO:   Mayor Daniel Laudick & City Council 
FROM:   Melissa Denning, Community Services Supervisor  
DATE:    July 15, 2024 

SUBJECT:   Public Hearing:  Community Development Block Grant and HOME 
                     Consortium 5-Year Consolidated Plan FFY24-28 
                      Annual Action Plan FY25 (FFY24) 
   
 
In September 2023 Cedar Falls entered into an agreement with Waterloo to jointly 
contract with MOSAIC Community Planning, to develop our FY24-28 Community 
Development Block Grant and HOME Consortium 5-year Consolidated Plan, FY25 
Annual Action Plan, and Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing (AI). Preparation and 
approval of these plans is required to receive annual allocations of CDBG and HOME 
funds from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).  After 
extensive public outreach, these plans have been drafted and notice of the public 
comment period (June 11 to July 15, 2024) has been published. The plans have been 
on file with the City Clerk and available online at www.waterloocedarfallshud.com for 
public review and comment since June 11, 2024.  
 
The Housing Commission held a public hearing at their meeting on June 19, 2024.   
There was no public in attendance and no written comments received.  The Housing 
Commission discussed the draft plans and recommended approval at a continuation of 
the meeting on June 20, 2024.   
 
Prior to the public hearing on July 15, a representative from MOSAIC Community 
Planning will provide a presentation summarizing the planning process, the input 
received from the public and the proposed plan for allocating CDBG and HOME funds 
over the next five years.  For the City’s FY25 (Federal Fiscal Year 2024), Cedar Falls 
CDBG allocation is $262,476.00. To date, no public comments have been received. 
 
The Housing Commission recommends adoption of the FFY24-28 Community 
Development Block Grant and HOME Consortium 5-Year Consolidated Plan as well as 
the FFY24 Annual Action Plan.   
 
If you have any questions, please contact me. 
 
xc:   Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Community Development Director 

Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

65

Item 3.

http://www.waterloocedarfallshud.com/


 

  

2024-2028  

Consolidated Plan 
May 2024 

Disclaimer:  Due to limitations of the online HUD IDIS system, the CDBG document presented herein may 

provide additional information when compared to the online version.  Should there be any question about 

which version is the Official Annual Action Plan, the online IDIS version shall prevail. 

 

 

66

Item 3.



2 

Table of Contents 
The Process .................................................................................................................. 4 

PR-05 Lead & Responsible Agencies - 91.200(b) ............................................................... 4 

Needs Assessment .................................................................................................... 21 

NA-05 Overview ..................................................................................................................21 

NA-50 Non-Housing Community Development Needs - 91.415, 91.215 (f) ....................22 

Housing Market Analysis ....................................................................................... 27 

MA-05 Overview ..................................................................................................................27 

MA-45 Non-Housing Community Development Assets - 91.410, 91.210(f)......................28 

MA-50 Needs and Market Analysis Discussion ..................................................................36 

MA-60 BROADBAND NEEDS OF HOUSING OCCUPIED BY LOW- AND MODERATE-

INCOME HOUSEHOLDS - 91.210(A)(4), 91.310(A)(2) .........................................................41 

MA-65 Hazard Mitigation - 91.210(a)(5), 91.310(a)(3) ......................................................45 

Strategic Plan ........................................................................................................... 51 

SP-05 Overview ....................................................................................................................51 

SP-10 Geographic Priorities - 91.415, 91.215(a)(1) ............................................................51 

SP-25 Priority Needs - 91.415, 91.215(a)(2) .........................................................................52 

SP-35 Anticipated Resources - 91.420(b), 91.215(a)(4), 91.220(c)(1,2) ...........................56 

SP-40 Institutional Delivery Structure - 91.415, 91.215(k) ...................................................59 

SP-45 Goals - 91.415, 91.215(a)(4) ......................................................................................63 

SP-65 Lead-based Paint Hazards - 91.415, 91.215(i) .........................................................67 

SP-70 Anti-Poverty Strategy - 91.415, 91.215(j) ..................................................................68 

SP-80 Monitoring - 91.230 ....................................................................................................68 

Expected Resources ................................................................................................. 71 

AP-15 Expected Resources - 91.420(b), 91.220(c)(1,2).....................................................71 

Annual Goals and Objectives ................................................................................. 74 

67

Item 3.



3 

AP-20 Annual Goals and Objectives - 91.420, 91.220(c)(3) &(e) ....................................74 

AP-35 Projects - 91.420, 91.220(d) ......................................................................................78 

AP-38 Project Summary ......................................................................................................79 

AP-50 Geographic Distribution - 91.420, 91.220(f) ............................................................83 

AP-85 Other Actions - 91.420, 91.220(k) .............................................................................84 

Program Specific Requirements ........................................................................... 86 

AP-90 Program Specific Requirements - 91.420, 91.220(l)(1,2,4) .....................................86 

 

  

68

Item 3.



4 

The Process 

PR-05 LEAD & RESPONSIBLE AGENCIES 

- 91.200(B) 
1. Describe agency/entity responsible for preparing the Consolidated Plan and those 

responsible for administration of each grant program and funding source 

The following are the agencies/entities responsible for preparing the Consolidated Plan 

and those responsible for administration of each grant program and funding source. 

Agency Role Name Department/Agency 

CDBG Administrator Cedar Falls Department of Community 

Development 

Table 1– Responsible Agencies 

 
Narrative 

The City of Cedar Falls administers its own CDBG activities, through the Department of 

Community Development. Cedar Falls participates together with the City of Waterloo in 

a HOME Consortium; Waterloo is the Consortium’s lead entity and bears responsibility 

for administration of HOME funds.  

Consolidated Plan Public Contact Information 

Department of Community Development 

Planning and Community Services Division 

220 Clay Street 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

Contact: Planning and Community Services Manager 

Telephone: (319) 273-8600 

Website: http://www.cedarfalls.com 

  

69

Item 3.



5 

PR-10 CONSULTATION - 91.100, 91.110, 

91.200(B), 91.300(B), 91.215(L) AND 

91.315(L) 
1. Introduction 

The City of Cedar Falls conducted extensive in-person and remote consultation to 

ensure this Consolidated Plan was informed by input from stakeholders with deep 

knowledge of the city’s housing and community development needs. In November 

2023, Waterloo and Cedar Falls jointly held an in-person meeting for service providers at 

the Waterloo Center for the Arts, which was attended by 16 representatives of various 

nonprofits, public agencies, and private-sector entities. The planning team conducted 

individual consultations by phone with 19 stakeholders and corresponded with another 

4 via email to collect input for the plan. Table 2 lists each of these consultations, 

including the type of organization consulted, means of consultation, and the portions of 

the plan the resulting input informed. 

Provide a concise summary of the jurisdiction’s activities to enhance coordination 

between public and assisted housing providers and private and governmental health, 

mental health, and service agencies (91.215(I)). 

To enhance coordination with public and assisted housing providers and private and 

governmental health, mental health, and service agencies, the City of Cedar Falls 

offered a variety of options for these entities to participate in the Consolidated Plan 

process. By offering in-person meetings, one-on-one interviews, and even email 

exchanges and surveys as opportunities for engagement, these stakeholder 

organizations were able to choose formats, dates, and times that were most 

convenient. Additionally, the planning process began with a stakeholder identification 

exercise among the members of the planning team so that contacts for each of these 

organization types were identified and proactively pursued. This approach ensured that 

the valuable insight and experience held by local housing providers and service 

agencies was incorporated into the Consolidated Plan.  

Describe coordination with the Continuum of Care and efforts to address the needs of 

homeless persons (particularly chronically homeless individuals and families, families 

with children, veterans, and unaccompanied youth) and persons at risk of 

homelessness. 

In preparing the Consolidated Plan, the planning team consulted with the Iowa 

Balance of State Continuum of Care regarding data reflective of the needs of people 

experiencing homelessness in Waterloo and Cedar Falls. Data maintained by the 

Institute for Community Alliances was also consulted, which included counts of the 

70

Item 3.



6 

sheltered and unsheltered homeless population in Black Hawk County. CoC member 

organizations that serve the local homeless population were also included in various 

consultation processes, including one-on-one interviews and/or meeting attendance 

by the Salvation Army of Waterloo/Cedar Falls, Friends of the Family, and the Northeast 

Iowa Food Bank. Additionally, the Salvation Army and food bank both provided 

significant opportunities for the planning team to collect input directly from their clients, 

including people experiencing homelessness and those at risk of homelessness.  

A group composed of various local providers of homelessness services known as the 

Black Hawk County Local Homeless Coordinating Board (LHCB) meets biweekly to share 

issues and concerns regarding homelessness, preventing homelessness and services 

available in the community. The LHCB has extensive membership, with over 50 members 

and with representation from approximately 40 different agencies, including state and 

local government agencies, non-profit, faith-based organizations, health clinics, and 

local businesses. The LHCB meetings also provide opportunities for coordination among 

board members, including discussions of the coordinated entry list and opportunities to 

place people from the list into shelter based on the participating members’ available 

resources. The board manages homelessness policies and a coordinated entry process. 

In addition, the board organizes the annual Point-In-Time survey, which is conducted in 

January of every year. 

Describe consultation with the Continuum(s) of Care that serves the jurisdiction's area in 

determining how to allocate ESG funds, develop performance standards and evaluate 

outcomes, and develop funding, policies, and procedures for the administration of 

HMIS. 

Waterloo and Cedar Falls do not receive ESG funds, however, they do collaborate with 

partners and service providers in the area through the Black Hawk County Local 

Homeless Coordinating Board (LHCB). The board manages homelessness policies and a 

coordinated entry process. In addition, the board organizes the annual Point-In-Time 

survey, which is conducted in January of every year. The LHCB has a county-wide 

focus, but the majority of services and needs are met within Waterloo and Cedar Falls. 

  

71

Item 3.



7 

 

2. Describe Agencies, groups, organizations, and others who participated in the 

process and describe the jurisdictions consultations with housing, social service 

agencies and other entities. 

Agency/Group/Org

anization Name 

Agency/Group/Organi

zation Type 

Section of Plan 

Addressed 

Consultation 

Method  

AlwaysON 

• Services - 

Broadband Internet 

Service Providers 

• Services - Narrowing 

the Digital Divide 

• Market Analysis 
Phone Interview 

Bakari Behavioral 

Health 
• Services-Health 

• Non-Homeless 

Special Needs Phone Interview 

Black Hawk County 

Emergency 

Management 

• Agency - 

Emergency 

Management 

• Market Analysis Email 

Correspondence 

Black Hawk County 

Engineer’s Office 

• Agency - Managing 

Flood Prone Areas 

• Agency - 

Management of 

Public Land or 

Water Resources 

• Market Analysis Email 

Correspondence 

Black Hawk County 

Environmental 

Health 

• Services-Health 

• Other government - 

County 

• Lead-Based Paint 

Strategy Phone Interview 

Black Hawk Grundy 

Mental Health 

Center 

• Services-Persons with 

Disabilities 

• Services-Health 

• Non-Homeless 

Special Needs Phone Interview 

Black Hawk County 

Public Health 

• Services-Health 

• Other government - 

County 

• Non-Homeless 

Special Needs 
Service Provider 

Meeting 

72

Item 3.



8 

Agency/Group/Org

anization Name 

Agency/Group/Organi

zation Type 

Section of Plan 

Addressed 

Consultation 

Method  

Cedar Falls 

Community Services 

• Other government - 

Local 

• Housing Need 

Assessment 

• Non-Homeless 

Special Needs 

• Non-Housing 

Community 

Development 

Strategy 

Phone Interview 

Cedar Falls Human 

Rights Commission 
• Services-Fair Housing 

• Market Analysis 
Phone Interview 

Cedar Falls Planning 

& Zoning 

• Planning 

Organization 

• Other government - 

Local 

• Housing Need 

Assessment 

• Market Analysis 
Phone Interview 

Cedar Falls Utilities 

• Services - 

Broadband Internet 

Service Providers 

• Services - Narrowing 

the Digital Divide 

• Market Analysis Email 

Correspondence 

CenturyLink 

• Services - 

Broadband Internet 

Service Providers 

• Services - Narrowing 

the Digital Divide 

• Market Analysis 
Phone Interview 

College Hill 

Partnership 

• Business Leaders 

• Neighborhood 

Organization 

• Non-housing 

Community 

Development 

Strategy 

Phone Interview 

Delaton, LLC • Business Leaders 

• Housing Need 

Assessment 

• Non-housing 

Community 

Development 

Strategy 

Phone Interview 

73

Item 3.



9 

Agency/Group/Org

anization Name 

Agency/Group/Organi

zation Type 

Section of Plan 

Addressed 

Consultation 

Method  

Exceptional Persons 

Inc. 

• Housing 

• Services-Persons with 

Disabilities  

• Non-Homeless 

Special Needs Phone Interview 

Friends of the Family 

• Housing 

• Services-Victims of 

Domestic Violence  

• Services-Homeless  

• Housing Need 

Assessment 

• Non-housing 

Community 

Development 

Strategy 

• Anti-Poverty 

Strategy 

Service Provider 

Meeting 

Hawkeye 

Community College 

• Services-Education  

• Services-

Employment 

•  Non-housing 

Community 

Development 

Strategy  

• Anti-poverty 

Strategy  

Phone Interview 

Iowa Balance of 

State Continuum of 

Care 

• Services-Homeless 

• Housing Need 

Assessment 

• Market 

Analysis 

Email 

Correspondence 

Iowa Heartland 

Habitat for 

Humanity  

• Housing 

• Housing Need 

Assessment 

• Market Analysis 

• Anti-Poverty 

Strategy 

Phone Interview 

Iowa Northland 

Regional Council of 

Governments 

• Regional 

organization  

• Planning 

organization 

• Market Analysis 

• Non-housing 

Community 

Development 

Strategy 

Service Provider 

Meeting 

74

Item 3.



10 

Agency/Group/Org

anization Name 

Agency/Group/Organi

zation Type 

Section of Plan 

Addressed 

Consultation 

Method  

MidAmerican 

Energy Company 

• Business Leaders 

• Major Employer 

• Non-housing 

Community 

Development 

Strategy 

Service Provider 

Meeting 

NAACP of Black 

Hawk County 
• Civic Leaders 

• Non-housing 

Community 

Development 

Strategy 

Phone Interview 

Northeast Iowa 

Food Bank 
• Other: Food Bank 

• Non-Homeless 

Special Needs 

• Market Analysis 

• Anti-poverty 

Strategy 

Phone Interview 

Office of Senator 

Joni Ernst 

• Other government - 

Federal 

• Non-housing 

Community 

Development 

Strategy 

Service Provider 

Meeting 

Rise Broadband 

• Services - 

Broadband Internet 

Service Providers 

• Services - Narrowing 

the Digital Divide 

• Market Analysis 
Phone Interview 

Salvation Army of 

Waterloo/Cedar 

Falls 

• Continuum of Care 

• Services-Homeless 

• Homelessness 

Strategy 

• Market Analysis 

• Anti-poverty 

Strategy 

Phone Interview 

75

Item 3.



11 

Agency/Group/Org

anization Name 

Agency/Group/Organi

zation Type 

Section of Plan 

Addressed 

Consultation 

Method  

Social Action, Inc. 

• Services-Children 

• Services-Education 

• Services-

Employment 

• Non-Homeless 

Special Needs 

• Non-housing 

Community 

Development 

Strategy  

• Anti-poverty 

Strategy 

Service Provider 

Meeting 

TEAM Real Estate 

Group 
• Business Leaders 

• Housing Need 

Assessment Phone Interview 

Waterloo Housing 

Authority 

• Housing 

• PHA 

• Housing Need 

Assessment 

• Public Housing 

Needs 

Phone Interview 

Table 2– Agencies, groups, organizations who participated 
 

Identify any Agency Types not consulted and provide rationale for not consulting 

Efforts were made to consult a wide variety of community stakeholders throughout 

Cedar Falls. No agency types were excluded from outreach efforts. 

Other local/regional/state/federal planning efforts considered when preparing the Plan 

Name of Plan Lead Organization How do the goals of your Strategic Plan 

overlap with the goals of each plan? 

Continuum of 

Care 

Black Hawk County 

Local Homeless 

Coordinating Board 

The City supports efforts to reduce 

homelessness and improve and coordinate 

strategies for identifying homeless persons 

and assisting with efforts to provide housing. 

The Black Hawk County Local Homeless 

Coordinating Board participates in a 

coordinated entry system to bring all housing 

providers together to faster serve homeless 

individuals and eliminate service duplication. 

Table 3– Other local / regional / federal planning efforts 

76

Item 3.



12 

Describe cooperation and coordination with other public entities, including the State 

and any adjacent units of general local government, in the implementation of the 

Consolidated Plan (91.215(l)). 

As members of a HOME consortium, the adjacent cities of Cedar Falls and Waterloo 

coordinate extensively regarding housing needs and the use of HOME funds within their 

respective jurisdictions. Notwithstanding the inherent coordination involved in 

consortium membership, the two cities work closely together on overall housing and 

community development planning, development of the Consolidated Plan, Annual 

Action Plans, and CAPERs; citizen participation; stakeholder consultation; and in 

promoting fair housing. As the cities form the most significant population center in Black 

Hawk County, various County departments are frequent collaborators in administration 

of the Consolidated Plan programs. These include the County’s environmental health, 

public health, mental health, and emergency management offices. 

PR-15 CITIZEN PARTICIPATION - 91.105, 

91.115, 91.200(C) AND 91.300(C) 
1. Summary of citizen participation process/Efforts made to broaden citizen 

participation 

Summarize citizen participation process and how it impacted goal setting. 

An important component of the research process for this Consolidated Plan involved 

gathering input regarding housing and community development needs in the cities of 

Waterloo and Cedar Falls. As members of a HOME consortium, the cities of Waterloo 

and Cedar Falls collaborated to implement a single, streamlined citizen participation 

process designed to collect public input from residents of both cities while avoiding 

duplication of effort and expense. The project team used a variety of approaches to 

achieve meaningful public engagement with residents and other stakeholders, 

including community meetings, focus groups, pop-up engagement, stakeholder 

interviews, and a community-wide survey.   

Resident Meetings 

Three in-person meetings open to the general public were held to inform residents 

about and gather information for the Consolidated Plan. Two of the meetings were 

offered in the evening and targeted at members of the general public; one in each of 

the cities. The third public meeting was held during the day and targeted to service 

providers and stakeholders. Each of the meetings consisted of a short presentation 

providing an overview of the Consolidated Plan followed by an interactive discussion of 

housing and community development needs in Waterloo and Cedar Falls. To 

encourage participation, meeting flyers advertised the meetings as having 

77

Item 3.



13 

refreshments. Meeting notices also included instructions on how to request language 

services or other accommodation, however no accommodation or interpretation 

requests were received. Dates, times, and locations of the two public meetings offered 

are shown below: 

Cedar Falls Resident Meeting 

Tuesday, November 28, 2023 

5:30 – 6:30 PM 

Hearst Center  

304 W Seerley Boulevard 

Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

Attendees: 11 

 

Service Provider Public Meeting  

Wednesday, November 29, 2023 

3:00 – 4:00 PM 

Waterloo Center for the Arts 

225 Commercial Street 

Waterloo, IA 50701 

Attendees: 16 

 

Waterloo Resident Meeting 

Wednesday, November 29, 2023 

5:30 – 6:30 PM 

Cedar Valley SportsPlex 

300 Jefferson Street 

Waterloo, IA 50701 

Attendees: 7 

 

Focus Groups 

In addition to the public meetings, four focus groups were held to collect input from 

groups of residents with specific backgrounds and unique perspectives housing needs 

and community resources. As with the public meetings, these groups typically began 

with a brief explanation of the Consolidated Plan. The focus group leader then 

facilitated a discussion of affordable housing needs, neighborhood conditions, and 

community resources in the area. In most cases, the project team worked with local 

agencies and organizations to host and promote the focus groups to their respective 

members or clients, resulting in a total of 27 participants. To incentivize participation, 

focus group participants were given gift cards as a token of thanks for their time and 

input.  

78

Item 3.



14 

A list of the focus groups with their sponsoring organizations is provided below: 

Focus Group #1: People with Disabilities 

Sponsor: Exceptional Persons, Inc. 

Participants: 6 

Focus Group #2: Low/Mod Income Renter Households 

Sponsor: Iowa Heartland Habitat for Humanity 

Participants: 5 

Focus Group #3: Senior Citizens 

Sponsor: Ridgeway Towers (Waterloo Housing Authority) 

Participants: 6 

Focus Group #4: LEP Immigrant Communities 

Sponsor: World Grace Project 

Participants: 10 

The selection of these focus groups was strategic and intended to collect input from 

residents likely to have had unique challenges accessing housing and community 

resources.  

Pop-Up Engagement 

The planning team conducted 5 pop-up engagement activities wherein facilitators 

informally engaged with residents in community locations, generally not as a part of 

any particular event. Pop-up engagement is useful for raising awareness around the 

planning project and obtaining input from residents who may not otherwise be likely to 

attend a meeting on the subject, but who have opinions to share, nonetheless. By 

canvassing at high-traffic locations such as libraries, grocery stores, and food pantries, 

the planning team engaged 117 residents in development of the Consolidated Plan.  

• Pop-Up #1: Cedar Valley Food Pantry 

Tuesday, November 28; 1:30-2:30 PM 

Response: 26 residents engaged with planning team members in short 

conversations about community needs and housing challenges before 

beginning their shopping at the food pantry. Additionally, food pantry workers 

included hard copy surveys with postage-paid return envelopes in shoppers’ 

grocery bags upon checkout. 

• Pop-Up #2: Cedar Falls Library 

Tuesday, November 28; 3:00-3:45 PM 

79

Item 3.



15 

Response: 19 Cedar Falls residents engaged in a short conversation about 

community needs and housing challenges in the library’s lobby as they were 

entering or exiting the building. 

• Pop-Up #3: Central Bus Station 

Wednesday, November 29; 10:00-11:00 AM 

Response: 9 residents engaged in a short conversation about community needs 

and housing challenges while waiting at the bus station or as they were 

transferring between buses.  

• Pop-Up #4: Salvation Army of Waterloo/Cedar Falls 

Wednesday, November 29; 11:00 AM – 1:00 PM 

Response: During the Salvation Army’s lunch program, 53 residents completed a 

survey; some engaged in further discussion of housing issues with planning team 

members.  

• Pop-Up #5: All-In Grocers 

Thursday, November 30; 12:30-1:30 PM 

Response: Through interactive activities set up in the grocery store’s Willie Mae 

Wright Community Room and canvassing in the store’s parking lot, 10 residents 

spoke with planning team members about community needs and housing 

challenges.  

Stakeholder Interviews 

The planning team engaged with stakeholders representing a variety of perspectives 

through in-depth individual interviews. Interviews typically lasted 45 minutes to one hour 

and included discussions about housing and community development needs, new 

potential uses of grant funds, and access to opportunity. Nineteen (19) community 

stakeholders participated in interviews with the planning team. Participating 

stakeholders represented a range of viewpoints, including affordable housing, 

community development and planning, education, health services, homelessness 

services, senior services, family services, people with disabilities, and others.  

Project Website 

The project website, WaterlooCedarFallsHUD.com, provided information about the 

plans, linked to the community survey, promoted public meetings and events, and 

directed residents to local and national fair housing resources and information. Over 

the course of the project, the site received 57 unique visitors and 498 interactions (i.e., 

session starts, pageviews, clicks, etc.). 

80

Item 3.



16 

 

Community Survey 

Another method for obtaining community input was a survey available to the general 

public, including people living and/or working in Waterloo or Cedar Falls and other 

stakeholders. The survey was available from November 2023 through January 2024 via 

the project website and online link. The planning team collected hard copy survey 

responses through a collection box placed at the Cedar Falls Library and through 

collaboration with nonprofit service organizations. For example, 53 hard copy responses 

were completed and returned during a pop-up event at the Salvation Army’s lunch 

program, and organizations including the Cedar Valley Food Bank and World Grace 

Project distributed surveys with postage-paid return envelopes to their clients. A total of 

361 survey responses were received, 200 from Waterloo residents and 161 from people 

residing in Cedar Falls.  

Publicity for Community Engagement Activities 

Advertisements for the Consolidated Plan process and related participation 

opportunities were targeted to the general public, as well as nonprofits, service 

providers, housing providers, and others working with low- and moderate-income 

households and special needs populations. Public notice of community engagement 

opportunities was given to residents through news announcements on the project 

website (WaterlooCedarFallsHUD.com), social media, and a public notice published in 

the Waterloo-Cedar Falls 

Courier. A press release 

distributed to local media 

outlets resulted in feature 

stories by the local CBS News 

affiliate and by Iowa Public 

Radio. Project flyers were 

emailed to contact lists 

maintained by Waterloo and 

Cedar Falls including people 

and organizations representing 

a variety of viewpoints, 

including elected officials and 

staff, local government 

agencies, housing authority 

staff, housing developers, nonprofit organizations, homeless housing and service 

providers, mental health service providers, organizations serving people with disabilities, 

family and senior services, workforce development organizations, and others. Cedar 

Falls also included a post about the project in its employee newsletter. In all meeting 

advertisements, information for anyone needing language services or other 

81

Item 3.



17 

accommodation was provided, but none were requested.  

82

Item 3.



18 

Citizen Participation Outreach 

Sort  

Orde

r 

Mode of  

Outreach 

Target of  

Outreach 

Summary of  

response/attendance 

Summary of  

comments  

received 

Summary o

f  

comments 

not 

accepted 

and reaso

ns 

URL (If 

applicable

) 

1 Newspaper Ad Non-

targeted/ 

broad 

community 

Public Notice published in the 

Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier 

N/A N/A N/A 

2 Internet 

Outreach 

Non-

targeted/ 

broad 

community 

Social Media posts and email 

distribution of meeting flyer 

and press release 

N/A N/A N/A 

3 Resident 

Meetings 

Non-

targeted/ 

broad 

community 

Cedar Falls Resident Meeting 

Tuesday, November 28, 2023 

Attendees: 11 

 

Service Provider Public Meeting 

Wednesday, November 29, 

2023 

Attendees: 16 

 

Waterloo Resident Meeting 

Wednesday, November 29, 

2023 

Attendees: 7 

Summary of 

resident meeting 

input is provided 

in the Grantee 

Unique 

Appendices 

All 

comments 

and 

questions 

were 

accepted. 

N/A 

83

Item 3.



19 

Sort  

Orde

r 

Mode of  

Outreach 

Target of  

Outreach 

Summary of  

response/attendance 

Summary of  

comments  

received 

Summary o

f  

comments 

not 

accepted 

and reaso

ns 

URL (If 

applicable

) 

4 Focus Groups  Focus Group #1: People with 

Disabilities 

Sponsor: Exceptional Persons, 

Inc. 

Participants: 6 

 

Focus Group #2: Low/Mod 

Income Renter Households 

Sponsor: Iowa Heartland 

Habitat for Humanity 

Participants: 5 

 

Focus Group #3: Senior Citizens 

Sponsor: Ridgeway Towers 

(Waterloo Housing Authority) 

Participants: 6 

 

Focus Group #4: LEP Immigrant 

Communities 

Sponsor: World Grace Project 

Participants: 10 

Summary of focus 

group input is 

provided in the 

Grantee Unique 

Appendices 

All 

comments 

and 

questions 

were 

accepted. 

N/A 

84

Item 3.



20 

Sort  

Orde

r 

Mode of  

Outreach 

Target of  

Outreach 

Summary of  

response/attendance 

Summary of  

comments  

received 

Summary o

f  

comments 

not 

accepted 

and reaso

ns 

URL (If 

applicable

) 

5 Pop-Up 

Engagement 

 Pop-Up #1: Cedar Valley Food 

Pantry 

Tuesday, November 28  

Response: 26 residents  
 

Pop-Up #2: Cedar Falls Library 

Tuesday, November 28 

Response: 19 Cedar Falls 

residents  
 

Pop-Up #3: Central Bus Station 

Wednesday, November 29 

Response: 9 residents  
 

Pop-Up #4: Salvation Army of 

Waterloo/Cedar Falls 

Wednesday, November 29 

Response: 53 residents 

completed a survey 
 

Pop-Up #5: All-In Grocers 

Thursday, November 30 

Response: 10 residents  

Summary of pop-

up engagement 

input is provided 

in the Grantee 

Unique 

Appendices 

All 

comments 

and 

questions 

were 

accepted. 

N/A 

6 Newspaper Ad TBD     

7 Public Hearing TBD     

Table 4– Citizen Participation Outreach 

85

Item 3.



 

21 

Needs Assessment 

NA-05 OVERVIEW 
Needs Assessment Overview 

To inform development of priorities and goals over the next five years, this section of the 

Consolidated Plan discusses housing, community development, and economic 

development needs in Cedar Falls, Iowa. It relies on data from the U.S. Census, the 

2016-2020 5-Year American Community Survey (ACS), and a special tabulation of ACS 

data known as Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS) data that 

estimates the number of households with one or more housing needs. Local data 

regarding homelessness and assisted housing is included. Finally, public input gathered 

through interviews, focus groups, meetings, and the community survey are coupled 

with data analysis to identify priority needs related to affordable housing, homelessness, 

assisted housing, community development, and economic development in Cedar Falls, 

Iowa. 

 

86

Item 3.



 

22 

NA-50 NON-HOUSING COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT NEEDS - 91.415, 91.215 

(F) 
Describe the jurisdiction’s need for Public Facilities: 

Buildings open to the general public or for use by target special needs populations, 

whether owned by the government or by nonprofit organizations, may be considered 

public facilities under the CDBG program. Community survey participants were asked 

to identify a variety of public facilities as “low,” “moderate,” or “high” needs in Cedar 

Falls with the following top three responses: (1) childcare centers; (2) community parks, 

gyms, and recreational fields; and (3) community centers. These facilities, in addition to 

health care facilities, were ranked as moderate-to-high need by more than half of 

participants. 

 

  

87

Item 3.



 

23 

 

Input from community meetings, focus groups, and interview participants supported 

survey findings. Common needs identified by stakeholders included: 

• Affordable childcare centers 

• Homeless centers, especially emergency shelter, other than Salvation Army 

affiliated centers, which were reported to be unwelcoming to LGBTQ+ individuals 

• Job training centers 

• Affordable and accessible mental health treatment facilities 

The 2012 Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan also identified key goals relating to 

community issues regarding public facilities. These include the following: 

• Expanding space at the Main Street Community and Senior Center 

• Expanding and improving existing spaces at the James & Meryl Hearst Center For 

The Arts 

• Relocating and updating fire stations 

• Expanding spaces in several public schools 

How were these needs determined? 

Cedar Falls’ public facility needs were determined based on input from stakeholders 

engaged through research, stakeholder interviews, focus groups, public meetings, and 

a community survey. More than 150 residents and stakeholders participated in 

community engagement activities for the Consolidated Plan (see Table 2 for a list of 

participating organizations). Needs were also determined through a review of other 

local plans and studies, including the 2012 Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan.  

Describe the jurisdiction’s need for Public Improvements: 

Survey respondents were also asked to rank public infrastructure improvement needs in 

Cedar Falls. The top three responses ranked as high need by the largest number of 

participants were street/road improvements, high-speed internet access, and sidewalk 

improvements or expansion.  

  

88

Item 3.



 

24 

 

Community meeting and focus group attendees and interview participants also 

frequently identified street and walkability improvements as major needs. 

The 2012 Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan and the Iowa Northland Regional Council of 

Governments’ 2011 Safe Routes to School Plan also identify improvements in sidewalk 

connectivity as a goal to improve community mobility. 

How were these needs determined? 

Cedar Falls’ public infrastructure improvement needs were determined based on input 

from stakeholders engaged through research, stakeholder interviews, focus groups, 

public meetings, and a community survey. More than 150 residents and stakeholders 

participated in community engagement activities for the Consolidated Plan (see Table 

2 for a list of participating organizations). Needs were also determined through a review 

of other local plans and studies, including the 2012 Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan.  

Describe the jurisdiction’s need for Public Services: 

Survey respondents were also asked to rank public service needs in Cedar Falls. The top 

three responses were childcare, health and mental health services, and transportation 

services. Each of these items was identified as a medium- to high-level need by more 

89

Item 3.



 

25 

than half of survey takers, and childcare and health/mental health services were 

identified as such by more than 80% of respondents. 

 

Input from community meetings, focus groups, and interview participants supported 

survey findings. Transportation services were the most commonly mentioned need from 

these participants.  Other common needs identified by these stakeholders included: 

• Mental health and substance abuse treatment services 

• Home repair and code enforcement services 

• Financial counseling services 

• Affordable childcare services 

• Home buying services (down payment assistance, counseling, etc.) 

 

 

 

90

Item 3.



 

26 

How were these needs determined? 

Cedar Falls’ public service needs were determined based on input from stakeholders 

engaged through research, stakeholder interviews, focus groups, public meetings, and 

a community survey. More than 150 residents and stakeholders participated in 

community engagement activities for the Consolidated Plan (see Table 2 for a list of 

participating organizations).  Of survey participants who chose to share their income 

bracket, approximately 73% were low- to moderate- income as determined by HUD’s 

FY 2024 Income Limits Documentation System1. 

 

 

1 Median Family Income in Black Hawk County was $85,500 in 2024.  Low-income is generally 

considered to be 80% or less of the MFI, and moderate-income is considered to be 80-120%.    

91

Item 3.



 

27 

Housing Market 

Analysis 

MA-05 OVERVIEW 
Housing Market Analysis Overview: 

Housing choices are limited by household income and wealth; however, a lack of 

affordable housing in an area may also create significant hardships for low- and 

moderate-income households. Households that spend more than 30% of their income 

on housing are considered ‘housing cost burdened’ and may have difficulty affording 

other necessities, such as food, clothing, and childcare. Data examined in the following 

sections shows that there is a lack of rental and for-sale housing in the city that is 

affordable to residents with very low incomes, and a significant proportion of 

households are cost-burdened or severely cost-burdened by housing costs. 

Stakeholders and residents who participated in this planning process also noted a need 

for development of new housing units affordable to residents with incomes below 50% 

AMI. In addition to reviewing current housing market conditions, this section analyzes 

the availability of assisted and public housing and facilities to serve homeless individuals 

and families. It also analyzes local economic conditions and summarizes existing 

economic development resources and programs that may be used to address 

community and economic development needs identified in the previous section, NA-

50. 

  

92

Item 3.



 

28 

MA-45 NON-HOUSING COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

ASSETS - 91.410, 91.210(F) 
Introduction 

This section outlines employment, labor force, and educational attainment data that informs the Consolidated Plan’s 

priorities and goals. 

Economic Development Market Analysis 

Table 5 - Business Activity 

Business us by Sector 
Number of 

Workers 

Number of 

Jobs 

Share of 

Workers 

Share of 

Jobs 

Jobs less 

workers 

Agriculture, Mining, Oil & Gas Extraction 145 227 0.6% 1.2% 0.6% 

Arts, Entertainment, Accommodations 2,627 2,242 11.2% 11.6% 0.4% 

Construction 935 635 4.0% 3.3% -0.7% 

Education and Health Care Services 7,263 3,998 31.0% 20.7% -10.3% 

Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate 1,471 1,268 6.3% 6.6% 0.3% 

Information 178 274 0.8% 1.4% 0.7% 

Manufacturing 2,738 1,371 11.7% 7.1% -4.6% 

Other Services 887 489 3.8% 2.5% -1.3% 

Professional, Scientific, Management Services 1,932 2,180 8.2% 11.3% 3.0% 

Public Administration 613 313 2.6% 1.6% -1.0% 

Retail Trade 3,621 3,027 15.5% 15.7% 0.2% 

Transportation and Warehousing 495 2,135 2.1% 11.1% 8.9% 

Wholesale Trade 516 1,158 2.2% 6.0% 3.8% 

Total 23,421 19,317 -- -- -- 

Data Source: 2013-2017 ACS (Workers), 2017 Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics (Jobs) 

93

Item 3.



 

29 

 

Table 6 - Labor Force 

Labor Force Number of Workers 
 

Total Population in the Civilian Labor Force                   24,380.5   

Civilian Employed Population 16 years and over                   23,427.1   

Unemployment Rate 3.9%  

Unemployment Rate for Ages 16-24 7.3%  

Unemployment Rate for Ages 25-65 2.3%  

Data Source: 2013-2017 ACS 

 

Table 7 – Occupations by Sector 

Occupations by Sector Number of People 

Management, business and financial 3,289 

Farming, fisheries, and forestry occupations 55 

Service 5,070 

Sales and office 5,382 

Construction, extraction, maintenance, and repair 1,066 

Production, transportation, and material moving 2,591 

Data Source: 2013-2017 ACS 

 

 

 

94

Item 3.



 

30 

Table 8 - Travel Time 

Travel Time Number Percentage 

< 30 Minutes 19,783 93.3% 

30-59 Minutes 852 4.0% 

60 or More Minutes 576 2.7% 

Total 21,211 100% 

Data Source: 2013-2017 ACS 

 

Education: 

Educational Attainment by Employment Status (Population 16 and Older) 

Table 9 - Educational Attainment by Employment Status 

Educational Attainment 

In Labor Force   

Civilian Employed Unemployed Not in Labor Force 

Less than high school graduate 392 10 153 

High school graduate (includes equivalency) 1,851 139 547 

Some college or Associate's degree 4,073 80 876 

Bachelor's degree or higher 6,685 92 1067 

Data Source: 2013-2017 ACS 

 

  

95

Item 3.



 

31 

Table 10 - Educational Attainment by Age 

  

Age 

18–24 yrs 25–34 yrs 35–44 yrs 45–65 yrs 65+ yrs 

Less than 9th grade 7 32 27 10 72 

9th to 12th grade, no diploma 195 66 63 185 46 

High school graduate, GED, or alternative 646 368 254 773 697 

Some college, no degree 2,793 763 306 704 484 

Associate's degree 418 342 339 266 136 

Bachelor's degree 553 1,047 862 714 448 

Graduate or professional degree 0 258 231 717 885 

Data Source: 2013-2017 ACS 

 

Table 11 – Median Earnings in the Past 12 Months 

Educational Attainment 
Median Earnings in the Past 12 

Months 

Less than high school graduate 28,938 

High school graduate (includes equivalency) 31,976 

Some college or Associate's degree 40,174 

Bachelor's degree 52,569 

Graduate or professional degree 73,808 

Data Source: 2013-2017 ACS 

 

96

Item 3.



 

32 

Based on the Business Activity table above, what are the major employment sectors 

within your jurisdiction? 

The employment sectors in Cedar Falls with the largest number of jobs are education 

and health care services (3,998 jobs or 20.7% share of total jobs), retail trade (3,027 jobs 

or 15.7%), arts, entertainment, and accommodations (2,242 or 11.6%), and professional, 

scientific, and management services (2,180 jobs or 11.3%).  

The jobs in which most residents are employed generally reflect these major 

employment sectors. The largest numbers of Cedar Falls residents work in education 

and health care services (7,263 workers or 31.0% share of total workers), retail trade 

(3,621 workers or 15.5%), manufacturing (2,738 workers or 11.7%), and arts, 

entertainment, and accommodations (2,627 workers or 11.2%). 

Describe the workforce and infrastructure needs of the business community: 

In 2022, the Iowa Northland Regional Economic Development Commission (INREDC) 

prepared a Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) for the general 6-

county region in northern Iowa including Cedar Falls. The findings include weaknesses 

and threats that focus closely on economic development, private investment, 

development, and job creation, including: 

• Region’s overall lack of growth compared to similar regions. 

• Uneven economic growth across the region 

• Current and projected workforce shortages for both skilled and non-skilled 

laborers 

• Business development and retention for existing small companies 

• Aging population 

• Shortage of childcare services 

• Aging infrastructure (water/sewer/roads/bridges/housing stock) 

• Changing global economic conditions 

• Local and small businesses competing with changing consumer habits (online 

retail) 

• Declining enrollment in higher education institutions 

• Competition drawing talent from the region. 

 

Describe any major changes that may have an economic impact, such as planned 

local or regional public or private sector investments or initiatives that have affected or 

may affect job and business growth opportunities during the planning period. Describe 

any needs for workforce development, business support or infrastructure these changes 

may create. 

Based on the 2022 CEDS, the INREDC established new priorities that focus on 

strengthening and diversifying the regional economy by collaborating to provide the 

infrastructure, workforce, and amenities necessary to retain and expand existing 

97

Item 3.



 

33 

businesses, attract new businesses, and support local entrepreneurs. An analysis of the 

region’s strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats found the region is facing 

various challenges such as retaining and growing its workforce due to competition 

drawing talent away from the region.  The City of Cedar Falls currently owns the West 

Viking Road Industrial Park that contains over 199.72 acres of lots that are zoned light 

industrial and can serve a variety of businesses such as manufacturing, logistics, and 

distribution/warehousing. The light industrial park is located next to U.S. Highway 20 and 

the Waterloo Regional Airport. The City installed the underground infrastructure using TIF 

funds.  The land is also site certified by the Iowa Economic Development Authority 

(IEDA)2. 

Community engagement participants for this Consolidated Plan noted Cedar Falls has 

benefitted from its proximity to the University of Northern Iowa as well as its vibrant 

downtown district and would like to see the development of more workforce and 

affordable housing to support existing and prospective residents. 

How do the skills and education of the current workforce correspond to employment 

opportunities in the jurisdiction? 

The 2022 CEDS analyzed and compared annual unemployment rates of the INREDC 

region, the State of Iowa, and the United States. Overall, the region’s unemployment 

rate has closely followed the state’s unemployment rate, both of which are consistently 

below the national average. However, unemployment rates are calculated based on 

labor force participation and do not account for people who are employed or 

unemployed and actively seeking work. Therefore, actual unemployment rates are 

often higher when considering people are underemployed as well as workers who have 

dropped out of the labor force due to not being able to find employment. The INREDC 

acknowledges that the region must focus on reversing the declining trend of its labor 

force in order meet workforce demands. Many employers in the region have shared 

concerns about the lack of available general and skilled labor. Many community 

engagement participants similarly noted concerns of losing more talent due to the lack 

of available housing stock and overall affordability that may be a driving force for 

existing residents to leave Cedar Falls and the region altogether. 

Describe any current workforce training initiatives, including those supported by 

Workforce Investment Boards, community colleges and other organizations. Describe 

how these efforts will support the jurisdiction's Consolidated Plan. 

The Workforce Board of Region 73 is responsible for strategy oversight for the workforce 

development system in Black Hawk, Bremer, Butler, Buchanan, and Grundy counties, 

 

2 Iowa Economic Development, West Viking Road Industrial Park. 

https://www.iowaeda.com/certified-site/west-viking-road-industrial-park/    

98

Item 3.

https://www.iowaeda.com/certified-site/west-viking-road-industrial-park/


 

34 

Iowa. Iowa Workforce Development and Hawkeye Community College collaboratively 

manage the Region 7 American Job Center. 

The University of Northern Iowa Small Business Development Center (SBDC) provides no-

cost business counseling and technical advice to entrepreneurs4. Additional services 

include startup assistance, business planning, accounting, human resources, marketing, 

sales, in addition to other resources. The SBDC serves the nine-county region of 

Northwest Iowa including: Butler, Bremer, Buchanan, Black Hawk, Chickasaw, Fayette, 

Grundy, Howard, and Tama Counties.  

Ranked top 10 in the U.S. for job markets, the regional economic development leader, 

Grow Cedar Valley, provides small business and start-up resources to help support 

entrepreneurs and their business endeavors. In addition to providing resources, the 

agency also connects entrepreneurs to other existing programs and services 

throughout Cedar Valley such as business networks, workspaces, makerspaces, 

equipment and tools, and collaborative laboratories5.  

Additionally, the Iowa State Workforce Development Board6 created the Minority 

Unemployment and Outreach Standing Committee to address unemployment rate 

disparities for minority populations in Iowa. Per the 2020 Census, Iowa’s statewide 

unemployment rate was 3.9%, with African Americans experiencing the highest 

unemployment of 14.2%, followed by Native Americans (11%), Asian Americans (5.3%), 

and Hispanic Americans (8.1%). The goal of the committee is to reduce unemployment 

in minority communities by five percent or to the state’s average within the next five 

years. Black Hawk County will be one of the four pilot communities due to having a high 

concentration of minority residents and unemployment rates. 

Does your jurisdiction participate in a Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy 

(CEDS)? 

Yes 

If so, what economic development initiatives are you undertaking that may be 

coordinated with the Consolidated Plan? If not, describe other local/regional plans or 

initiatives that impact economic growth. 

 

3 Iowa State Workforce Development Board, Region 7. https://www.iowawdb.gov/r7_home  
4 UNI Small Business Development Center. https://jpec.uni.edu/programs/uni-small-business-

development-center  
5 Grow Cedar Valley, Small Business and Start Up Resources. 

https://www.growcedarvalley.com/business/economic-development/small-business-start-up-

resources/  
6 Iowa State Workforce Development Board. https://www.iowawdb.gov/about-minority-

unemployment-and-outreach-committee  

99

Item 3.

https://www.iowawdb.gov/r7_home
https://jpec.uni.edu/programs/uni-small-business-development-center
https://jpec.uni.edu/programs/uni-small-business-development-center
https://www.growcedarvalley.com/business/economic-development/small-business-start-up-resources/
https://www.growcedarvalley.com/business/economic-development/small-business-start-up-resources/
https://www.iowawdb.gov/about-minority-unemployment-and-outreach-committee
https://www.iowawdb.gov/about-minority-unemployment-and-outreach-committee


 

35 

Cedar Falls and Black Hawk County are covered in the 2022 Comprehensive Economic 

Development Strategy (CEDS) prepared by the Iowa Northland Regional Economic 

Development Commission (INREDC). While the City of Cedar Falls is not contemplating 

economic development-focused initiatives with the use of its CDBG funds, several of its 

planned activities relate to priorities identified in the CEDs. 

One of the CEDS priorities is to address the housing stock and availability across the 

region. Similarly, Cedar Falls will continue to prioritize the use of CDBG funds to preserve 

and improve the city’s existing affordable housing and supply through rehabilitation 

programs for homeowners and rental housing.  

The CEDS has also prioritized building infrastructure resilience across the region. Cedar 

Falls will also prioritize infrastructure improvements such as sidewalk and pedestrian 

infrastructure and improved public transportation services that can support workforce 

attraction and access to opportunities for residents in the city. 

 

 

100

Item 3.



 

36 

MA-50 NEEDS AND MARKET ANALYSIS 

DISCUSSION  
Are there areas where households with multiple housing problems are concentrated? 

(include a definition of "concentration") 

HUD defines four types of housing problems: (1) cost burden of more than 30%, (2) more 

than 1 person per room, (3) lack of complete kitchen facilities, and (4) lack of complete 

plumbing facilities. The HUD-provided map on the following page shows the share of 

households within each census tract that have at least one of these housing problems. 

A concentration of households with housing needs is defined as a census tract where 

more than 40% of households have at least one housing need. Using this definition, 

there is one census tract (Census Tract 2303) with a concentration of housing problems 

in Cedar Falls. This census tract with the highest percentage of households with housing 

burdens is located in the central part of the city where the population is denser and 

housing stock is older. Further, the city’s southwestern quadrant has a higher rate of 

households with a housing burden ranging between 22.37% and 40.09% compared to 

the northern tracts in the city.  

101

Item 3.



 

37 

Figure 1: Housing Needs and Race/Ethnicity by Census Tract,  

Cedar Falls, IA, 2010 

102

Item 3.



 

38 

 

103

Item 3.



 

39 

Are there any areas in the jurisdiction where racial or ethnic minorities or low-income 

families are concentrated? (include a definition of "concentration") 

Geographic patterns for racial or ethnic minorities residing in Cedar Falls are shown in 

Figure 2. Concentration is defined as a census tract in which more than 50% of residents 

are people of color. Minority populations are distributed throughout Cedar Falls and 

there are no census tracts with 50% or more people of color. The census tract with the 

least concentration of white, non-Hispanic residents is tract 2500 which contains 

College Square Mall, Rownd Park, and Paw Park. About 86.6% of residents living in this 

tract are white, 6.2% are Black, 3.2% are Asian/Pacific Islander, 1.9% are Hispanic, and 

2.4% are multiracial.  

104

Item 3.



 

40 

Figure 2: Race/Ethnicity by Census Tract, Cedar Falls, IA, 2010 

 

105

Item 3.



 

41 

What are the characteristics of the market in these areas/neighborhoods? 

There is only one census tract in Cedar Falls where more than 40% of households have 

one or more housing problems (Census Tract 2303) and the majority of the population is 

comprised of white residents, (See Figure 1). The data presented below reflects census 

estimates from the 2016-2020 5-Year American Community Survey.  

There are approximately 461 housing units in the census tract noted above, of which 

411 are occupied with a renter or homeowner. Renter occupied housing units in this 

census tract make up 91.7% of all households. Renter households are most common in 

central Cedar Falls to the west of Highway 58, around the University of Northern Iowa, 

and up to the downtown district along Main Street. The high level of renter-occupied 

housing in this area is likely due in part to a high number of college students living near 

the UNI campus.  Comparatively, around 35.6% of all occupied housing units in Cedar 

Falls are renter-occupied. Over 29.5% of all housing units in this highlighted census tract 

were built in 1939 or earlier. Construction prior to 1978 may indicate an increased 

likelihood of lead-based paint or other lead-containing materials in the structure. The 

vacancy rate is 10.8% which may be due to the age and condition of the housing 

stock. The city’s vacancy rate is slightly lower at 6.0%. Age of housing and vacancies 

may help to explain the cause of increased housing problems in this census tract.  

Are there any community assets in these areas/neighborhoods? 

There are a wide variety of community assets in this area including the University of 

Northern Iowa campus. Additional assets include the UNI-Dome, McLeod Center, and 

the Gallagher Bluedorn Performing Arts Center, which host a variety of events year-

round that may be open to the public. It also includes Seerley Park, the only 

neighborhood-serving park in the area.   

Are there other strategic opportunities in any of these areas? 

This tract with a high concentration of housing burdens is mostly occupied by the UNI 

campus which acts as a major employer locally and regionally. Having a major 

institution such as a university can provide a key opportunity for the City of Cedar Falls 

to collaborate with the academic population in conducting community-based 

research. For example, the UNI Office of Community Engagement can be a useful 

source for connecting with existing or future community engagement work with various 

campus or community partners. The UNI also centers service-learning to expand 

discipline-specific research which engages students in activities that align with 

community strengths and needs. A diverse catalog of service-learning eligible courses is 

offered including courses that address public health, climate action planning, race and 

106

Item 3.



 

42 

public policy, nonprofit leadership, and more7. The UNI also has existing centers and 

external partnerships with organizations and agencies such as Grow Cedar Valley and 

the Cedar Valley Nonprofit Association which have a large network of community 

partners and resources throughout the region8. A few of the UNI Centers include the 

Center for Energy and Environmental Education (CEEE), the Center for Social and 

Behavioral Research, Advance Iowa, the Patricia A. Tomson Center for Violence 

Prevention, and more.  

MA-60 BROADBAND NEEDS OF 

HOUSING OCCUPIED BY LOW- AND 

MODERATE-INCOME HOUSEHOLDS - 

91.210(A)(4), 91.310(A)(2) 
Describe the need for broadband wiring and connections for households, including 

low- and moderate-income households and neighborhoods. 

Broadband connectivity is a vital community resource that offers citizens access to 

employment, education, and other personal enrichment opportunities found through 

the internet. Disparities in broadband access – particularly for low-to-moderate 

households – can create a “digital divide” that limits users’ personal and professional 

opportunities. In 2015, the FCC defined broadband as internet access with download 

speeds of 25 Megabits per second (Mbps) and upload speeds of 3 Mbps (otherwise 

noted as 25/3). With broadband access, internet users can partake in file downloading, 

video streaming, email, and other critical features necessary for online communication. 

Marginalized and/or minority households are generally disproportionately represented 

among low-to-moderate income households and therefore may be disproportionately 

impacted by a lack of internet access.  The website BroadbandNow, which exists to 

help people discover internet options in their area, conducts research into broadband 

availability and user demographics by state and provides data on Iowa households 

without internet access.  This data shows that 40% of extremely low-income households 

and 17% of low-to-moderate income households in Iowa are without internet: 

 

  

 

7 The University of Northern Iowa (UNI), Service-Learning. https://engagement.uni.edu/service-

learning  
8 The University of Northern Iowa (UNI), UNI Centers and External Partnerships. 

https://engagement.uni.edu/uni-centers-external-partnerships  

107

Item 3.

https://engagement.uni.edu/service-learning
https://engagement.uni.edu/service-learning
https://engagement.uni.edu/uni-centers-external-partnerships


 

43 

TABLE 45. DEMOGRAPHICS OF IOWA HOMES WITHOUT INTERNET ACCESS 

 
Percent of Homes without Internet Access by Age 

Under Age 18 5% 

Age 18-64 6% 

Age 65+ 9% 

Percent of Homes without Internet Access by 

Income 

Under $20,000 40% 

$20,000-$74,999 17% 

Over $75,000 6% 

Percent of Homes without Internet Access by 

Race/Ethnicity 

Hispanic 8% 

Black 8% 

White 8% 

Native American or Alaskan 6% 

Mixed Race 5% 

Asian 4% 
 

Source: BroadbandNow Iowa9 

 

The City reports that Cedar Falls was the first Iowa city to connect every home and 

business in the jurisdiction to 100% fiber broadband through community-owned Cedar 

Falls Utilities10.  In addition, the Cedar Falls Library maintains a program in which residents 

may borrow mobile Wi-Fi hotspots which are serviced by T-Mobile and also has a set of 

Chromebooks available for public use. These initiatives are a major step forward in 

bridging the digital divide within Cedar Falls and help connect all residents, regardless 

of income, to affordable high-speed internet. 

Describe the need for increased competition by having more than one broadband 

Internet service provider serve the jurisdiction. 

In addition to community-owned fiber broadband, which is available to all of Cedar 

Falls, BroadbandNow reports ten internet service providers service some or all of Cedar 

Falls.  Of these, four provide fixed wireless, three provide satellite internet, one provides 

5G internet, one provides DSL, and one provides cable internet. Additionally, as 

mentioned above, Cedar Falls Utilities offers fiber internet to the entire jurisdiction.   

 

9 https://broadbandnow.com/Iowa 
10 https://www.cedarfalls.com/657/Economic-Development 

108

Item 3.



 

44 

The following table depicts companies which provide internet services to Cedar Falls by 

type of service and percentage of the jurisdiction covered: 

 

TABLE 46. INTERNET SERVICES PROVIDERS IN CEDAR FALLS 

 

Provider Name Connection Type 
Portion of Cedar 

Falls covered 

Viasat Satellite 100% 

HughesNet Satellite 100% 

Rise BroadBand Fixed Wireless 19% 

AlwaysOn Fixed Wireless 82.6% 

CenturyLink DSL 8.5% 

XStream Cable 84.6% 

US Cellular  Fixed Wireless 82.6% 

GigFire Fixed Wireless 8.1% 

StarLink  Satellite 100% 

T-Mobile Home 

Internet 
5G Internet 30% 

Cedar Falls Utilities Fiber Internet 100% 

 

Source: https://broadbandnow.com/Iowa/Cedar-Falls 

 

This breakdown shows that there is significant competition for satellite and fixed wireless 

service providers, who are all available in most or all areas of Cedar Falls, but little or no 

competition for other types of service providers.  5G and DSL internet are only available 

in small portions of the City, and no cable. or fixed wireless internet provider covers the 

entire City, so assessing total coverage for this internet type is difficult.  This means that 

residents who are seeking options other than satellite or fiber internet may face difficulty 

in finding coverage options accessible to them, indicating a potential need for 

increased provision and competition in these areas.  Overall, however, Cedar Falls 

residents as a whole generally have high levels of access to a variety of broadband 

service types, and in 2020 one assessment concluded that Cedar Falls Utilities, which 

provides the City’s fiber internet, was the fastest internet service provider in the 

country11.  

 

11 https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20200618005171/en/Cedar-Falls-Utilities-Crowned-

Fastest-Internet-in-the-United-States-According-to-PCMag 

109

Item 3.



 

45 

MA-65 HAZARD MITIGATION - 

91.210(A)(5), 91.310(A)(3) 
Describe the jurisdiction’s increased natural hazard risks associated with climate 

change. 

Hazard Mitigation Planning for Cedar Falls is conducted through Black Hawk County. 

The County’s currently active Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan was approved 

in 2020, adopted by nine participating cities, and will remain active through June 2025. 

It applies to the jurisdictions of Black Hawk County and the cities of Cedar Falls, 

Dunkerton, Elk Run Heights, Evansdale, Gilbertville, Hudson, La Porte City, Raymond, and 

Waterloo. The plan defines 13 potential hazards within Black Hawk County and analyzes 

them on a risk assessment metric applicable to both the county overall and individually 

to the cities within the jurisdiction.  This metric weighs four factors in order of importance 

to determine the overall risk of each natural disaster event, which are probability, 

severity, warning time, and duration, respectively.  The specifics of the metric scales are 

shown below: 

110

Item 3.



 

46 

 

Source: 2020 Black Hawk County Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan, page 25 

111

Item 3.



 

47 

 

Using this metric, the Hazard Mitigation Plan presents the following ranking for hazard 

risks in Cedar Falls: 

 

Source: 2020 Black Hawk County Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan, page 327 

 

This Consolidated Plan examines only potential natural hazards and their increased 

likelihood due to climate change.  This section’s examination of potential natural 

hazards will also be limited to those which the Hazard Mitigation Plan deems likely or 

highly likely to recur in the future.  With these considerations, the following natural 

hazards pose a risk within Cedar Falls that may increase due to climate change. 

Severe Winter Storm 

Severe winter storms may include unusually low temperatures, ice, sleet, snow, and 

other dangerous effects.  The primary risks associated with thunderstorms include injury 

or death to residents, damage to property including the disruption of utility services, 

and disruption of traffic.  Black Hawk County has experienced 85 severe winter weather 

events since 1996, which did not cause any injuries or deaths but did result in nearly $8 

112

Item 3.



 

48 

million in property and crop damage.  The Hazard Mitigation Plan deems it highly likely 

that severe winter storm events will continue to occur in the jurisdiction in the future. 

River Flooding 

River flooding occurs when an existing body of water overflows to cover adjacent land 

that is not typically covered.  These events frequently follow other natural hazard 

events, such as thunderstorms or winter storms.  The primary risks associated with river 

flooding are injury or death to residents and crop or property damage, with the latter 

two being more common.   

Black Hawk County has experienced 106 river flooding events since 1996, which did not 

cause any injuries or deaths but resulted in over $40 million in property and crop 

damage.  All of these events impacted the City of Cedar Falls to some degree.  The 

Hazard mitigation plan deems it highly likely that river flooding events will continue to 

impact the County in the future and notes that Cedar Falls has two schools situated in 

100-year floodplains; however, it also notes that the city has participated in several 

flood mitigation measures including flood levies and buyouts of flood-prone properties.  

The city also participates in the National Flood Insurance Program’s Community Rating 

System, which affords discounts to the public who are required to purchase flood 

insurance.   

Cedar Falls also has higher floodplain restrictions than other jurisdictions. The city 

regulates the 500-year (0.2% chance) floodplain on top of the 100-year (1% chance) 

floodplain.     

Thunderstorm/Lightening/Hail 

By their nature thunderstorms produce multiple hazardous effects, including heavy 

rains, high winds, lightning, and hail. The primary risks associated with thunderstorms 

include injury or death to residents and damage to property including the disruption of 

utility services. The Hazard Mitigation Plan reports that “since 1996, Black Hawk County 

has experienced 12 reported lightning events causing a combined total of $1,154,000 in 

property damage. The county has also experienced 225 thunderstorm wind events 

causing $4,628,000 in property damage and $102,000 in crop damage, 61 heavy rain 

events causing $105,000 in property damage and no crop damage, and six funnel 

cloud events causing no damage”. In this same time period, the County also 

experienced 174 hail events, which caused $4.5 million in property and crop damage.  

The Plan deems it highly likely that thunderstorm, lightning, and hail events will continue 

to occur in the jurisdiction in the future. 

 

 

113

Item 3.



 

49 

Flash Flood 

Flash flooding occurs when water levels rise abruptly, usually due to intense rainfall.  

Most flash flooding occurs within the designated FEMA 1% annual chance flood zone 

and is often more costly and dangerous to both property and life than river flooding.  

The primary risks associated with flash flooding are injury or death to residents, damage 

to property including disruption of utility services, potential for increased disease and/or 

water contamination, and disruption of traffic. 

The Hazard Mitigation Plan reports that, according to data from the National Climatic 

Data Center, there have been 42 reported flash flood events in Black Hawk County 

between January 1, 1996, and November 30, 2019, which did not result in any injuries or 

deaths but did cause millions of dollars in property and crop damage.  Six of these 

floods occurred in Cedar Falls and caused property damage but no injuries or deaths. 

The Hazard Mitigation Plan deems it highly likely that the jurisdiction will experience 

some level of repeated flash flooding in the future. 

Tornado/Windstorm 

The primary risks associated with high winds are injury or death to residents, damage to 

property including the disruption of utility services, and disruption of traffic.  These risks 

can occur whether winds are straight line or tornadic in nature, although tornado winds 

typically reach higher speeds than straight line winds and therefore pose more of a 

threat. 

The Hazard Mitigation Plan reports 36 tornadoes in Black Hawk County between 1950 

and 2019, which resulted in a total of twelve deaths, 46 injuries, and over $50 million in 

property and crop damage.  Five of these tornadoes impacted Cedar Falls, resulting in 

one death, twenty injuries, and over $25 million in property damage. The Hazard 

Mitigation Plan deems it highly likely that the County as a whole will experience 

approximately five tornado events within the next ten years. 

Windstorm events typically describe a storm in which there are strong straight-line winds 

which do not rotate to form a tornado.  There have been 32 non-tornado windstorm 

events in Black Hawk County since 1996, which did not cause any injuries or deaths but 

resulted in over $3 million in property and crop damage.  The Hazard Mitigation Plan 

deems it highly likely that the County will continue to experience windstorm events in 

the future. 

Drought 

The primary risks associated with drought include crop loss and disruption of general 

water supply.  Since 1996, Black Hawk County has experienced four summers with 

drought conditions resulting in $96 million in crop damage.  The Hazard Mitigation Plan 

114

Item 3.



 

50 

deems it likely that drought will impact the jurisdiction in the future, noting that it has 

occurred in 22% of the years since 1996. 

Describe the vulnerability to these risks of housing occupied by low- and moderate-

income households based on an analysis of data, findings, and methods. 

In its September 2021 report “Climate Change and Social Vulnerability in the United 

States12,” the US EPA identifies low-income earners, minorities, elderly adults, and 

persons with less than a high school diploma as “socially vulnerable.” Socially 

vulnerable persons are described as having a reduced capacity to “cope with and 

recover from climate change impacts”, and socially vulnerable groups are described 

as more likely to live in poorer neighborhoods with lower elevations and poorly 

maintained infrastructure.  The 2018-2022 ACS estimated that 17.4% of Cedar Falls’ total 

population, or around 6,301 people, are living below the poverty line.  Additionally, the 

Black Hawk County Hazard Mitigation Plan notes that 412 insurable structures, 

comprised primarily of residential units, are located within floodplains.  The Plan also 

notes that residents in mobile homes or multi-family homes, who are typically lower 

income than residents of single-family homes, are at greater risk from natural disasters.  

The 2018-2022 American Community Survey estimates that there are about 457 

occupied mobile homes and about 4,211 multi-family units in Cedar Falls, accounting 

for 30.2% of the City’s occupied housing units. 

 

  

 

12 U.S. EPA. (September 2021) “Climate Change and Social Vulnerability in the United States.” 

https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2021-09/climate-vulnerability_september-

2021_508.pdf 

115

Item 3.



 

51 

Strategic Plan 

SP-05 OVERVIEW 
Strategic Plan Overview 

This strategic plan will guide the allocation of the Cedar Fall’s CDBG and HOME funding 

during the 2024-2028 planning period. Goals for the 2024-2028 period focus on high 

priority needs identified through data analysis, community input, consultation with 

Waterloo-Cedar Falls staff and partner agencies, and a review of relevant recently 

completed plans and studies. The priority and goal sections of this strategic plan 

describe anticipated activities within each of several broader areas to which the cities 

will allocate funding. Cedar Falls will rely on partnerships with local agencies and 

internal departments to achieve their Consolidated Plan goals and address priority 

needs. 

SP-10 GEOGRAPHIC PRIORITIES - 91.415, 

91.215(A)(1) 
Geographic Area 

Target Area Percentage of Funds 

Citywide 48% 

LMI Area Benefit 52% 

Table 12 - Geographic Priority Areas 
 

General Allocation Priorities 

As required by HUD regulations, the City of Cedar Falls targets all infrastructure projects 

to areas of low- or moderate-income. Other than this targeting, the City of Cedar Falls 

does not intend to target CDBG funds to any particular area, but instead proposes to 

generally distribute its CDBG resources throughout the city while conforming with 

eligibility criteria established in HUD’s program regulations.  

 

  

116

Item 3.



 

52 

SP-25 PRIORITY NEEDS - 91.415, 91.215(A)(2) 
Priority Need 

Name 

Priority 

Level 

Population Geographic 

Areas 

Affected 

Associated Goals Description Basis for Relative Priority 

Increase and 

Improve 

Affordable Housing 

Options 

High Extremely low 

income  

 

Low income  

 

Moderate 

income  

 

Large family 

Families with 

children  

 

Elderly/frail 

elderly 

 

Public housing 

residents  

 

People with 

disabilities 

Citywide Improve housing 

access and quality 

• Preservation and improvement of 

the city’s existing affordable housing 

supply through rehabilitation 

programs, both for homeowners and 

rental housing 

• Minor home repair assistance for 

low-income homeowners, to include 

weatherization and energy 

efficiency improvements 

• Closing cost and down payment 

assistance to help first-time 

homebuyers achieve 

homeownership 

• Programming to assist people with 

disabilities with the cost of 

accessibility modifications to their 

homes 

• New construction of affordable 

rental and homeowner housing units, 

incorporating universal design 

standards for greater accessibility 

• Voucher-based rental assistance 

(i.e., TBRA) to assist low-income 

households with the cost of existing 

rental units in the city 

• Creation of permanent supportive 

housing to provide housing options 

for people transitioning out of 

homelessness 

• Lead-based paint inspection and 

remediation 

Affordable housing was one of the 

most commonly cited needs 

among the stakeholders and 

residents engaged in development 

of the Consolidated Plan. Survey 

responses also indicate that housing 

affordability was among the top 

concerns of respondents. While 

housing affordability is a broad 

category of related needs, rental 

rehabilitation, housing for families, 

housing for people with disabilities, 

and energy efficiency 

improvements were specifically 

highlighted by the survey data. 

Other community input suggested a 

particular need for homeowner 

rehabilitation, minor home repairs, 

homebuyer assistance, accessibility 

modifications, rental assistance 

vouchers, and code enforcement 

to address poor rental housing 

conditions.  

117

Item 3.



 

53 

Priority Need 

Name 

Priority 

Level 

Population Geographic 

Areas 

Affected 

Associated Goals Description Basis for Relative Priority 

Provide Public 

Services to 

Enhance Quality of 

Life 

High Extremely low 

income 

 

Low income  

 

Moderate 

income  

 

Families with 

children  

 

Elderly People 

with disabilities  

 

Homeless 

individuals and 

families  

 

Victims of 

domestic 

violence 

Citywide Provide public 

services 

• Childcare assistance 

• Healthcare and mental health 

services 

• Counseling and recovery 

programs for people with alcohol 

and/or substance abuse disorders  

• Assistance with transportation 

challenges  

• Enhanced programming for 

children and youth in existing parks 

and recreation centers 

• Educational activities for adults 

and youth around job skills and 

employment to improve 

employment options 

• Job training and entrepreneurial 

support 

• Case management for people 

experiencing homelessness 

• Food banks and nutrition support 

• Legal assistance, especially to help 

renters overcome tenant screening 

barriers such as credit history and 

arrest records 

Of all the needs rated by survey 

respondents, needs for public 

services were rated more highly 

than any others, particularly the 

need for childcare assistance and 

for health and mental health 

services. In-person interactions with 

stakeholders and residents through 

interviews, public meetings, and 

pop-up engagement events 

confirmed these two needs and 

identified needs for youth activities, 

food and grocery support, legal 

assistance, and employment/job 

training as well. Transportation, 

which has both public service and 

public facility dimensions, was the 

most-cited need by stakeholders 

and residents. 

118

Item 3.



 

54 

Priority Need 

Name 

Priority 

Level 

Population Geographic 

Areas 

Affected 

Associated Goals Description Basis for Relative Priority 

Support Public 

Facilities and 

Infrastructure 

Development  

High Extremely low 

income 

 

Low income  

 

Moderate 

income  

 

Families with 

children  

 

Elderly People 

with disabilities  

 

Non-housing 

community 

development 

Citywide 

 

LMA 

Improve public 

facilities, 

infrastructure, and 

community 

amenities. 

• Public transportation 

improvements, including service 

frequency, route expansion, and 

extended operating hours 

• Improved transit amenities such as 

bus stop signage, shelters, and 

posted route information 

• Neighborhood-based childcare 

centers 

• Improvements to sidewalks and 

pedestrian infrastructure, including 

crosswalks, signaling systems, and 

addressing gaps in the connectivity 

of existing sidewalks 

• Park and playground 

enhancements 

• Creation of transitional housing for 

people transitioning out of 

homelessness 

• Improvements to water, sewer, 

and stormwater infrastructure  

• Improved amenities in  Cedar Falls, 

such as street trees, street furniture, 

and improved lighting 

Public facility needs, specifically the 

need for childcare centers, was the 

third-most highly ranked need of all 

the options available in the 

community survey. Residents and 

stakeholders who participated in 

development of the Consolidated 

Plan named transportation more 

frequently than any other need, 

while rounding out the city’s public 

facility and infrastructure needs with 

sidewalks and pedestrian signaling, 

parks, and playgrounds. Also 

mentioned, though less frequently 

than the needs already listed, were 

the needs for street trees, street 

furniture, street lighting, and 

water/sewer improvements.  

119

Item 3.



 

55 

Priority Need 

Name 

Priority 

Level 

Population Geographic 

Areas 

Affected 

Associated Goals Description Basis for Relative Priority 

Fair Housing High All Citywide Provide fair 

housing education 

and services 

• Fair housing education services to 

help residents, community 

organizations, and housing providers 

understand fair housing rights and 

responsibilities 

• Legal assistance in landlord/tenant 

disputes 

Survey responses reveal a gap in 

the community’s understanding of 

fair housing and a need for greater 

education and enforcement 

around this subject. Only 46% of 

respondents said they knew their 

fair housing rights and only 44% 

reported knowing where to file a 

complaint of housing discrimination. 

While just 5% of respondents 

reported having ever experienced 

housing discrimination in Cedar 

Falls, none of those respondents 

filed a formal report of the 

discrimination and said they did not 

know what good it would do. 

Stakeholder interviews further 

support the need for greater 

awareness and education in the 

community on fair housing rights 

and responsibilities.  

Program 

Administration 

High All Citywide Planning and 

administration 

• Program administration costs 

related to the planning and 

execution of community 

development and housing activities 

assisted with funds provided under 

the CDBG and HOME programs. 

These are necessary program 

administration costs associated with 

the coordination and delivery of 

services to Cedar Falls residents.  

Table 13 – Priority Needs Summary 
 

120

Item 3.



 

56 

Narrative 

During the development of the Consolidated Plan, five priority needs were identified. 

Each of the needs is described in the table that follows along with a basis for its priority 

designation and the populations to be served. Priority needs include housing 

affordability and housing options, public services, public facilities and infrastructure, fair 

housing, and program administration. 

 

SP-35 ANTICIPATED RESOURCES - 

91.420(B), 91.215(A)(4), 91.220(C)(1,2) 
Introduction  

The City of Cedar Falls qualifies for a formula grant under HUD’s CDBG program and, 

together with the City of Waterloo as a HOME Consortium, also qualifies for funding 

under the HOME program. The table below shows the City’s CDBG allocation for the 

2024 program year (as determined by HUD), along with an estimate of anticipated 

grant funding for the remaining four years covered under this Consolidated Plan. This 

estimate assumes that funding over those four years will average to be about the same 

as the 2024 allocation. Additionally, The City of Cedar Falls expects to receive 

approximately $1.3M in Housing Choice Voucher funding for Federal Fiscal Year 2024.  

There are no local (City) match requirements for either CDBG under the Entitlement 

Program or HCV funding. 

121

Item 3.



 

57 

Anticipated Resources 

Program Source of 

Funds 
Uses of Funds Expected Amount Available Year 1 Expected 

Amount 

Available 

Remainder 

of Con Plan  

$ 

Narrative 

Description 
Annual 

Allocation: 

$ 

Program 

Income: 

$ 

Prior Year 

Resources: $ 
Total: 

$ 

CDBG 
Public – 

Federal 

Housing 

Rehabilitation 

Infrastructure 

Public Facilities 

Public Services 

Planning and 

Administration 

$262,476 $0 $120,000.00 $382,476.00 $1,049,904 

The 

expected 

amount 

available 

for the 

remainder 

of the Con 

Plan is four 

times the 

2024 annual 

allocation. 

Table 14 - Anticipated Resources

122

Item 3.



 

58 

 
Explain how federal funds will leverage those additional resources (private, state, and 

local funds), including a description of how matching requirements will be satisfied 

The CDBG Entitlement funding provided by HUD will be used by the City and awarded 

Agencies to serve low- and moderate-income households, areas, and 

clientele. Because the cost of most CDBG-funded projects exceeds the amount 

available under the City’s annual grant, locally-funded agencies and organizations 

frequently must augment their awards using funds from other sources in order to 

complete their defined projects. Additionally, the City’s administration of the Housing 

Choice Voucher program, although funded by a different stream of federal resources, 

allows leveraging of the City’s staff and administrative capacity. No local matching 

funds are required for each of these awards to the City.   

If appropriate, describe publicly owned land or property located within the jurisdiction 

that may be used to address the needs identified in the plan 

Some public facility and infrastructure projects will be conducted on public property or 

property covered by public rights-of-way or easements. 

123

Item 3.



 

59 

SP-40 INSTITUTIONAL DELIVERY 

STRUCTURE - 91.415, 91.215(K) 
Explain the institutional structure through which the jurisdiction will carry out its 

consolidated plan including private industry, non-profit organizations, and public 

institutions. 

Responsible Entity Responsible Entity 

Type 

Role Geographic Area 

Served 

City of Waterloo Government Economic; 

Development; 

Homelessness; 

Non-homeless 

special needs; 

Ownership; 

Planning; 

Rental; 

Neighborhood 

improvements; 

Public facilities; 

Public services 

Jurisdiction 

City of Cedar Falls Government Economic 

Development; 

Homelessness; 

Non-homeless 

special needs; 

Ownership; 

Planning; 

Rental; 

Neighborhood 

improvements; 

Public facilities; 

Public services 

Jurisdiction 

Waterloo Housing 

Authority 

PHA Public Housing Jurisdiction 

Cedar Falls Low 

Rent Housing 

Agency 

PHA Affordable Housing 

- Rental 

Jurisdiction 

Community Housing 

Development 

Organization 

CHDO Ownership; 

Rental 

Jurisdiction 

Social Service Subrecipient Affordable Housing; Jurisdiction 

124

Item 3.



 

60 

Agency Economic 

Development; 

Homelessness; 

Non-homeless 

special needs; 

Planning; 

Neighborhood 

improvements; 

Public facilities; 

Public services 

Table 15 - Institutional Delivery Structure 
 

Assess of Strengths and Gaps in the Institutional Delivery System 

The Cedar Falls Planning and Community Services Division oversees CDBG activities in 

Cedar Falls, while Waterloo Community Development oversees HOME activities in the 

Consortium. Both agencies work with other local government, non-profit, private, and 

public agencies in this endeavor.  Collaboration between these entities is important as 

it helps to increase services offered and prevent gaps or overlap in these services.   

In recent years, the City has consistently partnered with and funded a small group of 

subrecipient organizations each year, which expands the local institutional delivery 

system to include these partnering organizations.  When interviewed, stakeholders from 

several local agencies and non-profits noted that improved educational efforts on the 

limitations of CDBG funding and the application process, in addition to simplifying and 

streamlining the funding application process, may be helpful in further expanding and 

strengthening service agency partnerships with the City. Staff members of the City of 

Cedar Falls also expressed a desire for increased partnership with local service 

agencies and noted that greater education on funding opportunities could encourage 

greater interest from local agencies in applying for CDBG funding.  

125

Item 3.



 

61 

Availability of services targeted to homeless persons and persons with HIV and 

mainstream services:13 

Homelessness 

Prevention Services 

Available in the 

Community 

Targeted to 

Homeless 

Targeted to 

People with HIV 

Homelessness Prevention Services 

Counseling/Advocacy X X X 

Legal Assistance X  X 

Mortgage Assistance X  X 

Rental Assistance X X X 

Utilities Assistance X X X 

Street Outreach Services 

Law Enforcement X X  

Mobile Clinics    

Other Street Outreach 

Services 
X X  

Supportive Services 

Alcohol & Drug Abuse X X X 

Child Care X X  

Education X   

Employment and 

Employment Training 
X X  

Healthcare X X  

HIV/AIDS X X  

Life Skills X X  

Mental Health 

Counseling 
X X  

Transportation X X  

Other 

Other    

Table 16 - Homeless Prevention Services Summary 

 

13 Boxes marked with X indicate the presence of such a program or resource in the jurisdiction. 

126

Item 3.



 

62 

Describe how the service delivery system including, but not limited to, the services listed 

above meet the needs of homeless persons (particularly chronically homeless 

individuals and families, families with children, veterans and their families, and 

unaccompanied youth). 

A group composed of various local providers of homelessness services known as the 

Black Hawk County Local Homeless Coordinating Board (LHCB) meets biweekly to share 

issues and concerns regarding homelessness, preventing homelessness and services 

available in the community. The LHCB has extensive membership, with over 50 members 

and with representation from approximately 40 different agencies, including state and 

local government agencies, non-profit, faith-based organizations, health clinics, and 

local businesses. The LHCB meetings also provide opportunities for coordination among 

board members, including discussions of the coordinated entry list and opportunities to 

place people from the list into shelter based on the participating members’ available 

resources. The board manages homelessness policies and a coordinated entry process. 

In addition, the board organizes the annual Point-In-Time survey, which is conducted in 

January of every year.  Additionally, a Homeless Coalition Board meets quarterly 

through Operation Threshold to discuss provision of community outreach. 

Describe the strengths and gaps of the service delivery system for special needs 

population and persons experiencing homelessness, including, but not limited to, the 

services listed above. 

A variety of local agencies, including local government entities, non-profits, and faith-

based organizations, provide services to special needs populations in Cedar Falls.  The 

Black Hawk County LHCB acts as a lead agency to unite and coordinate homeless 

service efforts from over 40 different agencies.  The breadth and number of agencies 

participating in Cedar Falls’ homeless services efforts are a definite strength to the City’s 

institutional delivery structure; however, the lack of an online presence from the Black 

Hawk County LHCB may be a potential weakness as it is difficult to find information on 

the LHCB’s activities.  

Provide a summary of the strategy for overcoming gaps in the institutional structure and 

service delivery system for carrying out a strategy to address priority needs. 

The City of Cedar Falls will continue to support agencies providing homeless services, 

including sheltering, to Cedar Falls LMI residents as well as providing financial 

counseling, nutrition, substance use disorder treatment, family services and healthcare.  

127

Item 3.



 

63 

SP-45 GOALS - 91.415, 91.215(A)(4) 

Sort 

Order 

Goal Name Start 

Year 

End 

Year 

Category Geographic 

Area 

Needs 

Addressed 

Funding Goal 

Outcome 

Indicator 

1 Increase and 

Improve 

Affordable 

Housing 

Options 

2024 2028 
Affordable 

Housing 

Citywide 

 

Increase and 

Improve 

Affordable 

Housing 

Options 

CDBG:  

$370,000 

Homeowner 

housing 

rehabilitated: 

10 housing units 

2 

Provide Public 

Services to 

Enhance 

Quality of Life 

2024 2028 

Affordable 

Housing 

Homeless 

Non-Homeless 

Special 

Needs  

Non-Housing 

Community 

Development 

Citywide 

LMI Area 

Benefit 

Provide Public 

Services to 

Enhance 

Quality of Life 

CDBG:  

$196,850 

Public service 

activities other 

than Low- 

Moderate-

Income 

Housing Benefit: 

7,500 persons 

assisted  

 

3 Support Public 

Facilities and 

Infrastructure 

Development 

2024 2028 

Non-Housing 

Community 

Development 

Citywide 

LMI Area 

Benefit 

Support Public 

Facilities and 

Infrastructure 

Development 

CDBG:  

$603,055 

 

Public Facility or 

Infrastructure 

Activities other 

than Low- 

Moderate-

Income 

Housing Benefit: 

1,000 

households 

assisted 

128

Item 3.



 

64 

Sort 

Order 

Goal Name Start 

Year 

End 

Year 

Category Geographic 

Area 

Needs 

Addressed 

Funding Goal 

Outcome 

Indicator 

5 
Program 

Administration 
2024 2028 

Other- 

Program 

Administration 
Citywide 

Program 

Administration 
CDBG:  

$262,475 
Not applicable 

Table 17 – Goals Summary 

129

Item 3.



 

65 

Goal Descriptions 

Goal Name Goal Description 

Increase and 

Improve 

Affordable Housing 

Options 

• Preservation and improvement of the city’s existing affordable 

housing supply through rehabilitation programs, both for 

homeowners and rental housing 

• Minor home repair assistance for low-income homeowners, to 

include weatherization and energy efficiency improvements 

• Closing cost and down payment assistance to help first-time 

homebuyers achieve homeownership 

• Programming to assist people with disabilities with the cost of 

accessibility modifications to their homes 

• New construction of affordable rental and homeowner housing 

units, incorporating universal design standards for greater 

accessibility 

• Rental deposit assistance to help low-income households with 

the cost of existing rental units in the city 

• Creation of permanent supportive housing to provide housing 

options for people transitioning out of homelessness 

• Lead-based paint inspection and remediation 

•  

Provide Public 

Services to 

Enhance Quality of 

Life 

• Childcare assistance 

• Healthcare and mental health services 

• Counseling and recovery programs for people with alcohol 

and/or substance abuse disorders  

• Assistance with transportation challenges  

• Enhanced programming for children and youth in existing parks 

and recreation centers 

• Educational activities for adults and youth around job skills and 

employment to improve employment options 

• Job training and entrepreneurial support 

• Case management for people experiencing homelessness 

• Food banks and nutrition support 

• Legal assistance, especially to help renters overcome tenant 

screening barriers such as credit history and arrest records 

Support Public 

Facilities and 

Infrastructure 

Development 

• Improved transit amenities such as bus stop signage, shelters, 

and posted route information 

• Neighborhood-based childcare centers 

• Improvements to sidewalks and pedestrian infrastructure, 

including crosswalks, signaling systems, and addressing gaps in 

130

Item 3.



 

66 

Goal Name Goal Description 

the connectivity of existing sidewalks 

• Park and playground enhancements 

• Improvements to water, sewer, and stormwater infrastructure  

• Improved amenities in Cedar Falls, such as street trees, street 

furniture, and improved lighting 

Fair Housing 

• Fair housing education services to help residents, community 

organizations, and housing providers understand fair housing 

rights and responsibilities 

• Legal assistance in landlord/tenant disputes 

Program 

Administration 

• Program administration costs related to the planning and 

execution of community development, housing, and 

homelessness activities assisted with funds provided under the 

CDBG program. 

 

Estimate the number of extremely low-income, low-income, and moderate-income 

families to whom the jurisdiction will provide affordable housing as defined by HOME 

91.315(b)(2) 

Over the 2024-2028 Consolidated Plan period, Cedar Falls expects to provide 250 

extremely low-income, low-income, and moderate-income families with affordable 

housing through the Housing Choice Voucher Program.  

 

131

Item 3.



 

67 

SP-65 LEAD-BASED PAINT HAZARDS - 

91.415, 91.215(I) 
Actions to address Lead Based Paint (LBP) hazards and increase access to housing 

without LBP hazards: 

Lead based paint hazard control and remediation for Cedar Falls is conducted through 

Black Hawk County, which operates a Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program.  

This program is described as “facilitating community screening of children ages 1-6 

years for elevated blood lead levels, maintaining surveillance of children with elevated 

blood lead levels, and coordinating a robust referral process with the child's family. This 

process includes developmental, behavioral, medical, nutritional, and environmental 

referrals, and assists the child's family as needed14 and applies to Black Hawk, Bremer, 

Buchanan, and Grundy counties.  The County also adopted a Control of Lead Based 

Paint Ordinance in 2022 which dictates requirements for testing and hazard reduction. 

How are the actions listed above related to the extent of lead poisoning and hazards? 

Cedar Falls reduces risk of lead poisoning by participating in the Childhood Lead 

Poisoning Prevention Program and by enforcing the Control of Lead Based Paint 

Ordinance, both operated by Black Hawk County.  These measures are designed to 

reduce hazards relating to lead-based paint in housing, which include irreversible 

health effects, brain and nervous system damage, reduced intelligence, and learning 

disabilities. Children, pregnant women, and workers are most at risk of experiencing 

negative health effects resulting from exposure to lead-based paint hazards. More than 

20 million homes in the United States built before 1978 contain lead-based paint 

hazards.  

How are the actions listed above integrated into housing policies and procedures? 

Cedar Falls participates in the Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program and 

abides by the Control of Lead Based Paint Ordinance, which both govern the entirety 

of Black Hawk County. 

  

 

14 https://www.bhcpublichealth.org/services/lead-poisoning 

132

Item 3.



 

68 

SP-70 ANTI-POVERTY STRATEGY - 91.415, 

91.215(J) 
Jurisdiction Goals, Programs and Policies for reducing the number of Poverty-Level 

Families 

2022 ACS data shows that 17% of Cedar Falls residents live below the poverty line, 

which is higher than both the Black Hawk County poverty rate of 15.7% and significantly 

higher than the overall state of Iowa poverty rate of 11.1%.  It may be relevant to note 

that the University of Northern Iowa is present in Cedar Falls, and that university students 

who are living off campus are included in poverty rate data. While student status itself 

does not mitigate the impacts of living below the poverty line, university students may 

have access to university or family financial support which is not available to non-

student residents living below the poverty line.  

Due to these higher-than-average poverty levels, the City will continue to collaborate 

with local partners to reduce the number of poverty-level families. The City may also 

wish to investigate the potential for combining this plan with a homelessness outreach 

and prevention plan, as the two issues are closely related. Listed below are City goals, 

programs, and policies which, although not part of a direct poverty reduction plan, 

assist low- and moderate-income families within the jurisdiction and help to alleviate the 

impacts of poverty. 

How are the Jurisdiction’s poverty reducing goals, programs, and policies coordinated 

with this affordable housing plan? 

This Consolidated Plan uses reports and data on past projects, successes, and 

challenges within the City of Cedar Falls in order to determine the City’s direction and 

goals over the next five years.  This information is gathered through a review of previous 

plans and through interviewing local stakeholders, service providers, and community 

members.  In order to more closely target community development efforts and to 

assess the efficacy of past efforts, this plan is complemented by yearly Annual Action 

Plans, which outline the City’s goals that are specific to the upcoming year, and by 

annual CAPERs, or Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Reports, which 

retrospectively analyze the goals outlined in each Annual Action Plan and provide an 

evaluation of the City’s progress towards these stated goals.  These yearly goals and 

analyses provide the City with the opportunity to reassess and revise targets where 

indicated, allowing the City to make any necessary adjustments to more closely 

coordinate poverty reduction goals, programs, and policies with this Consolidated Plan 

over the next five years. 

In recent years, the City’s poverty-reducing goals and actions have been linked to two 

133

Item 3.



 

69 

different affordable housing activities: homelessness prevention and housing rehab and 

repair services. The City typically supports over 1,000 households annually through 

various homelessness prevention activities and approximately 2 households per year 

through housing rehab and repair. In an ongoing, iterative coordination process, this 

Consolidated Plan and future Annual Action Plans will be shaped by the success and 

continuing need for these activities and for other programs that aim to reduce poverty.  

SP-80 MONITORING - 91.230 
Describe the standards and procedures that the jurisdiction will use to monitor activities 

carried out in furtherance of the plan and will use to ensure long-term compliance with 

requirements of the programs involved, including minority business outreach and the 

comprehensive planning requirements 

The City of Cedar Falls has in place numerous standards and procedures to monitor 

CDBG-funded activities and ensure compliance with federal regulations and the 

objectives of the CDBG program. In addition to CDBG regulations and monitoring 

criteria, the City’s funded activities are also reviewed against the Consolidated Plan, 

Annual Action Plan, and the Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice to confirm 

adherence to these foundational documents. 

The Housing Commission and City Council will review and approve the Con Plan, each 

AAP, and CAPER, which summarizes the accomplishments and efforts made under the 

CDBG Entitlements program. All after conducting the required appropriate public 

process as outlined in the City’s Public Citizen’s Participation Plan.   

Furthermore, Agencies receiving CDBG funding from the City are required to compete 

for funds, develop eligible proposals, provide quarterly reports, and be monitored for 

compliance and effectiveness. Monitoring consists of in-person visits to the agencies by 

City staff to: 

1) confirm the actual use of funds matches the agency’s proposal and contract 

with the City; 

2) verify agency expenses;  

3) pull and review copies of client files and applications;  

4) verify client demographics; and  

5) review quarterly reports and expenditures with key agency employees.  

For housing rehabilitation and repair projects funded directly by the City, activities are 

monitored according to prescribed HUD requirements, including written applications, 

income verifications, procurement, contracting, inspections, lead-based paint 

134

Item 3.



 

70 

protections, closeout procedures and utilization of minority-owned contractors in the 

project bidding outreach processes.  

As a further layer of accountability and oversight, All CDBG funds expended are subject 

to monitoring by HUD and audit by the City. Some subrecipients, such as INRCOG, 

conduct their own independent auditing and records maintenance processes as well. 

 

135

Item 3.



 

71 

Expected Resources 

AP-15 EXPECTED RESOURCES - 

91.420(B), 91.220(C)(1,2) 
Introduction 

The City of Cedar Falls qualifies for a formula grant under HUD’s CDBG program and, 

together with the City of Waterloo as a HOME Consortium, also qualifies for funding 

under the HOME program. The table below shows the City’s CDBG allocation for the 

2024 program year (as determined by HUD), along with an estimate of anticipated 

grant funding for the remaining four years covered under this Consolidated Plan. This 

estimate assumes that funding over those four years will average to be about the same 

as the 2024 allocation. Additionally, The City of Cedar Falls expects to receive 

approximately $1.3M in Housing Choice Voucher funding for Federal Fiscal Year 2024.  

There are no local (City) match requirements for either CDBG under the Entitlement 

Program or HCV funding. 

136

Item 3.



 

72 

Anticipated Resources 

Program Source 

of Funds 
Uses of Funds Expected Amount Available Year 1 Expected 

Amount 

Available 

Remainder 

of ConPlan  

$ 

Narrative 

Description 
Annual 

Allocation: 

$ 

Program 

Income: 

$ 

Prior Year 

Resources: $ 
Total: 

$ 

CDBG 

Public 

– 

Federal 

Housing 

Rehabilitation 

Infrastructure 

Public Facilities 

Public Services 

Planning and 

Administration 

$262,476 $0 $120,000.00 $382,476.00 $1,049,904 

The expected 

amount 

available for the 

remainder of the 

Con Plan is four 

times the 2024 

annual 

allocation. 

Table 18 - Expected Resources – Priority Table

137

Item 3.



 

73 

Explain how federal funds will leverage those additional resources (private, state, and 

local funds), including a description of how matching requirements will be satisfied 

The CDBG Entitlement funding provided by HUD will be used by the City and awarded 

Agencies to serve low- and moderate-income households, areas, and 

clientele. Because the cost of most CDBG-funded projects exceeds the amount 

available under the City’s annual grant, locally funded agencies and organizations 

frequently must augment their awards using funds from other sources in order to 

complete their defined projects. Additionally, the City’s administration of the Housing 

Choice Voucher program, although funded by a different stream of federal resources, 

allows leveraging of the City’s staff and administrative capacity. No local matching 

funds are required for each of these awards to the City.   

If appropriate, describe publicly owned land or property located within the jurisdiction 

that may be used to address the needs identified in the plan 

Some public facility and infrastructure projects will be conducted on public property or 

property covered by public rights-of-way or easements. 

 

138

Item 3.



 

74 

Annual Goals and Objectives 

AP-20 ANNUAL GOALS AND OBJECTIVES - 91.420, 

91.220(C)(3) &(E) 
Goals Summary Information  

Sort 

Order 

Goal Name Start 

Year 

End 

Year 

Category Geographic 

Area 

Needs 

Addressed 

Funding Goal 

Outcome 

Indicator 

1 Increase and 

Improve 

Affordable 

Housing 

Options 

2024 2025 
Affordable 

Housing 

Citywide 

LMI Area 

Benefit 

Increase and 

Improve 

Affordable 

Housing 

Options 

CDBG:  

$90,000 

Homeowner 

housing 

rehabilitated: 

2 housing units 

2 

Provide Public 

Services to 

Enhance 

Quality of Life 

2024 2025 

Affordable 

Housing 

Homeless 

Non-Homeless 

Special 

Needs  

Non-Housing 

Community 

Development 

Citywide 

LMI Area 

Benefit 

Provide Public 

Services to 

Enhance 

Quality of Life 

CDBG:  

$39,370. 

Public service 

activities other 

than Low- 

Moderate-

Income 

Housing 

Benefit: 1500 

persons 

assisted  

 

139

Item 3.



 

75 

Sort 

Order 

Goal Name Start 

Year 

End 

Year 

Category Geographic 

Area 

Needs 

Addressed 

Funding Goal 

Outcome 

Indicator 

3 Support 

Public 

Facilities and 

Infrastructure 

Development 

2024 2025 

Non-Housing 

Community 

Development 

Citywide 

LMI Area 

Benefit 

Support 

Public 

Facilities and 

Infrastructure 

Development 

CDBG:  

$200,611 

 

Public Facility 

or 

Infrastructure 

Activities other 

than Low- 

Moderate-

Income 

Housing 

Benefit: 200 

households 

assisted 

4 
Program 

Administration 
2024 2025 

Other- 

Program 

Administration 

Citywide 
Program 

Administration 

CDBG:  

$52,495 

Not 

applicable 

Table 19 – Goals Summary 
 

Goal Descriptions 

Goal Name Goal Description 

Increase and Improve 

Affordable Housing 

Options 

• Preservation and improvement of the city’s existing affordable housing supply through 

rehabilitation programs, both for homeowners and rental housing 

• Minor home repair assistance for low-income homeowners, to include weatherization and 

energy efficiency improvements 

• Closing cost and down payment assistance to help first-time homebuyers achieve 

homeownership 

• Programming to assist people with disabilities with the cost of accessibility modifications to 

140

Item 3.



 

76 

Goal Name Goal Description 

their homes 

• New construction of affordable rental and homeowner housing units, incorporating 

universal design standards for greater accessibility 

• Rental deposit assistance to help low-income households with the cost of existing rental 

units in the city 

• Creation of permanent supportive housing to provide housing options for people 

transitioning out of homelessness 

• Lead-based paint inspection and remediation 

•  

Provide Public 

Services to Enhance 

Quality of Life 

• Childcare assistance 

• Healthcare and mental health services 

• Counseling and recovery programs for people with alcohol and/or substance abuse 

disorders  

• Assistance with transportation challenges  

• Enhanced programming for children and youth in existing parks and recreation centers 

• Educational activities for adults and youth around job skills and employment to improve 

employment options 

• Job training and entrepreneurial support 

• Case management for people experiencing homelessness 

• Food banks and nutrition support 

• Legal assistance, especially to help renters overcome tenant screening barriers such as 

credit history and arrest records 

Support Public 

Facilities and 

Infrastructure 

Development 

• Improved transit amenities such as bus stop signage, shelters, and posted route information 

• Neighborhood-based childcare centers 

• Improvements to sidewalks and pedestrian infrastructure, including crosswalks, signaling 

systems, and addressing gaps in the connectivity of existing sidewalks 

• Park and playground enhancements 

141

Item 3.



 

77 

Goal Name Goal Description 

• Improvements to water, sewer, and stormwater infrastructure  

• Improved amenities in Cedar Falls, such as street trees, street furniture, and improved 

lighting 

Fair Housing 

• Fair housing education services to help residents, community organizations, and housing 

providers understand fair housing rights and responsibilities 

• Legal assistance in landlord/tenant disputes 

Program 

Administration 

• Program administration costs related to the planning and execution of community 

development, housing, and homelessness activities assisted with funds provided under the 

CDBG program. 

 

 

142

Item 3.



 

78 

AP-35 PROJECTS - 91.420, 91.220(D) 
Introduction 

The projects listed below represent the activities Cedar Falls plans to undertake during 

the 2024 program year to address the goals of increasing and improving affordable 

housing; providing public services to enhance quality of life; supporting public facilities 

and infrastructure development; promoting fair housing; and ensuring capable 

program administration. 

# Project Name 

1 INCREASE AND IMPROVE AFFORDABLE HOUSING OPTIONS 

2 PROVIDE PUBLIC SERVICES TO ENHANCE QUALITY OF LIFE  

3 SUPPORT PUBLIC FACILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 

4  PROGRAM ADMINISTRATION   

Table 20 – Project Information 

 
Describe the reasons for allocation priorities and any obstacles to addressing 

underserved needs 

The projects listed above were selected based on input received from the community, 

including residents and representatives from nonprofit agencies, housing providers, 

homeless housing and service providers, community service organizations, and others. 

Data regarding housing needs, homeless needs, needs of non-homeless special 

populations, and non-housing community development needs also informed allocation 

priorities.  

The primary barriers for low- and moderate-income households assisted with CDBG 

funding are the availability of childcare and health/mental health services, along with 

the affordability of housing. While housing affordability is a broad category of related 

needs, rental rehabilitation, housing for families, housing for people with disabilities, and 

energy efficiency improvements were specifically highlighted by respondents to the 

community survey conducted in conjunction with this Consolidate Plan process.  

 

143

Item 3.



 

79 

AP-38 PROJECT SUMMARY 
Project Summary Information 

1 Project Name Increase and improve affordable housing options 

Target Area Citywide 

Goals Supported Increase and improve affordable housing options 

Needs Addressed Increase and improve affordable housing options 

Funding $70,000 

Description 
Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons with affordable and safe 

housing 

Target Date 2024-2025 

Estimate the number 

and type of families that 

will benefit from the 

proposed activities 

2 households 

Location Description Citywide 

Planned Activities 

Continue to provide housing grants for rehabilitation, repair, accessibility, and 

structural hazard removal grants to eligible low-and-moderate income 

households to preserve owner-occupied single-family and renter-occupied 

housing stock. 

 

  

144

Item 3.



 

80 

 

2 
Project Name 

Provide public services to enhance quality of life through a partnership with 

community agencies 

Target Area Citywide 

Goals Supported Provide public services to enhance quality of life 

Needs Addressed Provide public services to enhance quality of life 

Funding $39,370 

Description Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) individuals; limited income clientele 

Target Date 2024-2025 

Estimate the number 

and type of families that 

will benefit from the 

proposed activities 

1500 LMI persons 

Location Description Citywide 

Planned Activities 

Continue supporting agencies providing homeless services, including 

sheltering, to Cedar Falls LMI residents as well as providing financial counseling, 

nutrition, substance use disorder treatment, family services and healthcare. 

 

  

145

Item 3.



 

81 

 

3 Project Name Support Public Facilities and Infrastructure Development 

Target Area LMI Areas 

Goals Supported Support Public Facilities and Infrastructure Development 

Needs Addressed 

Improve safety and walkability with sidewalks in LMI Areas; increase access to 

healthy lifestyles related to parks, recreation, trees, and active living assets in 

LMI Areas of the community. 

Funding $200,611 

Description 

Construct sidewalks to address barriers to accessibility and walkability in LMI 

Areas; provide funds for increasing access to healthy lifestyles and educational 

advancement related to parks, recreation, trees, and active living assets in LMI 

areas of the Cedar Falls community. 

Target Date 2024-2025 

Estimate the number 

and type of families that 

will benefit from the 

proposed activities 

200 households  

Location Description LMI Areas  

Planned Activities 
Add sidewalks in LMI Areas to create greater accessibility and plant street trees 

in LMI Areas to improve walkability and promote healthy living 

  

146

Item 3.



 

82 

4 Project Name Program Administration 

Target Area Citywide 

Goals Supported Program Administration 

Needs Addressed Services necessary to administer all CDBG projects.  

Funding $52,495 

Description Services necessary to administer all CDBG projects 

Target Date 2024-2025 

Estimate the number 

and type of families that 

will benefit from the 

proposed activities 

Not applicable 

Location Description 220 Clay Street; Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

Planned Activities 

The program provides effective planning and administration for CDBG 

programs that benefit low-and-moderate income areas and households in the 

community. 

 

 

147

Item 3.



 

83 

AP-50 GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION - 

91.420, 91.220(F) 
Description of the geographic areas of the entitlement (including areas of low-income 

and minority concentration) where assistance will be directed 

The City’s CDBG-funded programs will serve Low-Moderate Income (LMI) households, 

LMI Limited Clientele agencies or organizations, or serve LMI areas, as defined by the 

Census Bureau and HUD. CDBG funding is used throughout the City of Cedar Falls as 

well as for purchasing services from a limited number of agencies that may not be 

located in Cedar Falls, but which will provide services to Cedar Falls residents.  

Geographic Distribution 

Target Area Percentage of Funds 

Citywide 48% 

LMI Area Benefit 52% 

Table 21 - Geographic Distribution  

 
Rationale for the priorities for allocating investments geographically  

Cedar Falls proposes to distribute its CDBG resources throughout the city to the extent 

neighborhoods receiving CDBG investments are eligible under CDBG area benefit or 

other applicable standards. Otherwise, the City does not intend to target CDBG funds 

to any particular area. 

Discussion 

The qualifying block groups are scattered throughout the community, and the City 

does intend to use CDBG funding to support LMI-specific areas. Most of the agency or 

family support programs funded through CDBG and these programs are based on an 

individual household LMI determination or on a Limited Clientele basis. Rehabilitation 

programs, and those benefiting a specific household or rental units, will require 

participants to meet LMI prescribed HUD income guidelines.  

 

  

148

Item 3.



 

84 

AP-85 OTHER ACTIONS - 91.420, 91.220(K) 
Introduction 

This section details Cedar Falls’ plans to ensure safe and affordable housing for its 

residents, meet underserved needs, reduce poverty, develop institutional structure, and 

enhance coordination between public and private sector housing and community 

development agencies. 

Actions planned to address obstacles to meeting underserved needs: 

The City of Cedar Falls will continue to work with public service agencies and nonprofit 

organizations to ensure that assistance reaches residents with the greatest need.  Efforts 

include, but are not limited to, supporting housing improvements, preventing 

homelessness, food security, and housing security through rent/mortgage support.  The 

City will also work with code enforcement and other departments to identify potential 

at-risk residents. By networking with other agencies, the City can combine multiple 

funding sources to provide more services to low-and-moderate income residents. 

Actions planned to foster and maintain affordable housing: 

The City of Cedar Falls will continue to work on fostering affordable housing in the 

community and has allocated $90,000 in housing grants for FY 24-25. The Housing 

Rehabilitation and Repair Programs assist qualified homeowners and renters with 

substantial rehabilitation or repairs to existing units. Funding may also be directed 

towards financial education classes and planning, as well as family support services. 

Finally, Habitat for Humanity encourages affordable housing through new construction 

and housing rehabilitation programs that they manage within the community. 

Actions planned to reduce lead-based paint hazards: 

The City will continue to include lead-based hazard prevention measures in its housing 

rehabilitation program, including identification, testing relocation and remediation 

actions, as required by HUD.  As a means of education, housing rehabilitation 

applicants will be provided the lead paint brochure, “Protect Your Family from Lead 

Paint in Your Home”.  This brochure explains the dangers of lead in the home.  

Households receiving assistance through the Housing Choice Voucher program are also 

educated on the hazards of lead. 

Actions planned to reduce the number of poverty-level families: 

Cedar Falls has incorporated the Continuum of Care approach and will continue to 

provide an integrated system of services and programs to meet the various needs of 

individuals as they progress toward financial self-sufficiency. The City collaborates with 

local service providers to pursue resources and innovative partnerships to support the 

149

Item 3.



 

85 

development of affordable housing; prevent homelessness, abuse, and substance 

abuse; offer housing education and literacy; offer emergency rental and utility 

assistance; hire interpreters for addressing the needs of their non-English speaking 

population; and provide emergency food and shelter to those persons in danger of 

becoming homeless. 

Actions planned to develop institutional structure: 

The City of Cedar Falls will continue to collaborate with its local service providers in 

order to most efficiently distribute and enhance assistance to residents in need. 

Actions planned to enhance coordination between public and private housing and 

social service agencies: 

The City of Cedar Falls will continue to maintain a relationship with private housing 

management through the Housing Choice Voucher program.  The City will continue 

working with and educating participating landlords and property owners, private 

developers, service organizations, about the City, its programs, and requirements. 

  

150

Item 3.



 

86 

Program Specific 

Requirements 

AP-90 PROGRAM SPECIFIC 

REQUIREMENTS - 91.420, 91.220(L)(1,2,4) 
Introduction 

CDBG-funded projects that are expected to be available during the year are identified 

in the Projects Summary Table (AP-35) above. The following identifies any program 

income that may be available for use in said projects.  

Community Development Block Grant Program (CDBG) 

Reference 24 CFR 91.220(l)(1) 

Projects planned with all CDBG funds expected to be available during the year are 

identified in the Projects Table. The following identifies program income that is available 

for use that is included in projects to be carried out.  

 

Program Income 

1. The total amount of program income that will have been received 

before the start of the next program year and that has not yet been 

reprogrammed 

$0 

2. The amount of proceeds from section 108 loan guarantees that will be  

used during the year to address the priority needs and specific objectives 

identified in the grantee's strategic plan 

$0 

3. The amount of surplus funds from urban renewal settlements $0 

4. The amount of any grant funds returned to the line of credit for which 

the planned use has not been included in a prior statement or plan. 

$0 

5. The amount of income from float-funded activities $0 

Total Program Income $0 

 

 

151

Item 3.



 

87 

Other CDBG Requirements 

1. The amount of urgent need activities $0 

2a. The estimated percentage of CDBG funds that will be used for 

activities that benefit persons of low and moderate income. Overall 

Benefit – A consecutive period of one, two or three years may be used to 

determine that a minimum overall benefit of 70% of CDBG funds is used 

to benefit persons of low and moderate income. Specify the years 

covered that include this Annual Action Plan. 

100.00% 

2b. Specify the years covered that include this Annual Action Plan. 2024 

 

Discussion 

The City of Cedar Falls is not a direct HOME Investment Partnerships Program recipient, 

however, the City participates along with the City of Waterloo in a HOME Consortium. 

Waterloo is the Consortium’s lead entity and the Consortium’s HOME program planning 

and policies are included within Waterloo’s Consolidated Plan. As part of the HOME 

program, the City of Cedar Falls works closely with INRCOG and the Iowa Heartland 

Habitat for Humanity Chapter to implement their HOME projects and plans, as outlined 

in the agreement executed between the two communities. 

 

152

Item 3.



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Analysis of Impediments to  

Fair Housing Choice 
June 2024 

153

Item 3.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 
  

154

Item 3.



 

 

 

JOINT ANALYSIS OF 

IMPEDIMENTS  

TO FAIR HOUSING 

CHOICE 
June 2024 
 
 
 
 

WATERLOO/ 

CEDAR FALLS 

HOME CONSORTIUM 
City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 
 
 
 
Prepared for the Waterloo/Cedar Falls HOME Consortium by 

Mosaic Community Planning, LLC 
 

 

 

 

 
 

155

Item 3.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

  

156

Item 3.



 

Table of Contents 
Chapter 1. Introduction ........................................................................................................... 7 

Fair Housing Planning ........................................................................................................... 7 

Definitions .............................................................................................................................. 9 

Data Sources .......................................................................................................................10 

Chapter 2. Community Participation Process ..................................................................... 12 

Community Engagement Overview .................................................................................12 

Community Engagement Results.......................................................................................17 

Chapter 3. Socioeconomic Profile ....................................................................................... 35 

Demographic Profile ...........................................................................................................35 

Racially and Ethnically Concentrated Areas of Poverty .................................................46 

Chapter 4. Segregation and Integration .............................................................................. 50 

Race and Ethnicity ..............................................................................................................50 

Segregation Levels ..............................................................................................................55 

National Origin and Limited English Proficiency Population ............................................56 

Chapter 5. Access to Opportunity ........................................................................................ 61 

Employment and Workforce Development ......................................................................62 

Education ............................................................................................................................74 

Transportation ......................................................................................................................79 

Environmental Quality .........................................................................................................87 

Food .....................................................................................................................................94 

Healthcare ...........................................................................................................................97 

Chapter 6. Housing Profile ..................................................................................................... 99 

Housing Supply Summary ................................................................................................. 100 

Housing Costs and Affordability ....................................................................................... 105 

Housing Needs ................................................................................................................... 111 

Homeownership and Lending .......................................................................................... 115 

Zoning, Affordability, and Housing Choice ..................................................................... 121 

Chapter 7. Publicly Supported Housing ..............................................................................132 

Supply and Occupancy ................................................................................................... 133 

Geography of Supported Housing .................................................................................. 136 

Chapter 8. Fair Housing Activities ........................................................................................140 

Fair Housing Complaints ................................................................................................... 140 

Past Fair Housing Goals and Related Activities .............................................................. 143 

157

Item 3.



 

Chapter 9. Identification of Impediments ...........................................................................147 

 
  

158

Item 3.



7 
 

 

CHAPTER 1. 

INTRODUCTION 
The purpose of this Joint Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice is to study a 

broad array of public and private policies, practices, and procedures affecting housing 

choice across the adjacent cities of Cedar Falls and Waterloo, Iowa. This document will 

provide detailed information to policy makers, administrative staff, housing providers, 

lenders, and fair housing advocates in the region with a foundation upon which to 

implement strategies that will address disparities in housing needs and in access to 

opportunity; support integrated living patterns; and maintain compliance with civil rights 

and fair housing laws. 

FAIR HOUSING PLANNING 

Equal access to housing choice is crucial to America’s commitment to equality and 

opportunity for all. Title VIII of the United States Civil Rights Act of 1968, more commonly 

known as the Fair Housing Act, provides housing opportunity protection by prohibiting 

discrimination in the sale or rental of housing on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, and 

national origin. The Act was amended in 1988 to provide stiffer penalties, establish an 

administrative enforcement mechanism and to expand its coverage to prohibit 

discrimination on the basis of familial status and disability. The U.S. Department of Housing 

and Urban Development (HUD), specifically HUD’s Office of Fair Housing and Equal 

Opportunity (FHEO), is responsible for the administration and enforcement of the Fair 

Housing Act and other civil rights laws. 

Provisions to affirmatively further fair housing (AFFH) are basic long-standing components 

of HUD’s housing and community development programs. The AFFH requirements are 

derived from Section 808(e)(5) of the Fair Housing Act which requires the Secretary of 

HUD to administer the Department’s housing and urban development programs in a 

manner to affirmatively further fair housing.1 

Local communities that receive grant funds from HUD through its entitlement process, 

including Cedar Falls and Waterloo, satisfy this obligation by performing an “Analysis of 

Impediments to Fair Housing Choice” (AI). In an AI, communities that receive HUD 

entitlement grant funds evaluate barriers to fair housing choice and develop and 

 

 

1 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development Office of Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity. Fair 

Housing Planning Guide: Volume 1 (Chapter 1: Fair Housing Planning Historical Overview, Page 13). March 

1996. 

 

159

Item 3.



8 
 

 

implement strategies and actions to overcome any identified impediments based on 

their individual histories, circumstances, and experiences. Through this process, local 

entitlement communities promote fair housing choices for all persons, including classes 

protected under the Fair Housing Act, and provide opportunities for racially and 

ethnically inclusive patterns of housing occupancy, identify structural and systemic 

barriers to fair housing choice, and promote housing that is physically accessible and 

usable by persons with disabilities. 

HUD will presume that the grantee is meeting its obligation and certification to 

affirmatively further fair housing by taking actions that address the impediments, 

including: 

• Analyzing and eliminating housing discrimination within the jurisdiction; 

• Promoting fair housing choice for all persons; 

• Providing opportunities for racially and ethnically inclusive patterns of housing 

occupancy; 

• Promoting housing that is physically accessible to all persons to include those 

persons with disabilities; and 

• Fostering compliance with the nondiscrimination provisions of the Fair Housing 

Act. 

Through its Community Planning and Development (CPD) programs, HUD’s goal is to 

expand mobility and widen a person’s freedom of choice. The Department also requires 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program grantees to document AFFH 

actions in the annual performance reports that are submitted to HUD. 

In 2015, HUD published a final rule on Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing, which outlined 

procedures that jurisdictions and public housing authorities who participate in HUD 

programs must take to promote access to fair housing and equal opportunity. This rule 

stipulated that grantees and housing authorities take meaningful actions to overcome 

patterns of segregation and foster inclusive communities free from barriers that restrict 

access to opportunity based on protected class characteristics. Under HUD’s final rule, 

grantees must take actions to: 

• Address disparities in housing need; 

• Replace segregated living patterns with integrated and balanced living 

patterns; 

• Transform racially and ethnically concentrated areas of poverty into areas of 

opportunity; and 

• Foster and maintain compliance with civil rights and fair housing laws. 

To assist grantees and housing authorities affirmatively further fair housing, HUD provided 

publicly-available data, maps, and an assessment tool to use to evaluate the state of fair 

housing within their communities and set locally-determined priorities and goals. HUD’s 

final rule mandated that most grantees begin submitting to HUD an assessment 

developed using this tool in 2017; however, a 2018 HUD notice withdrew the requirement 

to prepare such assessments. A subsequent notice further required that grantees instead 

prepare and keep on file a current Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice. HUD’s 

data and maps remain available for grantees to use in preparing their AIs. 

160

Item 3.



9 
 

 

Waterloo and Cedar Falls worked with Mosaic Community Planning to develop this 

Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice. This AI follows HUD’s Fair Housing Planning 

Guide but also incorporates elements of HUD’s assessment tool established in the 2015 

final rule. In some places, it uses data developed by HUD for use by grantees as part of 

the Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing final rule. 

DEFINITIONS 

Affirmatively Further Fair Housing – In keeping with the text of HUD’s 2015 Affirmatively 

Furthering Fair Housing regulation, to Affirmatively Further Fair Housing Choice (AFFH) is to 

take “meaningful actions that, taken together, address significant disparities in housing 

needs and in access to opportunity, replacing segregated living patterns with truly 

integrated and balanced living patterns, transforming racially and ethnically 

concentrated areas of poverty into areas of opportunity, and fostering and maintaining 

compliance with civil rights and fair housing laws.”2 

Affordable – Though local definitions of the term may vary, the definition used throughout 

this analysis is congruent with HUD’s definition: 

• HUD defines as "affordable" housing that costs no more than 30% of a 

household's total monthly gross income. For rental housing, the 30% amount 

would be inclusive of any tenant-paid utility costs. For homeowners, the 30% 

amount would include the mortgage payment, property taxes, homeowners 

insurance, and any homeowners’ association fees. 

Fair Housing Choice – This Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice uses the 

following definition of Fair Housing Choice: 

“Individuals and families have the information, opportunity, and options to live 

where they choose without unlawful discrimination and other barriers related to 

race, color, religion, sex, familial status, national origin, or disability. Fair housing 

choice encompasses: 

o Actual choice, which means the existence of realistic housing options; 

o Protected choice, which means housing that can be accessed without 

discrimination; and 

o Enabled choice, which means realistic access to sufficient information 

regarding options so that any choice is informed. For persons with 

disabilities, fair housing choice and access to opportunity include access 

to accessible housing and housing in the most integrated setting 

appropriate to an individual's needs as required under Federal civil rights 

 

 

2 “Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing; Final Rule,” published July 16, 2015, at 80 FR 42272. 

161

Item 3.



10 
 

 

law, including disability-related services that an individual needs to live in 

such housing.”3 

Impediments to Fair Housing Choice – As adapted from the HUD Fair Housing Planning 

Guide, impediments to fair housing choice are understood to include: 4 

• Any actions, omissions, or decisions taken because of race, color, religion, sex, 

disability, familial status, or national origin which restrict housing choices or the 

availability of housing choices. 

• Any actions, omissions, or decisions which have the effect of restricting housing 

choices or the availability of housing choices on the basis of race, color, religion, 

sex, disability, familial status, or national origin. 

Protected Classes – The following definition of federally protected classes is used in this 

document: 

• Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 prohibits housing discrimination based on 

race, color, national origin or ancestry, sex, or religion. The 1988 Fair Housing 

Amendments Act added familial status and mental and physical handicap as 

protected classes. 

DATA SOURCES 

Decennial Census Data – Data collected by the Decennial Census for 2020, 2010 and 

2000 is used in this Assessment (older Census data is only used in conjunction with more 

recent data in order to illustrate trends). The Decennial Census data is used by the U.S. 

Census Bureau to create several different datasets: 

• 2010 and 2000 Census Summary File 1 (SF 1) – This dataset contains what is known 

as “100% data,” meaning that it contains the data collected from every 

household that participated in the Census and is not based on a representative 

sample of the population. Though this dataset is broad in terms of coverage of the 

total population, it is limited in the depth of the information collected. Basic 

characteristics such as age, sex, and race are collected, but not more detailed 

information such as disability status, occupation, and income. The statistics are 

available for a variety of geographic levels with most tables obtainable down to 

the census tract or block group level. 

• 2000 Census Summary File 3 (SF 3) – Containing sample data from approximately 

one in every six U.S. households, this dataset is compiled from respondents who 

received the “long form” Census survey. This comprehensive and highly detailed 

 

 

3  24 CFR Part 5.151. 

4 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development Office of Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity. Fair 

Housing Planning Guide: Volume 1 (Chapter 2: Preparing for Fair Housing Planning, Page 2-17). March 1996. 

162

Item 3.



11 
 

 

dataset contains information on such topics as ancestry, level of education, 

occupation, commute time to work, and home value. The SF 3 dataset was 

discontinued for the 2010 Census, but many of the variables from SF 3 are now 

included in the American Community Survey. 

American Community Survey (ACS) – The American Community Survey is an ongoing 

statistical survey that samples a small percentage of the U.S. population every year, thus 

providing communities with more current population and housing data throughout the 

10 years between censuses. This approach trades the accuracy of the Decennial Census 

Data for the relative immediacy of continuously polled data from every year. ACS data 

is compiled from an annual sample of approximately 3 million addresses rather than an 

actual count (like the Decennial Census’s SF 1 data) and therefore is susceptible to 

sampling errors. This data is released in two different formats: single-year estimates and 

multi-year estimates. 

• ACS Multi-Year Estimates – More current than Census 2020 data, this dataset is one 

of the most frequently used. Because sampling error is reduced when estimates 

are collected over a longer period of time, 5-year estimates will be more accurate 

(but less recent) than 1-year estimates. The 2018-2022 ACS 5-year estimates are 

used most often in this report. 

HUD Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing Data and Mapping Tool (AFFH-T) – HUD’s AFFH 

HUD’s AFFH Data and Mapping Tool provides a series of online, interactive maps and 

data tables to assist grantees in preparing fair housing analyses. Topics covered include 

demographics and demographic trends; racial and ethnic segregation; housing 

problems, affordability, and tenure; locations of subsidized housing and Housing Choice 

Voucher use; and access to educational, employment, and transportation opportunities. 

This report uses HUD’s latest data and maps, AFFHT0006, which was released in July 2020. 

HUD’s source data includes the American Community Survey (ACS), Decennial Census / 

Brown Longitudinal Tract Database (BLTD), Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy 

(CHAS), Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics (LEHD), HUD’s Inventory 

Management System (IMS) / Public and Indian Housing (PIH) Information Center (PIC), 

and others. For a complete list of data sources, please see HUD’s Affirmatively Furthering 

Fair Housing Data and Mapping Tool Data Documentation available online at: 

https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/FHEO/documents/AFFH-T-DataDocumentation-

AFFHT0006-July-2020.pdf 

 

  

163

Item 3.

https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/FHEO/documents/AFFH-T-Data-Documentation-AFFHT0006-July-2020.pdf


12 
 

 

CHAPTER 2. 

COMMUNITY 

PARTICIPATION 

PROCESS 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT OVERVIEW 

An important component of the research process for this Analysis of Impediments to Fair 

Housing Choice involved gathering input regarding fair and affordable housing 

conditions, perceptions, and needs in the cities of Waterloo and Cedar Falls. The project 

team used a variety of approaches to achieve meaningful public engagement with 

residents and other stakeholders, including community meetings, focus groups, pop-up 

engagement, stakeholder interviews, and a community-wide survey.   

Resident Meetings 

Three in-person meetings open to the general public were held to inform residents about 

and gather information for the Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice. Two of 

the meetings were offered in the evening and targeted to members of the general 

public; one in each of the cities. The third public meeting was held during the day and 

targeted to service providers and stakeholders. Each of the meetings consisted of a short 

presentation providing an overview of the AI followed by an interactive discussion of fair 

housing, neighborhood conditions, and community resources in Waterloo and Cedar 

Falls. To encourage participation, meeting flyers advertised the meetings as having 

refreshments. Meeting notices also included instructions on how to request language 

services or other accommodation, however no accommodation or interpretation 

requests were received. Dates, times, and locations of the two public meetings offered 

are shown below: 

Cedar Falls Resident Meeting 

Tuesday, November 28, 2023 

5:30 – 6:30 PM 

Hearst Center  

304 W Seerley Boulevard 

Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

Attendees: 11 

 

164

Item 3.



13 
 

 

Service Provider Public Meeting  

Wednesday, November 29, 2023 

3:00 – 4:00 PM 

Waterloo Center for the Arts 

225 Commercial Street 

Waterloo, IA 50701 

Attendees: 16 

 

Waterloo Resident Meeting 

Wednesday, November 29, 2023 

5:30 – 6:30 PM 

Cedar Valley SportsPlex 

300 Jefferson Street 

Waterloo, IA 50701 

Attendees: 7 

 

Focus Groups 

In addition to the public meetings, 

four focus groups were held to 

collect input from groups of 

residents with specific 

backgrounds and unique 

perspectives on fair housing. As 

with the public meetings, these 

groups typically began with a brief 

explanation of the Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice. The focus group 

leader then facilitated a discussion of fair and affordable housing needs, neighborhood 

conditions, and community resources in the county. In most cases, the AI project team 

worked with local agencies and organizations to host and promote the focus groups to 

their respective members or clients, resulting in a total of 27 participants. To incentivize 

participation, focus group participants were given gift cards as a token of thanks for their 

time and input.  

A list of the focus groups with their sponsoring organizations is provided below: 

• Focus Group #1: People with Disabilities 

Sponsor: Exceptional Persons, Inc. 

Participants: 6 

• Focus Group #2: Low/Mod Income Renter Households 

Sponsor: Iowa Heartland Habitat for Humanity 

Participants: 5 

• Focus Group #3: Senior Citizens 

Sponsor: Ridgeway Towers (Waterloo Housing Authority) 

Participants: 6 

165

Item 3.



14 
 

 

• Focus Group #4: LEP Immigrant Communities 

Sponsor: World Grace Project 

Participants: 10 

The selection of these focus groups was strategic and intended to collect input from 

residents likely to have had unique challenges accessing housing and/or experiences 

with housing discrimination.  

Pop-Up Engagement 

The planning team conducted 5 pop-up engagement activities wherein facilitators 

informally engaged with residents in community locations, generally not as a part of any 

particular event. Pop-up engagement is useful for raising awareness around the project 

and obtaining input from residents who may not be sufficiently tuned into fair housing 

issues that they would attend a meeting on the subject, but who have opinions to share 

nonetheless. By canvassing at high-traffic locations such as libraries, grocery stores, and 

food pantries, the planning team engaged 117 residents in the AI.  

• Pop-Up #1: Cedar Valley Food Pantry 

Tuesday, November 28; 1:30-2:30 PM 

Response: 26 residents engaged with planning team members in short 

conversations about community needs and housing challenges before 

beginning their shopping at the food pantry. Additionally, food pantry workers 

included hard copy surveys with postage-paid return envelopes in shoppers’ 

grocery bags upon checkout. 

• Pop-Up #2: Cedar Falls Library 

Tuesday, November 28; 3:00-3:45 PM 

Response: 19 Cedar Falls residents engaged in a short conversation about 

community needs and housing challenges in the library’s lobby as they were 

entering or exiting the building. 

• Pop-Up #3: Central Bus Station 

Wednesday, November 29; 10:00-11:00 AM 

Response: 9 residents engaged in a short conversation about community needs 

and housing challenges while waiting at the bus station or as they were 

transferring between buses.  

• Pop-Up #4: Salvation Army of Waterloo/Cedar Falls 

Wednesday, November 29; 11:00 AM – 1:00 PM 

Response: During the Salvation Army’s lunch program, 53 residents completed a 

survey; some engaged in further discussion of housing issues with planning team 

members.  

 

166

Item 3.



15 
 

 

• Pop-Up #5: All-In Grocers 

Thursday, November 30; 12:30-1:30 PM 

Response: Through interactive activities set up in the grocery store’s Willie Mae 

Wright Community Room and canvassing in the store’s parking lot, 10 residents 

spoke with planning team members about community needs and housing 

challenges.  

Stakeholder Interviews 

The planning team engaged with stakeholders representing a variety of perspectives 

through in-depth individual interviews. Interviews typically lasted 45 minutes to one hour 

and included discussions about barriers to fair housing, discrimination, access to 

opportunity, and fair housing resources. Twenty-two (22) community stakeholders 

participated in interviews with the planning team. Participating stakeholders represented 

a range of viewpoints, including affordable housing, community development and 

planning, education, health services, homelessness services, senior services, family 

services, people with disabilities, and others. Participants included representatives from 

the following organizations, agencies, and institutions: 

• Bakari Behavioral Health 

• Black Hawk County Emergency Management 

• Black Hawk County Environmental Health 

• Black Hawk Grundy Mental Health Center 

• Cedar Falls Community Services 

• Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission 

• Cedar Falls Planning & Zoning 

• Cedar Falls Utilities 

• College Hill Partnership 

• Delaton, LLC 

• Exceptional Persons Inc. 

• Hawkeye Community College 

• Iowa Heartland Habitat for Humanity 

• NAACP of Black Hawk County 

• Northeast Iowa Food Bank 

• Salvation Army of Waterloo/Cedar Falls 

• Social Action, Inc. 

• TEAM Real Estate Group 

• Unity Presbyterian Church - Waterloo 

• Waterloo Housing Authority 

• Waterloo Neighborhood Services 

• Waterloo School District 

 

  

167

Item 3.



16 
 

 

Project Website 

The project website, WaterlooCedarFallsHUD.com, provided information about the 

study, linked to the community survey, promoted public meetings and events, and 

directed residents to local and national fair housing resources and information. Over the 

course of the project, the site received 57 unique visitors and 498 interactions (i.e., session 

starts, pageviews, clicks, etc.). 

Community Survey 

Another method for obtaining community input was a survey available to the general 

public, including people living and/or working in Waterloo or Cedar Falls and other 

stakeholders. The survey was available from November 2023 through January 2024 via 

the project website and online link. The planning team collected hard copy survey 

responses through a collection box placed at the Cedar Falls Library and through 

collaboration with nonprofit service organizations. For example, 53 hard copy responses 

were completed and returned during a pop-up event at the Salvation Army’s lunch 

program, and organizations including the Cedar Valley Food Bank and World Grace 

Project distributed surveys with postage-paid return envelopes to their clients. A total of 

361 survey responses were received, 200 from Waterloo residents and 161 from people 

residing in Cedar Falls.  

Publicity for Community Engagement Activities 

Advertisements for the AI planning process and related participation opportunities were 

targeted the general public, as well as nonprofits, service providers, housing providers, 

and others working with low- and moderate-income households and special needs 

populations. Public notice of community engagement opportunities was given to 

residents through news announcements on the project website 

(WaterlooCedarFallsHUD.com), social media, and a public notice published in the 

Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier. A press release distributed to local media outlets resulted 

in feature stories by the local 

CBS News affiliate and by Iowa 

Public Radio. Project flyers were 

emailed to contact lists 

maintained by Waterloo and 

Cedar Falls including people 

and organizations representing 

a variety of viewpoints, 

including elected officials and 

staff, local government 

agencies, housing authority 

staff, housing developers, 

nonprofit organizations, 

homeless housing and service 

providers, mental health service 

providers, organizations serving 

168

Item 3.



17 
 

 

people with disabilities, family and senior services, workforce development organizations, 

and others. Cedar Falls also included a post about the project in its employee newsletter. 

In all meeting advertisements, information for anyone needing language services or 

other accommodation was provided, but none were requested. 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT RESULTS 

Input collected through the project’s community engagement process is summarized 

below. To structure the process, the planning team developed a standard question set 

for use in public meetings, focus groups, pop-ups, and interviews. Listed below are the 

summarized comments from interview participants and meeting/focus group attendees, 

as well as a summary of survey results. All input was considered in the development of this 

AI, and no comments or surveys were not accepted. Comments are presented here 

without information identifying the commenter’s identity or the organization they 

represent. Note that these are comments from private individuals and do not necessarily 

reflect the views of any organization, agency, or the city governments of Waterloo or 

Cedar Falls.  

Cedar Falls Resident Meeting 

1. What types of housing needs are greatest in Cedar Falls?  

• Workforce housing; Cedar Falls needs reasonably priced housing for the local 

workforce. 

• Currently, Cedar Falls workers are priced out and live in rural areas or in 

Waterloo. 

• There should be rent caps to protect against the market effects of students from 

out of state who are renting housing in the city. 

• Affordable senior housing in apartment-like communities. 

• Need to work on negative perceptions of the households in need of more 

affordable housing options; not all Section 8 tenants are “riff-raff”. 

• A mixed income strategy to housing is important. 

• Inclusionary housing is a good idea: there should be requirements or incentives 

to incorporate affordable housing into new developments 

• Affordable housing should still have high design and construction standards; just 

smaller unit sizes.  

• Retirement communities in Cedar Falls are not affordable.   

 

2. What do you believe are the City’s greatest community development needs?   

• Transportation improvements connecting to Waterloo and other cities. 

• Subsidies for the cost of public transportation. 

• Transportation options for senior citizens. 

• Sidewalks; investments in walkability helps with the transportation issue. 

169

Item 3.



18 
 

 

• As new subdivisions are being developed on the west side of the city, is Cedar 

Falls making sure they’re putting in the necessary sidewalks and infrastructure? 

• Affordable childcare centers and programs; support existing organizations such 

as the YWCA. 

• Mental health treatment and facilities; therapy programs. 

• A walk-in mental health clinic that could serve all income levels. 

• Could College Square Mall be repurposed for affordable housing, childcare, and 

mental health? A one-stop location could serve so many needs. 

• There is a pedestrian crossing over University to the Hy-Vee, but you have to be 

brave; some sort of bridge would be safer, but would need to be accessible. 

 

3. Are there barriers other than income/savings someone might face in moving to areas 

of opportunity in Cedar Falls?  

• There is a lack of diversity in housing/unit types. 

• Affordability is the biggest barrier – housing is just too expensive for some.  

• Not many properties are available for infill construction. 

  

4. Are you aware of any housing discrimination?  

• Real estate agents have been known to steer people to certain neighborhoods. 

 

5. Are people in Cedar Falls segregated in where they live? What causes this 

segregation to occur?  

• There are “historical leftovers”, for example, racial covenants that were used in 

Cedar Falls. 

• The Lincoln school district is more diverse than other parts of the city. 

• North Cedar Falls is considered by many to be “low-income”. 

• Current tree cover tends to follow historic redlining boundaries. 

 

Waterloo Resident Meeting 

1. What types of housing needs are greatest in Waterloo?  

• Waterloo needs more affordable housing stock accessible to people with 

disabilities, including seniors too. 

• Apartments tend to be in bad repair, quality is an issue. 

• Often there are lots of steps to physically access an apartment in Waterloo, 

which is an accessibility issue. 

• Waterloo has an image problem, and its housing conditions are part of that. 

• New housing construction as well as housing rehab – both are needed. 

• In the north end of Waterloo, there is a need for rehabilitation and demolition.    

170

Item 3.



19 
 

 

 

2. What do you believe are the City’s greatest community development needs?   

• A community center is needed. 

• Sidewalks are a big need in Waterloo. 

• Support for senior centers and activities. 

• New developments in Waterloo have sidewalks, but there are gaps where older 

developments are located. 

• Sidewalks without ramps are a problem, requires better planning.  

• The City has done a good job building trails for recreational use, but they’re not 

useful for commuting; they don’t connect to places you’d need to go to access 

jobs.  

• Crossroads Mall is a “white elephant”, something needs to be done with it to 

return it to use. 

3. Are there barriers other than income/savings someone might face in moving to areas 

of opportunity in Waterloo?  

• Waterloo has decent schools, but they are spread out; this may present busing 

issues for some families.   

4. What recent housing or community development initiatives have been especially 

successful in the City? What made them successful? How/where can they be 

replicated?  

• City government is trying to do better and work to reset the image of Waterloo. 

• The Positively Waterloo campaign may be too rosy though. There can be such a 

thing as “toxic positivity” where issues are overlooked or ignored rather than 

dealt with. It would be better to just say, yes, we have some problems in 

Waterloo and here’s how we are working to solve them.  

5. What types of fair housing services (education, complaint investigation, testing, etc.) 

are offered in the area? Who offers them? How well are they coordinated with the 

work of other organizations in the community?  

• House of Hope does some training; it could be expanded. 

• The Waterloo Human Rights Commission used to do more. 

• Operation Threshold has some help, including education on homebuying. 

• There is a need for more programs in this area. 

6. Are you aware of any housing discrimination?  

• Yes, see the 24/7 Wall Street report: “The Worst Cities for Black Americans”. 

7. Are people in Waterloo segregated in where they live? What causes this segregation 

to occur?  

• There is some social-based self-segregation; it’s not imposed on anyone. 

  

171

Item 3.



20 
 

 

Service Provider Public Meeting 

1. What types of housing needs are greatest in Waterloo and Cedar Falls?  

• Cedar Falls needs workforce housing, construction of homes for homebuyers. 

• Quality of new housing construction is important; the need is for quality 

affordable, single-family homes. 

• Financial assistance to homebuyers 

• Rehab and repair programs for homeowners, especially porches and roofs. 

• Hoarding situations are problematic, as are pest control issues; these can 

negatively affect the affordable housing supply. 

• Waterloo has approximately 100 residents who are homeless; rental assistance 

and case management would help the situation. 

• Permanent supportive housing is a need as well. 

•  Mitigation funds for landlords would allow them to accept riskier tenants with 

credit issues and/or eviction history; otherwise, it is very difficult for these people 

to find housing. 

• Encounters with the criminal justice system, to include felony convictions, sex 

offences, and substance abuse, are frequently disqualifying from all types of 

housing. 

• Landlords who do not maintain their rental properties should be scrutinized, 

especially when they blame the repair needs on the tenants. 

• When a tenant reports a maintenance issue to their landlord, the landlord may 

evict them and rent the unit to someone less likely to complain rather than simply 

repair the issue.  

• Homeowners are forced out by rising costs. 

2. What do you believe are the Cities’ greatest community development needs?   

• Sidewalks are lacking; the elderly can’t safely walk around their communities. 

• There is a need for greater walkability, greenspace, and natural areas. 

• Food deserts limit grocery options. 

• Demolition of dilapidated buildings would help address blight. 

• Youth activities and employment opportunities are needed. 

• Establish career ladders, beginning with training opportunities and transitioning to 

full time jobs. 

• Transportation needs are important. 

• Don’t divert homeless funding to a focus solely on prevention; Waterloo has 100 

people experiencing homelessness and they need housing.  

3. What recent housing or community development initiatives have been especially 

successful in Waterloo/Cedar Falls? What made them successful? How/where can 

they be replicated?  

• The Summerland Twinhomes development is a good example of new 

townhome-style housing that has been built in Waterloo. 

• Unity Square townhomes in Waterloo is another good example. They are 

attractive and affordable. 

172

Item 3.



21 
 

 

• Rapid rehousing paired with case management is a proven model. Rental 

assistance programs have been shown to drive down homelessness.  

• In Iowa City, bus service is free of charge. A similar model could be helpful for 

people in Waterloo and Cedar Falls.  

4. Are there new uses of HUD grant funds you wish the Cities would consider? Are there 

gaps in the programs you are currently offering that could be filled with additional 

funding? 

• Funds are available but often tied to very specific populations or needs. For 

example, homelessness funding specifically tied to a diagnosis of opioid abuse.  

• Assistance for people who own mobile homes where landlords are driving up lot 

rents. 

• Invest in developers who are local and who live here.  

• The Human Rights Commission needs additional staff.   

5. What parts of the Waterloo and Cedar Falls are generally seen as areas of opportunity 

(i.e. places people aspire to live, places that offer good access to schools, jobs, and 

other amenities)? What makes them attractive places to live? Are there barriers other 

than income/savings someone might face in moving to one of these areas?  

• Audubon Park in Waterloo is an example. It’s got large homes, lots of space, and 

is close to healthy food options, but is also somewhat isolated and not 

affordable. Income would be a barrier to living there. 

• People without cars will always have limited housing options because the buses 

don’t serve all neighborhoods. The system also has infrequent service.  

6. Are you aware of any housing discrimination?  

• There is steering of both home buyers and renters; the local real estate profession 

is not racially diverse. 

7. Are people in Waterloo/Cedar Falls segregated in where they live? What causes this 

segregation to occur?  

• There is a concentration of people of color in northeast Waterloo; these are 

historically redlined districts. 

• Racism is alive and well. There’s a negative narrative about Waterloo – people 

are told to stay away.  

• Just look at the comments on any KWWL story; there are unfounded perceptions 

about crime and safety in Waterloo. 

• Affordable housing development in existing low/mod neighborhoods keeps 

people segregated. 

• Stratification of job opportunities works to keep segregation in place.  

• The east side and West Waterloo are relatively well integrated communities.  

• The Human Rights Commission works specifically with fair housing and holds 

seminars. 

• Legal Aid is another big one working with fair housing. 

173

Item 3.



22 
 

 

Stakeholder Interview Results 

1. What types of housing needs are greatest in Waterloo and Cedar Falls?  

• Older neighborhoods are more affordable but many are in bad condition. 

• Housing stock in Waterloo in general is in poor condition – there is a big need for 

higher quality housing. 

• Rental conditions are the largest issue – need for major overhaul of regulations 

and conditions. 

• Slumlord issues – not enough regulations or oversight for landlords. 

• There is essentially one code enforcement officer in all of Waterloo – not enough 

capacity to make sure units are meeting requirements. 

• Lack of developers to replace housing when the city demolishes blighted 

properties. 

• There is a problem with landlords keeping properties in bad condition and 

discriminating or retaliating against tenants who push for repairs. 

• Cedar Falls is a college town and that impacts rental supply and also rental 

conditions as landlords know they can get away with keeping college housing in 

worse condition. 

• Local families cannot compete on price with a group of college students for 

rentals. 

• There is need for education on tenant rights and responsibilities. 

• Housing can be more difficult to acquire for LEP residents – they are more often 

taken advantage of and need programs to connect them to resources 

• Strong need for more affordable homeownership opportunities. 

• Need for more housing rehabilitation and repair programs – it would be 

preferable to rehab existing housing rather than demolishing it and rebuilding 

new. 

• Lead paint mitigation assistance continues to be a need. 

• People in their early 60s are a big population segment and need more senior 

housing communities. 

• Need for aging-in-place programs to help seniors rehab and maintain their aging 

homes and pay property taxes. 

• There are lots of senior options but not for low income seniors. 

• Need to make existing homes more ADA accessible. 

• More landlords that accept Section 8 – some landlords don’t want to put in the 

time and money to maintain units to Section 8 standards. 

• Waterloo specifically should seek to increase multifamily housing for ownership 

instead of for rent. 

• Affordable multifamily smaller units 

• There is a need for more variety in housing types in general 

• Zoning changes could help encourage more diverse housing options, but there is 

a lot if NIMBY sentiment about it in the community. 

• Shared housing situations for people exiting homelessness help them find 

roommates so they can afford housing. 

174

Item 3.



23 
 

 

• Big need for transitional housing and supportive services for people leaving 

incarceration or hospitalization. 

• The region does not have enough emergency shelter capacity – existing shelters 

have waiting lists. 

 

2. What parts of the region are generally seen as areas of opportunity (i.e. places people 

aspire to live, places that offer good access to schools, jobs, and other amenities)? 

What makes them attractive places to live? Are there barriers someone might face in 

moving to one of these areas?  

• In Waterloo, areas of opportunity would be the Kingsley school district, Orange 

school district, Lou Henry school district, Audubon, Sunnyside Country Club, and 

Prospect Boulevard. 

• Southern and Western Waterloo are more desirable; Highland is an area of 

opportunity; Kingsley and West High School districts are good. 

• Houses in Prospect are generally larger and newer and can be more expensive. 

The average blue-collar worker cannot afford the neighborhood. 

• The Prospect Boulevard area is desirable. It has some mostly older but well-kept 

starter houses, with a nice school and amenities. 

• South part of Waterloo is more desirable – North side needs revitalization. 

• The East side of Waterloo gets a bad reputation but the city is starting to revitalize 

it so there are some newer homes going in.  

• Kittrell Elementary is much more racially and ethnically integrated than Kingsley – 

many Black or Muslim students, many refugee students 

• Some of the previously less desirable neighborhoods are revitalizing and 

becoming more desirable. 

• The Walnut and Church Row neighborhoods have had a lot of work from Habitat 

and that makes them desirable. 

• Cedar Falls in general is considered more economically advanced and desirable 

than Waterloo and is also very white in comparison, which leads to NIMBYism. 

• There is a long-held Cedar Falls bias against Waterloo – Waterloo is much more 

racially, ethnically, and economically diverse. 

• Cedar Falls is a university city and so has higher property values and better 

amenities. 

• Within Cedar Falls everything is pretty equal. 

• Cedar Falls has more investment in schools and lower rates of crime. 

• The public’s perception is that Cedar Falls is more desirable than Waterloo – 

safer, whiter, better schools. 

• Cost is by far the biggest factor preventing people from accessing these areas of 

opportunity – people generally live in the best place they can afford. 

• Lack of rental options is the biggest barrier in the nicer areas. 

• There are no thoroughfares through the Prospect neighborhood for walkers or 

cyclists; this could be a barrier for people without a car. 

• The “good neighborhoods” aren’t affordable.  

• Desirability is related to proximity to shopping, schools, and hospital. 

175

Item 3.



24 
 

 

• New developments are generally desirable, but expensive. 

• The Manson District (East 4th St to East High) is very low cost – as low as $30k for a 

house – but higher crime, fewer resources, buildings in bad condition. 

• Schools and neighborhood maintenance are factors that may keep someone 

from choosing an otherwise desirable neighborhood. 

• Audubon is a higher cost area that is nice and has low crime, but many people 

can’t afford to live there. 

 

3. Are public resources (e.g. parks, schools, roads, police & fire services, etc.) available 

evenly throughout all neighborhoods in your community?  

• The cities try to make keep resource distribution even but it’s not perfect. 

• Things seem pretty even throughout the Cedar Valley. 

• East Waterloo is generally lower income, Black or immigrant, and has fewer 

resources. 

• People in downtown Waterloo or in the Church Row district who don’t have cars 

walk along Hammond Avenue or Ridgeway Avenue to Walmart. These are major 

roadways with no sidewalks and no Sunday bus service. It’s dangerous, 

especially for children who walk home from school that way. 

• Cedar Falls is easier to get around than Waterloo in regard to transportation. 

• Roads are pretty evenly distributed. 

• There are some neighborhoods in both cities that don’t have access to great 

schools. 

• There are some elementary and middle schools in the area with nice facilities but 

there is still a need for more resources supportive programs for students and 

families. 

• Police in Waterloo devote more patrol hours to areas with more frequent calls. 

• Fire and police services are high quality doing and all neighborhoods have 

access to them. 

• Cedar Falls has combined police and fire recently which was a hot topic; police 

officers are required to be trained for fire. 

• Some fire stations have closed recently and that could be a problem, especially 

in northern Cedar Falls and some parts of Waterloo. 

• Plenty of parks all over but the quality is inconsistent.  

• Parks in some neighborhoods have older equipment. 

• Good parks are not evenly distributed; some of the neighborhood associations 

are pushing for more and better parks. 

 

4. Do residents of similar incomes generally have the same range of housing options? 

Are there any barriers other than income/savings that might impact housing choices? 

Are you aware of any housing discrimination?  

• Finding family-sized housing can be an issue – no one can afford a large house in 

a nice area. 

176

Item 3.



25 
 

 

• Many immigrant families are larger and/or intergenerational and need larger 

housing units with more bedrooms. 

• Large families may be limited in where they can find large housing. 

• There are plenty of larger homes available for larger families in Waterloo, but the 

affordable ones are in such bad condition they aren’t good to live in. 

• Transportation access is definitely a barrier – there isn’t a good public transit 

system and many of the large employers in the area aren’t accessible by public 

transit. 

• There aren’t sufficient transit options, so people without a car may be limited in 

where they can live. 

• The part of north Waterloo referred to as “East Side” has stigma that it’s low 

income and undesirable. 

• Some HOAs are restrictive and may impact housing choice. 

• Some landlords may make people of certain races or ethnicities feel 

unwelcome. 

• Racial discrimination/feeling unwelcome is definitely a factor that may limit 

housing choices.  

• A friend who is Black experienced people taking photos of him walking around 

his own neighborhood. He eventually moved to another state because he felt 

he could not safely raise Black children in Waterloo. 

• Many jobs preferentially hire white people over people of color, and this 

contributes to affordability and income disparities. 

• LGBTQ+ people, especially gender non-conforming, face issues finding housing 

and may have to get someone else to rent for them. 

• Affordability is the biggest barrier keeping everyone from having equal housing 

choices. 

• Rental history discrimination is also a barrier – landlords have stricter requirements 

since the pandemic eviction moratoriums. 

• Population is aging and affordable disability-accessible housing is hard to find, 

especially in Waterloo. 

• Very hard to find people who will build ramps at a reasonable rate. 

• Most programs in place to help with accessibility issues are exclusive to veterans. 

• ADA compliance is an issue and can impact housing options. 

 

5. Are people in the area segregated in where they live? What causes this segregation 

to occur?  

• Clustering does happen, a lot has to do with the cost of housing. 

• Some areas are more mixed than others but there isn’t any intense segregation. 

• People sometimes cluster near churches that serve their race or culture. 

• “Affordable” areas are less white. 

• Segregation is more by class than race. 

• There is still a high level of segregation stemming from historic redlining policies. 

• Waterloo is very ethnically diverse but still very clustered; the clustered 

populations don’t want to integrate. 

177

Item 3.



26 
 

 

• Many houses in the area have original deeds that specify that they will never be 

owned by “unfavorable” people and list races or ethnicities that the house 

cannot be sold to. 

• Church Row area and Walnut neighborhoods have more immigrant populations. 

• There is some clustering of LEP populations, especially immigrants. People want 

to live within their own community and near family. 

• Around 4th street in Waterloo is a large Bosnian and Burmese population; North 

Waterloo has a Congolese population. 

• There is a community of African immigrants who live near the Mercy One 

hospital. 

• Immigrant populations definitely cluster to maintain community; some areas 

have grocery stores serving particular cultural needs.  

• Immigrants may be more comfortable living in neighborhoods with people who 

share their language and culture. 

• Segregation may also be driven by job opportunities – many African immigrants 

are working in the healthcare industry, while many Hispanic immigrants work in 

manufacturing – people will try to live near their work. 

• There are not many minorities in Cedar Falls in general; they tend to feel less 

welcome there than in Waterloo. 

• In Waterloo there is racial clustering on the northeast end. 

• Waterloo has a large Black population stemming from replacement workers 

brought in for historic railroad strikes. 

• When strikes ended, the Black workers were replaced with white workers and it 

has led to historic disinvestment in Black communities due to lack of resources. 

• Historically the “east side” was the first area that allowed Black residents – the 

triangle between 4th St, Mobile St, and the railroad – and is still largely Black. 

• Waterloo is beginning to experience a little bit of white flight in some areas 

where Black residents are starting to move in. 

• Racial discrimination is more hidden – looks more integrated but people still find 

ways to not socialize with each other. 

• Waterloo recently elected a Black mayor and this has sparked some more overt 

racism. 

 

6. What types of fair housing services (education, complaint investigation, testing, etc.) 

are offered in the area? How well are they coordinated with the work of other 

organizations in the community?  

• Human rights commissions and Iowa Legal Aid are very active in the area. 

• The Human Rights Commission works specifically with fair housing and holds 

seminars. 

• Legal Aid is another big one working with fair housing. 

• The Cities offer some classes and workshops but not sure on details. 

• Operation Threshold provides some housing education. 

• There is somewhere people can go to put in landlord complaints but not sure 

where.  

178

Item 3.



27 
 

 

• East Side Ministerial Alliance, Hospitality House, House of Hope, Amani, and 

Salvation Army all provide some housing education services in Waterloo. 

• Cedar Falls provides few services and tries to just send people to Waterloo to get 

resources. 

• Licensed real estate agents promote fair housing resources to their clients. 

• The Salvation Army frequently refers clients to Legal Aid. 

• Fair housing enforcement technically exists but it is very ineffectual – seems like 

Waterloo especially just doesn’t care. 

• Waterloo has a Human Rights Commission that will sometimes get involved in 

housing but doesn’t have much enforcement power. 

• Coordination can always be improved. Some services need better advertising.  

• Cedar Falls has a newly hired Diversity & Inclusion Specialist. 

• People needing help with mediation or lawsuits can be referred to Iowa Civil 

Rights Commission. 

• An organization called “Leak Your Landlord” allows people to share information 

on bad landlords. 

• More collaborative work is needed. 

• There is a Housing Action Team that recently formed that works with code 

enforcement. 

Community Survey 

The community survey consisted of two identical parts; one for people familiar with 

housing and needs in Waterloo, and one for those more familiar with Cedar Falls. The two 

survey components were linked, allowing respondents completing the version for one 

city to return to the beginning and take the other city’s version of the survey. A total of 

361 people responded to the survey. Of those, 200 completed the Waterloo version and 

161 completed the Cedar Falls version. The following includes a sample of survey 

questions and their responses. Complete results are provided as an appendix to this 

report. 

PARTICIPANT DEMOGRAPHICS 

The age group with the largest share of respondents was 45-54, which comprised 23.7% 

of respondents, followed by age 62-74, which comprised 20.9% of respondents. When 

including the group of those aged 55-61 (13% of respondents), well over half of those 

who took the survey fell into the 45-74 age range. Younger respondents between the 

ages of 18 and 44 made up over a third of the survey sample.  

179

Item 3.



28 
 

 

 

More than two-thirds (68.3%) of survey respondents were homeowners, while 23.4% were 

renters. Those who reported they were homeless or living with a friend or relative 

combined to make up 5.1% of respondents.  

 

The largest share of respondents (25.8%) indicated their household incomes exceeded 

$100,000. Those with incomes ranging from $35,000 to $100,000 made up 50.3% of 

respondents and just under a quarter (24.0%) had household incomes of $35,000 or less. 

180

Item 3.



29 
 

 

 

Of the respondents who provided their race and/or ethnicity, 74.5% identified as white, 

15.5% as Black or African American, 1.4% as Asian or Pacific Islander, and 0.9% as Native 

American or Alaska Native. Those identifying as multiracial or “other” race comprised 

4.1% of respondents. Of the respondents to this item on the survey, 3.6% identified as 

Hispanic or Latino. Race and ethnicity were combined into a single survey question with 

a “check all that apply” instruction, so it should not be inferred that Hispanic/Latino 

respondents are not also represented among the racial demographic already 

discussed. 

 

181

Item 3.



30 
 

 

RESPONDENTS’ THOUGHTS ABOUT THEIR COMMUNITIES 

Asked to rate a series of housing needs in Waterloo and Cedar Falls as either high, 

moderate, or low needs (with an option to also indicate they were “unsure”), the 

greatest number of “high need” responses was to the need for rehabilitation of 

affordable rental housing or apartments. The need for family housing, typically referring 

to larger housing units with multiple bedrooms suitable for families with children, also 

ranked highly. followed closely by rental assistance and additional family housing. While 

40% of respondents said construction of new housing for homeownership was a high 

need, this was the lowest-ranked of the options listed in the survey. 

 

The survey asked respondents whether they believed housing discrimination was a 

problem affecting their community. The largest share of respondents (43.7%) said yes, 

followed by another 21.6% who said discrimination is “somewhat” of a problem. 16.4% 

of respondents indicated that they did not believe housing discrimination was a 

problem affecting their community, and 18.3% were unsure.  

182

Item 3.



31 
 

 

 

 

RESPONDENTS’ THOUGHTS ABOUT FAIR HOUSING 

The survey included a section of questions focused on respondents’ knowledge of fair 

housing, their potential experiences of housing discrimination, and the degree to which 

various issues pose barriers to fair housing choice. Only 30.4% of the respondents 

reported understanding their rights under the Fair Housing Act, with the remainder 

reporting no or only some understanding. 

 

Compared to the 30.4% of respondents who reported knowing their fair housing rights, a 

substantially larger share (50.4%) said they knew where to file a housing discrimination 

complaint. Those who reported not knowing or only “somewhat” knowing where to file 

made up 49.5% of the respondents.  

183

Item 3.



32 
 

 

 

Respondents indicating they had personally experienced housing discrimination while 

living in or seeking housing in Waterloo or Cedar Falls made up 15.5% of the sample (39 

total respondents). The remainder said either that they had not experienced 

discrimination (67.8%) or that the question did not apply because they did not live in or 

had not recently sought housing in the area (16.7%). 

 

Of those 39 respondents who said they had experienced housing discrimination, race or 

ethnicity was reported to be the most common basis (31.5%) although disability (25.9%) 

and family status (24.1%) closely followed. Only 4 of the 39 said that they had filed a 

formal report of the discrimination to an investigatory agency. The overwhelming 

reasons cited by the others for not filing was because the respondent didn’t know what 

good it would do or they were afraid of retaliation.  

184

Item 3.



33 
 

 

 

 

 

 

When provided a list of issues and asked whether they believed the listed issues may 

constitute barriers to fair housing choice, nearly three-quarters of all respondents 

identified lack of affordable housing for families, lack of affordable housing for 

individuals, and income inequality, at 74%, 73%, and 73%, respectively. Also prominent 

on the list of potential barriers was discrimination by landlords or real estate agents 

(63%).  

185

Item 3.



34 
 

 

 

186

Item 3.



35 
 

 

CHAPTER 3. 

SOCIOECONOMIC 

PROFILE 
The combined population of the cities and counties that comprise the Waterloo/Cedar 

Falls HOME Consortium is 108,027 according to the most recent data from the 2020 

Census. The city of Waterloo is the most populous among the two municipalities with 

67,314 residents, comprising nearly two-thirds (62.3%) of the Consortium’s population. 

Residents of the city of Cedar Falls account for the remaining 37.6% of the Consortium 

with a population of 40,713. Waterloo’s population decreased by 2.1% since 2000 while 

Cedar Falls experienced population growth at a rate of 12.6%. This section more closely 

examines population characteristics and trends for both cities using Census and ACS 

data provided in Tables 1 and 2. 

DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE 

Race and Ethnicity 

According to 2020 Census data presented in Table 1 and the historical data in Table 2, 

both appearing later in the section, the majority of the populations in both Waterloo and 

Cedar Falls are comprise of non-Hispanic white residents. Approximately two-thirds of the 

population in Waterloo are non-Hispanic white (65.8%) after experiencing growing rates 

of decline since 2000. Black residents represent the second largest group and comprise 

less than a fifth of the population (17.9%) after expanding by 27% since 2000. Waterloo’s 

Hispanic population grew by 165.4% and to comprise a population share of 7.1%.  Asian 

or Pacific Islander residents represent 4.0% of Waterloo’s population after experiencing 

the fastest expansion rate (346.4%) since 2000. Multiracial residents comprise a slightly 

larger share (4.6%) compared to Asian or Pacific Islander groups. The smallest segments 

of Waterloo’s population are comprised of Native American residents and residents who 

identify as some other race who each account for less than 1% of the population.  

The racial and ethnic composition of the residential population in Cedar Falls are unlike 

demographic patterns found in Waterloo with a significantly smaller share of Black 

residents and overall smaller, more balanced shares of other racial and ethnic minority 

groups. Non-Hispanic white residents comprise a much larger majority (86.6%) compared 

to Waterloo. Black residents comprise just 3.1% of the population and is one of the smaller 

minority groups residing in Cedar Falls. Multiracial residents comprise the second-largest 

group representing 3.6% of the city’s population, slightly larger in share than the Asian or 

Pacific Islander population (3.5%). Hispanic residents are the fifth-largest population 

187

Item 3.



36 
 

 

group in Cedar Falls comprising 2.9%. Although significantly smaller in share, the 

population of Black and Hispanic residents grew exponentially since 2000. The population 

of Asian or Pacific Islanders in Cedar Falls more than doubled to keep pace with the 

same segment that experienced a significantly faster growth rate in both Waterloo and 

Black Hawk County (228.5%). 

Waterloo’s population is more racially and ethnically diverse compared to Cedar Falls 

and Black Hawk County. Population shares of the largest racial and ethnic minority 

groups (Black, Hispanic, Asian, and multiracial) consistently exceed share sizes of the 

same groups in Cedar Falls and the county. Since 2000, Waterloo has also experienced 

the most drastic changes to its population’s racial and ethnic composition compared 

to Cedar Falls and Black Hawk County.  

National Origin 

The population of foreign-born residents grew at a rate of 74.0% since 2000 in Waterloo, 

nearly doubling in share size to represent 9.3% of the city’s population. The top countries 

of origin of the foreign-born population in Waterloo are Bosnia and Herzegovina, Mexico, 

Democratic Republic of Congo, Thailand, and Burma. The populations originating from 

Bosnia and Herzegovina is the largest foreign-born group, comprising 1.9% of the total 

population. Residents from Mexico and the Democratic Republic of Congo each 

account for 1.4% of Waterloo’s  total population while residents from Thailand and Burma 

each comprise 0.6%. 

The foreign-born population in Cedar Falls is much smaller in both population (2,002) and 

share (4.9%) compared to Waterloo; however, the number of foreign-born residents more 

than doubled since 2000 outpacing the growth rate of Waterloo’s foreign-born 

population during the same time. The top countries of origin for Cedar Falls’ foreign-born 

population are India, Pakistan, Panama, Mexico, and Korea. Residents originating from 

India and Pakistan comprise the largest segments among foreign-born populations, 

representing 0.9% and 0.8% of the total population, respectively. Residents from Panama 

comprise 0.4% of the population while Mexico and Korea each represent 0.3% of the 

residential population in Cedar Falls. 

Limited English Proficiency (LEP) 

Population dynamics for residents with limited English proficiency (LEP) often resemble 

those of foreign-born residents in a community. The population change among the LEP 

population in Waterloo follows a similar pattern to that of their foreign-born population; 

however, the inverse is found among the LEP population in Cedar Falls. 

The LEP population in Waterloo accounts for 6.5% of the total population after growing 

at a rate of 55.7% since 2000. Population share of the LEP population in Waterloo grew by 

2.7 percentage points between 2000 and 2020. LEP residents who speak other Indo-

European languages comprise 2.8% of the total population and represent the largest 

language group among the LEP population. Spanish speakers are the second-largest LEP 

language group and account for 1.9% of Waterloo’s residential population. LEP residents 

who speak Asian or Pacific Island languages comprise 1.6% of Waterloo’s population. 

188

Item 3.



37 
 

 

Black Hawk County saw comparable rates of growth, with Waterloo's Limited English 

Proficiency (LEP) population making up a significant majority (84.3%) of the county's 

overall LEP population. 

Conversely, the LEP population residing in Cedar Falls did not follow the same pattern as 

the growing foreign-born population and shrank in both size and share since 2000 at a 

rate of -1.4%. Notably, LEP residents who speak Spanish is only the third largest LEP 

language group behind groups that speak other Indo-European languages and Asian or 

Pacific languages.  

Disability 

According to the 2018-2022 5-Year American Community Survey, approximately 16.1% of 

the population living in Waterloo has a disability, significantly higher than the population 

share in Cedar Falls (10.0%) and slightly higher than the disability rate of Black Hawk 

County (13.8%). The most common disability type in Waterloo is difficulty with ambulatory 

movement. Individuals experiencing ambulatory difficulties comprise 7.4% of the city’s 

total population. Residents experiencing cognitive difficulties constitute a slightly smaller 

6.7% of the population. People with disabilities that may require extensive assistance, 

including independent living or self-care difficulties, make up 4.8% and 2.7% of Waterloo’s 

population, respectively. The population of people with hearing and vision difficulties 

makes up 4.6% and 2.2% of the city’s population, respectively. 

The rate of residents who experience cognitive difficulty in Cedar Falls (18.6%) is 

significantly higher and more than double the rate of any other disability type within 

Cedar Falls, Waterloo, and across Black Hawk County. The next most common disabilities 

among Cedar Falls residents Following are difficulty with hearing affecting 3.5% of 

residents and difficulty with ambulatory movement impacting 3.0% of the population. 

Difficulties with Independent living impact approximately 2.3% of the population followed 

by vision difficulties (1.5%) and difficulty with self-care (1.1%). 

Sex and Female Householders 

Female residents represent a slight majority and comprise similar shares in both Waterloo 

(51.2%) and Cedar Falls (51.7%), as well as in Black Hawk County (51.1%). Since 2000, 

changes to the male-to-female ratio of residents across all three municipalities are minor 

with the ratio shifting towards an increase in male residents over time. 

The percentage of households with female householders is highest in Waterloo with 

approximately 35.8% of all households having a female householder. Accordingly, shares 

of female-led family households with children (9.6%) and without children (3.9%) are 

higher in Waterloo compared to Cedar Falls where 3.5% of family households with 

children and 1.7% of family households without children are female-led. Conversely, 

shares of non-family households with a female householder in Waterloo (22.3%) are lower 

compared to Cedar Falls (24.6%). Black Hawk County has the lowest rate of female-led 

non-family households with 21.4% of households falling into this category. 

 

189

Item 3.



38 
 

 

Household Type 

Family households in Waterloo comprise approximately 27.4% of all households; a higher 

rate compared to Cedar Falls where 22.7% of all households are considered family 

households. Conversely, the rate of married couple households is higher in Cedar Falls 

(18.0%) compared to married couple households in Waterloo (14.1%). Similarly, non-family 

households comprise nearly half of all households in Cedar Falls (46.0%) compared to a 

smaller share of non-family households in Waterloo (42.8%).  

190

Item 3.



39 
 

 

TABLE 1 – DEMOGRAPHIC OVERVIEW 

Demographic 

Indicator 

City of Waterloo Black Hawk County 

# % # % 

Race/Ethnicity       

Non-Hispanic or 

Latino 
 62,521 92.9%  124,696  95.1% 

White  44,321 65.8%  101,150 77.1% 

Black   12,031 17.9%  13,529 10.3% 

Asian or Pacific 

Islander 
 2,723 4.0%  4,260 3.2% 

Native American  145 0.2%  219 0.2% 

Other Race  223 0.3%  377 0.3% 

Two or More Races  3,078 4.6%  5,161 3.9% 

Hispanic or Latino  4,793 7.1%  6,448 4.9% 

Total Population  67,314 100.0%  131,144 100.0% 

National Origin  

#1 country of origin  
Bosnia and 

Herzegovina 

                                      

1,280  
1.9% Uganda 

                    

2,065  
1.6% 

#2 country of origin Mexico 
                                         

946  
1.4% Zimbabwe 

                    

1,944  
1.5% 

#3 country of origin 

Democratic 

Republic of 

Congo 

(Zaire) 

                                         

927  
1.4% Russia 

                    

1,704  
1.3% 

#4 country of origin Thailand 
                                         

421  
0.6% Australia 

                    

1,582  
1.2% 

#5 country of origin 
Burma 

(Myanmar) 

                                         

407  
0.6% 

Netherland

s 

                    

1,545  
1.2% 

Limited English Proficiency (LEP) Language* 

#1 LEP Language 

Group 

Other Indo-

European 

languages 

                                      

1,761  
2.8% 

Other Indo-

European 

languages 

                    

2,159  
1.8% 

#2 LEP Language 

Group 
Spanish 

                                      

1,207  
1.9% Spanish 

                    

1,379  
1.1% 

#3 LEP Language 

Group 

Asian and 

Pacific Island 

languages 

                                      

1,023  
1.6% 

Asian and 

Pacific 

Island 

languages 

                    

1,170  
1.0% 

#4 LEP Language 

Group 

Other 

languages 

                                            

49  
0.1% 

Other 

languages 

                          

82  
0.1% 

Total LEP Population   4,040  6.5%   4,790  3.9% 

191

Item 3.



40 
 

 

Age 

Under 18 15,974 23.8% 28,385 21.7% 

18-64 39,886 59.3% 80,213 61.2% 

65+ 11,396 16.9% 22,443 17.1% 

Disability Type 

Hearing difficulty 3,060 4.6% 5,555 4.3% 

Vision difficulty 1,479 2.2% 2,489 1.9% 

Cognitive difficulty 4,469 6.7% 1,835 1.4% 

Ambulatory difficulty 4,910 7.4% 7,483 5.8% 

Self-care difficulty 1,815 2.7% 2,638 2.0% 

Independent living 

difficulty 
3,182 4.8% 5,071 3.9% 

Total Population with 

a disability 
10,714 16.1% 17,954 13.8% 

Sex 

Male 32,845 48.8% 64,120 48.9% 

Female 34,469 51.2% 67,024 51.1% 

Household Type 

Family Households 

Married Couple, 

Children 
4,069 14.1% 8,647 16.1% 

Female Householder, 

Children 
2,792 9.6% 3,911 7.3% 

Male Householder, 

Children 
1,078 3.7% 1,508 2.8% 

Married Couple, No 

Children 
6,928 23.9% 14,676 27.3% 

Female Householder, 

No Children 
1,116 3.9% 1,615 3.0% 

Male Householder, 

No Children 
510 1.8% 921 1.7% 

Non-Family Households 

Female Householder 6,455 22.3% 11,492 21.4% 

Male Householder 5,999 20.7% 10,921 20.3% 

Total Households 28,947 100.0% 53,691 100.0% 

Note: All % represent a share of the total population within the jurisdiction or region named, except family 

type, which is out of total families. The most populous places of birth and languages at the city and 

regional levels may not be the same and are thus labeled separately. 

Data Sources: 2020 Census DP1, DP05; 2018-2022 5-Year American Community Survey, Tables B05006, 

B11005, B18101 to B18107, S18102, S0101, S1601   

192

Item 3.



41 
 

 

 

Demographic 

Indicator 

City of Cedar Falls Black Hawk County 

# % # % 

Race/Ethnicity       

Non-Hispanic or 

Latino 
 

                          

39,548  
97.1%  124,696  95.1% 

White  35,266 86.6%  101,150 77.1% 

Black   1,245 3.1%  13,529 10.3% 

Asian or Pacific 

Islander 
 1,421 3.5%  4,260 3.2% 

Native American  49 0.1%  219 0.2% 

Other Race  119 0.3%  377 0.3% 

Two or More Races  1,448 3.6%  5,161 3.9% 

Hispanic or Latino  1,165 2.9%  6,448 4.9% 

Total Population  40,713 100.0%  131,144 100.0% 

National Origin  

#1 country of origin  India 
                                

386  
0.9% Uganda 

                    

2,065  
1.6% 

#2 country of origin Pakistan 
                                

328  
0.8% Zimbabwe 

                    

1,944  
1.5% 

#3 country of origin Panama 
                                

170  
0.4% Russia 

                    

1,704  
1.3% 

#4 country of origin Mexico 
                                

142  
0.3% Australia 

                    

1,582  
1.2% 

#5 country of origin Korea 
                                

138  
0.3% Netherlands 

                    

1,545  
1.2% 

Limited English Proficiency (LEP) Language* 

#1 LEP Language 

Group 

Other Indo-

European 

languages 

356 0.9% 

Other Indo-

European 

languages 

                    

2,159  
1.8% 

#2 LEP Language 

Group 

Asian and 

Pacific 

Island 

languages 

140 0.4% Spanish 
                    

1,379  
1.1% 

#3 LEP Language 

Group 
Spanish 128 0.3% 

Asian and 

Pacific 

Island 

languages 

                    

1,170  
1.0% 

#4 LEP Language 

Group 

Other 

languages 
33 0.1% 

Other 

languages 

                          

82  
0.1% 

Total LEP Population   657 1.7%   4,790  3.9% 

193

Item 3.



42 
 

 

Age 

Under 18 7,194 17.7% 28,385 21.7% 

18-64 27,194 66.8% 80,213 61.2% 

65+ 6,298 15.5% 22,443 17.1% 

Disability Type 

Hearing difficulty 1,397 3.5% 5,555 4.3% 

Vision difficulty 596 1.5% 2,489 1.9% 

Cognitive difficulty 7,509 18.6% 1,835 1.4% 

Ambulatory difficulty 1,214 3.0% 7,483 5.8% 

Self-care difficulty 427 1.1% 2,638 2.0% 

Independent living 

difficulty 
933 2.3% 5,071 3.9% 

Total Population with 

a disability 
4,047 10.0% 17,954 13.8% 

Sex 

Male 19,655 48.3% 64,120 48.9% 

Female 21,058 51.7% 67,024 51.1% 

Household Type 

Family Households 

Married Couple, 

Children 
2,780 18.0% 8,647 16.1% 

Female 

Householder, 

Children 

534 3.5% 3,911 7.3% 

Male Householder, 

Children 
190 1.2% 1,508 2.8% 

Married Couple, No 

Children 
4,247 27.5% 14,676 27.3% 

Female 

Householder, No 

Children 

260 1.7% 1,615 3.0% 

Male Householder, 

No Children 
275 1.8% 921 1.7% 

Non-Family Households 

Female Householder 3,804 24.6% 11,492 21.4% 

Male Householder 3,356 21.7% 10,921 20.3% 

Total Households 15,446 100.0% 53,691 100.0% 

Note: All % represent a share of the total population within the jurisdiction or region named, except family 

type, which is out of total families. The most populous places of birth and languages at the city and 

regional levels may not be the same and are thus labeled separately. 

Data Sources: 2020 Census DP1, DP05; 2018-2022 5-Year American Community Survey, Tables B05006, 

B11005, B18101 to B18107, S18102, S0101, S1601   

 

194

Item 3.



43 
 

 

TABLE 2 – DEMOGRAPHIC TRENDS  

   

Demographic Indicator 
1990 2000 2010 

# % # % # % 

City of Waterloo 

Race/Ethnicity 

White, Non-Hispanic 55,419 80.6% 51,254 74.9%  44,321  65.8% 

Black, Non-Hispanic  9,468 13.8% 10,488 15.3% 12,031  17.9% 

Hispanic 1,806 2.6% 3,827 5.6% 4,793  7.1% 

Asian or Pacific Islander, Non-

Hispanic 
610 0.9% 881 1.3% 2,723  4.0% 

Native American, Non-Hispanic 132 0.2% 145 0.2% 223  0.3% 

National Origin 

Foreign-born 3,584 5.2% 4,078 6.0% 6,235  9.3% 

Limited English Proficiency 

Limited English proficiency 2,594 3.8% 2,442 3.8%  4,040  6.5% 

Age 

Under 18 16,964 24.7% 15,538 23.1% 15,974  23.8% 

18-64 41,239 60.0% 40,298 59.9% 39,886  59.3% 

65+ 10,544 15.3% 11,478 17.1% 11,396  16.9% 

Sex  

Male 32,985 48.0% 32,845 48.8% 32,845  48.8% 

Female 35,762 52.0% 34,469 51.2% 34,469  51.2% 

Household Type 

Households with children 8,791 49.5% 8,384 48.7% 7,939 27.4% 

Note: All % represent a share of the total population within the jurisdiction or region for that year, except 

family type, which is out of total families.  

Data Sources:  U.S. Census 2000 SF1 Tables P027 and P035, U.S. Census 2010 SF1 Tables P29 and P39, HUD 

Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing Data and Mapping Tool, AFFHT0004, Released Nov 2017, 

https://egis.hud.gov/affht/ 

195

Item 3.



44 
 

 

 

  

Demographic Indicator 
1990 2000 2010 

# % # % # % 

City of Cedar Falls 

Race/Ethnicity 

White, Non-Hispanic 34,207 94.6% 36,193 92.2% 35,266  86.6% 

Black, Non-Hispanic  558 1.5% 794 2.0% 1,245  3.1% 

Hispanic 389 1.1% 771 2.0% 1,165  2.9% 

Asian or Pacific Islander, Non-

Hispanic 
589 1.6% 880 2.2% 1,421  3.5% 

Native American, Non-Hispanic 49 0.1% 43 0.1% 49  0.1% 

National Origin 

Foreign-born 975 2.7% 1,311 3.4% 2,002  4.9% 

Limited English Proficiency 

Limited English proficiency 666 1.9% 801 2.1% 657  1.7% 

Age 

Under 18 6,497 18.1% 7,874 19.6% 7,194  17.7% 

18-64 25,030 69.9% 25,268 62.9% 27,194  66.8% 

65+ 4,295 12.0% 7,000 17.4% 6,298  15.5% 

Sex  

Male 16,969 46.9% 19,655 48.3% 19,655  48.3% 

Female 19,176 53.1% 21,058 51.7% 21,058  51.7% 

Household Type 

Households with children 3,563 47.1% 3,582 44.3% 3,504  22.7% 

Note: All % represent a share of the total population within the jurisdiction or region for that year, except 

family type, which is out of total families.  

Data Sources:  U.S. Census 2000 SF1 Tables P027 and P035, U.S. Census 2010 SF1 Tables P29 and P39, HUD 

Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing Data and Mapping Tool, AFFHT0004, Released Nov 2017, 

https://egis.hud.gov/affht/ 

196

Item 3.



45 
 

 

 

  

Demographic Indicator 
1990 2000 2010 

# % # % # % 

Black Hawk County 

Race/Ethnicity 

White, Non-Hispanic 112,223 87.7% 109,968 83.9% 101,150  77.1% 

Black, Non-Hispanic  10,108 7.9% 11,493 8.8% 13,529  10.3% 

Hispanic 2,359 1.8% 4,907 3.7% 6,448  4.9% 

Asian or Pacific Islander, Non-

Hispanic 
1,297 1.0% 1,860 1.4% 4,260  3.2% 

Native American, Non-

Hispanic 
201 0.2% 209 0.2% 219  0.2% 

National Origin 

Foreign-born 4,779 3.7% 5,726 4.4% 8,441  6.4% 

Limited English Proficiency 

Limited English proficiency 3,461 2.9% 3,299 2.7% 4,790  3.9% 

Age 

Under 18 29,545 23.3% 28,617 22.2% 28,385  21.7% 

18-64 79,202 62.5% 76,969 59.7% 80,213  61.2% 

65+ 17,899 14.1% 23,265 18.1% 22,443  17.1% 

Sex  

Male 61,458 48.0% 64,120 48.9% 64,120  48.9% 

Female 66,554 52.0% 67,024 51.1% 67,024  51.1% 

Household Type 

Households with children 15,515 48.5% 14,826 46.2% 14,066  26.2% 

Note: All % represent a share of the total population within the jurisdiction or region for that year, except 

family type, which is out of total families.  

Data Sources:  U.S. Census 2000 SF1 Tables P027 and P035, U.S. Census 2010 SF1 Tables P29 and P39, HUD 

Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing Data and Mapping Tool, AFFHT0004, Released Nov 2017, 

https://egis.hud.gov/affht/ 

197

Item 3.



46 
 

 

RACIALLY AND ETHNICALLY 

CONCENTRATED AREAS OF POVERTY 

This study uses a methodology developed by HUD that combines demographic and 

economic indicators to identify racially or ethnically concentrated areas of poverty 

(RECAPs). These areas are defined as census tracts that have an individual poverty rate 

of 40% or more (or an individual poverty rate that is at least 3 times that of the tract 

average for the metropolitan area, whichever is lower) and a non-white population of 

50% or more. Using a metric that combines demographic and economic indicators helps 

to identify a jurisdictions’ most vulnerable communities.  

The racial and ethnic composition of neighborhoods with concentrations of poverty is 

disproportionate relative to the U.S. population overall. According to the U.S. Department 

of Health and Human Services, Black and Hispanic populations comprise nearly 80% of 

the population living in areas of concentrated poverty in metropolitan areas, but only 

account for 42.6% of the total poverty population in the U.S.5 Overrepresentation of these 

groups in areas of concentrated poverty can exacerbate disparities related to safety, 

employment, access to jobs and quality education, and conditions that lead to poor 

health. 

Identification of RECAPs is significant in determining priority areas for reinvestment and 

services to ameliorate conditions that negatively impact RECAP residents and the larger 

region. Since 2000, the prevalence of concentrated poverty in America has expanded 

by nearly 75% in both population and number of neighborhoods. The majority of 

concentration of poverty is within the largest metro areas, but suburban regions have 

experienced the fastest growth rate.6  

There is currently one (1) census tract that is designated as a RECAP in the 

Waterloo/Cedar Falls HOME Consortium. The RECAP census tract is located in Downtown 

Waterloo. The share of residents living below the poverty line in this tract (40.8%) is one of 

the highest in Waterloo/Cedar Falls Consortium and exceeds the 40% threshold for the 

tract to be designated as a RECAP tract.  

Approximately 1,517 residents reside in the RECAP tract and account for 2.2% of 

Waterloo’s total population. Black residents comprise 31.6% of this census tract. Hispanic 

residents are the second largest racial or ethnic minority group within the RECAP tract 

accounting for 13.6% of the tract’s population. Residents who identify as some other race 

 

 

5 United States, Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning 

and Evaluation. “Overview of Community Characteristics in Areas with Concentrated Poverty.” ASPE Issue 

Brief, May 2014, https://aspe.hhs.gov/system/files/pdf/40651/rb_concentratedpoverty.pdf. 

6 Kneebone, Elizabeth. "The Growth and Spread of Concentrated Poverty, 2000 to 2008-2012." The Brookings 

Institution, 29 July 2016, www.brookings.edu/interactives/the-growth-and-spread-of-concentrated-poverty-

2000-to-2008-2012/. 

198

Item 3.



47 
 

 

and Asian or Pacific Islander residents represent smaller segments of the tract’s 

population comprising 4.4% and 2.1% of the population, respectively. The foreign-born 

population makes up a small fraction of the population in Waterloo’s RECAP census tract, 

with residents originating from Mexico comprising the largest share of foreign-born 

residents, representing 4.5% of the tract’s population. There are few residents from El 

Salvador and Bosnia and Herzegovina residing in the RECAP tract, comprising 0.5% and 

0.2% of the population, respectively. 

TABLE 3 – RECAP CENSUS TRACTS IN NORTH WATERLOO  

Demographic Indicator 

Waterloo/Cedar Falls HOME Consortium 

RECAP Tracts 

# % 

Race/Ethnicity 

Total Population in RECAPs  1,517 - 

White, Non-Hispanic  918 60.5% 

Black or African American, Non-Hispanic  480 31.6% 

Hispanic  206 13.6% 

Asian or Pacific Islander, Non-Hispanic  32 2.1% 

Native American, Non-Hispanic  0 0.0% 

Other, Non-Hispanic  67 4.4% 

National Origin 

Foreign-Born Population     

Mexico  69 4.5% 

El Salvador  8 0.5% 

Bosnia and Herzegovina  3 0.2% 

 Data Sources: 2018-2022 5-Year American Community Survey, Tables B03002, B17001, and B05006 

 

Figures 1 and 2 on the following pages map poverty rates across the Waterloo/Cedar 

Falls Consortium overlaid with dots representing the race, ethnicity, and national origin of 

residents. In both figures, shading on the maps indicate poverty levels with darker shading 

representing census tracts with higher poverty rates. The highest levels of poverty in 

Waterloo occur in or near Downtown Waterloo. Figure 1 indicates distinct concentrations 

of Black residents in census tracts with higher rates of poverty, particularly north of 

Downtown where the historically Black neighborhood of Smokey Row is located. The 

residential concentrations of Hispanic residents are less clear; however, there are 

indications that Hispanic populations are clustered in areas of higher poverty, particularly 

in the eastern region of Waterloo. Figure 2 shows concentrated patterns of foreign-born 

residents from Bosnia, Burma, and Thailand in high poverty census tracts; however, these 

concentrations are not located in census tracts with the highest poverty rates.  

199

Item 3.



48 
 

 

FIGURE 1 – POVERTY RATES WITH RACE AND ETHNICITY IN THE WATERLOO/CEDAR 

FALLS HOME CONSORTIUM, 2018-2022 

  

200

Item 3.



49 
 

 

FIGURE 2 – POVERTY RATES AND NATIONAL ORIGIN IN THE WATERLOO/CEDAR 

FALLS HOME CONSORTIUM, 2018-2022 

  

201

Item 3.



50 
 

 

CHAPTER 4. 

SEGREGATION AND 

INTEGRATION 
Communities experience varying levels of segregation between different racial, ethnic, 

and socioeconomic groups. High levels of residential segregation often lead to 

conditions that exacerbate inequalities among population groups within a community. 

Increased concentrations of poverty and unequal access to jobs, education, and other 

services are some of the consequences of high residential segregation.7 

Federal housing policies and discriminatory mortgage lending practices prior to the Fair 

Housing Act of 1968 not only encouraged segregation, but mandated restrictions based 

on race in specific neighborhoods. The Fair Housing Act of 1968 outlawed discriminatory 

housing practices, but did little to address the existing segregation and inequalities. Other 

federal housing policies and programs, like Section 8, have been implemented in an 

effort to ameliorate the negative effects of residential segregation and reduce 

concentrations of poverty. Despite these efforts, the repercussions of the discriminatory 

policies and practices continue to have a significant impact on residential patterns 

today. 

RACE AND ETHNICITY 

To illustrate demographic trends over time, Figures 3 through 5 map the Waterloo/Cedar 

Falls HOME Consortium’s population by race and ethnicity using data from the 2000 

Census and the 5-Year American Community Survey datasets from 2006-2010 and 2018-

2022. The most densely populated areas in Waterloo are south of the Cedar River and 

Downtown Waterloo. Similarly, the most densely populated neighborhoods in Cedar Falls 

are located south of the downtown district with a smaller area that is more densely 

populated than neighborhoods in Waterloo.  

Areas with high populations in Waterloo are more racially and ethnically diverse 

compared to Cedar Falls; however, clear patterns of concentration and segregation 

exist in Waterloo. Historical data indicates increasing racial and ethnic diversification of 

Waterloo’s population, but also among populations residing in Cedar Falls although at a 

slower rate. There are strong patterns shown in Figures 3 through 5 that suggest high levels 

 

 

7 Massey, D. (1990). American Apartheid: Segregation and the Making of the Underclass. American Journal 

of Sociology, 96(2), 329-357. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2781105 

202

Item 3.



51 
 

 

of segregation between white and Black populations in Waterloo since 2000. Population 

distribution patterns by race and ethnicity show a strong concentration of Black residents 

located in neighborhoods north of the Cedar River and Downtown Waterloo. 

Geographic distribution of white residents has remained mostly unchanged since 2000; 

however, residential patterns of Black residents have become more concentrated in 

neighborhoods immediately north of Downtown Waterloo. 

  

203

Item 3.



52 
 

 

FIGURE 3 – POPULATION BY RACE AND ETHNICITY IN WATERLOO/CEDAR FALLS 

HOME CONSORTIUM, 2018-2022 

  

204

Item 3.



53 
 

 

FIGURE 4 – POPULATION BY RACE AND ETHNICITY IN WATERLOO/CEDAR FALLS 

HOME CONSORTIUM, 2006-2010 

  

205

Item 3.



54 
 

 

FIGURE 5 – POPULATION BY RACE AND ETHNICITY IN WATERLOO/CEDAR FALLS 

HOME CONSORTIUM, 2000 

 

206

Item 3.



55 
 

 

SEGREGATION LEVELS 

In addition to visualizing the racial and ethnic composition of the area with the preceding 

maps, this study also uses a statistical analysis – referred to as dissimilarity – to evaluate 

how residential patterns vary by race and ethnicity, and how these patterns have 

changed since 1990. The Dissimilarity Index (DI) indicates the degree to two groups living 

in a region are similarly geographically distributed. Segregation is lowest when the 

geographic patterns of each group are the same. For example, segregation between 

two groups in a city or county is minimized when the population distribution by census 

tract of the first group matches that of the second. Segregation is highest when no 

members of the two groups occupy a common census tract. The proportion of the 

minority population group can be small and still not segregated if evenly spread among 

tracts or block groups. 

Evenness is not measured in an absolute sense, but is scaled relative to the other group. 

Dissimilarity Index values range from 0 (complete integration) to 100 (complete 

segregation). HUD identifies a DI value below 40 as low segregation, a value between 40 

and 54 as moderate segregation, and a value of 55 or higher as high segregation. The DI 

represents the proportion of one group that would have to change its area of residence 

to match the distribution of the other. 

The table below shares the dissimilarity indices for three pairings in the Waterloo/Cedar 

Falls Consortium as a whole, and in the larger Waterloo/Cedar Falls region as designated 

by HUD. This table presents values for 1990, 2000, and 2010, all calculated using census 

tracts as the area of measurement. The “block group” figure is calculated using block 

groups as the area of measurement. Because block groups are smaller geographies, 

they measure segregation at a finer grain than analyses that use census tracts and, as a 

result, often indicate slightly higher levels of segregation than tract-level calculations.8 

This assessment begins with a discussion of segregation at the tract-level from 1990 

through 2010, and then examines the 2010 figure calculated using block groups.  

The dissimilarity indices calculated for each pairing in Waterloo show high levels of 

segregation between Black and white populations throughout the period between 1990 

and 2010. DI values decreased from 69.3 in 1990 to 56.9 in 2010 indicating declining 

segregation; however, DI values at the tract and block group level for 2010 exceed the 

threshold for high segregation levels.  The Hispanic/white pairing indicates growing 

segregation among Hispanic and white residents in the Consortium. The DI value for the 

Hispanic/white pairing doubled in 2000 and exceeded the designated threshold 

 

 

8 Iceland, John and Erika Steinmetz. 2003. The Effects of Using Block Groups Instead of Census Tracts When 
Examining Residential Housing Patterns. U.S. Census Bureau, Washington DC: US. Accessed via 

https://www.census.gov/hhes/www/housing/resseg/pdf/unit_of_analysis.pdf.   

This study of the effect of using census block groups instead of tracts to examine housing pattern in 331 

metropolitan areas throughout the U.S. indicated that index scores were modestly higher when using block 

groups, by an average of 3.3 points for all metro area dissimilarity scores.   

207

Item 3.



56 
 

 

indicating moderate segregation. The increase in DI value between 2000 and 2010 is less 

drastic; however, DI values continue to indicate moderate segregation in 2010 at the 

tract and block group level. DI values for the Asian or Pacific Islander/white pairing are 

the only that remain consistently within the range indicating low levels of segregation 

among Asian or Pacific Islander and white populations in the Consortium 

DI values calculated for the greater Waterloo/Cedar Falls Region show only moderate 

levels of segregation among Black and white populations; however, segregation levels 

among Hispanic/white and Asian or Pacific Islander/white pairings are significantly higher 

to pairings within the Consortium. DI values for the Hispanic/white pairing (60.2) at the 

regional level exceed the threshold indicating high levels of segregation. show significant 

difference between segregation levels. To a lesser extent, DI values for Asian or Pacific 

Islander/white pairings are significantly higher at the regional level and surpass the 

threshold to indicate moderate levels of segregation in the region.  

 

TABLE 4 – RACIAL AND ETHNIC DISSIMILARITY TRENDS 

Race/Ethnicity 
Census Tracts Block 

Groups 

2010 1990 2000 2010 

Waterloo/Cedar Falls Consortium 

Black/White 68.1 63.9 56.9 60.8 

Hispanic/White 21.9 40.3 42.7 43.0 

Asian or Pacific Islander/White 29.4 22.8 25.9 30.5 

Waterloo/Cedar Falls Region 

Black/White 57.6 54.9 48.2 52.1 

Hispanic/White 71.6 68.1 60.2 65.5 

Asian or Pacific Islander/White 26.2 40.0 42.6 44.1 

Data Source: HUD Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing Data and Mapping Tool, AFFHT0004, Released 

November 2017, https://egis.hud.gov/affht/   

NATIONAL ORIGIN AND LIMITED ENGLISH 

PROFICIENCY POPULATION 

Settlement patterns of immigrants significantly impact the composition and landscape 

of communities across the United States. Large central cities have the largest population 

of foreign-born residents, but suburban areas are experiencing rapid growth of foreign-

208

Item 3.



57 
 

 

born populations recently.9 Clusters of immigrants of the same ethnicity form for a variety 

of reasons. Social capital in the form of kinship ties, social network connections, and 

shared cultural experiences often draw new immigrants to existing communities. Settling 

in neighborhoods with an abundance of social capital is less financially burdensome for 

immigrants and provides opportunities to accumulate financial capital through 

employment and other resources that would otherwise be unattainable.10  

Populations with limited English proficiency (LEP) are typically composed of foreign-born 

residents that originate from countries where English is not the primary language, 

however, a substantial portion (19%) of the national LEP population is born in the United 

States. Nationally, the LEP population has lower levels of education and is more likely to 

live in poverty compared to the English proficient population.11 Recent studies have also 

found that areas with high concentrations of LEP residents have lower rates of 

homeownership.12  

Communities of people sharing the same ethnicity and informal networks are able to 

provide some resources and opportunities, but numerous barriers and limited financial 

capital influence residential patterns of foreign-born and LEP populations. 

Figure 6 shows distinct concentrations of foreign-born residents mostly residing in 

Waterloo. There are strong concentrations of residents originating from Bosnia and 

Herzegovina, Burma, Thailand, and the Democratic Republic of Congo. The densest 

concentration of residents from Bosnia and Herzegovina is located in a residential 

neighborhood southeast of downtown between East Ridgeway Avenue and Hammond 

Avenue where Burmese residents are also concentrated. Less dense concentrations of 

populations from Bosnia and Herzegovina are found in the western parts of Waterloo and 

nearby in southeast Cedar Falls.  The majority of Waterloo’s Thai population is located 

south of West 5th Street and north of Williston Avenue. Congolese residents reside in a 

residential area in south Waterloo bound by Ridgeway Avenue, Hammond Avenue, San 

Marnan Drive, and Ansborough Avenue. Although more spatially widespread, the 

population of residents from Mexico live mostly in neighborhoods near Downtown 

Waterloo and north of the Cedar River along Independence Avenue.   

 

 

9 James, F., Romine, J., & Zwanzig, P. (1998). The Effects of Immigration on Urban Communities. Cityscape, 

3(3), 171-192. 

10 Massey, D. (1999). Why Does Immigration Occur?: A Theoretical Synthesis. In Hirschman C., Kasinitz P., & 

DeWind J. (Eds.), Handbook of International Migration, The: The American Experience (pp. 34-52). Russell 

Sage Foundation. 

11 Zong, J. & Batalova, J. (2015). “The Limited English Proficient Population in the United States” Migration 

Information Source. Retrieved: http://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/limited-english-proficient-

population-united-states 

12 Golding, E., Goodman, L., & Strochack, S. (2018). “Is Limited English Proficiency a Barrier to 

Homeownership.” Urban Institute. Retrieved: https://www.urban.org/research/publication/limited-english-

proficiency-barrier-homeownership 

209

Item 3.



58 
 

 

The residential patterns displayed in Figure 7 illustrate that the geographic distribution of 

residents with limited English proficiency (LEP) closely mirrors the locations of the foreign-

born population in Waterloo and Cedar Falls. The lack of an LEP population in Waterloo 

that coincides with the concentrations of foreign-born residents from Bosnia and 

Herzegovina, and to a lesser extent the Democratic Republic of Congo, is an indication 

of the population’s proficiency with the English language. Notably, the LEP population in 

Cedar Falls seems significantly smaller compared to the foreign-born population of 

Cedar Falls. 

 

 

 

  

210

Item 3.



59 
 

 

FIGURE 6 – NATIONAL ORIGIN  

  

211

Item 3.



60 
 

 

FIGURE 7 – POPULATION WITH LIMITED ENGLISH PROFICIENCY  

 

212

Item 3.



61 
 

 

CHAPTER 5. 

ACCESS TO 

OPPORTUNITY  
Where people live shapes prospects for economic mobility, as well as access to quality 

education, affordable transportation, a healthy environment, and fresh, affordable food. 

For protected classes, such as people of color or with disabilities, neighborhood or 

housing choices are often limited by factors such as discrimination in housing markets or 

public policies that result in concentrated poverty, disinvestment, and a lack of 

affordable housing in neighborhoods with access to proficient schools and jobs that pay 

a living wage. In this way, limited housing choice reduces access to opportunity for many 

protected classes. 

It is important to understand opportunity, as used in this context, as a subjective quality. 

Typically, it refers to access to resources like employment, quality education, healthcare, 

childcare, and other services that allow individuals and communities to achieve a high 

quality of life. However, research on this subject has found perceptions of opportunity 

follow similar themes but are prioritized differently by different groups. Racial and ethnic 

minorities, low-income groups, and residents of distressed neighborhoods identified job 

access, employment, and training as important opportunities while white residents, 

higher income groups, and residents of wealthier neighborhoods more often identified 

sense of community, social connections among neighbors, freedom of choice, 

education, and retirement savings.13 

Proximity is often used to indicate levels of access to opportunity; however, it would be 

remiss to consider proximity as the only factor in determining level of access. Access to 

opportunity is also influenced by social, economic, and cultural factors, thus making it 

difficult to accurately identify and measure. HUD conducted research regarding Moving 

to Opportunity for Fair Housing (MTO) to understand the impact of increased access to 

opportunity. Researchers found residents who moved to lower-poverty neighborhoods 

experienced safer neighborhoods and better health outcomes, but there was no 

significant change in educational outcomes, employment, or income.14 However, recent 

 

 

13 Lung-Amam, Willow S., et al. "Opportunity for Whom? The Diverse Definitions of Neighborhood 

Opportunity in Baltimore." City and Community, vol. 17, no. 3, 27 Sept. 2018, pp. 636-657, 

doi:10.1111/cico.12318. 

14 Moving to Opportunity for Fair Housing Demonstration Program: Final Impacts Evaluation. U.S. Department 

of Housing and Urban Development, Office of Policy Development and Research, 

www.huduser.gov/portal//publications/pdf/MTOFHD_fullreport_v2.pdf. 

213

Item 3.



62 
 

 

studies show the long-term effects of MTO on the educational attainment of children who 

were under the age of 13 are overwhelmingly positive, including improved college 

attendance rates and higher incomes. On the other hand, children who were over the 

age of 13 show negative long-term impacts from MTO.15 

The strategy to improve access to opportunities through housing and community 

development programs has been two-pronged. Tenant-based housing vouchers allow 

recipients mobility to locate in lower-poverty areas, while programs such as the 

Community Development Block Grant and Choice Neighborhoods Initiative provide 

funds to increase opportunities in disadvantaged neighborhoods. 

EMPLOYMENT AND WORKFORCE 

DEVELOPMENT 

Neighborhoods with high numbers of jobs nearby are often assumed to have good 

access to those jobs. However, other factors--transportation options, the types of jobs 

available in the area, or the education and training necessary to obtain them--may also 

shape residents’ access to available jobs. For example, residents of a neighborhood in 

close proximity to a high number of living-wage jobs may not have the skills or education 

required for those jobs, and thus may continue to experience high levels of 

unemployment, work in low-wage positions, or need to commute long distances to 

access employment. This section analyzes indicators of both labor market engagement 

and jobs proximity, which, when considered together, offer a better indication of how 

accessible jobs are for residents. 

Labor Market Engagement 

Educational attainment, labor force participation, and unemployment are indicators of 

residents’ engagement with the labor market. In Waterloo and Cedar Falls, 22.9% and 

49.1% of residents aged 25 and over have bachelor’s degrees or higher, respectively. 

Residents in central and south Cedar Falls tend to have the highest levels of educational 

attainment, while educational attainment tends to be lowest in north Waterloo, (see 

Figure 8). Only one census tract in Waterloo has a population of over 43.2% to 59.9% 

where those aged 25 and older have a bachelor's degree or higher. The one RECAPs 

tract in Waterloo-Cedar Falls is located in Waterloo and has the lowest level of 

educational attainment with only 8% to 11.9% of residents holding a bachelor's degree 

or higher. The southern tracts in Waterloo have a higher share of residents with a 

bachelor's degree or higher ranging from 29.5% to 43.1%.   

 

 

15 Chetty, Raj, Nathaniel Hendren, and Lawrence F. Katz. 2016. "The Effects of Exposure to Better 

Neighborhoods on Children: New Evidence from the Moving to Opportunity Experiment." American 
Economic Review, 106 (4): 855-902. https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/hendren/files/mto_paper.pdf 

214

Item 3.



63 
 

 

FIGURE 8 – EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT + RACE/ ETHNICITY  

 

215

Item 3.



64 
 

 

Data on educational attainment by race and ethnicity also show that education varies 

by race, ethnicity, and geography (see Figure 9). The share of residents with bachelor’s 

degrees or higher is lowest among residents of Waterloo. American Indian/Alaska Native 

residents have the lowest educational attainment level with 3.7%, followed by Native 

Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander (5.3%, see Figure 9). In Cedar Falls, 0% of American 

Indian/Alaska Native residents a bachelor’s degree or higher. Black residents also the 

second least likely of all racial and ethnic groups in Cedar Falls to have a bachelor’s 

degree or higher, (4.3%).  

FIGURE 9 – EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT BY RACE/ ETHNICITY  

 

An estimated 65.2% of the population in Waterloo, 69.6% of the population in Cedar Falls, 

and 66.5% of the population in Black Hawk County participates in the labor force (ACS 

5-Year Estimates, 2018-2022, for population aged 16 and over). As with educational 

attainment, geographic disparities exist, with the labor force participation rate typically 

ranging from 40.5% to 51.6% in census tracts across the region. Residents in parts of central 

Waterloo and Cedar Falls tend to participate in the labor force at the highest levels. In 

Waterloo, participation tends to be lowest in the RECAPs tract where 40.5% to 51.6% of 

residents aged 16 and over participate in the labor force (see Figure 10). In Cedar Falls, 

216

Item 3.



65 
 

 

participation tends to be lower in the north portion of the city with rates ranging between 

51.7% to 62.2%.  

 

FIGURE 10 – LABOR FORCE PARTICIPATION + RACE/ ETHNICITY 

 

217

Item 3.



66 
 

 

Some variation exists in labor force participation by race and ethnicity across the region. 

Labor force participation is highest among residents of Cedar Falls, except for those who 

identify as two or more races and Hispanic/Latino residents whom have higher 

participation rates in Waterloo. In Cedar Falls, Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander 

residents have the highest participation rate (100.0%), while Hispanic/Latino residents 

have the lowest (60.5%). In Waterloo, Hispanic/Latino residents have the highest rate of 

people aged 16 and older participating in the labor force (83.1%), while white residents 

have the lowest rate (62.6%, See Figure 11).  

FIGURE 11 – LABOR FORCE PARTICIPATION BY RACE/ ETHNICITY 

 

An estimated 7.1% of the population in Waterloo, 3.0% of the population in Cedar Falls, 

and 5.2% of the population in Black Hawk County  was unemployed as of the American 

Community Survey five-year estimates for 2018-2022 (population aged 16 and over). As 

with educational attainment and labor force participation, unemployment varies across 

the region, ranging from less than 2.3% in many tracts in central and west Cedar Falls and 

west and south Waterloo, to more than 31.4% in several tracts in central and north 

Waterloo (see Figure 12). Unemployment rates in Waterloo census tracts are overall 

higher than in Cedar Falls.  

  

218

Item 3.



67 
 

 

FIGURE 12 – UNEMPLOYMENT RATE + RACE/ ETHNICITY 

 

219

Item 3.



68 
 

 

Variations in unemployment rates exist across racial and ethnic groups. In Waterloo, Black 

residents tend to experience the highest rate of unemployment (19.7%) while white and 

Asian residents have the lowest rates (3.6% and 3.5%, respectively). In Cedar Falls, those 

with two or more races have the highest unemployment rate of 11.5%.  

 

FIGURE 13 – UNEMPLOYMENT BY RACE/ ETHNICITY 

 

Household income is another indicator of access to employment and jobs that pay living 

wages. The American Community Survey estimates median household income at $54,104 

in Waterloo, $71,011 in Cedar Falls, $62,329 in Black Hawk County. Median household 

incomes in the region tend to be lowest in central Waterloo within and around the 

RECAPs tract where median incomes are as low as $20,483 to $36,806. Median incomes 

are highest in north-west and south-west Cedar Falls and south-west Waterloo where 

incomes are as high as $93,463 .01 to $138,627. Tracts with the highest median incomes 

tend to have high percentages of white residents and lower percentages of residents of 

other races (see Figure 14). 

 

  

220

Item 3.



69 
 

 

FIGURE 14 – MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOME + RACE/ ETHNICITY    

 

221

Item 3.



70 
 

 

In Waterloo, household incomes tend to be highest among American Indian/Alaska 

Native residents ($75,583) and lowest among Black residents ($34,138). In Cedar Falls, 

Asian residents have the highest median income ($105,714) while Hispanic/Latino 

residents have the lowest ($43,864).  

FIGURE 15 – MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOME BY RACE/ ETHNICITY 

 

Low median household incomes in some of the region’s census tracts highlight the fact 

that many households may not have sufficient incomes to afford basic needs. Costs for 

a family of two working adults and one child in Waterloo-Cedar Falls, including housing, 

childcare, healthcare, food, transportation, taxes, and other miscellaneous costs, require 

an annual income of $71,960 (after taxes).16  

Yet, 17.1% of primary jobs held by Waterloo-Cedar Falls residents pay $1,250 per month 

or less ($15,000 or less per year). An estimated 28.0% of primary jobs held by Waterloo-

Cedar Falls residents pay between $1,251 and $3,333 (between $15,000 and $39,996 per 

 

 

16 MIT Living Wage Calculator. (2024). Retrieved from: https://livingwage.mit.edu/ 

222

Item 3.



71 
 

 

year),17 indicating that a high proportion of residents may have difficulty affording basic 

living expenses.  

Jobs Proximity 

Mapping locations of jobs in the region shows that jobs tend to be clustered in parts of 

central and northern Waterloo. In Cedar Falls, jobs are clustered in the southern portion 

of Cedar Falls. There are fewer jobs in north Cedar Falls and in north-east Waterloo, (See 

Figure 16).  

Residents and stakeholders who participated in this planning process noted that a lack 

of public transportation throughout Waterloo and Cedar Falls is often a barrier for 

residents in accessing employment. In particular, residents and stakeholders noted that 

employers in Waterloo-Cedar Falls often have difficulty attracting and maintaining 

employees because of the lack of affordable housing and public transportation in the 

county, which makes it difficult for lower-income residents to move to the area or 

commute in for work. 

Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics data also indicates that a high proportion of 

workers living in each jurisdiction work outside of their city of residence. An estimated 

46.6% of workers living in Waterloo and 64.6% of workers living in Cedar Falls work outside 

of the city in which they live.  

Similarly, high proportions of jobs in each jurisdiction are held by workers who live outside 

the area. An estimated 64.9% of workers who hold jobs in Waterloo live outside of the city, 

and 74.3% of workers who hold jobs in Cedar Falls live outside the city.  

This data further demonstrates that lack of access to vehicles and low levels of public 

transportation access may be barriers for a high proportion of residents in accessing 

employment, which for many residents includes commutes across city lines. Overall, labor 

market engagement and job proximity indicators, combined with data on cost of living 

in the region, indicate disparities in access to opportunity among protected classes.  

 

  

 

 

17 Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics data. Home Area Profile Analysis. Retrieved from: 

https://onthemap.ces.census.gov/ 

223

Item 3.

https://onthemap.ces.census.gov/


72 
 

 

FIGURE 16: JOBS PROXIMITY IN THE WATERLOO-CEDAR FALLS CONSORTIUM 

REGION 

 

224

Item 3.



73 
 

 

 

TABLE 5 – INFLOW AND OUTFLOW OF WORKERS (PRIMARY JOBS), 2021 

Inflow and Outflow of Workers Number Percent 

Living in Waterloo 28,465 100.0% 

Living in the City but Employed 

Outside of the City 
13,273 46.6% 

Living and Employed in Waterloo 15,192 53.4% 

Employed in Waterloo 43,223 100.0% 

Employed in the City but Living 

Outside of the City 
28,031 64.9% 

Employed and Living in Waterloo 15,192 35.1% 

Living in Cedar Falls 15,779 100.0% 

Living in the City but Employed 

Outside of the City 
10,199 64.6% 

Living and Employed in Cedar Falls 5,580 35.4% 

Employed in Cedar Falls 21,676 100.0% 

Employed in the City but Living 

Outside of the City 
16,096 74.3% 

Employed and Living in Cedar Falls 5,580 25.7% 

Source: Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics (LODES) data, 2021 

225

Item 3.



74 
 

 

EDUCATION 

School proficiency is an indication of the quality of education that is available to 

residents of an area. High-quality education is a vital community resource that can lead 

to more opportunities, such as employment and increased earnings, and improve 

quality of life. The following section includes a demographic analysis of 19 elementary 

schools, 4 middle schools, 2 junior-high schools, and 3 high schools in the Waterloo 

Community School District and the Cedar Falls Community School District. As of 2023, 

there are 10,052 students enrolled in the Waterloo Community School District and 5,688 

students enrolled in the Cedar Falls Community School District. In Waterloo’s school 

district, majority of students are white (41.4%), followed by Black students (27.6%), and 

Hispanic/Latino students (13.9%). In Cedar Falls’ school district, majority of students are 

white (83.0%), followed by Multi-Racial students (5.7%), and Black students (4.6%). The 

student population in Cedar Falls appears to be less diverse than Waterloo’s with 

smaller shares of non-white racial/ethnic groups. In Waterloo’ school district, around 

17.2% of students have one or more disabilities (17.2%), slightly higher than Cedar Falls’ 

rate of 13.4%. In Waterloo, more than three quarters of students come from a low socio-

economic status (73.4%), nearly three times the rate of Cedar Falls’ (27.2%).  

School proficiency levels and demographics vary across the districts’ schools:  

• In Waterloo, all schools have scored lower than the state’s average for various 

perfromance measures such as graduation rates, growth in mathemathics, 

english proficiency, post-secondary readiness, and more. Schools in Cedar Falls 

all appear to either meet the state’s average or surpass it in the various 

performance areas.  

• The lowest scored school in Waterloo is Expo Alternative Learning Center 

(Elementary) with an overall rating of 24.26, nearly half of the state’s average of 

54.81. The school has a higher Black/African American student population 

(37.1%) compared to the district. Over 84.7% of the students come from a low-

socioeconomic status household and nearly a quarter are students with 

disabilities (24.5%).  

• The lowest scored school in Cedar Falls is Cedar Falls Virtual Campus which 

serves grades 01 through 12 with a schore of 49.44. The student population is 

predominantly white (75.0%). More than half of students from a low socio-

economic status household (52.3%).  

• The highest performing school in Waterloo is Kingsley Elementary School with a 

score of 60.85. Majority of the students at this school are white (60.3%), followed 

by Multi-Racial students (15.2%), and Black/African American students (12.5%). 

Around 53.4% of students come from a low socio-economic status background 

and 15.7% have disabiltiies.  

• The highest peforming school in Cedar Falls is Peet Junior High School with a 

score of 62.38. The majority of students are white (82.4%), followed by 

226

Item 3.



75 
 

 

Black/African American students and Multi-Racial students with a share of 5.4% 

for each. Less than half of students come from a low socio-economic status 

background (26.6%) while 14.5% of students have disabilities.  

 

Overall, the student population in Waterloo is more diverse than Cedar Falls while also 

having a larger share of students who come from low socio-economic households. 

Schools in Cedar Falls are all outperforming Waterloo’s schools in every performance 

measure, meanwhile Waterloo’s schools are falling far behind the state averages. This 

indicates that schools in Waterloo are in need of further investment and support 

particularly among minority and low-income student populations. This may further 

impact fair houising choice for families with school aged children who wish to enroll 

their children in quality schools but are limited in options in Waterloo. These 

performance and achievement gaps may act as a barrier in overall learning 

development for students in Waterloo compared to those attending schools in the 

Cedar Falls’ district.  

 

  

227

Item 3.



76 
 

 

TABLE 6. 

SCHOOL PERFORMANCE AND DEMOGRAPHIC BY SCHOOL IN WATERLOO-CEDAR 

FALLS

 

Name Grades Comprehensive Targeted ESSA Support Year Overall

Served Status Status Score/Rating

Bunger Middle School Middle Met Met
Extended Targeted Year 

2
52.84

06, 07, 08 Acceptable

Central Middle School Middle Met Targeted
Extended Targeted Year 

2
47.19

06, 07, 08 Needs Improvement

Cunningham School Elementary Met Met No Support Required 51.49

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05 Acceptable

East High School High Not-Met Targeted Targeted Year 2 36.52

09, 10, 11, 12 Priority

Expo Alternative Learning 

Center
Alternative Not-Met Not-Met

Extended Comprehensive 

Year 2
24.26

06, 07, 08, 09, 10, 11, 12 Priority

Fred Becker Elementary School Elementary Met Targeted Targeted Year 2 47.31

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05 Needs Improvement

George Washington Carver 

Academy
Middle Met Targeted Targeted Year 2 45.43

06, 07, 08 Needs Improvement

Highland Elementary School Elementary Met Met
Extended Targeted Year 

2
56.09

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05 Commendable

Hoover Middle School Middle Met Targeted Targeted Year 2 50.67

06, 07, 08 Acceptable

Irving Elementary School Elementary Met Met Targeted Year 2 55.37

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05 Commendable

Kingsley Elementary School Elementary Met Met
Extended Targeted Year 

2
60.85

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05 High Performing

Kittrell Elementary School Elementary Met Met No Support Required 53.52

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05 Acceptable

Lincoln Elementary School Elementary Met Targeted
Extended Targeted Year 

2
47.89

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05 Needs Improvement

Lou Henry Elementary School Elementary Met Met Targeted Year 2 53

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05 Acceptable

Lowell Elementary School Elementary Not-Met Targeted
Extended Targeted Year 

2
44.15

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05 Priority

Orange Elementary School Elementary Met Targeted Targeted Year 1 56.58

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05 Commendable

Poyner Elementary Elementary Met Targeted
Extended Targeted Year 

2
47.05

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05 Needs Improvement

West High School High Not-Met Targeted
Extended Targeted Year 

2
42.03

09, 10, 11, 12 Priority

Waterloo Community School District

228

Item 3.



77 
 

 

 

 

Data Source: Iowa State Department of Education, 2023. 

 

Scores on HUD’s School Proficiency Index, which runs from 0 to 100, range from 0 to 96 

across all census tracts in Waterloo-Cedar Falls. The tracts with the highest scores tend 

to be located in Cedar Falls, where schools score between 58 to 96. Waterloo tends to 

have the lowest scores when comparing both cities. In Waterloo, the lowest scores are 

found within the RECAPs tract and further throughout the central portion of the city 

where scores are as low as 0 to 12. These tracts also have a higher concentration of 

diverse populations including Black/African American and Hispanic/Latino residents, 

(See Figure 1).  

 

  

Name Grades Comprehensive Targeted ESSA Support Year Overall

Served Status Status Score/Rating

Bess Streeter Aldrich Elementary Elementary Met Met No Support Required 60.47

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05, 06 Commendable

Cedar Falls High School High Met Met
Extended Targeted Year 

2
55.14

10, 11, 12 Commendable

Cedar Falls Virtual Campus Other Met Met Targeted Year 2 49.44

01, 02, 03, 04, 05, 06, 07, 

08, 09, 10, 11, 12
Acceptable

Cedar Heights Elementary 

School
Elementary Met Met No Support Required 60

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05, 06 Commendable

Helen A Hansen Elementary 

School
Elementary Met Met No Support Required 58.4

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05, 06 Commendable

Holmes Junior High School Junior-High Met Met No Support Required 60.81

07, 08, 09 High Performing

Lincoln Elementary School Elementary Met Met
Extended Targeted Year 

2
59.46

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05, 06 Commendable

North Cedar Elementary School Elementary Met Met No Support Required 56.2

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05, 06 Commendable

Orchard Hill Elementary School Elementary Met Targeted Targeted Year 1 56.23

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05, 06 Commendable

Peet Junior High School Junior-High Met Met No Support Required 62.38

07, 08, 09 High Performing

Southdale Elementary School Elementary Met Met No Support Required 55.16

KG, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05, 06 Commendable

Cedar Falls Community School District

229

Item 3.



78 
 

 

FIGURE 17. 

SCHOOL PROFICIENCY INDEX / ETHNICITY IN WATERLOO-CEDAR FALLS 

 

 

 

230

Item 3.



79 
 

 

TRANSPORTATION 

Affordable, accessible transportation makes it easier for residents to access a range of 

opportunities, providing connections to employment, education, fresh food, healthcare, 

and other services. Low-cost public transportation can facilitate access to these 

resources, while a lack to access to affordable transportation poses barriers to meeting 

key needs, particularly in areas with low walkability and a lack of access to vehicles.  

Access to Affordable Transportation 

Waterloo and Cedar Falls are served the Metropolitan Transit Authority (Met) which 

operates its 10 fixed-route services Monday through Friday, 5:45AM to 6:15PM and 

Saturday 7:15AM to 6:15PM. The bus routes cover most of Waterloo and Cedar Falls and 

two lines connect both cities.  Met Transit also offers paratranist services door-to-door on 

Monday through Friday 8:00AM to 4:00PM or Saturdays 8:45AM to 4:45PM. In order to 

qualify, an individual must meet one of 

the following conditions established by 

the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA): 

• You are unable to get on or off a 

transit bus. 

• You are unable to get to or from 

a fixed route bus stop. 

• You are unable to wait at a fixed-

route bus stop. 

• You are unable, for reason of 

disability, to ride the fixed-route 

buses or to understand and 

follow transit instructions.  

Thus, paratransit eligibility is limited to 

those with functional abilities and 

whether their disabilities fully prevent 

them from utilizing MET Transit’s fixed-

route services and is not based on 

whether bus routes operate in the areas or times a person may need. In some cases, 

MET Transit requires verification of disability and need provided by a medical 

professional.  

Stakeholders interviewed as part of this planning process emphasized that the MET Transit 

system is not a reliable system and that service and operating hours are extremely limiting 

for people who work late night or early morning shifts. Focus group participants also 

expressed using the bus system is inaccessible for most people with a disability. Many also 

do not qualify for paratransit according to the eligibility criteria and its service hours do 

not operate when people need it. The lack of accessible and efficient public transit 

options has prevented many residents without a vehicle from moving to different parts of 

 

“TRANSPORTATION IS A HUGE 

ISSUE AND THERE IS A LACK OF 

HOUSING AVAILABLE.” 

“EVERYTHING HAS GOTTEN SO 

EXPENSIVE AND A LOT HAS 

CHANGED IN THE LAST FEW 

YEARS.” 

“PEOPLE STRUGGLE TO GET TO 

WORK AND THEY HAVE TO RELY 

ON A FRIEND, NEIGHBOR, ETC.” 

-FOCUS GROUP PARTICIPANTS 

231

Item 3.



80 
 

 

the city as well as finding new employment opportunities. Commuting between both 

cities was another challenge different community engagement participants noted 

which creates a divide for those seeking housing, employment, or other services and 

resources in either city.  

FIGURE 18: MET TRANSIT BUS ROUTES 

 

 

Combined housing and transportation costs are highest in the the outer census tracts of 

Waterloo and lowest in central Waterloo. Central Waterloo has close proximity to 

various transfer lines and routes for traveling throughout Waterloo and connecting to 

Cedar Falls. In Cedar Falls, housing and transportation costs tend to mostly make up 

54.1% to 62% of income for moderate-income households, (See Figure 19).  

In these areas of the region, a combination of  low proximity to jobs and a high 

proportions of residents’ incomes spent on transportation may present barriers to 

obtaining and maintaining employment.  

232

Item 3.



81 
 

 

Residents and stakeholders who participated in this planning process emphasized that 

the combination of a lack of affordable housing and lack of public transportation in 

Waterloo-Cedar Falls is a primary barrier for residents in the region in accessing the variety 

of employment, job training, and educational opportunities available in the cities.    

  

233

Item 3.



82 
 

 

FIGURE 19 – HOUSING AND TRANSPORTATION COSTS + RACE/ ETHNICITY  

 

234

Item 3.



83 
 

 

Vehicle Access 

Access to vehicles is another indicator of residents’ access to transportation, particularly 

in areas with limited access to public transit. An estimated 9.8% of households in Waterloo, 

5.5% of households in Cedar Falls, and 7.3% of households in Black Hawk County do not 

have access to a vehicle, according to American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates 

for 2018 to 2022. Residents in central Waterloo tend to have the lowest levels of vehicle 

access in both cities; these census tracts, including the RECAPs tract, between 30.5% and 

50.7% of households do not have a vehicle. 

Stakeholders who participated in this planning process emphasized that a lack of access 

to vehicles is often a barrier to employment for residents living in areas with low proximity 

to jobs and without access to public transportation. A lack of access to vehicles also 

creates barriers to accessing needed services in areas in which those services are not 

located within walking distance and transit access is limited. In this way, residents without 

access to vehicles often find their housing choices limited to locations where public 

transportation is available. 

 

  

235

Item 3.



84 
 

 

FIGURE 20 – VEHICLE ACCESS + RACE/ ETHNICITY 

 

236

Item 3.



85 
 

 

Walkability  

Along with access to transit and low-cost transportation, walkability shapes the extent to 

which residents are able to access employment, resources, and services. The region is 

generally car-dependent, with the highest levels of walkability existing in the inner-ring 

neighborhoods of Waterloo and Cedar Falls.  

FIGURE 21: WALKABILITY, WATERLOO 

 

The City of Waterloo scores 37 out of 100 on Walk Score’s walkability index,18 indicating 

that most errands require a car (see Figure 21). The City of Cedar Falls scores a 38, 

indicating that most errands require a car as well (see Figure 22).  

  

 

 

18 Walk Score measures the walkability of any address by analyzing hundreds of walking routes to nearby 

amenities using population density and road metrics such as block length and intersection density. Data 

sources include Google, Education.com, Open Street Map, the U.S. Census, Localeze, and places added 

by the Walk Score user community. Points are awarded based on the distance to amenities in several 

categories including grocery stores, parks, restaurants, schools, and shopping. The measure is useful in 

showing not only walkability but also access to critical facilities. 

237

Item 3.



86 
 

 

FIGURE 22: WALKABILITY, CEDAR FALLS 

 

 
Residents and stakeholders emphasized that many areas of the region lack sidewalk 

repairs, making accessing resources and services via walking more difficult and less safe, 

particularly for residents with disabilities. In this way, low levels of transit and vehicle 

access may pose a more significant barrier to accessing jobs and services for residents 

living in areas with low levels of walkability. Overall low levels of walkability in the region 

combined with low levels of access to low-cost transportation point to challenges for 

residents without access to vehicles in accessing employment, resources, and services. 

238

Item 3.



87 
 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY  

Environmental quality and access to environmental amenities also shape the 

opportunities available to residents. Access to parks and other green infrastructure in 

counties, cities, and neighborhoods provides a range of environmental, social, and 

health benefits, including access to nature and recreation opportunities; cleaner air and 

water; alternative transportation options; improvements in physical and mental health 

and wellbeing; and opportunities for food production and other local economic 

development. At the same time, environmental hazards, such as poor air quality and 

toxic facilities, are associated with negative health effects including increased respiratory 

symptoms, hospitalization for heart or lung diseases, cancer and other serious health 

effects, and even premature death. Certain population groups, such as children, have 

a greater risk of adverse effects from exposure to pollution.19 

Access to Parks and Environmental Amenities 

Access to environmental amenities is an important component of environmental health. 

In Waterloo-Cedar Falls, parks are most accessible in north-east Waterloo and Cedar Falls 

in which most residents live within a 10-minute walk of a park, (See Figure 23). However, 

the most densely populated areas of Waterloo and Cedar Falls have high park need. 

Areas in the outer neighborhoods of Waterloo and Cedar Falls have low park need.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

19 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (n.d.). Managing Air Quality - Human Health, Environmental and 

Economic Assessments. Retrieved from: https://www.epa.gov/air-quality-management-

process/managing-air-quality-human-health-environmental-and-economic 

239

Item 3.



88 
 

 

FIGURE 23: PARK ACCESS + RACE/ETHNICITY   

 

240

Item 3.



89 
 

 

Stakeholders emphasized that significant 

variation exists between lower- and 

upper-income areas with regard to the 

quality of parks, available amenities, and 

maintenance particularly between 

Waterloo and Cedar Falls.  

About 51.6% of Waterloo survey 

respondents noted that parks and trails 

are equally provided in their communities, 

while about 32.9% stated that they are not 

equally available. About 77.8% of Cedar 

Falls survey respondents noted that parks 

and trails are equally provided, while 

about 25.0% said that they are not equally 

provided.  

Environmental Hazards 

SUPERFUND AND OTHER HAZARDOUS 

WASTE SITES 

Toxic sites may pose risks to residents living nearby and thus may constitute fair housing 

concerns if they disproportionately impact protected classes. A Superfund site is any land 

in the United States that has been contaminated by hazardous waste and identified by 

the EPA as a candidate for cleanup because it poses a risk to human health and/or the 

environment. These sites are placed on the National Priorities List (NPL). In the Waterloo-

Cedar Falls HOME Consortium region, there is one NPL site located in Waterloo (see Figure 

24).20  

 

  

 

 

20 U.S. EPA. (n.d.). Search for Superfund Sites Where You Live. Retrieved from: 

https://www.epa.gov/superfund/search-superfund-sites-where-you-live 

 

“[I] LIVE ACROSS THE STREET FROM 

A PARK THAT IS BEING REHABBED 

SO I FEEL THAT THERE IS GOOD 

ACCESS TO PARKS IN THE CITY BUT 

I KNOW OTHERS WOULD DISAGREE 

BECAUSE SOME PARKS HAVE 

OLDER EQUIPMENT.” 

-WATERLOO STAKEHOLDER 

INTERVIEWEE 

241

Item 3.



90 
 

 

FIGURE 24 – SUPERFUND NATIONAL PRIORITIES LIST (NPL) SITES, WATERLOO-CEDAR 

FALLS HOME CONSORTIUM REGION 

 
Source: U.S. EPA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

242

Item 3.



91 
 

 

AIR TOXICS AND TOXIC RELEASE FACILITIES 

The EPA’s National Air Toxics Assessment (NATA) estimates health risks from air toxics. The 

most recent assessment, released in 2021, uses data from 2019 to examine cancer risk 

from ambient concentrations of pollutants. Areas in the region with the highest cancer 

risk include a one tract in central Waterloo which has a risk for 30 per million population 

(see Figure 25). Point sources of emissions are clustered in central Waterloo and Central 

Cedar Falls, with fewer facilities dispersed across the outer neighborhoods of both cities. 

FIGURE 25 – AIR TOXICS AND CANCER RISK (PER MILLION POPULATION), 

WATERLOO-CEDAR FALLS 

 
Source: Environmental Protection Agency National Air Toxics Assessment (NATA) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

243

Item 3.



92 
 

 

The Environmental Protection Agency’s Toxics Release Inventory (TRI) tracks the 

management of certain toxic chemicals that may pose a threat to human health and 

the environment.21 Certain industrial facilities in the U.S. must report annually how much 

of each chemical is recycled, combusted for energy recovery, treated for destruction, 

and disposed of or otherwise released on- and off-site. The EPA’s Risk-Screening 

Environmental Indicators (RSEI) Model analyzes TRI data on the amount of toxic 

chemicals released, together with risk factors such as the chemical’s fate and transport 

through the environment, each chemical’s relative toxicity, and the number of people 

potentially exposed, to calculate a numeric score designed to be compared to other 

RSEI scores22.  

Toxic release inventory sites in the region are clustered in central Waterloo and central 

Cedar Falls. However, the facility with the highest number of toxic releases is found in 

Waterloo (John Deere Waterloo Works Drivetrain Operations and Foundry, machinery 

and primary metals, see Figure 26).  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

21 U.S. EPA. (n.d.) Toxic Release Inventory Program. Retrieved from: https://www.epa.gov/toxics-release-

inventory-tri-program/what-toxics-release-inventory. Data retrieved from: 

https://www.arcgis.com/home/item.html?id=2c4a0b5f85b945f8a67125e6a93fa7fe 

22 United States Environmental Protection Agency. (n.d.) Risk-Screening Environmental Indicators (RSEI) 

Model. Retrieved from: https://www.epa.gov/rsei. 

244

Item 3.



93 
 

 

FIGURE 26 – TOXICS RELEASE INVENTORY, WATER-LOO CEDAR FALLS 

 
Source: U.S. EPA 

 

 

 

 

245

Item 3.



94 
 

 

FOOD  

Access to food that is both affordable and nutritious is a challenge for many individuals 

and families in the United States. In neighborhoods in which the nearest grocery store is 

many miles away, transportation costs and lack of vehicle access may present particular 

challenges for low-income households, who may be forced to rely on smaller stores that 

are often unaffordable and may not offer a full range of healthy food choices. Even in 

areas in close proximity to food outlets, the higher cost of healthy foods such as produce 

often present barriers to healthy food access.23 

Analysis of the most recently available USDA Food Research Atlas data, from 2019, 

indicates that the proportion or residents who have low incomes and live further than ½ 

mile from a supermarket tends to be highest in census tracts in north-west and south 

Waterloo where more than 84.8% of residents have low incomes and live more than ½ 

mile from a supermarket. In the east and south-east portions of Cedar Falls, more than 

48.1% of residents have low incomes and live further than a ½ mile from a supermarket. 

In 2023, the first full-service grocery store in over 50 years in downtown Waterloo had its 

grand opening. All-In-Grocers was a $10.2 

million investment and received over $2 

million in incentives from the city after 

several investors left and delays from the 

pandemic and inflation stalled the 

project24. The U.S. Department of 

Agriculture has recognized downtown 

Waterloo as a food desert where access 

to healthy food options is limited. The new 

All-In-Grocers store aims to close this gap 

and provide healthy and affordable food 

while also employing local residents and 

community members.  

Stakeholders interviewed during this 

planning process also noted lower levels 

of food access in Waterloo. Survey 

respondents for Waterloo and Cedar Falls 

echoed concerns surrounding food 

access, with 62.8% and 60.0%, 

 

 

23 Valdez Z, Ramírez AS, Estrada E, Grassi K, Nathan S. Community Perspectives on Access to and 

Availability of Healthy Food in Rural, Low-Resource, Latino Communities. Prev Chronic Dis 2016;13:160250. 

24 Promnitz, Donald. Downtown Waterloo ‘All-In’ on new grocery store seven years in the making. The 

Courier. https://wcfcourier.com/news/local/business/development/all-in-grocers-opens-downtown-

waterloo/article_0f0bedae-6229-11ee-af78-57736f4b5480.html 

 

“I THINK WE COULD IMPROVE 

UPON HAVING GROCERY 

AND/OR HOUSEHOLD NECESSITY 

STORES WITHIN REASONABLE 

WALKING DISTANCE TO MOST 

RESIDENTIAL NEIGHBORHOODS.” 

-CEDAR FALLS SURVEY 

RESPONDENT 

“THERE ARE TOO MANY FOOD 

DESERTS. WE NEED MORE ACCESS 

TO HEALTHY AND LOCAL FOOD.” 

-WATERLOO SURVEY RESPONDENT 

246

Item 3.



95 
 

 

respectively, noting that grocery stores and other shopping opportunities are not equally 

available in their communities.  

 

FIGURE 27. FOOD ACCESS + RACE/ ETHNICITY  

  

247

Item 3.



96 
 

 

FIGURE 28: ALL-IN-GROCERS IN DOWNTOWN WATERLOO 

 

All-In-Grocers in Downtown Waterloo 

Source: Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier 

Poverty and a lack of access to vehicles also contribute to food insecurity in the region. 

An estimated 17.4% of residents in Waterloo, 17.0% of residents in Cedar Falls, and 15.7% 

of residents in Black Hawk County were living below the federal poverty level as of the 

2018-2022 American Community Survey Five-Year Estimates, indicating that low incomes 

are a substantial barrier for a substantial portion of residents in accessing fresh food. 

Disparities in poverty exist by race: 57.9% of American Indian/Alaska Native residents were 

living below the poverty level in 2018-2022, followed by Black/African American residents 

(40.4%) in Waterloo. In Cedar Falls, Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander residents had 

the highest rate of residents living below the poverty level (42.0%), followed by 

Black/African American residents (31.7%). 

Further, in many central Waterloo census tracts, between 30.5% and 50.7% of residents 

do not have access to a vehicle, indicating that barriers to food access exist in areas of 

the region with limited access to public transportation and low levels of walkability. In this 

way, the combination of uneven distribution of food outlets across the region, the 

substantial proportions of households with low incomes, and a lack of access to vehicles 

create barriers to food access and security. 

 

248

Item 3.



97 
 

 

HEALTHCARE 

Access to high-quality, affordable physical and mental healthcare shapes community 

health outcomes, including both length and quality of life. The ratios of clinical care 

providers to population across counties. Residents of Black Hawk County tend to have 

lower (better) ratios of population to healthcare providers, including one primary care 

physician per 1,300 residents, one dentist per 1,300 residents, and one mental health 

provider per 450 residents, indicating overall higher levels of access than in the state of 

Iowa overall (see Table 7). Residents of Black Hawk County tend to have the highest ratios 

of population to mental health providers compared to the United States overall, pointing 

to lower levels of access to mental health providers in rural areas of the region.  

TABLE 7. RATIOS OF POPULATION TO HEALTHCARE PROVIDERS, BLACK HAWK 

COUNTY AND IOWA STATE  

  Black Hawk County Iowa United States 

Primary Care Physicians 1,000:1 1,360:1 1,310:1 

Dentists 1,300:1 1,430:1 1,380:1 

Mental Health Providers 450:1 530:1 340:1 

Source: County Health Rankings, 2023 

 

Disparities also exist across the region regarding access to health insurance. Residents in 

Waterloo tend to be uninsured at the highest rates compared to Cedar Falls (6% to 14.8% 

uninsured residents in central and east Waterloo, (see Figure 29). Most of the census tracts 

in Cedar Falls have between 1.9% to 5.9% of residents who are uninsured. One census 

tract in Cedar Falls has the highest rate of uninsured residents in the city, (10.5% to 14.8% 

of residents).  

In this way, residents of Waterloo are likelier to have reduced access to healthcare due 

to several factors, including gaps in safety net service in some zip codes, lower levels of 

health insurance coverage, and lack of access to vehicles or other transportation 

options. Programs designed to support access to healthcare may help increase access. 

These may include mobile clinics, development of community-based clinics in 

underserved areas, transportation assistance to support access to healthcare, 

community health workers, and sliding scale services for low-income uninsured residents, 

among others. 

 

  

249

Item 3.



98 
 

 

FIGURE 29. ACCESS TO HEALTH INSURANCE + RACE/ ETHNICITY 

250

Item 3.



99 

CHAPTER 6. 

HOUSING PROFILE 
The availability of quality, affordable housing plays a vital role in ensuring housing 

opportunities are equally accessible to all residents. On the surface, high housing costs in 

certain areas are exclusionary based solely on income. But the disproportionate 

representation of several protected class groups in low- and middle-income levels can 

lead to unequal access to housing options and neighborhood opportunity in high-cost 

housing markets. Black and Hispanic residents, immigrants, people with disabilities, and 

seniors often experience additional fair housing barriers when affordable housing is 

scarce. 

Beyond providing fair housing options, the social, economic, and health benefits of 

providing quality affordable housing are well-documented. National studies have shown 

affordable housing encourages diverse, mixed-income communities, which result in 

many social benefits. Affordable housing also increases job accessibility for low- and 

middle-income populations and attracts a diverse labor force critical for industries that 

provide basic services for the community. Affordable housing is also linked to 

improvements in mental health, reduction of stress, and decreased cases of illnesses 

caused by poor-quality housing.25 Developing affordable housing is also a strategy used 

to prevent displacement of existing residents when housing costs increase due to 

economic or migratory shifts. 

Conversely, a lack of affordable housing eliminates many of these benefits and increases 

socioeconomic segregation. High housing costs are linked to displacement of low-

income households and an increased risk of homelessness.26 Often lacking the capital to 

relocate to better neighborhoods, displaced residents tend to move to 

socioeconomically disadvantaged neighborhoods where housing costs are most 

affordable.27 

This section discusses the existing supply of housing in the study area. It also reviews 

housing costs, including affordability and other housing needs by householder income. 

Homeownership rates and access to lending for home purchases and mortgage 

refinancing are also assessed.  

 

 

25 Maqbool, Nabihah, et al. "The Impacts of Affordable Housing on Health: A Research Summary." Insights 
from Housing Policy Research, Center for Housing Policy, www.rupco.org/wp-content/uploads/pdfs/The-

Impacts-of-Affordable-Housing-on-Health-CenterforHousingPolicy-Maqbool.etal.pdf. 

26 “State of the Nation’s Housing 2015.” Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, 

http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/jchs-sonhr-2015-full.pdf  

27 Deirdre Oakley & Keri Burchfield (2009) Out of the Projects, Still in the Hood: The Spatial Constraints on 

Public-Housing Residents’ Relocation in Chicago.” Journal of Urban Affairs, 31:5, 589-614. 

251

Item 3.



100 

HOUSING SUPPLY SUMMARY 

According to the 2018-2022 American Community Survey (ACS), the cities of Waterloo 

and Cedar Falls have a combined total of 48,575 housing units. Just under two-thirds of 

these units are located in Waterloo, with the remainder located in Cedar Falls.  5,805, or 

around 12%, of the consortium’s units have been constructed since the year 2000.  

Growth has been more prevalent in Cedar Falls, which has grown by nearly 25% since 

the year 2000, than in Waterloo, which has grown by about 8% in the same time period.   

Vacancy data indicates that housing in Cedar Falls faces higher demand than housing 

in Waterloo – nearly 80% of the units added in Cedar Falls since 2000 are currently 

occupied, while less than one third of the units added to Waterloo within the same time 

period are currently occupied.  This has resulted in Waterloo’s vacancy rate increasing 

more significantly than Cedar Falls, although both cities currently have vacancy rates 

lower than the national average of 10.8% at 9.5% and 6.9% respectively. 

Lower-than-average vacancy rates are an indication that housing access in a 

community may be limited due to an overall inadequate supply of units.  This may be 

especially true in Cedar Falls, which has a current vacancy rate 36% lower than the 

national average. However, although still lower than average, vacancy rates in both 

cities have slightly more than doubled since the year 2000, indicating that there are likely 

additional factors limiting housing access in addition to overall unit supply. 

Housing structure variety is important in providing housing options suitable to meet the 

needs of all residents, including different members of protected classes. Multifamily 

housing, including rental apartments, are often more affordable rental options than 

single-family homes for low- and moderate-income households, who are 

disproportionately likely to be non-white households. Multifamily units may also be the 

preference of some elderly and disabled householders who are unable or do not desire 

to maintain a single-family home. 

Table 9 shows housing units by structure types in the Waterloo and Cedar Falls. Single-

family detached units are the most common type of housing in both cities but are slightly 

more prevalent in Waterloo; while single-family attached homes, such as townhomes, 

are nearly twice as prevalent in Cedar Falls as in Waterloo.  The second most common 

type of housing in both cities is mid-sized apartment complexes of 5-19 units, followed by 

large apartment complexes of 20 or more units. Duplexes, triplexes, and quadplexes are 

fourth most common in both cities, while mobile homes make up only around 3% of 

housing in both cities. Waterloo reports 17 atypical housing units such as RVs, boats, or 

vans, while Cedar Falls reports none. 

 

  

252

Item 3.



101 

TABLE 8 – HOUSING UNITS BY OCCUPANCY STATUS 

 

TABLE 9 – HOUSING UNITS BY STRUCTURE TYPE 

  

 2000 2010 2018-2022 
2000-2022 

Change 

Waterloo 

Total Housing Units 29,499 30,723 31,988 +2,489 

Occupied Housing Units 28,169 28,607 28,947 +778 

Vacant Housing Units 1,330 2,116 3,041 +1,711 

Vacancy Rate 4.5% 6.9% 9.5% +5.0 

Cedar Falls 

Total Housing Units 13,271 15,477 16,587 +3,316 

Occupied Housing Units 12,833 14,608 15,446 +2,613 

Vacant Housing Units 438 869 1,141 +703 

Vacancy Rate 3.3% 5.6% 6.9% +3.6 

Data Source: U.S. Census 2000 SF1 Table H003 and 2010 SF1 Table H3 and 2018-2022 5-Year American 

Community Survey Table B25002 

Structure Type 
Waterloo Cedar Falls 

Number Percent Number Percent 

1 unit, detached 21,868 68.4% 10,042 60.5% 

1 unit, attached 1,177 3.7% 1,148 6.9% 

2-4 units 2,185 6.8% 1,232 7.4% 

5-19 units 3,572 11.2% 1,974 11.9% 

20 or more units 2,207 6.9% 1,626 9.8% 

Mobile home 962 3.0% 565 3.4% 

Other (RV, boat, van, etc.) 17 0.1% 0 0.0% 

Total 31,988 100.0% 16,587 100.0% 

Data Source: 2018-2022 5-Year American Community Survey, Table B25024 

253

Item 3.



102 

Availability of housing in a variety of sizes is important to meet the needs of different 

demographic groups. Neighborhoods with multi-bedroom detached, single-family 

homes will typically attract larger families, whereas dense residential developments with 

smaller unit sizes and fewer bedrooms often accommodate single-person households or 

small families. However, market forces and affordability impact housing choice and the 

ability to obtain housing of a suitable size, and markets that do not offer a variety of 

housing sizes at different price points can lead to barriers for some groups. Rising housing 

costs can, for example, lead to overcrowding as large households with lower incomes 

are unable to afford pricier, larger homes and are forced to reside in smaller units. On the 

other hand, people with disabilities or seniors with fixed incomes may not require large 

units but can be limited by higher housing costs in densely populated areas where most 

studio or one-bedroom units are located.  

Table 10 shows housing units by the number of bedrooms and resident tenure (whether 

the occupants are renters or owners). In both Waterloo and Cedar Falls renter-occupied 

units tend to be smaller than owner-occupied units; when comparing the two cities 

regardless of tenure, homes in Waterloo tend to be smaller than homes in Cedar Falls.   

In both cities 0.2% or less of homeowners live in a studio unit, while 3.6%-4.1% of renters 

live in a unit this size.  Significantly more residents live in one-bed units in Waterloo than in 

Cedar Falls, regardless of tenure; in Waterloo, 3.4% of owners and 26% of renters live in 

these units, while in Cedar Falls, this number falls to 1.6% of owners and 16.3% of renters. 

Similarly, 78.6% of Waterloo owners and 65.7% of renters live in two- to three-bed units, 

while 58.1% of Cedar Falls owners and 57.3% of renters live in such a unit.  Homes with four 

or more bedrooms are significantly more prevalent in Cedar Falls, where 40.1% of owners 

and 22.8% of renters live in a home this large.  In Waterloo, only 17.9% of owners and 4.3% 

of renters live in a home with four or more bedrooms. 

Assessing housing conditions in an area can provide a basis for developing policies and 

programs to maintain and preserve the quality of the housing stock. The age of an area’s 

housing can have substantial impact on housing conditions and costs. As housing ages, 

maintenance costs rise, which can present significant affordability issues for low- and 

moderate-income homeowners. Aging rental stock can lead to rental rate increases to 

address physical issues or deteriorating conditions if building owners defer or ignore 

maintenance needs. Deteriorating housing can also depress neighboring property 

values, discourage reinvestment, and eventually impact the quality of life in a 

neighborhood. Additionally, homes built prior to 1978 present the potential for lead 

exposure risk due to lead-based paint or lead pipes carrying drinking water.  

 

 

  

254

Item 3.



103 

TABLE 10 – HOUSING UNITS BY SIZE AND TENURE 

 

Age of housing across Waterloo and Cedar Falls is shown in Figure 30 below. Data 

indicates that the oldest housing stock is found in Waterloo, where more than 20% of all 

homes were built before the year 1940. Conversely, Cedar Falls has built a larger 

percentage of new homes than Waterloo in every decade since 1970. More than three-

quarters of Waterloo homes were constructed before 1980 and are therefore likely at risk 

of lead exposure, in comparison to 57% of Cedar Falls homes. (Note that American 

Community Survey data is available by decade only and therefore data is not available 

specifically on homes constructed prior to 1978). Aging housing stock can create a 

barrier to fair housing when low-income residents are unable to afford repairs to units or 

are forced to live in homes or neighborhoods in disrepair due to affordability concerns. 

  

Number of Bedrooms 
Waterloo Cedar Falls 

Number Percent Number Percent 

Owner-Occupied Housing Units 

Zero 31 0.2% 14 0.1% 

One 592 3.4% 158 1.6% 

Two or three 13,824 78.6% 5,615 58.1% 

Four or more 3,151 17.9% 3,872 40.1% 

Total 17,598 100.0% 9,659 100.0% 

Renter-Occupied Housing Units 

Zero 464 4.1% 207 3.6% 

One 2,946 26.0% 946 16.3% 

Two or three 7,452 65.7% 3,315 57.3% 

Four or more 487 4.3% 1319 22.8% 

Total 11,349 100.0% 5,787 100.0% 

Note: Unoccupied units are not included in this table because tenure data is not available for these units.  

Data Source: 2018-2022 5-Year American Community Survey, Table B25042  

255

Item 3.



104 

FIGURE 30 – AGE OF HOUSING IN THE WATERLOO-CEDAR FALLS HOME 

CONSORTIUM 
 

     

Data Source: 2018-2022 5-Year American Community Survey, Table B25034 

 

256

Item 3.



105 

HOUSING COSTS AND AFFORDABILITY 

The most common housing needs identified by stakeholders are related to affordability, 

particularly for low- and moderate-income households. Many residents who participated 

in the community engagement process noted that housing costs frequently rise faster 

than wages, which creates affordability issues for households who already have tight 

budgets. A lack of affordable housing options frequently leads to cost burden, as 

described in the next section titled Housing Needs.  

Housing Cost by Unit Size 

The National Low Income Housing Coalition’s annual Out of Reach report examines 

rental housing rates relative to income levels for counties throughout the U.S. Figure 31 

below shows annual household income and hourly wages needed to afford Fair Market 

Rents (FMRs) in Black Hawk County for one, two, three, and four-bedroom rental units in 

2023.  

FIGURE 31– REQUIRED INCOME, WAGES, AND HOURS TO AFFORD FAIR MARKET 

RENTS IN BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA 

 

Housing Coalition Out of Reach 2023, Accessed from https://nlihc.org/oor/state/ia 

 

Fair Market Rent (FMR) is a standard set by HUD at the county or regional level for use in 

administering its Section 8 rental voucher program. FMRs are typically the 40th percentile 

gross rent (i.e., rent plus utility costs) for typical, non-substandard rental units in the local 

housing market.  

As shown in Table 10, the most common rental unit size in both cities is a two- to three- 

bed unit.  Figure 31 shows that the NLIHC determined that in 2023 in Black Hawk County, 

the average rental cost for a two-bed unit was $934 per month and the average cost for 

a three-bed unit was $1,241 per month. To afford this rent without being cost burdened 

(i.e. spending more than 30% of income on housing), a household would require an 

annual income of at $37,000-$49,000. This amount translates to a 40-hour work week at 

an hourly wage of $14 to $18 per hour. For a single minimum wage worker earning $7.25 

per hour, it would take a 132-hour work week to afford a three-bedroom unit. The NLIHC 

also reported that the average renter wage in Black Hawk County in 2023 was $18.40, 

which is less than the hourly wage needed to afford a three-bedroom unit at fair market 

257

Item 3.



106 

rent. Even at average renter wages, a worker would need to work 52 hours per week to 

afford this unit.  

A household earning average renter wages could afford a two-bedroom unit, if available 

at the fair market rent of $934. To cover the cost of the unit, the household would need 

an annual income of $37,360 or higher or must work a 40-hour work week at an hourly 

wage of at least $17.96. However, if a worker earned minimum wage, he or she would 

need to work 99 hours per week to afford a two-bedroom unit. 

Overall, this data indicates that low incomes make housing at fair market rents 

unaffordable to individuals earning the minimum wage and, in some cases, the average 

renter wage in Black Hawk County. Individuals earning average renter wages and 

working a 40-hour work week are unable to afford a three-bedroom housing unit at fair 

market rent, which has implications for families of all sizes, but especially larger families 

and single-parent families.  

Housing Cost by Jurisdiction 

The U.S. Census Bureau provides estimates of rents and monthly owner costs by 

jurisdiction. Figures 32 and 33 compare owner and renter costs in Waterloo and Cedar 

Falls, showing that overall housing costs in Cedar Falls are higher than in Waterloo.  

Median monthly owner costs were $1,195 in Waterloo and $1,683 in Cedar Falls, and 

median rent was $865 in Waterloo and $1,112 in Cedar Falls.  This means that, on average, 

homeowners in Cedar Falls pay 41% more and renters pay 29% more than those in 

Waterloo. 

Figures 34 and 35 display median monthly rents and median home values by geography 

within Waterloo and Cedar Falls.  These figures also show that, in general, rents and home 

values are higher in Cedar Falls than in Waterloo.  Rents and home values are generally 

lowest in central Waterloo and rise towards the edges of the study area, particularly in 

the west and southwest portions.  Notably, there is one census tract in central Waterloo 

with unusually high rents but without a corresponding increase in home values.  This may 

indicate that this portion of Waterloo has a significant presence of high-cost apartment 

buildings without many homes available for purchase. 

 

  

258

Item 3.



107 

FIGURE 32 – MONTHLY RENTAL COSTS IN THE WATERLOO-CEDAR FALLS HOME 

CONSORTIUM 

 

Source: 2018-2022 American Community Survey, Table DP04 

 

  

259

Item 3.



108 

FIGURE 33 – MONTHLY HOMEOWNER COSTS IN THE WATERLOO-CEDAR FALLS 

HOME CONSORTIUM 

 

Source: 2018-2022 American Community Survey, Table DP04 

Note: Homeowner costs displayed are for units with a mortgage. 

  

260

Item 3.



109 

FIGURE 34 – MEDIAN RENT 
 

 

Source: 2018-2022 American Community Survey, Table DP05 

 

 

261

Item 3.



110 

FIGURE 35 – MEDIAN HOME VALUE 
 

 

Source: 2018-2022 American Community Survey, Table DP05 

262

Item 3.



111 

HOUSING NEEDS 

Housing cost and condition are key components to housing choice. Housing barriers may 

exist in a jurisdiction when some protected class groups have greater difficulty accessing 

housing in good condition and that they can afford. To assess affordability and other 

types of housing needs, HUD defines four housing problems:  

1. A household is cost burdened if monthly housing costs (including mortgage 

payments, property taxes, insurance, and utilities for owners and rent and utilities 

for renters) exceed 30% of monthly income.  

2. A household is overcrowded if there is more than 1.0 people per room, not 

including kitchen or bathrooms.  

3. A housing unit lacks complete kitchen facilities if it lacks one or more of the 

following: cooking facilities, a refrigerator, or a sink with piped water.  

4. A housing unit lacks complete plumbing facilities if it lacks one or more of the 

following: hot and cold piped water, a flush toilet, or a bathtub or shower.  

HUD also defines four severe housing problems, including a severe cost burden (more 

than 50% of monthly housing income is spent on housing costs), severe overcrowding 

(more than 1.5 people per room, not including kitchens or bathrooms), lack of complete 

kitchen facilities (as described above), and lack of complete plumbing facilities (also as 

described above).  

To assess housing need, HUD receives a special tabulation of data from the U. S. Census 

Bureau’s American Community Survey (ACS) that is largely not available through 

standard Census products. This data, known as Comprehensive Housing Affordability 

Strategy (CHAS) data, counts the number of households that fit certain combination of 

HUD-specified criteria, such as housing needs by race and ethnicity. CHAS data for the 

Waterloo-Cedar Falls HOME Consortium is shown below in Tables 11-13.  

As shown in Table 11, just over 28% of all households in Waterloo and Cedar Falls have at 

least one housing problem.   Although 

housing problems affect all racial and 

ethnic groups in HOME Consortium area, 

some groups experience a 

disproportionately greater rate of housing 

need. HUD defines a group as having a 

disproportionate need if its members 

experience housing needs at a rate that is 

ten percentage points or more above that 

of white households. While housing 

problems are more prevalent across all 

races and ethnicities at lower incomes than 

at higher incomes, non-white households 

experience higher rates of housing 

problems than white houeholds at all 

 

In Waterloo and Cedar Falls, 

households of color are more likely 

to have a housing need than white 

households.  

In particular, Pacific Islander and 

Black households of any income 

level are more likely than 

households of any other race or 

ethnicity to have at least one HUD-

defined housing problem. 

263

Item 3.



112 

income levels.  Tables 12 and 13 show rates of housing problems and severe housing 

problems by race, ethnicity, and income band up to 100% HAMFI, while Table 11 shows 

overall likelihood of housing problems by race or ethnicity regardless of income.   

Table 12 shows that the subgroups most likely to have a housing problem when 

accounting for income, race, and ethnicity are Asian and Pacific Islander households 

with incomes of 30% HAMFI or less, followed by Black households with incomes of 30% 

HAMFI or less.  Table 13 shows that the subgroup most likely to have a severe housing 

problem is Pacific Islander households with incomes of 30% HAMFI or less, followed by 

Pacific Islander households with incomes of 81-100% HAMFI and then by Black households 

with incomes of 30% HAMFI or less.  Table 11 shows that, regardless of income, Pacific 

Islander and Black households are most likely to have at least one housing problem with 

rates more than double those of white households.  Using HUD’s disproportionate need 

definition, Black and Pacific Islander households display disproportionate levels of 

housing need in Waterloo and Cedar Falls. While not significant enough to be considered 

disproportionate, Native American households also experience higher-than-average 

levels of housing need. 

TABLE 11 – OVERALL LIKELIHOOD OF HOUSING PROBLEMS BY RACE OR ETHNICITY 

 

Source: 2016-2020 CHAS Data 

  

Household Demographics 
Total  

Households 

# with 

Housing  

Problems 

% with 

Housing 

Problems 

Housing Problems 

White, non-Hispanic 35,550 8,755 24.6% 

Black, non-Hispanic 4,883 2,569 52.6% 

Asian, non-Hispanic 891 263 29.5% 

American Indian or Alaska Native, non-Hispanic 128 40 31.3% 

Pacific Islander, non-Hispanic 164 90 54.9% 

Hispanic, any race 1,710 447 26.1% 

Total 43,326 12,164 28.1% 

264

Item 3.



113 

TABLE 12 – DEMOGRAPHICS OF HOUSEHOLDS WITH HOUSING PROBLEMS BY 

INCOME UP TO 100% HAMFI 

 

Source: 2016-2020 CHAS Data 

 

Household Demographics 
Total  

Households 

# with 

Housing  

Problems 

% with 

Housing 

Problems 

0-30% HAMFI 

White, non-Hispanic 4,835 3,640 75.3% 

Black, non-Hispanic 1,689 1,454 86.1% 

Asian, non-Hispanic 84 84 100.0% 

American Indian or Alaska Native, non-Hispanic 40 20 50.0% 

Pacific Islander, non-Hispanic 50 50 100.0% 

Hispanic, any race 360 265 73.6% 

Total 7,210 5,655 78.4% 

31-50% HAMFI 

White, non-Hispanic 4,825 2,775 57.5% 

Black, non-Hispanic 1,045 740 70.8% 

Asian, non-Hispanic 53 34 64.2% 

American Indian or Alaska Native, non-Hispanic 50 0 0.0% 

Pacific Islander, non-Hispanic 35 25 71.4% 

Hispanic, any race 144 100 69.4% 

Total 6,290 2,775 57.5% 

51-80% HAMFI 

White, non-Hispanic 7,155 1,770 24.7% 

Black, non-Hispanic 1,145 270 23.6% 

Asian, non-Hispanic 159 60 37.7% 

American Indian or Alaska Native, non-Hispanic 30 20 66.7% 

Pacific Islander, non-Hispanic 60 0 0.0% 

Hispanic, any race 429 64 14.9% 

Total 9,085 2,210 24.3% 

81-100% HAMFI 

White, non-Hispanic 3,710 340 9.2% 

Black, non-Hispanic 350 55 15.7% 

Asian, non-Hispanic 50 25 50.0% 

American Indian or Alaska Native, non-Hispanic 0 0 0.0% 

Pacific Islander, non-Hispanic 19 15 78.9% 

Hispanic, any race 193 4 2.1% 

Total 4,370 445 10.2% 

265

Item 3.



114 

TABLE 13 – DEMOGRAPHICS OF HOUSEHOLDS WITH SEVERE HOUSING PROBLEMS 

BY INCOME UP TO 100% HAMFI 

 

Source: 2016-2020 CHAS Data 

Household Demographics 
Total  

Households 

# with 

Housing  

Problems 

% with 

Housing 

Problems 

0-30% HAMFI 

White, non-Hispanic 4,835 2,890 59.7% 

Black, non-Hispanic 1,689 1,139 67.2% 

Asian, non-Hispanic 84 59 66.3% 

American Indian or Alaska Native, non-Hispanic 40 0 0.0% 

Pacific Islander, non-Hispanic 50 50 100.0% 

Hispanic, any race 360 174 48.5% 

Total 7,210 4,375 60.6% 

31-50% HAMFI 

White, non-Hispanic 4,825 1,075 22.3% 

Black, non-Hispanic 1,045 200 19.1% 

Asian, non-Hispanic 53 30 55.6% 

American Indian or Alaska Native, non-Hispanic 50 0 0.0% 

Pacific Islander, non-Hispanic 35 0 0.0% 

Hispanic, any race 144 10 6.9% 

Total 6,290 1,340 21.3% 

51-80% HAMFI 

White, non-Hispanic 7,155 375 5.2% 

Black, non-Hispanic 1,145 140 12.3% 

Asian, non-Hispanic 159 30 18.8% 

American Indian or Alaska Native, non-Hispanic 30 0 0.0% 

Pacific Islander, non-Hispanic 60 0 0.0% 

Hispanic, any race 429 39 9.1% 

Total 9,085 605 6.7% 

81-100% HAMFI 

White, non-Hispanic 3,710 100 2.7% 

Black, non-Hispanic 350 50 14.3% 

Asian, non-Hispanic 50 25 50.0% 

American Indian or Alaska Native, non-Hispanic 0 0 0.0% 

Pacific Islander, non-Hispanic 19 15 78.9% 

Hispanic, any race 193 0 0.0% 

Total 4,370 190 4.4% 

266

Item 3.



115 

HOMEOWNERSHIP AND LENDING 

Homeownership is vital to a community’s economic well-being. It allows the opportunity 

to build wealth, is generally associated with higher levels of civic engagement,28 and is 

correlated with positive cognitive and behavioral outcomes among children.29  

Federal housing policies and discriminatory mortgage lending practices prior to the Fair 

Housing Act of 1968, along with continuing impediments to access, have had significant 

impacts on the homeownership rates of racial and ethnic minorities, particularly Black 

and Hispanic populations. The gap between the white and Black homeownership rate is 

the largest among racial and ethnic groups. In 2023, the National Association of Realtors 

reported that Black homeownership lags 29 percentage points behind white 

homeownership and has increased only 0.4 percentage points in the past decade30.  

Homeownership trends have changed in recent years because of significant events in 

the housing market and labor force. The homeownership rate for Millennials (the 

generation born between 1981 and 1997) has historically been lower than for previous 

generations, controlling for age.31 In 2023, Forbes reported that 2022 marked the first year 

in which more than 50% of Millennials were homeowners; however, rapid increases in 

housing prices have significantly slowed Millennial homebuying efforts in recent years, as 

the average income required to purchase a “starter home” nearly doubled between 

2020 and 202332.  

Table 14 below shows the number of homeowner and renter households in Waterloo and 

Cedar Falls, as well as homeownership rates by race and ethnicity.  White households in 

Waterloo had the highest rates of homeownership, followed closely by white households 

in Cedar Falls. The lowest homeownership rates are found among Native American 

households in Cedar Falls, followed by Black households in Cedar Falls. Overall 

homeownership rates are higher in Waterloo than in Cedar Falls, which may be due to 

lower home values in Waterloo (see Figure 35).  In both Waterloo and Cedar Falls, Black 

households have home ownership rates of less than half of that of white households. One 

of the most noticeable discrepancies in home ownership rates between the cities is 

 

 

28 Manturuk K, Lindblad M, Quercia R. “Homeownership and civic engagement in low-income urban 

neighborhoods: a longitudinal analysis.” Urban Affairs Review. 2012;48(5):731–60. 

29 Haurin, Donald R. et al. “The Impact of Homeownership on Child Outcomes.” Low-Income 
Homeownership Working Paper Series. Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University. October 2001, 

http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/liho01-14.pdf. 

30 https://www.nar.realtor/newsroom/more-americans-own-their-homes-but-black-white-homeownership-

rate-gap-is-biggest-in-a-decade-nar 
31 Choi, Jung et al. “Millennial Homeownership: Why Is It So Low, and How Can We Increase It?” The Urban 

Institute. February 2000. 

https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/98729/millennial_homeownership_0.pdf  

32 https://www.forbes.com/advisor/mortgages/real-estate/how-millennial-homeownership-reshaping-

market/ 

267

Item 3.



116 

among Hispanic households, who have home ownership rates in Waterloo more than 

double those in Cedar Falls. 

Figure 36 displays home ownership rates by location within Waterloo and Cedar Falls, 

showing that rates are lowest in central portions of both cities and increase nearer to the 

perimeters. Waterloo contains both more tracts with low homeownership rates and more 

tracts with homeownership rates of over 90% than Cedar Falls, likely due to its larger 

geographic size and larger population. 

 

TABLE 14 – HOMEOWNERSHIP AND RENTAL RATES BY RACE AND ETHNICITY 

Householder 

Race/Ethnicity  

Waterloo Cedar Falls 

Owner 

Households 

Renter 

Households 

Home-

ownership 

Rate 

Owner 

Households 

Renter 

Households 

Home-

ownership 

Rate 

Non-Hispanic 

White 14463 6,449 69.2% 9,225 5,233 63.8% 

Black 1638 3,443 32.2% 35 141 19.9% 

Asian 244 290 45.7% 249 189 56.8% 

Native American 60 51 54.1% 5 55 8.3% 

2+ Races 565 411 57.9% 88 155 36.2% 

Other 230 315 42.2% 9 14 39.1% 

Hispanic 812 899 47.5% 64 222 22.4% 

Total 18,012 11,858 60.3% 9,675 6,009 61.7% 

Note: Data presented are number of households, not individuals.  

Source: 2018-2022 American Community Survey, Table S2502 

268

Item 3.



117 

FIGURE 36 – SHARE OF HOUSEHOLDS THAT ARE HOMEOWNERS IN THE WATERLOO-

CEDAR FALLS HOME CONSORTIUM 
 

 

Source: 2018-2022 American Community Survey, Table DP05 

269

Item 3.



118 

Mortgage Lending 

Prospective homebuyers need access to mortgage credit, and programs that offer 

homeownership should be available without discrimination. The proceeding data and 

analysis assesses the degree to which the housing needs of local residents are being met 

by home loan lenders.  

The Home Mortgage Disclosure Act of 1975 (HMDA) requires most mortgage lending 

institutions to disclose detailed information about their home-lending activities annually. 

The objectives of the HMDA include ensuring that borrowers and loan applicants are 

receiving fair treatment in the home loan market. HMDA data, which is provided by the 

Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC), includes the type, purpose, and 

characteristics of each home mortgage application that lenders receive during the 

calendar year. It also includes additional data related to those applications including 

loan pricing information, action taken, property location (by census tract), and 

information about loan applicants such as sex, race, ethnicity, and income. For the 

analysis below, the column labeled “Other” represents Native American applicants, 

whose application numbers tend to be small, concurrent with their share of the 

population; as well as applicants of other or 2+ races and applicants whose race was 

not listed.  

The source for this analysis is 2022 tract-level HMDA data for census tracts Black Hawk 

County. Within each record, some data variables are 100% reported: “Loan Type,” “Loan 

Amount,” and “Action Taken,” for example, but other data fields are less complete. 

According to the HMDA data, these records represent applications taken entirely by 

mail, Internet, or phone in which the applicant declined to identify their sex, race and/or 

ethnicity. Missing race, ethnicity, and sex data are potentially problematic for an 

assessment of discrimination. Records where race/ethnicity information was not provided 

by the applicant in a mail, internet or telephone application have been omitted, as have 

applications where no applicant income was included, resulting in a total of 1,937 

assessed applications. 

Table 15 shows the resulting analysis for mortgage application denial rates by race, 

ethnicity, and income level. Among these categories, the highest denial rates were 

among low- and mid-income Asian and Pacific Islander residents, followed by high-

income Black residents. Notably, while denial rates typically decrease as income 

increases, high-income Black residents were denied at higher rates than low- and mid-

income Black residents; however, as only 13 mid-income and 11 high-income 

applications by Black residents were recorded, this rate may be skewed due to small 

sample size.   

When disregarding income levels and assessing only by race and ethnicity, Asian and 

Pacific Islander residents experienced the highest denial rates, followed by residents of 

other races and then by Black residents.  These three categories experienced denial rates 

more than double those of Hispanic residents.  When disregarding race and ethnicity and 

assessing only by income level, approval rates consistently increase with income. 

Initial application rates also vary significantly by race and ethnicity – most notably, Black 

applicants made up only 4.9% of all assessed applicants despite making up 10% of the 

population in Black Hawk County. In contrast, Asian and Pacific Islander applicants made 

270

Item 3.



119 

up 3.6% of all assessed applicants, which is double the rate of their 1.8% population share 

in the County.  Hispanic residents also applied for mortgages at rates higher than their 

population share, comprising 5.7% of applicants and 3.6% of the population.  White 

residents applied at rates slightly lower than their population share, at 74.3% and 82.2% 

respectively. 

Table 16 shows denial reasons provided by race, ethnicity, and income level.  The most 

common denial reason provided was debt-to-income ratio, accounting for nearly 30% 

of all denials, followed by a poor credit history at 22% and a lack of collateral at 13%. A 

total of seven applications, or 8% were denied with no reason provided, five of which 

were from white applicants, one from an Asian or Pacific Islander applicant, and one 

from a Hispanic applicant. No applications were denied for reasons of mortgage 

insurance denial, but all other denial reasons were recorded in at least three cases. 

TABLE 15 – HOME PURCHASE LOAN APPROVAL RATES IN BLACK HAWK COUNTY BY 

RACE AND ETHNICITY, 2022 

 

Applicant Income 

Applicant Race and Ethnicity 

All 

Applicants 
Non-Latino 

Latino/ 

Hispanic White Black Asian/PI 
Other 

/NA 

Low 

Income 

Completed 

Applications 
768 71 40 103 77 1,059 

Denial Rate 4.17% 8.45% 12.50% 13.59% 3.90% 5.67% 

Middle 

Income 

Completed 

Applications 
323 13 17 51 19 423 

Denial Rate 2.17% 7.69% 11.76% 5.88% 0.00% 3.07% 

High 

Income 

Completed 

Applications 
350 11 13 66 15 455 

Denial Rate 1.71% 9.09% 7.69% 3.03% 6.67% 2.42% 

All 

Applicants 

Completed 

Applications 
1,441 95 70 220 111 1,937 

Denial Rate 3.12% 8.42% 11.43% 8.64% 3.60% 4.34% 

Note: Applications in which no income information was listed were excluded. 

Data Source: FFIEC 2022 Home Mortgage Disclosure Act Data, Accessed via  https://ffiec.cfpb.gov/data-

browser/data/2022?category=counties&items=19013 

271

Item 3.



120 

TABLE 16 – HOME PURCHASE LOAN DENIAL REASONS IN BLACK HAWK COUNTY BY RACE AND ETHNICITY, 2022 

Note: Applications in which no income information was listed were excluded. 

Data Source: FFIEC 2022 Home Mortgage Disclosure Act Data, Accessed via  https://ffiec.cfpb.gov/data-

browser/data/2022?category=counties&items=19013 

 Collateral 

Credit 

App. 

Incomp. 

Credit 

History 

Debt-to-

Income 

Ratio 

Employment 

History 

Insufficient Cash 

(Down payment, 

Closing Costs) 

Mortgage 

Insurance 

Denied 

Other/ 

No 

Reason 

Listed 

Unverifiable 

Information 
TOTAL 

White 

Low income 3 1 6 9 3 2 0 3 6 33 

Middle income 1 1 3 1 0 0 0 1 0 7 

High income 0 2 1 2 0 0 0 1 0 6 

Black 

Low income 0 0 1 2 0 3 0 0 0 6 

Middle income 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 

High income 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Asian/PI 

Low income 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 5 

Middle income 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 2 

High income 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Other 

Low income 0 6 4 4 0 0 0 0 0 14 

Middle income 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 

High income 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Hispanic 

Low income 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 

Middle income 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

High income 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

TOTAL 11 10 19 26 3 5 0 7 6 87 

272

Item 3.



121 

ZONING, AFFORDABILITY, AND HOUSING 

CHOICE 

Comprehensive land use planning is a critical process by which communities address a 

myriad of public policy issues such as housing, transportation, health, recreation, 

environmental protection, commercial and retail services, and land values, and address 

how the interconnection and complexity of these issues can ultimately impact the entire 

municipality. “The land use decisions made by a community shape its very character – 

what it’s like to walk through, what it’s like to drive through, who lives in it, what kinds of 

jobs and businesses exist in it, how well the natural environment survives, and whether the 

community is an attractive one or an ugly one.”33 Likewise, decisions regarding land use 

and zoning have a direct and profound impact on affordable housing and fair housing 

choice, shaping a community or region’s potential diversity, growth, and opportunity for 

all. Zoning determines where housing can be built, the type of housing that is allowed, 

and the amount and density of housing that can be provided. Zoning also can directly 

or indirectly affect the cost of developing housing, making it harder or easier to 

accommodate affordable housing. The following sections will explore how the zoning 

and land use codes in Waterloo and Cedar Falls impact housing affordability and fair 

housing choice.  

Local Zoning Ordinance Review  

The Federal Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1989 prohibits discrimination in housing 

based on race, color, sex, religion, national origin, disability, and familial status. The Iowa 

Civil Rights Act (Iowa Code 216) prohibits housing discrimination based on race, color, 

sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, religion, national origin, mental disability, physical 

disability, and familial status34. The Fair Housing Act, in particular, takes precedence over 

local and state laws. Therefore, where conflicts arise between local laws and the Fair 

Housing Act, those instances will be indicated below. Although comprehensive plans and 

zoning and land use codes play an important role in regulating the health and safety of 

the structural environment, overly restrictive codes can negatively impact housing 

affordability and fair housing choice within a jurisdiction. Examples of zoning provisions 

that most commonly result in barriers to fair housing choice include:  

• Restrictive forms of land use that exclude any specific form of housing, 

particularly multi-family housing, or that require large lot sizes or low-density that 

deter affordable housing development by limiting its economic feasibility; 

• Restrictive definitions of family that impede unrelated individuals from sharing a 

dwelling unit; 

 

 

33 John M. Levy. Contemporary Urban Planning, Eighth Edition. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall, 

2009. 

34 Iowa Civil Rights Commission. Fair Housing Know Your Rights. 

https://icrc.iowa.gov/sites/default/files/publications/2019/IowaCivilRightsCommission_fair%20housing_PRIN

T_0.pdf 

273

Item 3.



122 

• Placing administrative and siting constraints on group homes for persons with 

disabilities; 

• Restrictions making it difficult for residents with disabilities to locate housing in 

certain neighborhoods or to modify their housing; 

• Restrictions on occupancy of alternative sources of affordable housing such as 

accessory dwellings, mobile homes, and mixed-use structures. 

 

The treatment of these issues in Waterloo and Cedar Falls is explored in Table 17 below.  

Because zoning codes present a crucial area of analysis for a study of impediments to 

fair housing choice, the latest available zoning and land use ordinances of each 

jurisdiction were reviewed and evaluated against a list of ten common fair housing issues. 

Taken together, these issues give a picture of (1) the degree to which exclusionary zoning 

provisions may impact affordable housing opportunities within the jurisdiction and (2) the 

degree to which the zoning code may impact housing opportunities for persons with 

disabilities. The zoning ordinances were assigned a risk score of either 1, 2, or 3 for each 

of the ten issues and was then given an aggregate score calculated by averaging the 

individual scores, with the possible scores defined as follows: 

1 = low risk – the provision poses little risk for discrimination or limitation of fair housing 

choice, or is an affirmative action that intentionally promotes and/or protects 

affordable housing and fair housing choice; 

2 = medium risk – the provision is neither among the most permissive nor most 

restrictive; while it could complicate fair housing choice, its effect is not likely to be 

widespread; 

3 = high risk – the provision causes or has potential to result in systematic and 

widespread housing discrimination or the limitation of fair housing choice or is an 

issue for which the jurisdiction could take affirmative action to further affordable 

housing or fair housing choice but has not. 

The zoning code review presented below is a limited analysis of the codes of the 

individual members of the Consortium; a comprehensive review of these codes is beyond 

the scope of this report. As with any zoning measures, the codes of these municipalities 

likely have fair housing implications or warrant further analysis, as proposed in the 

recommendations at the conclusion of this report.  

The restriction of housing choice for certain historically/socio-economically 

disadvantaged groups and protected classes can happen in any number of ways and 

should be viewed on a continuum. The zoning analysis matrix developed for this report 

and the narrative below are not designed to assert whether each jurisdiction’s code 

creates a per se violation of the FHA or HUD regulations, but are meant as a tool to 

highlight significant areas where zoning and land use ordinances may otherwise 

jeopardize the spirit and intent of fair housing protections and HUD’s AFFH standards for 

its entitlement communities. 

The issues chosen for discussion show where zoning ordinances and policies could go 

further to protect fair housing choice for protected and disadvantaged classes, and yet 

still fulfill the zoning objective of protecting the public’s health, safety, and general 

welfare. Specifically, the issues highlighted by the matrix inform, first, the degree to which 

274

Item 3.



123 

the zoning ordinance may be overly restrictive and exclusionary to the point of artificially 

limiting the affordable housing inventory and directly contributing to higher housing and 

rental costs. And secondly, the matrix helps inform the impact the local regulations may 

have on housing opportunities for persons with disabilities, a protected class under state 

and federal fair housing law. The following chart lists the ten issues reviewed and the 

scores for each issue.  

 

 

TABLE 17 – ZONING CODE RISK SCORES 
 

  Waterloo 
Cedar 

Falls 

Issue Score Score 

1a. Does the jurisdiction’s definition of “family” have the effect of 

preventing unrelated individuals from sharing the same residence? Is the 

definition unreasonably restrictive? 

 

1b. Does the definition of “family” discriminate against or treat 

differently unrelated individuals with disabilities (or members of any other 

protected class)? 

1 1 

2a. Does the zoning code treat housing for individuals with disabilities 

(e.g., group homes, congregate living homes, supportive services 

housing, personal care homes, etc.) differently from other single family 

residential and multifamily residential uses? For example, is such housing 

only allowed in certain residential districts, must a special or conditional 

use permit be granted before siting such housing in certain residential 

districts, etc.? 

 

2b. Does the zoning ordinance unreasonably restrict housing 

opportunities for individuals with disabilities who require onsite supportive 

services? Or is housing for individuals with disabilities allowed in the same 

manner as other housing in residential districts? 

2 1 

3a. Do the jurisdiction’s policies, regulations, and/or zoning ordinances 

provide a process for persons with disabilities to seek reasonable 

modifications or reasonable accommodations to zoning, land use, or 

other regulatory requirements? 

 

3b. Does the jurisdiction require a public hearing to obtain public input 

for specific exceptions to zoning and land-use rules for applicants with 

disabilities? If so, is the public hearing process only required for 

applicants seeking housing for persons with disabilities or required for all 

applicants? 

1 1 

4. Does the ordinance impose spacing or dispersion requirements on 

certain protected housing types? 
2 2 

5. Does the jurisdiction restrict any inherently residential uses protected 

by fair housing laws (such as residential substance abuse treatment 

facilities) only to non-residential zones? 

3 3 

275

Item 3.



124 

6a. Does the jurisdiction’s zoning and land use rules constitute 

exclusionary zoning that precludes development of affordable or low-

income housing by imposing unreasonable residential design 

regulations (such as high minimum lot sizes, wide street frontages, large 

setbacks, low FARs, large minimum building square footage or large 

livable floor areas, restrictions on number of bedrooms per unit, and/or 

low maximum building heights)? 

2 2 

7. Does the zoning ordinance fail to provide residential districts where 

multi-family housing is permitted as of right? Are multifamily dwellings 

excluded from all single-family dwelling districts? 

 

7b. Do multi-family districts restrict development only to low-density 

housing types? 

1 1 

8. Are unreasonable restrictions placed on the construction, rental, or 

occupancy of alternative types of affordable or low-income housing 

(for example, accessory dwellings or mobile/manufactured homes)? 

1 1 

9a. Are the jurisdiction’s design and construction requirements (as 

contained in the zoning ordinance or building code)congruent with the 

Fair Housing Amendments Act’s accessibility standards for design and 

construction? 

 

9b. Is there any provision for monitoring compliance? 

2 2 

10. Does the zoning ordinance include an inclusionary zoning provision 

or provide any incentives for the development of affordable housing or 

housing for protected classes? 

2 2 

Average Risk Score 1.7 1.6 

 

In Table 17 above, the City of Cedar Falls had the lowest zoning code risk score of the 

two jurisdictions (1.6). Waterloo had a slightly higher zoning code risk score of 1.7. 

Questions 1a and 1b in the table inquire about each jurisdiction’s definition of family. 

The City of Waterloo defines “family” as one or more persons occupying a single 

dwelling unit, provided that all members are related by blood, marriage, or adoption. 

Additionally, no such family can contain over four persons. However, there is an 

exception for children under foster care or exchange students. The City of Cedar Falls 

also has a somewhat restrictive definition for “family” to include only members of a 

household that are related by blood, marriage, or adoption; and not more than four 

cohabitants not so related.35 Between the two jurisdictions, Waterloo has the more 

permissive definition of “family,” which includes related as well as some limited 

inclusions of unrelated individuals. However, Cedar Falls allows for some larger-sized 

households of unrelated individuals, namely small group homes (up to 9 individuals 

living together), to exist in single-family, residential districts, essentially allowing them to 

bypass the city’s otherwise restrictive definition of family.  Zoning codes commonly 

define family to include individuals with relationships based on consanguinity or 

 

 

35 The City of Cedar Falls. Code of Ordinances, February 2024. Retrieved from 

https://library.municode.com/ia/cedar_falls/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=10264  

276

Item 3.

https://library.municode.com/ia/cedar_falls/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=10264


125 

marriage, i.e., parents and children, or married couples and their in-laws. Zoning codes 

also tend to define “unrelated” or “functional” families that go beyond the traditional 

family structure. Historically, municipalities have imposed more restrictions on 

functional/unrelated families as a way to control density, traffic, and character of a 

neighborhood36. While Cedar Falls and Waterloo contain restrictive definitions of family 

in their zoning code, city staff indicates that neither city regulates nor permits 

occupancy based on these definitions.  

Definitions of “family” and “household” impact how each jurisdiction treats persons with 

disabilities living together in group homes, as discussed in Questions 2a and 2b. The 

Departments of Justice and Housing and Urban Development have jointly established 

that persons with disabilities must be allowed to live together in single-family districts, even 

if they live in group homes. Any definition of “family” or “household” that permits 

unrelated individuals to live together but subjects group homes of the same size to a more 

rigorous review process or prohibits group homes altogether is facially discriminatory.37 

Cedar Falls allows group homes for up to 9 residents by right in both single family and 

multi-family residential districts. However, a group home serving 9 or more unrelated 

residents exceeds the number of unrelated individuals meeting the City’s definition of 

“family” and therefore does not establish a stricter standard than for unrelated persons 

living together without disabilities. City staff from Cedar Falls report that, while the zoning 

code may impose restrictions on unit occupancy, group homes are considered the same 

as any other residential household. The City of Waterloo’s zoning ordinance does not 

specify restrictions on the total number of people allowed to live in group homes, 

however, it does allow individuals who are not related by blood, law, or adoption to still 

live in the same dwelling unit38. Any additional restrictions on housing for persons with 

disabilities may have the effect of limiting fair housing choice for this protected class. 

Particularly, in Waterloo, while individuals in a group home are not required to be related 

to each other, group homes are not allowed in single-family districts and are restricted to 

R-3 multiple residence districts.39  

Questions 3a and 3b inquire about each jurisdiction’s reasonable modification or 

accommodation processes to improve housing accessibility for persons with disabilities. 

While the City of Cedar Falls exempts some common accessibility features from yard 

requirements, neither of the two jurisdictions currently has a comprehensive reasonable 

accommodation process codified in their zoning ordinance. Most jurisdictions do give 

some discretion to staff to allow minor encroachments into the setback, which could 

allow applicants adding exterior modifications to complete an administrative process, 

 

 

36 Cornell Law Faculty Publications, “Zoning for Families”. Retrieved from: 

https://scholarship.law.cornell.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2823&context=facpub  
37 Department of Justice and the Department of Housing and Urban Development. (November 2016) “State 

and Local Land Use Laws and Practices and the Application of the Fair Housing Act,” p.7-8. 

https://www.justice.gov/crt/page/file/909956/download  

38 https://cms6.revize.com/revize/waterloo/document_center/Planning/Zoning%20Ord%205079%2009-04-

18.pdf . (page 12). 

39 https://cms6.revize.com/revize/waterloo/document_center/Planning/Zoning%20Ord%205079%2009-04-

18.pdf. (page 49).  

277

Item 3.

https://scholarship.law.cornell.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2823&context=facpub
https://www.justice.gov/crt/page/file/909956/download
https://cms6.revize.com/revize/waterloo/document_center/Planning/Zoning%20Ord%205079%2009-04-18.pdf
https://cms6.revize.com/revize/waterloo/document_center/Planning/Zoning%20Ord%205079%2009-04-18.pdf


126 

rather than enduring the variance process. The Fair Housing Act does not require 

jurisdictions to adopt reasonable accommodation processes, but strongly encourages 

this practice for the benefit of local government staff and the public.40 City staff from 

Cedar Falls indicated that an accommodations process currently exists for residents who 

request it, however publishing or codifying the process could increase transparency and 

better ensure it is applied evenly.  

Question 4 addresses spacing requirements on group homes, which are considered 

protected housing types. Cedar Falls considers group homes (less than 9 individuals) to 

be equal to single-family households and are thus allowed in single-unit residential 

districts. Further, Cedar Falls defines group homes as per Iowa state law which defines 

group homes as including “elder family homes, elder group homes, and family care 

homes. Large group care facilities that provide housing for nine or more individuals are 

considered Group Living Uses.” However, group homes are not allowed in single family 

residential districts in Waterloo, they are restricted to R-3 multiple residence districts.  

Question 5 explores each jurisdiction’s zoning requirements for residential substance 

abuse treatment facilities. Persons in recovery from alcohol or substance abuse are 

considered persons with disabilities under the Fair Housing Act.41 The Act therefore 

requires housing for persons in recovery to be treated in the same manner as other 

persons with disabilities. Cedar Falls omits any reference to housing for persons in 

recovery. This omission is compounded by additional ordinances, such as Section 26-141 

in Cedar Fall’s ordinance which defines treatment facilities as any health care facility 

providing either or both inpatient or outpatient therapy for substance abuse, mental 

illness, or other behavioral problems. Health care facilities are limited to districts for civic 

and institutional use. Therefore, the omission of this type as a permitted use in any 

residential district has the effect of prohibiting this use. In Waterloo, group homes are 

allowed in multiple residence districts and is further defined to include substance abuse 

facilities and juvenile centers. However, Waterloo’s ordinance further states that these 

facilities and centers may not include a bed and breakfast, boarding or lodging house, 

rooming house, or halfway (rehabilitation) house, as such terms may be defined in this 

Ordinance42. 

Academic and market research have proven what also is intuitive: land use regulations 

can directly limit the supply of housing units within a given jurisdiction, and thus contribute 

to making housing more expensive, i.e. less affordable.43 Exclusionary zoning is 

 

 

40 Ibid., p. 17 

41 Ibid., p. 7 

42 https://cms6.revize.com/revize/waterloo/document_center/Planning/Zoning%20Ord%205079%2009-04-

18.pdf. (Page 12).  

43 Gyourko, Joseph, Albert Saiz, and Anita A. Summers (2007) “A New Measure of the Local Regulatory 

Environment for Housing Markets: The Wharton Residential Land Use Regulatory Index,” 

real.wharton.upenn.edu; Randal O’Toole. (2006) “The Planning Penalty: How Smart Growth Makes Housing 

Unaffordable,” at independent.org/pdf/policy_reports/2006-04-03-housing.pdf; Edward L. Glaeser and 

 

 

278

Item 3.

https://cms6.revize.com/revize/waterloo/document_center/Planning/Zoning%20Ord%205079%2009-04-18.pdf
https://cms6.revize.com/revize/waterloo/document_center/Planning/Zoning%20Ord%205079%2009-04-18.pdf


127 

understood to mean zoning regulations which impose unreasonable residential design 

regulations that are not congruent with the actual standards necessary to protect the 

health and safety of current average household sizes and prevent overcrowding. Zoning 

policies that impose barriers to housing development by making developable land and 

construction costlier than they are inherently can take different forms and may include: 

high minimum lot sizes, low density allowances, wide street frontages, large setbacks, low 

floor area ratios, large minimum building square footage or large livable floor areas, 

restrictions on number of bedrooms per unit, low maximum building heights, restrictions 

against infill development, restrictions on the types of housing that may be constructed 

in certain residential zones, arbitrary or antiquated historic preservation standards, 

minimum off-street parking requirements, restrictions against residential conversions to 

multi-unit buildings, lengthy permitting processes, development impact fees, and/or 

restrictions on accessory dwelling units. 

The Brookings Institution has found that “on roughly 75% of land in most cities today, it is 

illegal to build anything except single-family detached houses. The origins of single-family 

zoning in America are not benign: Many housing codes used density as a proxy for 

separating people by income and race.”44 Although today it may be difficult to prove 

that a zoning ordinance’s preference for single family zoning is facially (or intentionally) 

discriminatory in direct violation of fair housing laws, such land use regulations still may 

have the effect of artificially limiting the supply of housing units in a given area and 

disproportionately reducing housing choice for moderate to low-income families, 

minorities, persons with disabilities on fixed incomes, families with children, and other 

protected classes by making the development of affordable housing cost prohibitive. 

Legitimate public objectives, such as maintaining the residential character of established 

neighborhoods, environmental protection, or public health, must be balanced with 

housing needs and availability. 

Looking at other regulatory barriers, Questions 6 and 7 inquire about exclusionary zoning 

tactics impose unreasonable design regulations or preclude the development of housing 

types that serve a variety of protected classes. Cedar Falls allows multifamily residential 

uses by right in several residential districts. Looking specifically at multifamily zoning 

districts, Cedar Falls has permissive setbacks, lot sizes and building minimums as long as 

the design standards meet the neighborhood medium frontage which is intended to fit 

comfortably into an existing neighborhood context that still allows for a slightly increased 

scale and intensity. Both Waterloo and Cedar Falls provide for zoning districts where low, 

medium, and high-density residential uses are permitted. In Waterloo, the R-3 multiple 

residence district allows for one- and two-family residential uses, 

multiple/condominium/row dwellings, group homes, mobile home parks, and alterations 

and conversions of single family/two family/multiple family dwellings into two 

 

 

Joseph Gyourko. (2002) “The Impact of Zoning on Housing Affordability,” 

law.yale.edu/system/files/documents/pdf/hier1948.pdf; The White House’s Housing Development Toolkit, 

2016, available at 

whitehouse.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/images/Housing_Development_Toolkit%20f.2.pdf. 

44 Baca, Alex. (December 4, 2019) “Gentle” Density Can Save Our Neighborhoods,” 

https://www.brookings.edu/research/gentle-density-can-save-our-neighborhoods. 

279

Item 3.



128 

family/multiple family dwellings, boarding and lodging houses, rooming houses, or bed 

and breakfasts. These conversions will only be allowed in accordance with the lot area 

and frontage and yard requirements. The R-4 multiple residence district permits any uses 

from the R-2 and R-3 districts in addition to professional offices45.  

Another way to improve access to housing for protected classes is through the provision 

of alternative housing types, such as accessory dwelling units and mobile/manufactured 

homes. These housing types are observed in Question 8. Cedar Falls permits the use of 

accessory dwelling units for owner-occupied attached and detached single-unit 

dwellings. However, both Cedar Falls and Waterloo have several restrictions on the use 

of mobile homes and mobile home parks. Waterloo only allows mobile homes in mobile 

home parks. Waterloo makes one exception in that “one (1) mobile home may be 

placed on a farm eighty (80) acres or larger in addition to an existing permanent dwelling 

provided that occupant of said mobile home is active in the conduct of agricultural 

operation of said farm46”.  

Questions 9 and 10 complete the regulatory review, inquiring about building codes and 

inclusionary zoning policies. Cedar Falls uses the 2015 International Building Code, while 

Waterloo utilizes the 2021 International Building Code. Both building codes are compliant 

with the Fair Housing Act. Monitoring compliance with these codes is not required but is 

a good practice for ensuring safe and accessible housing products. Lastly, Waterloo and 

Cedar Falls do not currently have any inclusionary zoning incentives or provisions listed in 

the zoning code. Targeted planned developments would benefit from reduced 

minimum lot areas, lot widths, lot depths, and setbacks, as well as increased height 

allowances and modifications to the city’s landscaping and off-street parking restrictions. 

Local Fair Housing Ordinances 

Both jurisdictions have adopted fair housing ordinances or ordinances on unlawful 

housing practices, which prohibit housing discrimination practices within the jurisdiction 

(see Waterloo Article A. Fair Housing; Cedar Falls Article I. Human Rights Commission).  

The City of Waterloo’s ordinance prohibits the following activities explicitly47:  

A.   To refuse to sell, rent, lease, assign, sublease, refuse to negotiate, or to otherwise 

make unavailable, or deny any real property or dwelling or part, portion or interest 

therein, to any person because of the race, color, creed, sex, sexual orientation, 

gender identity, religion, national origin, disability, or familial status of such person. 

   B.   To discriminate against any person because of the person's race, color, creed, sex, 

sexual orientation, gender identity, religion, national origin, disability, or familial status, in 

the terms, conditions or privileges of the sale, rental, lease, assignment or sublease of 

any real property or dwelling or any part, portion or interest in the real property or 

 

 

45 https://cms6.revize.com/revize/waterloo/document_center/Planning/Zoning%20Ord%205079%2009-04-

18.pdf. (Pages 45-53) 

46 https://cms6.revize.com/revize/waterloo/document_center/Planning/Zoning%20Ord%205079%2009-04-

18.pdf. (Page 154).  

47 https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/waterlooia/latest/waterloo_ia/0-0-0-3838  

280

Item 3.

https://cms6.revize.com/revize/waterloo/document_center/Planning/Zoning%20Ord%205079%2009-04-18.pdf
https://cms6.revize.com/revize/waterloo/document_center/Planning/Zoning%20Ord%205079%2009-04-18.pdf
https://cms6.revize.com/revize/waterloo/document_center/Planning/Zoning%20Ord%205079%2009-04-18.pdf
https://cms6.revize.com/revize/waterloo/document_center/Planning/Zoning%20Ord%205079%2009-04-18.pdf
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/waterlooia/latest/waterloo_ia/0-0-0-3838


129 

dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in connection with the real property 

or dwelling. 

   C.   To directly or indirectly advertise, or in any other manner indicate or publicize that 

the purchase, rental, lease, assignment, or sublease of any real property or dwelling or 

any part, portion or interest therein, by persons of any particular race, color, creed, sex, 

sexual orientation, gender identity, religion, national origin, disability, or familial status is 

unwelcome, objectionable, not acceptable, or not solicited. 

   D.   To discriminate against the lessee or purchaser of any real property or dwelling or 

part, portion or interest of the real property or dwelling, or against any prospective 

lessee or purchaser of the property or dwelling, because of the race, color, creed, 

religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, age or national origin of 

persons who may from time to time be present in or on the lessee's or owner's premises 

for lawful purposes at the invitation of the lessee or owner as friends, guests, visitors, 

relatives or in any similar capacity. 

   E.   To induce or attempt to induce a person to sell or rent a dwelling by 

representations regarding the entry or prospective entry into a neighborhood of a 

person of a particular race, color, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, 

religion, national origin, disability, or familial status. 

   F.   To represent to any person of a particular race, color, creed, sex, sexual 

orientation, gender identity, religion, national origin, disability, or familial status that a 

dwelling is not available for inspection, sale, or rental when the dwelling is available for 

inspection, sale, or rental. (Ord. 4891, 11-13-2007) 

   G.   To discriminate in the sale or rental, or otherwise make unavailable or deny a 

dwelling, to a buyer or renter because of a disability of: 

      1.   That buyer or renter; 

      2.   A person residing in or intending to reside in that dwelling after it is sold, rented, 

or made available; or 

      3.   A person associated with that buyer or renter. 

   H.   To discriminate against another person in the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale 

or rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in connection with the 

dwelling, because of a disability of: 

      1.   That person; 

      2.   A person residing in or intending to reside in that dwelling after it is sold, rented, 

or made available; or 

      3.   A person associated with that person. 

   I.   To refuse to permit, at the expense of the person with a disability, reasonable 

modifications of existing premises occupied or to be occupied by the person if the 

modifications are necessary to afford the person full enjoyment of the premises. In the 

case of a rental, a landlord may, where reasonable to do so, condition permission for a 

modification on the renter's agreement to restore the interior of the premises to the 

condition that existed before the modification, reasonable wear and tear excepted. 

281

Item 3.



130 

   J.   To refuse to make reasonable accommodations in rules, policies, practices, or 

services when the accommodations are necessary to afford the person with a disability 

equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling. 

   K.   In connection with the design and construction of covered multi-family dwellings 

for first occupancy after March 13, 1991, to fail to design and construct those dwellings 

in a manner that meets the following requirements: 

      1.   The public use and common use portions of the dwellings are readily accessible 

to and usable by persons with disabilities. 

      2.   All doors designed to allow passage into and within all premises within the 

dwellings are sufficiently wide to allow passage by persons in wheelchairs. 

      3.   All premises within the dwellings contain the following features of adaptive 

design: 

         a.   An accessible route into and through the dwelling; 

         b.   Light switches, electrical outlets, thermostats, and other environmental controls 

in accessible locations; 

         c.   Reinforcements in bathroom walls to allow later installation of grab bars; and 

         d.   Usable kitchens and bathrooms such that a person in a wheelchair can 

maneuver about the space. 

The City of Cedar Falls has established a Human Rights Commission in conformance with 

the Iowa Civil Rights Act, “to declare a public policy of nondiscrimination in the city, to 

cooperate in the claims process with the Iowa Civil Rights Commission and to provide for 

educational programs to prevent and eliminate discrimination in the city,” (See Section 

12-1).  

The Commission’s duties include the following: 

(1) Provide intake assistance for complaints from individuals who may be victims of 

discrimination and refer such complaints to the Iowa Civil Rights Commission for 

investigation and adjudication. 

(2) Investigate and study the existence, character, causes, extent, and effects of 

discrimination in public accommodations, employment, apprenticeship programs, on-

the-job training programs, educational curricula programs and housing in this city, and 

to attempt to eliminate such discrimination by education. 

(3) Promote equal opportunity in all areas of city government. The commission shall 

request and obtain such cooperation, assistance and data from city departments as 

may be reasonably necessary to carry out its work. 

(4) Formulate and carry out an educational program designed to prevent and 

eliminate discrimination. 

(5) Adopt such rules and regulations as may be necessary to govern, expedite and 

effectuate the provisions of this article. 

(6) Render to the city council, not less than once a year, a written report of its activities 

and recommendations. 

282

Item 3.



131 

(7) Cooperate with federal, state, regional, county and city agencies, citizens, citizen 

organizations, the board of education and private schools in formulating and 

developing courses of education to accomplish the objectives of this article. 

In carrying out its duties under this article the commission shall further the city's public 

policy of nondiscrimination in the city on the basis of race, age, creed, color, sex, 

national origin, religion, ancestry, disability, familial status, sexual orientation, or gender 

identity. 

(Ord. No. 2977, § 1, 1-4-2021) 

Neither Waterloo nor Cedar Falls identify how these ordinances are administered or 

enforced in their given sections. However, county or state ordinances provide more 

robust response to fair housing complaints. For example, the Iowa Civil Rights Commission 

receives, investigates, and resolves complaints regarding discrimination in the areas of 

employment, housing, public accommodations, credit, and education48.  

Nuisance Ordinances 

A 2017 lawsuit filed against the City of Maplewood, MO alleged that Maplewood used 

its nuisance ordinance to penalize residents for making multiple police calls. In the lawsuit, 

a former Maplewood resident stated that her occupancy permit, which allowed her to 

live in the city, was revoked after she made four calls to the police between September 

2011 and February 2012. The plaintiff’s calls were distress calls made in response to 

domestic abuse perpetrated by her boyfriend. An ACLU article reported that city officials 

were aware of the repeated domestic abuse but chose to revoke her occupancy permit 

for 180 days, forcing her to leave the city. In 2018, the city of Maplewood settled with the 

plaintiff and changed its nuisance laws to exclude any persons calling the law 

enforcement as victims of a crime.49 

Nuisance ordinances in Waterloo and Cedar Falls are not generally as punitive as those 

in Maplewood. Cedar Falls’ nuisance ordinance (see Chapter 15, Article I.) defines 

certain acts and conditions declared as nuisances as “whatever is injurious to the 

senses or an obstruction to the free use of property so as essentially to interfere with the 

comfortable enjoyment of life or property by the public or community”. Waterloo’s 

nuisance ordinance (see Chapter 2 sections 4-2-1 through 4-2-6), includes general 

property maintenance issues, corruption, or obstruction of natural bodies of water, 

obstruction of public roads/streets, etc. On the whole, public nuisances identified by 

the local ordinances cover common property maintenance issues.  

  

 

 

48 Iowa Civil Rights Commission. Fair Housing Know Your Rights. Retrieved from 

https://icrc.iowa.gov/sites/default/files/publications/2019/IowaCivilRightsCommission_fair%20housing_PRIN

T_0.pdf  

49 ACLU. (April 10, 2017) “Rosetta Watson v. Maplewood.” https://www.aclu.org/cases/rosetta-watson-v-

maplewood 

283

Item 3.

https://icrc.iowa.gov/sites/default/files/publications/2019/IowaCivilRightsCommission_fair%20housing_PRINT_0.pdf
https://icrc.iowa.gov/sites/default/files/publications/2019/IowaCivilRightsCommission_fair%20housing_PRINT_0.pdf


132 

CHAPTER 7. 

PUBLICLY 

SUPPORTED HOUSING 
Publicly supported housing encompasses several strategies and programs developed 

since the 1930s by the federal government to ameliorate housing hardships that exist in 

neighborhoods throughout the country. The introduction and mass implementation of 

slum clearance to construct public housing projects during the mid-1900s signified the 

beginning of publicly supported housing programs. Government-owned and managed 

public housing was an attempt to alleviate problems found in low-income 

neighborhoods such as overcrowding, substandard housing, and unsanitary conditions. 

Once thought of as a solution, the intense concentration of poverty in public housing 

projects often exacerbated negative conditions that would have lasting and profound 

impact on their communities. 

Improving on public housing’s model of high-density, fixed-site dwellings for very low-

income households, publicly supported housing programs have since evolved into a 

more multi-faceted approach overseen by local housing agencies. The Housing and 

Community Development Act of 1974 created Section 8 rental assistance programs. 

Section 8, now referred to as the Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) program, provides two 

types of housing vouchers to subsidize rent for low-income households: project-based 

and tenant-based. Project-based vouchers can be applied to fixed housing units in 

scattered site locations while tenant-based vouchers allow recipients the opportunity to 

find and help pay for available rental housing on the private market.  

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 created the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) program 

to incentivize development of affordable, rental-housing development. Funds are 

distributed to state housing finance agencies that award tax credits to qualified projects 

to subsidize development costs. Other HUD Programs including Section 811 and Section 

202 also provide funding to develop multifamily rental housing specifically for disabled 

and elderly populations.  

The now-defunct HOPE VI program was introduced in the early 1990s to revitalize and 

rebuild dilapidated public housing projects and create mixed-income communities. 

Although HOPE VI achieved some important successes, the Choice Neighborhoods 

Initiative program was developed to improve on the lessons learned from HOPE VI. The 

284

Item 3.



133 

scope of Choice Neighborhoods spans beyond housing and addresses employment 

access, education quality, public safety, health, and recreation.50 

Current publicly supported housing programs signify a general shift in ideology toward 

more comprehensive community investment and de-concentration of poverty. 

However, studies have shown a tendency for subsidized low-income housing 

developments and residents utilizing housing vouchers to continue to cluster in 

disadvantaged, low-income neighborhoods. Programmatic rules and the point 

allocation systems for LIHTC are thought to play a role in this clustering and recent years 

have seen many states revising their allocation formulas to discourage this pattern in new 

developments.51 The reasons for clustering of HCVs is more complicated since factors in 

decision-making vary greatly by individual household. However, there are indications 

that proximity to social networks, difficulties searching for housing, and perceived or 

actual discrimination contribute to clustering.52 This section will review the current supply 

and occupancy characteristics of publicly supported housing types and its geographic 

distribution across the region.  

SUPPLY AND OCCUPANCY 

Low-income residents in the consortium receive publicly supported housing assistance 

from the Housing Authorities of Waterloo and Cedar Falls. Together, these authorities 

manage a total of 1,415 Housing Choice Vouchers, 912 Project-Based Section 8 units, 

and 50 Public Housing units, as shown in Table 18.  The consortium does not have any 

Section 202 or Section 811 units. 

 

 

  

 

 

50 Department of Housing and Urban Development. Evidence Matters: Transforming Knowledge Into Housing 

and Community Development Policy. 2011. www.huduser.gov/portal/periodicals/em/EM-

newsletter_FNL_web.pdf. 

51 Dawkins, Casey J. Exploring the Spatial Distribution of Low Income Housing Tax Credit Properties. US 

Department of Housing and Urban Development, 

www.huduser.gov/publications/pdf/dawkins_exploringliht_assistedhousingrcr04.pdf. 

52 Galvez, Martha M. What Do We Know About Housing Choice Voucher Program Location Outcomes? A 

Review of Recent Literature. What Works Collaborative, 2010. 

www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/29176/412218-What-Do-We-Know-About-Housing-Choice-

Voucher-Program-Location-Outcomes-.PDF. 

285

Item 3.



134 

TABLE 18 – UNITS BY PUBLIC HOUSING AUTHORITY 

 

Source: APSH 2023 data 

 

Table 19 shows the residents of publicly supported housing in the three counties by race 

and ethnicity. White residents make up the largest overall share of publicly supported 

housing residents, accounting for about 53% of residents across all three categories.  

White residents also comprise the primary demographic within the individual Public 

Housing and Project-Based Section 8 categories, while Black residents comprise the 

primary demographic within the Housing Choice Voucher program and the second 

largest demographic group within each of the other two categories. Overall, Black 

residents make up nearly 45% of publicly supported housing residents despite accounting 

for just 12% of the consortium’s overall population as of the 2020 Census, indicating a 

disproportionate need for this group. 

 
  

Housing Units 

Public 

Housing 

Units 

Housing Choice 

Vouchers 

Project-Based 

Section 8 Units 

Housing Authority of Waterloo 50 1,091 721 

Housing Authority of Cedar Falls 0 324 191 

TOTAL 50 1,415 912 

286

Item 3.



135 

TABLE 19 – RACE AND ETHNICITY OF PUBLICLY SUPPORTED HOUSING RESIDENTS BY 

PROGRAM CATEGORY IN THE WATERLOO-CEDAR FALLS HOME CONSORTIUM 

 

 
Note: Data presented are number of households, not individuals  

Source: 2023 APSH data 

 

Race/Ethnicity 

Public Housing HCV Program 
Project-Based Section 

8 

# of 

residents 

% of 

residents 

# of 

residents 

% of 

residents 

# of 

residents 

% of 

residents 

White 45 90.0% 490 40.6% 496 71.7% 

Black/African 

American 
5 10.0% 684 56.7% 185 26.7% 

Asian/Pacific Islander 0 0.0% 2 0.2% N/A N/A 

American 

Indian/Alaska Native 
0 0.0% 2 0.2% N/A N/A 

Other 0 0.0% 0 0.0% N/A N/A 

Hispanic/Latino 0 0.0% 28 2.3% 11 1.6% 

TOTAL 50 100.0% 1,206 100.0% 692 100.0% 

287

Item 3.



 

136 

GEOGRAPHY OF SUPPORTED HOUSING 

Figures 37-39 depict the locations of different types of publicly supported housing in 

Waterloo and Cedar Falls (note: census tracts with no recorded publicly supported 

housing units of a given type will appear blank).  Publicly supported housing of all types, 

as depicted in Figure 37, is most prevalent in central and northern Waterloo, as well as 

portions of central Cedar Falls, and least prevalent in southern Cedar Falls and portions 

of eastern and southern Waterloo. 

Figure 38 depicts the locations and concentrations of Housing Choice Vouchers in use 

within the consortium.  By their nature Housing Choice Vouchers are intended to be the 

most widely distributed form of publicly supported housing, as they are intended to allow 

recipients to select their own housing in their preferred neighborhood from any landlord 

who accepts vouchers from the HCV program.  Housing Choice Vouchers are more 

prevalent in Waterloo than in Cedar Falls, with Waterloo having the only three tracts to 

have more than 100 HCV holders each.  In contrast, Waterloo has one tract with no HCV 

holders and four tracts with 10 or fewer HCV holders, while Cedar Falls has two tracts with 

no holders and two tracts with 10 or fewer holders.  Overall, HCV holders are most 

concentrated in the central and eastern portions of Waterloo. 

Figure 39 depicts the locations and concentrations of Project-Based Section 8 units in the 

consortium, which are significantly less widespread than Housing Choice Vouchers.  

Project-Based Section 8 units are most concentrated in areas of central and northeastern 

Waterloo and two census tracts in central Cedar Falls and are completely absent from 

some areas in northern Cedar Falls and southern, eastern, and northern Waterloo.  

Waterloo contains the only census tracts to have more than 100 Project-Based Section 8 

units. 

 

 

  

288

Item 3.



 

137 

FIGURE 37 – DISTRIBUTION OF ALL PUBLICLY SUPPORTED HOUSING TYPES IN THE  

WATERLOO-CEDAR FALLS HOME CONSORTIUM 

 

 

 

Source: APSH data, 2023  

289

Item 3.



 

138 

FIGURE 38 – DISTRIBUTION OF HOUSING CHOICE VOUCHERS IN THE  

WATERLOO-CEDAR FALLS HOME CONSORTIUM 

 

 

Source: APSH data, 2023 

NOTE: Blank tracts have no vouchers in use according to APSH data.  

290

Item 3.



 

139 

FIGURE 39 – DISTRIBUTION OF PROJECT BASED SECTION 8 UNITS IN THE WATERLOO-

CEDAR FALLS HOME CONSORTIUM 

 

 

Source: APSH data, 2023 

NOTE: Blank tracts have no project-based Section 8 units according to APSH data. 

  

291

Item 3.



 

140 

CHAPTER 8. 

FAIR HOUSING 

ACTIVITIES 

FAIR HOUSING COMPLAINTS 

The HUD Office of Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity (FHEO) administers federal laws 

and establishes national policies that ensure that all Americans have equal access to the 

housing of their choice. An individual in Iowa who believes he or she has been the victim 

of an illegal housing practice may file a complaint with the appropriate HUD Regional 

Office of Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity (FHEO) within one year of when the 

discriminatory practice occurred. Typically, when a complaint is filed with FHEO, a case 

is opened and an investigation of the allegations of housing discrimination is initiated. 

During the investigation period, the agency will attempt through mediation to reach 

conciliation between the parties. If no conciliation agreement can be reached, the 

FHEO must prepare a final “Determination” report finding either that there is “reasonable 

cause” to believe that a discriminatory act has occurred or that there is no reasonable 

cause. If the agency finds “reasonable cause,” HUD must issue a “Charge of 

Discrimination.” If the investigator determines that there is no “reasonable cause,” the 

case is dismissed. If a charge is issued, a hearing/trial will be scheduled before an 

administrative law judge. The ALJ may award the aggrieved party injunctive relief, actual 

damages, and impose civil penalties; but unlike federal district court, the ALJ may not 

impose punitive damages. Administrative proceedings are generally more expedited 

than the federal court trial process. The advantages of seeking redress through the 

administrative complaint process are that the DFEH/FHEO takes on the duty, time, and 

cost of investigating the matter for the complainant and conciliation may result in a 

binding settlement. However, the complainant also gives up control of the investigation 

and ultimate findings. 

Housing discrimination claims may be brought against local governments and zoning 

authorities and against private housing providers to protect the housing rights and 

interests of aggrieved individuals and families impacted by discrimination. Local civil 

rights advocacy organizations, such as the Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission and 

the Waterloo Commission on Human Rights, and the State of Iowa, through the Iowa Civil 

Rights Commission (ICRC) may also receive and investigate complaints of housing 

discrimination on behalf of protected classes. 

The remainder of this section presents data on and analysis of housing discrimination 

complaint filings received by HUD’s FHEO, The ICRC, and the local human rights 

commissions in Cedar Falls and Waterloo. In evaluating the data that follows, the number 

of complaint filings alone should not be interpreted as a measure of the extent of housing 

292

Item 3.



 

141 

discrimination in a jurisdiction. Some communities may have large numbers of filings 

because of a healthy fair housing climate where residents are educated about their 

rights and know where to seek help and where strong advocates with a history of success 

in resolving fair housing issues are available to assist. A second caveat to consider is that 

a significant number of filed complaints are found not to have cause. Of the 36 total 

housing discrimination complaints reported by HUD for Waterloo and Cedar Falls (and 

further described below), 39% were found to have no cause. Therefore, while a complaint 

filing typically does suggest a perceived violation, recent HUD data indicates that nearly 

two in every five complaints does not meet the legal standard for charging a party with 

having committed housing discrimination.   

Complaints Filed with HUD 

Region VII of the FHEO receives complaints by households regarding alleged violations 

of the Fair Housing Act for cities and counties throughout Iowa, Kansas, Missouri, and 

Nebraska. The mission of the FHEO is to protect individuals from employment, housing and 

public accommodation discrimination, and hate violence. To achieve this mission, the 

FHEO maintains databases of and investigates complaints of discrimination and hate 

violence.  

For the purpose of this report, the Regional FHEO Office in Kansas City provided fair 

housing complaint data for each of the cities spanning 2019-2023. HUD logged 29 

complaint filings regarding housing in Waterloo and 7 filings concerning housing in Cedar 

Falls over the 2019-2023 period. The following tables, one for each city, display the bases 

of complaints received by FHEO by year over the five-year period. A single complaint 

can allege housing discrimination on multiple bases, so the numbers in these tables are 

not representative of the numbers of complaints received but only the number of times 

each basis was cited in the complaints filed in a given year. The full complaint data as 

supplied by the FHEO is found in the Appendix. 

TABLE 20 – HOUSING DISCRIMINATION COMPLAINT BASES BY YEAR, CEDAR FALLS 

Housing discrimination complaints originating in Cedar Falls cite race as the basis of 

discrimination more often than any other basis; race is followed by disability. With a total 

Complaint Bases 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total 

Race 0 1 2 1 0 4 

National Origin 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Religion 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Sex 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disability 0 0 1 1 0 2 

Familial Status 0 1 0 0 0 1 

Retaliation 0 0 0 1 0 1 

TOTAL 0 2 3 3 0 8 

Source: HUD Region VII Office of Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity 

293

Item 3.



 

142 

of just eight discrimination allegations over the preceding five-year period, the data does 

not lend itself to any detailed analysis of trends beyond highlighting that allegations of 

racial discrimination occur more frequently in Cedar Falls than do other types of 

discrimination. Analysis of complaint filing trends is better supported with Waterloo’s data, 

which includes 35 total allegations of discrimination filed over the 2019-2023 period. 

Disability was the most common basis of complaint, representing 13 (37%) of the 

allegations. Disability is followed closely by race and then, with a substantially lower 

proportion, sex. The bases of national origin, familial status, and retaliation, each 

appeared only once in the five-year series of data.  

 

TABLE 21 – HOUSING DISCRIMINATION COMPLAINT BASES BY YEAR, WATERLOO 

Complaints Filed with the Iowa Civil Rights Commission  

The Iowa Civil Rights Commission (ICRC) also receives, investigates, and facilitates 

resolution of housing discrimination complaints (as well as complaints of discrimination in 

credit, education, employment and public accommodations) based on color, creed, 

family status (in credit and housing only), gender identity, marital status (in credit only), 

mental disability, national origin, physical disability, race, religion, retaliation, sex, or 

sexual orientation. The ICRC is tasked with upholding and enforcing the Iowa Civil Rights 

Act of 1965.  

For this analysis, housing discrimination complaint data was requested from the ICRC on 

November 6, 2023 and again on March 11, 2024 for data reflecting the total number, the 

status, and the basis/bases of housing discrimination complaints received for the period 

2019 through 2023. As of the date of this report, the ICRC had not provided any data in 

response. 

Complaints Filed with the Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission (HRC) 

The Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission was established in 1974 by Cedar Falls 

Ordinance No. 1430. The HRC is given authority to investigate and conciliate complaints 

of discrimination in housing, employment, educational curricula, and in public 

Complaint Bases 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total 

Race 0 2 5 2 3 12 

National Origin 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Religion 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Sex 0 0 2 4 1 7 

Disability 2 1 3 4 3 13 

Familial Status 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Retaliation 0 0 0 1 0 1 

TOTAL 2 3 11 12 7 35 

Source: HUD Region VII Office of Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity 

294

Item 3.



 

143 

accommodations, and is tasked with formulating and delivering community anti-

discrimination education as well. In its current composition, the 11-member body 

endeavors to protect human rights and promote diversity and equity for all Cedar Falls 

residents through advocacy, education and outreach. The HRC’s webpage includes 

information on how to register a discrimination concern with the Commission and also 

links to the Iowa Civil Rights Commission as an alternative avenue for filing a complaint 

of discrimination. 

For the period January 1, 2019 through September 30, 2023, the HRC received just one 

housing discrimination complaint. The complaint was filed in 2023, however, before the 

commissioners could schedule an in-person meeting for an official intake, the 

complainant reported the issue had been resolved.  

Complaints Filed with the Waterloo Commission on Human Rights 

(HRC) 

The Waterloo Commission on Human Rights is an administrative agency within the City of 

Waterloo that was established in 1966. The Commission’s mission is to protect and 

promote the personal dignity of all Waterloo citizens by eliminating discriminatory barriers 

that prevent individuals from reaching their full productive capacities. The Commission is 

empowered to receive and investigate complaints alleging unfair or discriminatory 

practices. A further element of the Commission’s responsibility concerns community-

based education, outreach, and training on issues of human and civil rights. 

The Commission had no responsive data to provide regarding housing discrimination 

complaints it had received over the period January 1, 2019 through September 30, 2023, 

and stated that it is the Commission’s practice to refer such complaints directly to HUD 

or the ICRC for investigation.   

PAST FAIR HOUSING GOALS AND RELATED 

ACTIVITIES 

The Cities of Waterloo and Cedar Falls have previously conducted a joint Analysis of 

Impediments to Fair Housing Choice, or AI, which was published in 2014.  This AI identified 

thirteen potential impediments to fair housing choice. These impediments are shown in 

the tables that follow, along with a statement of the progress made toward addressing 

them over the intervening period of time.   

295

Item 3.



 

144 

TABLE 22. ACTIONS TAKEN TO ADDRESS PREVIOUSLY-IDENTIFIED IMPEDIMENTS  

Impediment Actions Taken Since Previous AI  

1. No strategy to meet the market 

needs of the growing limited-

English-speaking population has 

been introduced. 

• Cedar Falls: now utilizing "Hands Up Communication" as a means to communicate with 

residents who speak a language other than English. 

• Waterloo: developed a comprehensive strategy to meet the needs of the LEP population 

2. There is a growing mismatch 

between real income and housing 

cost. 

• Cedar Falls: funded a direct rental assistance program for low-income rental housing; 

purchased software intended to better showcase rentals accepting HCV vouchers 

• Waterloo: provides a tax abatement program intended to keep housing affordable and 

assist owners in making needed repairs; instituted a committee known as the GROW 

Committee to discuss and resolve housing issues; implemented a Housing Task Force to 

discuss and address housing issues; instituted an Emergency Repair Program to assist 

homeowners with emergency repair costs; implemented a down-payment assistance 

program for low-income homebuyers  

3. It is difficult for large families and 

people with disabilities to access 

quality, affordable, suitable housing. 

 

• Cedar Falls: funded a direct rental assistance program for low-income rental housing; 

purchased software intended to better showcase rentals accepting HCV vouchers; 

implemented a rental rehabilitation program 

• Waterloo: provides a tax abatement program intended to keep housing affordable and 

assist owners in making needed repairs; instituted a committee known as the GROW 

Committee to discuss and resolve housing issues; implemented a Housing Task Force to 

discuss and address housing issues; instituted an Emergency Repair Program to assist 

homeowners with emergency repair costs; implemented a down-payment assistance 

program for low-income homebuyers; instituted a lead abatement program funded by a 

2021 Lead Hazard Control Grant 

4. The gap between White and 

minority median household 

incomes, unemployment rates, and 

homeownership rates is large and 

growing. 

• None noted 

296

Item 3.



 

145 

5. The supply of larger rental housing 

units may not match the demand 

from protected classes. 

• Waterloo: instituted a committee known as the GROW Committee to discuss and resolve 

housing issues; implemented a Housing Task Force to discuss and address housing issues 

6. The City of Waterloo’s zoning 

provisions regarding group homes 

limit their capacity to integrate into 

the community. 

• None noted 

7. The strict definition of family imposes 

a barrier to the formation of non-

traditional households. 

• Cedar Falls: amended zoning code to comply with Iowa law on the definition of family 

8. The Cedar Falls Human Rights 

Commission does not have the 

capacity to assertively enforce the 

provisions of the municipal human 

rights ordinance. 

• None noted 

9. The indefinite closure of the 

Northeast Iowa Center for 

Independent Living and 

cancellation of the MET’s Prime Time 

Pass program severely limit access 

for elderly and disabled residents, as 

well as employees working atypical 

hours. 

• Cedar Falls: allocated CDBG funding towards transportation services in previously 

underserved areas 

10.  A lack of transit connections to 

growing commercial corridors and 

suburban employment areas limits 

job access as well as access to 

community assets. 

• Cedar Falls: allocated CDBG funding towards transportation services in previously 

underserved areas 

297

Item 3.



 

146 

11. Ongoing patterns of disparity in 

private lending may indicate 

mortgage discrimination. 

• None noted 

12. Testing for housing discrimination 

has not been conducted recently, 

despite positive results from the 

previous test and complaints of 

steering within the housing market. 

• None noted 

13. Fair housing issues exist within both 

Waterloo and Cedar Falls’ Nuisance 

Properties and Rental Inspection 

ordinances. 

• None noted 

 

298

Item 3.



 

147 

CHAPTER 9. 

IDENTIFICATION OF 

IMPEDIMENTS 
Described below are the fair housing impediments identified in this Analysis of 

Impediments, along with associated contributing factors and supporting datapoints. 

Following these narrative descriptions is a table containing recommended actions, 

responsible parties, and potential partners for addressing the named impediments.  

Impediment 1: Existing housing stock fails to meet various needs of 

the population, disproportionately impacting protected classes 

Applies to: Waterloo and Cedar Falls 

Data collection, stakeholder interviews, and community meetings all indicate that the 

existing housing stock in both Waterloo and Cedar Falls fails to meet the needs of the 

population in a variety of ways, many of which disproportionately impact protected class 

groups. The following factors contribute to this impediment to fair housing in the Waterloo-

Cedar Falls HOME Consortium: 

Age and condition of housing stock, particularly in Waterloo 

Many stakeholders and community members noted during the community engagement 

process that poor housing condition is a major factor that limits housing access, especially 

in Waterloo. In particular, participants noted that low-income rental housing is frequently 

not kept up to code and that there are few or no incentives in place to prompt landlords 

to repair or maintain rental properties, and that the code enforcement departments in 

Waterloo and Cedar Falls may not be staffed adequately enough to make an impact.  

When surveyed, 59% of survey respondents believed that a lack of neighborhood 

investment constituted a barrier to fair housing within the Consortium, and 79% said that 

there is a medium- to high- level of need for programs that help homeowners make home 

repairs and improvements. 

Data from the U.S. Census Bureau indicates that more than 75% of Waterloo homes and 

more than 50% of Cedar Falls homes were constructed before 1980 and therefore present 

a risk of lead exposure. Data also indicates that around 28% of Consortium residents have 

one or more HUD-defined housing problems, and that residents of protected classes are 

disproportionately more likely to experience a housing problem.  In particular, Black and 

Pacific Islander residents were more than twice as likely to experience one or more 

housing problems than white residents. Housing problems also decrease consistently as 

299

Item 3.



 

148 

income levels increase, which inadvertently impacts protected class groups as disabled 

residents53 and Black or Hispanic residents54 typically have lower median incomes than 

white and/or abled residents due to decades of systemic inequality. 

Perhaps most interestingly, Waterloo’s change in occupancy since 2000 has not closely 

correlated to the development of new units in the way that Cedar Falls’ has – Waterloo 

has added nearly 2,500 new units since 2000 but recorded an increase of less than 800 

occupied units during that time frame; Cedar Falls added 3,300 units, 2,600 of which are 

occupied. In combination with other data on housing age and condition and with 

community feedback, this discrepancy may indicate that Waterloo residents are moving 

out of units in sub-par condition into new units as they become available.  If true, this 

would mean that a portion of Waterloo’s vacant units may remain vacant indefinitely 

due to their condition. 

A lack of affordable and accessible housing for residents with disabilities 

Around 16% of Waterloo residents and 10% of Cedar Falls residents have at least one 

disability, for a total of nearly 15,000 disabled residents within the Consortium.  Despite 

these numbers, the cities contain no Section 811 or Section 202 housing units.  When 

surveyed, 49% of consortium survey respondents reported believing that a lack of 

accessible housing options presented a barrier to fair housing choice, 76% said the 

Consortium has a medium- to high- level of need for more housing for people with 

disabilities, and 25% of respondents who reported having experienced housing 

discrimination said they believed the discrimination was based on their disability. 

Additionally, for people whose disability renders them unable to work a conventional job, 

affordable housing is nearly impossible to find within the Consortium – the 2024 SSI 

payment is $934 per individual, which means that a person who relies on SSI payments 

for income would have to find a rent of $314 or less to avoid being cost burdened.  

According to the National Low Income Housing Coalition the fair market rent for a one-

bed unit in the area was $740 in 2023; however, residents who provided feedback 

consistently noted that HUD fair market rents fail to keep up with rapidly growing housing 

costs and do not provide a realistic picture of the housing market, suggesting that finding 

a one-bed unit for $740 would be highly unlikely. Cedar Falls has recently adopted HUD 

Small Area Fair Market payment standards which increased the Housing Choice Voucher 

payment standard. A one-bedroom unit that prior to May 1, 2024, had a payment 

standard of $810 (rent + utilities), now has a payment standard of $924 (rent + utilities).  

This increase has had a positive impact on the ability of Housing Choice Voucher tenants 

 

 

53 https://www.statista.com/statistics/978989/disability-annual-earnings-us/ 

54 https://www.epi.org/blog/racial-disparities-in-income-and-poverty-remain-largely-unchanged-amid-

strong-income-growth-in-2019/ 

300

Item 3.



 

149 

being able to lease up in Cedar Falls where housing costs are higher than other 

surrounding communities. 

An inadequate overall housing supply and a lack of variety in housing types and sizes 

Single-family homes are the predominant type of housing in both Waterloo and Cedar 

Falls, comprising more than 70% of each city’s housing stock between detached and 

attached units.  During the community feedback process stakeholders noted a need for 

more multi-family housing options, especially those prioritizing affordability. Some 

feedback noted that a disproportionate amount of new multi-family developments are 

luxury apartment buildings, which only furthers the affordability gap. Many residents also 

stated that the presence of the University of Northern Iowa in Cedar Falls creates intense 

competition for housing near the campus, noting that workers and families in the area 

are unable to compete with a group of multiple college students for single-family rental 

prices. This feedback indicates that more affordable multi-family units would be 

especially beneficial near the college campus. 

Additionally, vacancy data for the Consortium indicates that the overall supply of units 

may be inadequate, regardless of unit type or size. Vacancy rates in both cities have 

increased from extremely low rates of 3.3-4.5% in the year 2000 but still remain lower than 

average, indicating that demand for new housing is still outpacing supply. Waterloo’s 

vacancy rate of 9.5% is marginally lower than the national average vacancy rate of 

10.8%, while Cedar Falls’ vacancy rate is significantly lower at 6.9%, indicating a very tight 

housing market.  

Impediment #2: Lacking resources and opportunities in R/ECAPs and 

low-income areas limits housing choices. 

Applies to: Waterloo and Cedar Falls 

When comparing access to resources and other services, Waterloo had lower levels of 

access compared to Cedar Falls due to its higher levels of poverty and unemployment. 

Because these under resourced communities lack certain opportunity features, housing 

in these locations is generally less able to meet the needs of residents. The need for 

neighborhood investment is particularly acute in parts of central Waterloo where there is 

a high concentration of minority populations. For example, these census tracts have the 

highest unemployment rates and lowest median incomes. The most under-performing 

schools, among both Cedar Falls and Waterloo, are also found within the city of 

Waterloo. While public transit is accessible throughout both cities, its service is limited and 

prevents many from being able to rely on this as a form of transportation in and out of 

the cities. The majority of jobs available in the cities are also found within their central 

areas where population density is highest, however high unemployment rates in certain 

census tracts indicates many people in need of employment may not qualify for them 

and, therefore, do not benefit as would be expected from being in close proximity to 

these jobs.  

301

Item 3.



 

150 

• Labor Market Engagement: Unemployment is highest in the single R/ECAP tract in 

Downtown/East Waterloo, which also has the highest concentration of minority 

populations. Only between 40.5% to 51.6% of people aged 16+ within the tract 

participate in the labor force. However, overall, Cedar Falls and Waterloo have 

similar labor market engagement rates, with most tracts having over 60% of 

people participating in the labor force.  

• Schools: The largest disparity between Cedar Falls and Waterloo involves school 

proficiency and performance. All but one of Waterloo’s schools, score below the 

state’s average in different performance measures such as mathematics, post-

secondary readiness, and more, while schools in Cedar Fallls all meet or exceed 

the state average. Additionally, educational attainment is higher in Cedar Falls, 

where the majority of tracts have over 43.2% to 59.9% of residents who have a 

bachelor's degree or higher. In terms of educational attainment by race, rates 

are similar among most racial groups in Waterloo, where 20% to 25% have a 

bachelor’s degree or higher. However, Native Americans and Native 

Hawaiian/Pacific Islander residents have the lowest educational attainment 

rates. In Cedar Falls, Black residents have the lowest educational attainment of 

all groups, where less than 5% or less have a bachelor’s degree or higher.  

• Transportation: Based on interviews and focus group discussions, transportation is 

a pressing issue in Waterloo and Cedar Falls. While MET Transit has several routes 

that cover most of Waterloo and Cedar Falls, residents and stakeholders 

described its service overall as limited and unreliable for people who work late 

night shifts. MET’s operating hours are limited to traditional school and work hours 

(5:45AM to 6PM). Additionally, Paratransit services are offered, however, a 

person needs to be eligible based on physical needs/disabilities and requires 

verification from medical professional, etc. It is not offered to people who need 

door-to-door service because the routes do not cover their area. Overall, 

Waterloo’s R/ECAP tract and parts of central Waterloo have the highest rates of 

households without access to a vehicle. The majority of both cities have access 

to at least one vehicle, making the cities car dependent and thus have scored 

low on their walkability score.  

• Food: USDA Food Research Atlas data indicates that the share of residents who 

have low incomes and live further than one-half mile from the nearest 

supermarket is highest in census tracts further out from central Waterloo and 

Cedar Falls. Particularly, food access was emphasized as a concern by Waterloo 

residents and stakeholders who noted that downtown Waterloo has been 

recognized as a food desert and there is a high need for healthier and 

affordable food options.  

• Healthcare: The proportion of residents who are uninsured is highest in central 

Waterloo and its surrounding census tracts where there is a higher concentration 

of minority populations. More than 10.5% of the population in these areas are 

uninsured.  

302

Item 3.



 

151 

Together, these measures indicate that a lack of access to high-quality community 

facilities, resources, and services in some areas of the Cities restrict access to fair housing 

choice by limiting opportunity for residents. To address disparities in community resources 

and associated lack of access to opportunity, meeting attendees, survey respondents, 

and stakeholders interviewed during this planning process emphasized the need for 

continued investment in neighborhood services, facilities, and infrastructure in these 

communities.  

Impediment 3: A lack of a centralized homelessness or poverty 

reduction plan and related services creates disproportionate barriers 

for protected classes 

Applies to: Waterloo and Cedar Falls 

In 2023, the Institute for Community Alliances in Iowa produced a report titled “Snapshot 

2023 of Service and Shelter Use & County Data Book” which provides homelessness data 

detailed by county.  The report identified a total of 1,309 individuals in 933 households 

who experienced homelessness in Black Hawk County at some point in 2022.  While data 

specific to Black Hawk County is not available for previous years, a comparison of the 

2023 report using 2022 data with the 2020 report using 2019 data shows that Iowa has 

experienced a 160% increase in people seeking homeless services since the COVID-19 

pandemic. This indicates that homelessness is a growing concern in the state and likely 

in the region, yet the Consortium lacks a centralized homelessness and/or poverty 

reduction plan, meaning that homeless residents may struggle to access information on 

available resources. The following factors contribute to this impediment to fair housing in 

the Waterloo-Cedar Falls HOME Consortium: 

A homeless population disproportionately comprised of federally protected classes 

In 2022, 26.5% of people identified as homeless during the Iowa Balance of State CoC 

Point-In-Time count were Black.  Only 4.1% of the population of the State of Iowa is Black, 

meaning that Black Iowans are present among the homeless population at a rate more 

than six times greater than their overall population share.  Native American and Hispanic 

residents were also disproportionately represented among the homeless population, 

although to a less extreme degree. 

In addition to disproportionate representation by race or ethnicity, the National 

Association of City and County Health Officials reported in 2019 that an estimated 25% 

of the homeless population was disabled55.  As this number was reported prior to the 

COVID-19 pandemic, it is possible that disability rates have increased in the time since.  

 

 

55 https://www.naccho.org/blog/articles/homelessness-among-individuals-with-disabilities-influential-

factors-and-scalable-

solutions#:~:text=Point%2Din%2Dtime%20counts%20(,health%20and%2For%20substance%20abuse 

303

Item 3.



 

152 

American Community Survey data for 2019 reports that the national average disability 

rate at this time was 12.6%, meaning that disabled Americans experience homelessness 

at double the rate of their population share. 

Finally, in a first-of-its-kind study, the Williams Institute out of the UCLA School of Law found 

in 2020 that LGBTQ+ adults were more than twice as likely to experience homelessness 

than adults who were not a member of this group56. In particular, transgender adults were 

significantly more likely to experience homelessness than non-transgender adults, 

whether gay or straight. The study also found that the incidence of homelessness among 

LGBTQ+ adults was compounded by race and ethnicity, with Black LGTBQ+ adults and 

especially Black transgender adults being the most likely to experience homelessness.   

A lack of a Consortium, county, or area-wide poverty or homelessness reduction plan 

A variety of local agencies, including local government entities, non-profits, and faith-

based organizations, provide services to special needs populations in Waterloo and 

Cedar Falls, but there is no clear lead coordinating agency uniting or promoting 

collaboration between these agencies.  In the past, the Black Hawk County Local 

Homeless Coordinating Board was as the lead coordinating agency for the 

administration of homeless services in the area through the Iowa Balance of State 

Continuum of Care; however, it is unclear whether this organization still remains functional 

and active in 2024. Without a lead coordinating agency or plan, the Consortium fails to 

outline and pursue goals directly related to preventing homelessness or assist individuals 

experiencing homelessness, instead relying on fragmented organization-based policies 

and programs which may allow the most vulnerable residents to fall through the cracks. 

This potential weakness may hinder the Consortium’s ability to set strategic goals and 

collaborate on services provided. 

A lack of centralized city-run homeless services and shelter options 

The Consortium relies heavily on local non-profits and religious institutions to provide 

homeless services and shelter and provides few City-funded or City-specific services 

apart from publicly supported housing. LGBTQ+ residents may face extra difficulty in 

finding shelter and services since they are frequently excluded from services provided by 

the Salvation Army57, which is one of the Consortium’s primary homeless service providers.  

During the community engagement process for this Analysis of Impediments, one 

stakeholder who works in homeless services relayed a story of a client who was evicted 

from the Waterloo Salvation Army men’s shelter after it was discovered that he was 

transgender.  As gender identity and sexual orientation are protected classes, and as 

 

 

56 https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/publications/lgbt-homelessness-us/ 

57 https://www.advocate.com/salvation-army 

304

Item 3.



 

153 

there is significant intersection between these classes, race and ethnicity, and 

homelessness, this presents a significant barrier to fair housing. 

 

  

305

Item 3.



 

154 

Impediment 4: Zoning Restrictions Limit Housing Options for Protected 

Classes 

Applies to: Waterloo and Cedar Falls 

Housing accessible to people with disabilities is in short supply in both Waterloo and 

Cedar Falls. In the fair housing survey conducted as part of this analysis, more than three 

in four respondents rated housing options for people with disabilities either a high need 

or moderate need. Resident input obtained through focus groups and pop-up 

interactions further supported this finding, with residents describing the cities’ housing 

stock as generally older (particularly in Waterloo) and frequently with steps at the 

entrance, making it less likely to be accessible and expensive to modify.  

Compounding the unique needs for increased housing supply for people with disabilities, 

there are provisions of the cities’ respective zoning codes that could have the effect of 

further limiting housing options for this protected class. Neither of the two jurisdictions 

currently has a reasonable accommodation process or provision in their zoning 

ordinances. Federal fair housing law requires that municipalities provide individuals with 

disabilities or developers of housing for people with disabilities flexibility in the application 

of land use and zoning and building regulations, or even waive certain requirements, 

when it is reasonable and necessary to eliminate barriers to housing opportunities. 

Residents needing a variance from the land use and zoning regulations due to a disability 

must otherwise go through the formal variance process, including a public hearing. 

Whereas simple administrative procedures may be adequate for the granting of a 

reasonable accommodation, the variance procedures, or a reasonable 

accommodation that must be considered and granted by action of a public body, like 

a planning commission or city council, may subject the applicant to the public hearing 

process, with its costs and delays, and the potential that community opposition based 

on stereotypes about people with disabilities may impact the outcome. As a matter of 

equity, transparency, and uniformity, it is advisable that the Cities each adopt a 

standardized, administrative process for granting reasonable accommodations.   

Group homes provide an important source of housing for some people with disabilities 

and federal fair housing guidelines have established that persons with disabilities must be 

allowed to live together in group homes in single-family residential districts, comparable 

to groups of unrelated non-disabled people living together as may be permitted under 

a zoning code’s “family” definition. Cedar Falls considers group homes (of less than 9 

individuals) to be equivalent to single-family households (limited to 4 related individuals 

per household) and are thus allowed in single-family residential districts. In Waterloo, 

group homes are allowed in multi-family residential districts, but not in single-family 

districts.  

Residential treatment facilities, which typically provide integrated supportive services 

such as counseling, can be an important source of housing for people recovering from 

306

Item 3.



 

155 

drug or alcohol abuse (who are considered persons with disabilities under the Fair 

Housing Act), domestic violence victims, and people who were formerly homeless or 

incarcerated. In Cedar Falls, the zoning ordinance considers this inherently residential use 

together with that of healthcare facilities and limits them to districts for civic and 

institutional use, thus preventing them from any residential zoning districts. Although there 

is some ambiguity, Waterloo appears to consider such uses to be group homes, in which 

case, they would be allowed in some residential districts. The ambiguity in distinguishing 

between group homes and halfway or rehabilitation houses, however, could create an 

opportunity for discrimination in the event the ordinance is interpreted or applied 

inconsistently.   

Impediment #5: Historic inequalities and negative community 

perceptions continue to limit opportunity and housing choice  

Applies to: Waterloo and Cedar Falls 

This impediment addresses community attitudes that inhibit housing options for protected 

classes, including racial and ethnic minorities and immigrants. Public input indicated that 

negative perceptions of Waterloo persist within the community, particularly in 

comparison to Cedar Falls. Over time, these perceptions have impacted the private 

sector’s level of investment and interest in development in Waterloo as well as 

prospective residents’ choices as to where to live within the Cedar Valley. During focus 

groups and interviews, residents and stakeholders alike brought attention to the generally 

negative perceptions of Waterloo, both locally and regionally, due to fears around 

violence, homelessness, and lower quality of life. However, Waterloo has experienced 

some growth particularly among migrant populations who are settling in the city in search 

of better opportunity. Due to the low wages most undocumented and LEP populations 

are often limited to, their housing choice is thus impacted as they struggle to compete 

with rising rent prices. Because Cedar Falls is known to have a higher cost of living due to 

its concentration of affluent households and therefore lower-income households may be 

limited to Waterloo more relatively affordable housing options.  

Waterloo also has a higher concentration of Black residents who have historically been 

subjected to racist policies that have had lasting impacts in the region. A recent case 

study conducted by the Grout Museum District analyzed race relations in Waterloo from 

as early as 191058. Specifically, restrictive covenants and redlining were utilized as a way 

to segregate Black and white residents in Waterloo (and Cedar Falls as well). This resulted 

in severe overcrowding of Black families and forcing them into areas with extreme 

poverty and crime. By the 1970s, the city experienced “white flight” and urban sprawl 

that led white families into new neighborhoods on the city’s southwest side creating 

 

 

58 https://www.groutmuseumdistrict.org/about/news/the-history-of-waterloo-a-case-study-.aspx  

307

Item 3.



 

156 

further disinvestment of Waterloo’s core neighborhoods. Today, Waterloo has been 

nationally ranked as one of the worst cities for Black Americans based on income and 

social inequality59. Additionally, Waterloo has dealt with several noteworthy incidents that 

have sparked racial tension throughout the city, reinforcing some negative stereotypes 

regarding its reputation.  

Given the city's negative perceptions both nationally and in comparison, to Cedar Falls, 

residents of Waterloo have voiced their desire for more community development and 

investment in the city to help encourage affordable housing, better living conditions, 

investment in its built environment from parks to infrastructure, and strategic economic 

development that can empower residents with skills and better-paying opportunities. In 

order to promote a stronger sense of community and identity throughout the city, 

community engagement participants stressed the significance for collaboration 

between the local government, community organizations, BIPOC residents, and the 

youth. 

Impediment 6: Need for Continued Fair Housing Education 

Applies to: Waterloo and Cedar Falls 

Waterloo and Cedar Falls benefit from a relatively well-developed fair housing 

infrastructure, evident in the human rights commissions maintained by each of the cities. 

Iowa state law requires cities with populations exceeding 29,000 people to create 

independent civil rights organizations to interface with the Iowa Civil Rights Commission 

for the purpose of coordinating investigations and expediting housing discrimination 

complaints. The cities’ respective commissions comply with the state’s requirements in 

this regard. Both commissions were consulted in the course of this study and their close 

coordination with ICRC was evident in their responses to requests for housing 

discrimination complaint data. Even so, input collected from stakeholders and residents 

indicated that these commissions’ roles in providing fair housing education and/or 

receiving housing discrimination complaints was unclear. Several people who provided 

input for this analysis relayed a belief that these commissions have been more active and 

engaged in this work at points in the past. Because of the organizational capacity, fair 

housing expertise, and other resources these commissions bring to the table, 

opportunities to enhance their responsibilities and step up their role as local coordinators 

of fair housing activity should be explored in both Waterloo and Cedar Falls. Iowa Legal 

Aid and an array of other, smaller nonprofit organizations were mentioned by 

respondents as additional fair housing resources, but each was generally seen as working 

 

 

59 https://www.desmoinesregister.com/story/news/2018/11/19/iowa-waterloo-cedar-falls-metro-area-city-

named-worst-place-black-americans-live-24-7-wall-street/2026602002/  

308

Item 3.



 

157 

individually rather than as part of a coordinated mechanism to provide fair housing 

education and complaint intake across the community more broadly.  

Responses to the community survey conducted as part of this analysis suggest that the 

need for fair housing education is ongoing. Specifically, only 46.8% of respondents 

reported knowing their fair housing rights and just over half (50.4%) said they knew where 

to file a report of housing discrimination. These results indicate that education efforts have 

reached some residents, but there is still a need for continued outreach to the public, 

especially with information about tenant rights, the value of filing a complaint when 

discrimination occurs, and the responsibilities of landlords to maintain their rental 

properties.  

Further, as part of their fair housing outreach and education efforts, the Cities should also 

consider ways to further promote homeownership incentives and assistance programs. 

These could include any downpayment assistance activities offered by the cities 

themselves, their subrecipients, or programs offered by the state or other entities. The 

analysis of Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA) data in this report found that Black 

residents apply for mortgages at lower rates and are denied mortgages at higher rates 

than nearly all other racial or ethnic groups. Asian and Pacific Islander residents 

attempted to obtain mortgages at considerable rates, but faced high rates of denial. 

Raising awareness within the community at large, and among Black and other minority 

residents in particular, of supports and programs that make homeownership more 

attainable may help to level those disparities.  

 

 

309

Item 3.



 

158 

TABLE 23 – FAIR HOUSING GOALS AND ACTIVITIES  

Contributing Factors Recommended Activities and Goals 
Responsible Parties 

and Partners 

Impediment #1: Existing housing stock fails to meet various needs of the population, disproportionately impacting protected classes 

Age and condition of 

housing stock 

• Expand existing programs that help homeowners with emergency repairs and 

expand or institute programs to assist homeowners with non-emergency repairs 

which may impact a home’s livability; set a goal for number of households 

assisted and assess the results in each city’s yearly CAPER. 

• Expand code enforcement inspections and requirements for landlords of low-

income rental units, including, if necessary, the expansion of the code 

enforcement department. 

• Expand or institute City-sponsored programs intended to rehabilitate or demolish 

and rebuild blighted units; set a goal for number of units assisted and assess the 

results in each city’s yearly CAPER.  

• Create and distribute materials to all residents of publicly supported housing, 

especially HCV holders, detailing renters’ fair housing rights and landlord 

obligations for upkeep, maintenance, and repairs, including information on 

resources for situations in which landlords fail to provide required upkeep and 

repairs.  

City of Waterloo  

City of Cedar Falls 

 

A lack of affordable 

and accessible 

housing options for 

residents with 

disabilities 

• Consider opportunities to encourage or incentivize the construction of new 

accessible housing units for people with disabilities. 

o Any public subsidies for new housing development for people with 

disabilities should be given priority consideration when the housing will be 

located in an area that increases access to transit and opportunities.   

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

Community 

Partners 

310

Item 3.



 

159 

 

  

o When new accessible housing is proposed by a developer, organization, or 

agency, express support (through letters of support and/or certifications of 

consistency with the Consolidated Plan) wherever possible.   

o Review local funding mechanisms and federal grant sources for 

opportunities to incentivize development of new accessible housing units 

and/or support the cost of accessibility modifications to existing housing.   

o Meet with local providers of accessible housing and permanent supportive 

housing to discuss resources available and potential for collaboration on 

future proposed housing developments. 

• Investigate the potential for a) expanding Cedar Falls’ HCV unit listing software 

into Waterloo and b) adding information on accessibility features in listed units 

that accept Housing Choice Vouchers. 

• Determine the percentage of public housing and Project-Based Section 8 units 

within the Consortium that have accessibility features and set an annual target 

for increasing that percentage of units over time.  

An inadequate overall 

housing supply and a 

lack of variety in 

housing types and 

sizes 

• Conduct a housing market study to consider avenues for incentivizing 

development of new multi-family units, particularly within Waterloo and in the 

area of Cedar Falls near the University of Northern Iowa campus.  

• Using the findings of the market study, create a plan to incorporate such 

incentives and a goal for number of multi-family units added per year; then 

assess the progress toward this goal in each City’s annual CAPER. 

• Introduce inclusionary zoning provisions that would incentivize the set-aside of 

low-income or affordable housing in all new multi-family developments. 

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

311

Item 3.



 

160 

 

Contributing Factors Recommended Activities and Goals 
Responsible Parties 

and Partners 

Impediment #2: Lacking resources and opportunities in R/ECAPs and low-income areas limits housing choices 

Need for 

neighborhood  

revitalization and 

safety improvements 

in areas of low  

opportunity 

• During the Consolidated Plan and Annual Action Plan processes, the Cities 

should identify place-based strategies focused on improving physical resources 

and building human capital in specific, defined high-poverty areas, particularly 

in low-income tracts in Waterloo. 

• Develop and keep up-to-date an inventory of areas in Waterloo where public 

infrastructure is lacking, limited, or otherwise in jeopardy. Outline a strategy for 

funding projects which address unsafe property conditions, streetlights, 

sidewalks, infrastructure, and public facilities. 

• Continue to support low-income homeowners in need of home repairs and 

rehabilitation.  

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

Low-income areas are 

underserved relative 

to access to grocery 

and other 

neighborhood-

oriented retail  

• Continue to support economic development in downtown Waterloo which has 

low access to grocery stores and other retail options for residents.  

• During the Consolidated Plan and Annual Action Plan processes, the City should 

create a place-based strategy to provide business and entrepreneurial support, 

including financial and technical assistance, to eligible new or expanding 

businesses that fill market niches and create jobs for low-income  

residents.  

City of Waterloo 

312

Item 3.



 

161 

 

 

Low school proficiency  

disproportionately 

impacts African 

American and Latino  

residents. 

• Partner with Waterloo and Cedar Falls school districts, community stakeholders, 

and others to provide facilities, resources, and services to students attending 

lower-performing schools. These may include basic school resources and 

supplies, school readiness, mentoring and tutoring, family engagement and 

literacy, health services, behavioral and social supports, enrichment programs, 

programs to increase food security and access, support for ESL students and 

students with disabilities, resources for students experiencing homelessness or 

who are part of economically disadvantaged households, and other resources 

and services. 

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

Waterloo 

Community Schools 

District 

Cedar Falls 

Community Schools 

District 

Black Hawk County 

Overall public transit 

service is limited in 

Waterloo and Cedar 

Falls. There is a need 

for third shift/late night 

workers, accessibility 

issues for people with 

disabilities, and public 

safety concerns 

regarding lack of 

signage/lights. 

• Improve pedestrian and bike facilities to better connect residential areas with 

various community resources and opportunities.   

o Analyze sidewalk networks, pedestrian safety, ADA accessibility, and bike  

lanes/paths in low- and moderate-income neighborhoods to determine 

potential need for enhanced pedestrian and bike facilities to connect 

residential areas with shopping, healthcare, bus stops, employment areas, 

and other destinations. Also consider the availability of pedestrian 

infrastructure connecting key destinations (major employers or 

employment centers, shopping areas, etc.) with the closest  

bus stop. Develop priorities for improvements.  

o Based on this analysis, make recommended sidewalk and bike lane/path  

improvements, beginning with the highest priorities.  

• Continue to monitor opportunities to improve transit access between Waterloo 

and Cedar Falls neighborhoods, suburban population centers, and major 

employers/employment centers and modify routes and schedules as needed. 

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

MET Transit Authority 

Black Hawk County 

313

Item 3.



 

162 

Contributing Factors Recommended Activities and Goals 
Responsible Parties 

and Partners 

Impediment #3: A lack of a centralized homelessness or poverty reduction plan and related services creates disproportionate 

barriers for protected classes 

A homeless population 

disproportionately 

comprised of Federally 

protected classes 

• Using CDBG funding, expand existing assistance programs targeting extremely 

low-income residents who are at an increased risk of homelessness, a group 

disproportionately comprised of federally protected classes; report on the 

number of individuals assisted by homelessness prevention programs by type of 

assistance received in each City’s annual CAPER, including demographic data 

where possible. 

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

Community Partners 

A lack of a 

Consortium, county, or 

area-wide poverty or 

homelessness 

reduction plan 

• Using data generated in this report and in each City’s new Consolidated Plan, 

the Cities should jointly convene a homelessness prevention conversation in 

collaboration with existing homeless service providers to better understand local 

homelessness trends and design mitigation measures to reduce homelessness; 

set measurable goals to assess efficacy and report on progress towards these 

goals in each City’s annual CAPER. 

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

Continuum of Care 

Community Partners 

A lack of centralized 

City-run homeless 

services and shelter 

options 

• the Cities should convene a homelessness prevention conversation in 

collaboration with existing homeless service providers to consider the feasibility 

of creating a joint City-sponsored homeless shelter program. 

• Explore potential funding or other resource options for the construction and 

operation of a shelter program or facility. 

• Investigate whether the Black Hawk County Local Homeless Coordinating Board 

is still operational; if not, form a new homelessness task force or committee 

including representatives from Waterloo, Cedar Falls, and existing local 

homeless service providers to guide overall homelessness assistance strategy 

across Waterloo and Cedar Falls. 

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

Continuum of Care 

Community Partners 

314

Item 3.



 

163 

 

  

• Task either the Black Hawk County Local Homeless Coordinating Board or a 

potential new homelessness task force with producing a centralized resource 

guide for individuals experiencing or at risk of homelessness in the area; ensure 

collaboration with local homeless service providers in order to encompass all 

available resources. 

315

Item 3.



 

164 

 

Contributing Factors Recommended Activities and Goals 
Responsible Parties 

and Partners 

Impediment #4: Zoning Restrictions Limit Housing Options for Protected Classes 

Insufficient accessible 

housing exists to serve 

the needs of people 

with disabilities 

• Consider opportunities to encourage or incentivize the construction of new 

accessible housing units for people with disabilities. 

o Any public subsidies for new housing development for people with 

disabilities should be given priority consideration when the housing will 

be located in an area that increases access to transit and 

opportunities.   

o When new accessible housing is proposed by a developer, 

organization, or agency, express support (through letters of support 

and/or certifications of consistency with the Consolidated Plan) 

wherever possible.   

o Review local funding mechanisms and federal grant sources for 

opportunities to incentivize development of new accessible housing 

units and/or support the cost of accessibility modifications to existing 

housing.   

o Meet with local providers of accessible housing and permanent 

supportive housing to discuss resources available and potential for 

collaboration on future proposed housing developments. 

• Investigate the potential for a) expanding Cedar Falls’ HCV unit listing software 

into Waterloo and b) adding information on accessibility features in listed units 

that accept Housing Choice Vouchers. 

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

Community Partners 

316

Item 3.



 

165 

 

  

Waterloo and Cedar 

Falls do not have clear 

and objective 

processes by which 

persons with disabilities 

may request a 

reasonable 

accommodation 

• Draft and adopt local code amendments that would provide an administrative 

alternative to a variance application for people requesting accommodation or 

modification related to a disability. 

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

Restrictions on group 

homes, residential 

treatment facilities, 

and “family” 

definitions in the Cities’ 

zoning codes may 

create barriers to the 

development and 

siting of some types of 

group housing for 

people with disabilities 

• The zoning ordinance and table of permitted uses should be reviewed and 

amended to clarify where group homes and residential substance abuse 

treatment facilities may be located, taking care to ensure these uses may be 

permitted within residential zoning districts. 

• Revise the zoning code’s family definition to mean a “functional family” or 

remove the definition altogether in favor of maximum occupancy being 

regulated instead by the building code.  

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

317

Item 3.



 

166 

 

Contributing Factors Recommended Activities and Goals 
Responsible Parties 

and Partners 

Impediment #5: Historic inequalities and negative community perceptions continue to limit opportunity and housing choice 

Less investment in 

Waterloo compared 

to Cedar Falls. 

Economic 

development in 

Waterloo is not as 

cohesive as Cedar 

Falls, which has more 

organized 

placemaking 

initiatives.  

• Address public safety concerns through investments in community 

development and infrastructure.  

• Explore alternative funding options to create incentives for new development in 

distressed neighborhoods or other areas of opportunity such as commercial 

corridors in need of revitalization. 

• Implement and fund more placemaking/beautification efforts such as 

promoting local artists through murals, creating wayfinding signage, improve 

storefronts, etc. 

City of Waterloo 

More collaboration 

and government 

support are needed 

for community-based 

organizations including 

connecting with 

diverse populations 

and youth. 

• Empower the local youth by creating committees or conducting studies to 

identify their priorities and needs. Encourage their involvement in decision 

making regarding the use of grant funds, creating new programs for students, 

hosting community events, etc. 

• Support existing community organizations that serve immigrant populations who 

are in need of skills to find employment or are in need of understanding how 

various systems/processes work, such as how to start their own entrepreneurial 

endeavors. 

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

Community Partners 

318

Item 3.



 

167 

 

  

Overall low wages  

throughout the city of 

Waterloo with multiple 

tracts where 

households are low-  

income 

• Collaborate with community partners to support resident and employer  

participation in job search, placement, and training programs. In  

particular, expand paid job training programs. 

 

• Collaborate with residents and community partners to understand  

barriers to accessing job training programs and employment, and  

continue to develop and fund strategies to address these barriers. 

• Invest/expand job training and placement initiatives for individuals with LEP to 

increase their self-sufficiency and housing stability. 

City of Waterloo 

Job training and  

employment 

assistance  

programs 

Housing discrimination 

and residential 

segregation have 

created limited access 

to opportunity for 

specific population 

groups and 

communities. 

• Provide community-wide educational material, workshops, and other resources 

that address issues regarding diversity, inclusion, and equity. Ensure people are 

aware of their rights and how to report instances relating to discrimination.  

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

319

Item 3.



 

168 

 

Contributing Factors Recommended Activities and Goals 
Responsible Parties 

and Partners 

Impediment #6: Need for Continued Fair Housing Education 

Stakeholder input and 

survey responses 

indicate that more fair 

housing education is 

needed for the 

general public  

 

• Either using in-house staff, working through the cities’ respective human rights 

commissions, or using another contracted provider, the cities should annually 

design and/or update and coordinate delivery of a fair housing education 

program that reaches the public with information about fair housing rights and 

responsibilities, how to recognize discrimination, and how and where to file a 

complaint.   

o Ensure targeting to members of the public who are most vulnerable to 

housing discrimination, including racial and ethnic minorities, low-income 

populations, people with limited English proficiency, and people with 

disabilities.  

o Focus efforts on incorporating fair housing education components into other 

scheduled events (e.g., a fair housing booth at a community or school 

event) or working through existing organizations with ties to various 

community groups. 

o Create and distribute materials to all residents of publicly supported housing, 

especially HCV holders, detailing renters’ fair housing rights and landlord 

obligations for upkeep, maintenance, and repairs, including information on 

resources for situations in which landlords fail to provide required upkeep 

and repairs. 

o Provide community-wide educational material, workshops, and other 

resources that address issues regarding diversity, inclusion, and equity. 

Ensure people are aware of their rights and how to report instances relating 

to discrimination. 

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

Waterloo 

Commission on 

Human Rights 

Cedar Falls Human 

Rights Commission 

Community Partners 

320

Item 3.



 

169 

 

 

Increased planning 

and coordination is 

needed for a 

comprehensive, 

communitywide fair 

housing approach 

• The cities and their respective human rights commissions should schedule a 

series of planning and strategy sessions, perhaps facilitated by a third-party 

organizational development consultant, to refine roles and responsibilities 

related to fair housing and housing discrimination.  

• A memorandum of understanding signed between the organizations could 

serve to outline a more strategic and comprehensive approach to fair housing, 

reducing duplication of effort and positioning each party to work with an area 

of greatest strength.   

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

Waterloo 

Commission on 

Human Rights 

Cedar Falls Human 

Rights Commission 

Community Partners 

Disparities in rates of 

homeownership and 

mortgage 

applications 

• A set of promotional materials highlighting homeownership resources should be 

developed with input and assistance from local lenders familiar with mortgage 

products for moderate-income homebuyers.  

• Strategize with lenders and other housing industry professionals on opportunities 

to deliver promotional materials to low- and moderate-income communities 

and particularly to racial minorities, whose rates of homeownership and 

mortgage applications are disproportionately low.  

City of Waterloo 

City of Cedar Falls 

Mortgage Lenders 

Community Partners 

321

Item 3.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
             TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: June 17, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning Request- 2216 Main Street, and 127 E 23rd Street (RZ24-001) 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Rezone property from M-1 Light Industrial to C-2 Retail Commercial. 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Seven D LLC, owner; Chris Fischels of Fischels Commercial & Residential 
Group, applicant  

 
LOCATION: 
 

2216 Main Street, and 127 E 23rd Street; West of Main Street; North of E 
Seerley Blvd. (RZ24-002) 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
Seven D LLC requested a rezoning of three properties, 2300 Main Street, 2216 Main Street, 
and 127 E 23rd Street from M-1 Light Industrial to C-2 Commercial.  The proposal is to rezone 
a 3.8-acre site owned by Seven D LLC located north of E Seerley Blvd from M-1 Light 
Industrial to C-2 Retail Commercial District. The rezoning of 2300 Main Street is in progress.   
 
BACKGROUND 
  
Before the City Council hearing on May 20, 2024, staff determined that the legal description 
submitted by the applicant was inaccurate and did not include 2216 Main Street and 127 E 
23rd Street parcels. Due to this error, the published notice of hearing only included the legal 
description for the larger parcel at 2300 Main Street.   
 
On May 20, 2024, based on staff’s recommendation to keep the rezoning request moving 
forward for the benefit of the applicant, the City Council held a Public Hearing and approved 
the first reading of the rezoning of the parcel at 2300 Main Street.  
 
A new legal description for the two smaller lots was submitted by the applicant to move forward 
with the rezoning of the two smaller lots.    
 
In 2024, a dentist’s office is interested in leasing space in the building.  The M-1 District does 
not allow institutions for human care, such as a dentist’s office.  The applicant proposes to 

322

Item 4.



rezone the property to allow a dental clinic in one of the lease spaces. The two smaller lots will 
be used for parking and landscaping to support 2300 Main Street.   
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
CURRENT ZONING 
The purpose of the M-1 Light Industrial Zoning District is to provide an environment suitable for 
industrial activities that do not create visible nuisance or hazards to surrounding properties.  It 
allows most uses that are within the C-3 District except for any dwellings, schools, hospitals, 
clinics, or other institutions for human care with the exception of daycare uses.  This ensures 
compatibility of uses because some for industrial uses could have an unintended effect on 
human care uses.     
 

323

Item 4.



The request is to change the zoning on two parcels totaling 0.6 acres of land located north of E 
Seerley Blvd from M-1 Light Industrial to C-2 Retail Commercial District. 
 
PROPOSED ZONING 
The C-2 Retail Commercial District Zone is intended to provide space for regional and 
neighborhood retail uses.  Uses allowed in C-2 include dwellings, schools, hospitals, clinics, or 
other institutions for human care.  
 
The site is surrounded by residential uses and a former gas station along the west, a lumber 
yard to the north, and an auto quick lube to the south. The properties to the north, east, and 
south are within the M-1 Zoning District.  The residential properties to the west are in the R-4 
Zoning District and the former gas station location is in the C-2 Zoning District. Staff finds that 
the zoning change will be compatible with the surrounding area and will allow for a more 
compatible use next to the residential uses to the west.   
 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
The Future Land Use Map identifies these two parcels as Community Commercial.  The 
requested C-2 zoning is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the request would not 
require an amendment to the Future Land Use Map.  
 
ACCESS TO PUBLIC SERVICES 
The property is in a developed area of the city and has access for connection to all utilities and 
public services. 
 
ACCESS TO ADEQUATE STREET NETWORK 
The properties have access from Main Street 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
City staff mailed letters to the surrounding property owners notifying them of the rezoning 
request.  
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
The City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities, have no concerns with the proposed 
rezoning request. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of the rezoning request.   
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
3/27/2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairperson Hartley introduced the next item, a request to rezone property located near 
the intersection of Main Street and Seerley Boulevard.  Ms. Pezley, Planner III, presented 
the staff report, describing the location, uses of surrounding properties, the basic review 
criteria for a rezoning, and the applicant’s reason for requesting the rezoning.  The property 
is currently M-1 Light Industrial District, and the request is to rezone the property to C-2 
Commercial District.  The applicant would like to add a dental clinic in the building, which 
is not allowed in the M-1 zoning district. Ms. Pezley noted that the proposed rezoning is 
consistent with the Future Land Use Map, which identifies this area as appropriate for 
community commercial uses. She noted that all necessary public infrastructure is available 
to support the proposed zoning change.  

324

Item 4.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Public 
Hearing 
4/10/2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Moser asked if a collision center (auto body repair) would be allowed if the zoning 
change is approved. Ms. Pezley confirmed that an auto body repair shop would not be 
allowed if rezoned to C-2.  Moser asked how the city would follow up if there were any 
changes to the use that transformed it into an auto body repair shop.  Pezley noted that 
the staff report was very detailed on what was allowed in the C-2 Zone with the auto 
detailing shop. If the use changed to a more extensive repair shop, this would provide 
context and help determine if there was a code violation.   
 
Stalnaker asked how the code enforcement changes between the current zoning and 
proposed zoning.  Pezley explained that the detailing shop as currently described by 
the applicant would be allowed in the proposed zoning district.  
 
Stalnaker asked if the use ever gets to be a nuisance to the neighborhood, how would 
the City handle that.  Howard explained that if the property owner was changing the 
use, they would have to come to the city for building permits and the change of use 
would be reviewed at that time.  Howard understands that there is a fine line between 
the proposed detailing shop and an auto body repair shop and that is why staff asked 
the applicant to describe the use in detail for the record.  Howard explained that the C-2 
zone allows for many commercial uses such as auto service, but it does not allow auto 
body work/collision center.  This change would go to a less intense use than the current 
zone which is in a direction that would be more compatible with the comprehensive 
plan.  The building was previously used for commercial uses, and they would like to 
continue to use the building for commercial uses.   
 
Henderson asked if the owner could use the building as a collision center today and 
Howard said yes.  Henderson points out that the rezoning would ensure a less intense 
use for the neighbors moving forward.   
     
Chris Fischels, representing the property owner, said that this is the first time that he 
has seen an applicant request a down-zoning, but the owner would like to lease space 
for a dental clinic. He was there to answer any questions. There were no questions or 
comments from the Commission. 
 
Dr. Spencer Walker, 3413 Pheasant Dr., Cedar Falls. Walker is the dentist who wants 
to lease space in the building.  Walker has been working in Cedar Falls for 13 years 
and has outgrown his current office.  Walker plans to stay in Cedar Falls for many years 
to come and thinks this would be a good location for the clinic.    
 
Hartley asked for any more comments and there were none.  Hartley shared that he 
thought that this was great repurpose of the building.  Moser agreed.   
 
Sorensen moved to set the public hearing for the April 10, 2024, Planning and Zoning 
Commission meeting.  Henderson seconded the motion.  The motion was approved 
unanimously on a voice vote.   
 
The next item for consideration by the Commission was a rezoning request for 2300 Main 
Street, 2216 Main Street and 127 E. 23rd Street. Chair Hartley introduced the item and 
Ms. Howard discussed the notice that is required for rezoning requests. She explained 
that the required notice did not get published in the Courier. She provided two options for 
proceeding with the item. The Commission can waive the notice requirement per City 
Code, hold the public hearing and make a recommendation to City Council to approve the 
rezoning request or postpone the hearing to the next meeting. She noted that regardless 
of which option the Commission chooses, the case will not be scheduled for a Council 
meeting until May 6, so the decision will not slow down the process for the applicant.   

325

Item 4.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Sorensen made a motion to waive the notice requirement. Henderson seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Alberhasky, Grybovych, 
Hartley, Henderson, Johnson, Leeper, Moser and Sorensen), and 0 nays. 
 
Ms. Pezley provided background information, explaining the criteria for considering a 
rezoning. She discussed the characteristics of the designation and the allowable uses. 
She noted that the property is in a developed area of the city and has access to all utilities 
and public services and is consistent with the Future Land Use Map. The property also 
has direct access to Main Street and E. Seerley Boulevard. Staff recommends approval 
of the rezoning. 
 
Chris Fischels, 4200 West Rock Road, Hudson, Iowa stated that he is available to answer 
any questions. 
 
Sorenson made a motion to approve the item. Johnson seconded the motion. The motion 
was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Alberhasky, Grybovych, Hartley, Henderson, 
Johnson, Leeper, Moser and Sorensen), and 0 nays. 

 
 
Attachments: Location Map 
  Rezoning Exhibit Plat 
   

 

326

Item 4.



327

Item 4.



M-1M-1

R-4R-4

R-2R-2

C-2C-2 R-3R-3

2 3

54

18

20

21

23

25

24

30

27

22

28

36

32

34

38

37

39

40

41

43
42

44
45

46474849505152

54

56 5558 57

53

35

31

26

76

98

11
10

1312

1514

1716

19

1

29

33

NORTHNORTH

MA
IN

 S
TR

EE
T

MA
IN

 S
TR

EE
T HW

Y 
58

HW
Y 

58

2300 MAIN STREET

REZONING REQUEST
“M-1” TO “C-2”

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
SEE ATTACHED EXHIBIT A

328

Item 4.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Michelle Pezley, Planner III, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 3069 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA FOR APPROXIMATELY 0.6 ACRES OF LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN, REMOVING 

SAID AREA FROM THE M-1 LIGHT INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT AND ADDING IT TO THE 

C-2 COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
 

WHEREAS, a proposal was submitted to the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission 

to rezone approximately 0.6 acres of property from M-1 Light Industrial District to C-2 

Commercial District, more specifically described below; and 

 

WHEREAS, said C-2 Commercial District allows for community commercial that meets 

the principles of the Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan and Code of Ordinances; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission considered the rezoning request and 

find that said rezoning is consistent with the City of Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan and public 

services are available to support development according to the C-2 Commercial District; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to be in the best interests of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve said rezoning; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article III, 

Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-Six (26), Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is 

incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance by reference; and 

 
 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such hearing 

held on the proposed amendment; and 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described real estate, be and the same is hereby removed from 

the M-1 Light Industrial District and added to the C-2 Commercial District: 
 

Legal Description 

 

That part of the Northwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 13, Township 89 North, 

Range 14 West of the 5th P.M., Black Hawk County, Iowa, described as follows: 

329

Item 4.



Beginning at a point on the South line of said Northwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter, which 

point is 220 feet East of the East line of the Chicago, Great Western Railroad right-of-way, said 

point also being 323 feet East of the Southwest corner of said Northwest Quarter of the Southeast 

Quarter; thence East along said South line. 60 feet; thence North and parallel to said Railroad right-

of-way, 200 feet; thence West and parallel to said South line, 60 feet; thence South and parallel to 

said Chicago, Great Western Railroad right-of-way, 200 feet, to the place of beginning. 

 

AND 

 

That part of the Northwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 13. Township 89 North, 

Range 14 West of the 5th P. M., Black Hawk, County, Iowa, described as follows: 

Beginning at a point on the South line of said Northwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter, which 

point is 160 feet East of the East line of the Chicago, Great Western Railroad right-of-way, said 

point also being 263 feet East of the Southwest corner of said Northwest Quarter of the Southeast 

Quarter; thence East along said South line, 60 feet; thence  North and parallel to said Railroad right 

-of-way, 200 feet; thence West and parallel to said South line, 60 feet; thence South and parallel 

to said Chicago, Great Western Railroad right-of-way, 200 feet, to the place of beginning. 
 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby 

amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the C-2, Commercial 

District, and the amended map is hereby ordained to be the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, as amended. 

  

  

INTRODUCED:     June 17, 2024    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   June 17, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   July 1, 2024    

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

 

 

             

ATTEST:        Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

 

       

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

330

Item 4.



331

Item 5.



332

Item 5.



333

Item 5.



334

Item 5.



335

Item 5.



ORDINANCE NO. 3070 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SECTION 10-3, CONTAINERS; PLACEMENT FOR 

COLLECTION; PENALTY FOR VIOLATION, TO ADD A MUNICIPAL INFRACTION 

FOR OVERFILLED GARBAGE AND YARD WASTE CONTAINERS; AND 2) 

AMENDING SUBSECTION (g), GARBAGE AND REFUSE AND YARD WASTE 

SERVICE CHARGES, OF SECTION 10-5, SERVICE CHARGES--ESTABLISHED, 

TO REMOVE FEES FOR ASPHALT SHINGLE RECYCLING NO LONGER 

OFFERED AND TO ADD A FEE FOR RETURN GARBAGE COLLECTIONS; AND 3) 

REPEALING IN ITS ENTIRETY SUBSECTION (h), THE PLACING OF OR FAILURE 

TO REMOVE GARBAGE OR YARD WASTE CONTAINER WITHIN SPECIFIED 

TIME LIMITS, AND REPEALING IN ITS ENTIRETY SUBSECTION (i), ASPHALT 

SHINGLE RECYCLING, BOTH OF SECTION 10-5, SERVICE CHARGES—

ESTABLISHED, TO REMOVE SUPERFLUOUS PROVISIONS, ALL OF ARTICLE I, 

IN GENERAL, OF CHAPTER 10, GARBAGE AND REFUSE, OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

               Section 1.  Section 10-3, Containers; Placement for Collection; Penalty for Violation, of 

Article I, In General, of Chapter 10, Garbage and Refuse, of the Code of Ordinances of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 10-3, Containers; 

Placement for Collection; Penalty for Violation, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows:  

Sec. 10-3. Containers; placement for collection; penalty for violation. 

(a) Every owner or occupant of any private dwelling, trailer, apartment or business establishment shall have all 
garbage drained and bagged for deposit and placed in a publicly owned container, unless otherwise 
exempted from use of city collection service by the director of public works pursuant to section 10-2(3) and 
(4). All yard waste shall be placed in special publicly owned yard waste containers for automated pickup, 
except for leaves made available for a special fall leaf pickup on such schedule and in such manner as shall be 
determined by the city.  

(b) Unless otherwise specified by the director of public works, publicly owned garbage and yard waste 
containers shall be placed in a neat and orderly manner in the front of the premises at or near the curb line 
so as to allow the most convenient collection. All privately owned garbage and refuse containers shall 
likewise be placed in a neat and orderly manner in the front of the premises at or near the curb line or at the 
rear of the premises or near the edge of an alley, as the case may be.  

(c)     No publicly or privately owned garbage container, and no publicly owned yard waste container, shall be 
placed prior to 6:00 p.m. on the day preceding collection and the same must be removed not later than 8:00 
p.m. on the day of collection, or as otherwise directed by the director of public works. 

(d)     No publicly or privately owned garbage container, and no publicly owned yard waste container, shall be 
overfilled, which is defined as the contents of the container being in such a quantity as to result in the 
container lid being open greater than forty-five degrees from full closure at the time of collection 

(e) In areas designated by the director of public works as one-sided collection areas, all publicly owned garbage 
and yard waste containers shall be placed as provided for in subsection (b) of this section except that such 
containers shall be placed at or near the same curb line on the same side of the street or alley as indicated in 
the designation.  

(f) The director of public works shall have the authority to designate the proper placement for collection, if 
other than as provided for in subsection (b) of this section, of publicly and privately owned garbage 
containers and publicly owned yard waste containers for every private dwelling, trailer, apartment or 

336

Item 5.



business establishment, provided that the owner or occupant is given at least 30 days' advance notice prior 
to the effective date of the designation.  

(g)     A person who violates any provision of this section shall be deemed to have committed a municipal 
infraction, and shall be subject to punishment as follows: 

          (1)     For violation of subsection (a), (b), (e), or (f), a civil penalty as provided in section 1-9(a). 

          (2)     For violation of subsection (c) or (d), a civil penalty in the amount of $15.00 for each occurrence. 

(h)     Violation of any provision of this section may result in the assessment of infraction points against the owner 
of a dwelling unit subject to the Cedar Falls Minimum Rental-Housing Code, in addition to the penalty 
specified herein.   

(Code 2017, § 12-3; Ord. No. 2656, § 1, 5-27-2008; Ord. No. 2896, § 2, 3-6-2017; Ord. No. 2941, § 3, 6-3-2019) 

 

             Section 2.  Subsection (g), Garbage and Refuse and Yard Waste Service 

Charges, of Section 10-5, Service Charges—Established, of Article I, In General, of Chapter 10, 

Garbage and Refuse, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (g), Garbage and Refuse and Yard Waste Service 

Charges, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows:  

Sec. 10-5. Service charges—Established. 

                           [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

(g) Garbage and refuse and yard waste service charges. 

Christmas tree tags purchased for disposal of trees for 
pick-up at curb  

$1.25/each  

Appliances brought to the city transfer station  $10.00/each  

Cathode ray tube monitors (computer and television 
monitors)  

$7.50/each  

Automobile tire  $2.50/each  

  With rim  $5.00/each  

Truck or tractor tire  $6.50/each  

  With rim  $9.00/each  

Purchase of empty bags for sand at the city transfer 
station  

$0.50/each  

Yard waste containers (other than city-issued 
containers) brought to the city transfer station  

$0.75/each  

Garbage bag tags placed on top of cart at curb  $1.25/each  

Dumping of commercial or apartment dumpsters  See subsection 10.5(f) for rate schedule  

Three yard containers  See subsection 10.5(f) for rate schedule  

Solid waste disposal bags brought to the city transfer 
station  

$0.75/each  

Minimum tipping fees at the city transfer station:  

  Solid waste up to 260 pounds  $7.00/dump  

  Yard waste up to 400 pounds  $7.00/dump  

Solid Waste / Demolition dumping at the city transfer 
station  

$65.00/ton  

Yard waste  $29.50/ton  

337

Item 5.



Scale charge  $3.00  

Cart delivery; exchanging automated carts (this charge 
will be implemented if resident continues to change 
sizes)  

$20.00  

Leaf vacuum service  $50.00  

   

   

Additional yard waste container (no more than a total 
of two; non-refundable fee)  

$50.00  

Commercial Cardboard Containers  $10.00/dump  

Commercial Bulk Recycling drop off  $50.00/dump  

Return Service Fee $15,00 

 

                                                             [unchanged provisions omitted] 

          Section 3.  Subsection (h), The Placing of or Failure to Remove Garbage or Yard Waste 

Container Within Specified Time Limits, and Subsection (i), Asphalt Shingle Recycling, both of 

Section 10-5, Service Charges—Established, of Article I, In General, of Chapter 10, Garbage 

and Refuse, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are hereby repealed in 

their entirety, as follows:  

Sec. 10-5. Service charges—Established. 

                                     [unchanged provisions omitted] 

                                 

INTRODUCED:      June 17, 2024    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:    June 17, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:    July 1, 2024    

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:         

ADOPTED:            

 

                                                                                     _________________________ 

                                                                                     Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

338

Item 5.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Laudick, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: June 18, 2024 

   SUBJECT:   Amendments to Chapter 2; Section 17-210(a); Section 23-374; and Section 26-

165 of the Code of Ordinances 

 
 

Please find attached several proposed amendments to the Code of Ordinances.  These 

changes are a continuation of staff’s project to “clean up” the Code in terms of outdated or 

incorrect provisions based on changes in the law or City practice. 

 

In this group there are several changes to Chapter 2 of the Code.  All the proposed changes 

eliminate references to civil service provisions for staff positions that are clearly not subject to 

civil service laws. 

 

The proposed change to Section 17-210(a) clarifies that no public event permit is needed for 

City-sponsored events on City property. 

 

The proposed change to Section 23-374 eliminates an outdated reference to police parking at 

City Hall. 

 

Finally, the proposed change to Section 26-165 eliminates a prohibition on animal and poultry 

husbandry that conflicts with the City’s backyard poultry ordinances. 

 

Approval of these changes is recommended.  Feel free to contact me with any questions..   

339

Item 6.



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 

2-512, CONTROLLER/CITY TREASURER, OF DIVISION 2, FINANCIAL SERVICES 

DIVISION, OF ARTICLE V, DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS 

OPERATIONS; AND 2)  AMENDING SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF 

SECTION 2-537, INFORMATION SYSTEMS MANAGER, OF DIVISION 3, 

INFORMATION SYSTEMS DIVISION, OF ARTICLE V, DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE 

AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS; AND 3)  AMENDING SUBSECTION (a), 

APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-572, CITY CLERK, OF DIVISION 4, PUBLIC 

RECORDS DIVISION, OF ARTICLE V, DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND 

BUSINESS OPERATIONS; AND 4)  AMENDING SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT; 

SUPERVISION, OF SECTION 2-599, APPOINTMENT, POWERS AND DUTIES OF 

CITY ATTORNEY, OF DIVISION 5, LEGAL SERVICES DIVISION, OF ARTICLE V, 

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS; AND 5)  AMENDING 

SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT; SUPERVISION, OF SECTION 2-613, 

APPOINTMENT, POWERS AND DUTIES OF HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGER; 

OF DIVISION 6, HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION, OF ARTICLE V, DEPARTMENT 

OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS; AND 6)  AMENDING SUBSECTION 

(a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-690, PLANNING AND COMMUNITY 

SERVICES MANAGER, OF DIVISION 2, PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 

DIVISION, OF ARTICLE VI, DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT; 

AND 7)  AMENDING SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-717, 

MANAGER, OF DIVISION  3, TOURISM/CULTURAL PROGRAMS DIVISION, OF 

ARTICLE VI, DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT; AND 8)  

AMENDING SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-744, BUILDING 

OFFICIAL, OF DIVISION 4, INSPECTION SERVICES DIVISION, OF ARTICLE VI, 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT; AND 9)  AMENDING 

SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-780, MANAGER, OF DIVISION 

5, RECREATION AND COMMUNITY PROGRAMS DIVISION, OF ARTICLE VI, 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT; AND 10)  AMENDING 

SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-837, MANAGER OF 

OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE, OF DIVISION 2, OPERATIONS AND 

MAINTENANCE DIVISION, OF ARTICLE VII, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS; 

AND 11)  AMENDING SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-865, 

CITY ENGINEER, OF DIVISION 3, ENGINEERING SERVICES DIVISION, OF 

ARTICLE VII, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS; AND 12)  AMENDING 

SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-876, WATER RECLAMATION 

MANAGER, OF DIVISION 4, WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION, OF ARTICLE VII, 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS, ALL OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, OF 

THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO OMIT 

REFERENCES TO CIVIL SERVICE LAWS IN THE APPOINTMENT OF NON-CIVIL 

SERVICE EMPLOYEES. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

340

Item 6.



2 
 

             Section 1.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-512, Controller/City 

Treasurer, of Division 2, Financial Services Division, of Article V, Department of Finance and 

Business Operations, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of 

Section 2-512 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-512. Controller/city treasurer. 

(a) Appointment. A controller/city treasurer shall be appointed by the director of finance and business 
operations and shall be directly responsible to the director of finance and business operations. Such 
appointment shall be in accordance with all statutory civil service procedures.  

                                            [unchanged provisions omitted]  

 

                         Section 2.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-537, Information Systems 

Manager, of Division 2, Information Systems Division, of Article V, Department of Finance and 

Business Operations, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of 

Section 2-537 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-537. Information systems manager. 

(a) Appointment. An information systems manager shall be appointed by the director of finance and business 
operations and shall be directly responsible to the director of finance and business operations. Such 
appointment shall be in accordance with all statutory civil service procedures.  

                                                           [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

                          Section 3.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-572, City Clerk, of 

Division 4, Public Records Division, of Article V, Department of Finance and Business 

Operations, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-572 

is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-572. City clerk. 

(a) Appointment. A city clerk shall be appointed by the city council upon recommendation of the director of 
finance and business operations. The finance and business operations director shall be responsible for the 
daily supervision of the city clerk and annual review of the city clerk's performance. Such appointment shall 
be in accordance with all statutory civil service procedures and section 2-159. Upon entering the duties of 
city clerk, the oath or affirmation of public office shall be administered.  

                                            [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

                           Section 4.  Subsection (a), Appointment; Supervision, of Section 2-599, 

Appointment, Powers and Duties of City Attorney, of Division 5, Legal Services Division, of 

341

Item 6.



3 
 

Article V, Department of Finance and Business Operations, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the 

Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new 

Subsection (a), Appointment; Supervision, of Section 2-599 is enacted in lieu thereof, as 

follows: 

Sec. 2-599. Appointment, powers and duties of city attorney. 

(a) Appointment; supervision. A city attorney shall be appointed by the director of finance and business 
operations and shall be responsible to such director. The finance and business operations director shall be 
responsible for the daily supervision of the city attorney and file an annual evaluation of the city attorney's 
performance. Such appointment shall be in accordance with all statutory civil service procedures and section 
2-159.  

                                              [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

                           Section 5.  Subsection (a), Appointment; Supervision, of Section 2-613, 

Appointment, Powers and Duties of Human Resources Manager, of Division 6, Human 

Resources Division, of Article V, Department of Finance and Business Operations, of Chapter 2, 

Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in 

its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment; Supervision, of Section 2-613 is enacted in 

lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-613. Appointment, powers and duties of human resources manager. 

(a) Appointment; supervision. A human resources manager shall be appointed by the director of finance and 
business operations and shall be responsible to such director. Such appointment shall be in accordance with 
all statutory civil service procedures.  

                                                              [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

                                 Section 6.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-690, Planning and 

Community Services Manager, of Division 2, Planning and Community Services Division, of 

Article VI, Department of Community Development, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new 

Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-690 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-690. Planning and community services manager. 

(a) Appointment. A planning and community services manager shall be appointed by the director of community 
development and shall be directly responsible to the director of community development. The planning and 
community services manager shall act as the city planner and the city zoning administrator. Such 
appointment shall be in accordance with all statutory civil service procedures.  

                                             [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

 

342

Item 6.



4 
 

 

 

                          Section 7.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-717, Manager, of Division 

3, Tourism/Cultural Programs Division, of Article VI, Department of Community Development, of 

Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-717 is enacted in 

lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-717. Manager. 

(a) Appointment. A visitors and tourism/cultural programs division manager shall be appointed by the director 
of community development. Such appointment shall be in accordance with all statutory civil service 
procedures.  

                                              [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

                            Section 8.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-744, Building Official, of 

Division 4, Inspection Services Division, of Article VI, Department of Community Development, 

of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is 

hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-744 is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-744. Building official. 

(a) Appointment. A building official shall be appointed by the director of community development and shall be 
directly responsible to the director of community development. Such appointment shall be in accordance 
with all statutory civil service procedures.  

                                                 [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

                            Section 9.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-780, Manager, of 

Division 5, Recreation and Community Programs Division, of Article VI, Department of 

Community Development, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of 

Section 2-780 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-780. Manager. 

(a) Appointment. A recreation and community programs division manager shall be appointed by the director of 
community development and shall be directly responsible to the director of community development. Such 
appointment shall be in accordance with all statutory civil service procedures.  

                                                   [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

343

Item 6.



5 
 

                    Section 10.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-837, Manager of Operations 

and Maintenance, of Division 2, Operations and Maintenance Division, of Article VII, 

Department of Public Works, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, 

of Section 2-837 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-837. Manager of operations and maintenance. 

(a) Appointment. The manager of operations and maintenance shall be appointed by and shall be directly 
responsible to the director of public works. Such appointment shall be in accordance with all statutory civil 
service procedures.  

                                              [unchanged provisions omitted]   

 

                      Section 11.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-865, City Engineer, of 

Division 3, Engineering Services Division, of Article VII, Department of Public Works, of Chapter 

2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed 

in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-865 is enacted in lieu 

thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-865. City engineer. 

(a) Appointment. A city engineer shall be appointed by the public works director and shall be directly 
responsible to the director of public works. Such appointment shall be in accordance with all statutory civil 
service procedures.  

                                             [unchanged provisions omitted]      

                         

                      Section 12.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-876, Water Reclamation 

Manager, of Division 4, Water Reclamation Division, of Article VII, Department of Public Works, 

of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is 

hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-876 is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-876. Water reclamation manager. 

(a) Appointment. A manager of water reclamation shall be appointed by and shall be directly responsible to the 
director of public works. Such appointment shall be in accordance with all statutory civil service procedures. 
The manager will also serve as the superintendent of water reclamation.  

                                           [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

344

Item 6.



6 
 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                     _________________________ 

                                                                                       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

345

Item 6.



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 3071 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 

2-512, CONTROLLER/CITY TREASURER, OF DIVISION 2, FINANCIAL SERVICES 

DIVISION, OF ARTICLE V, DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS 

OPERATIONS; AND 2)  AMENDING SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF 

SECTION 2-537, INFORMATION SYSTEMS MANAGER, OF DIVISION 3, 

INFORMATION SYSTEMS DIVISION, OF ARTICLE V, DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE 

AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS; AND 3)  AMENDING SUBSECTION (a), 

APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-572, CITY CLERK, OF DIVISION 4, PUBLIC 

RECORDS DIVISION, OF ARTICLE V, DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND 

BUSINESS OPERATIONS; AND 4)  AMENDING SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT; 

SUPERVISION, OF SECTION 2-599, APPOINTMENT, POWERS AND DUTIES OF 

CITY ATTORNEY, OF DIVISION 5, LEGAL SERVICES DIVISION, OF ARTICLE V, 

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS; AND 5)  AMENDING 

SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT; SUPERVISION, OF SECTION 2-613, 

APPOINTMENT, POWERS AND DUTIES OF HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGER; 

OF DIVISION 6, HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION, OF ARTICLE V, DEPARTMENT 

OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS; AND 6)  AMENDING SUBSECTION 

(a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-690, PLANNING AND COMMUNITY 

SERVICES MANAGER, OF DIVISION 2, PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 

DIVISION, OF ARTICLE VI, DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT; 

AND 7)  AMENDING SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-717, 

MANAGER, OF DIVISION  3, TOURISM/CULTURAL PROGRAMS DIVISION, OF 

ARTICLE VI, DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT; AND 8)  

AMENDING SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-744, BUILDING 

OFFICIAL, OF DIVISION 4, INSPECTION SERVICES DIVISION, OF ARTICLE VI, 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT; AND 9)  AMENDING 

SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-780, MANAGER, OF DIVISION 

5, RECREATION AND COMMUNITY PROGRAMS DIVISION, OF ARTICLE VI, 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT; AND 10)  AMENDING 

SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-837, MANAGER OF 

OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE, OF DIVISION 2, OPERATIONS AND 

MAINTENANCE DIVISION, OF ARTICLE VII, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS; 

AND 11)  AMENDING SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-865, 

CITY ENGINEER, OF DIVISION 3, ENGINEERING SERVICES DIVISION, OF 

ARTICLE VII, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS; AND 12)  AMENDING 

SUBSECTION (a), APPOINTMENT, OF SECTION 2-876, WATER RECLAMATION 

MANAGER, OF DIVISION 4, WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION, OF ARTICLE VII, 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS, ALL OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, OF 

THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO OMIT 

REFERENCES TO CIVIL SERVICE LAWS IN THE APPOINTMENT OF NON-CIVIL 

SERVICE EMPLOYEES. 

 

346

Item 6.



2 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

             Section 1.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-512, Controller/City 

Treasurer, of Division 2, Financial Services Division, of Article V, Department of Finance and 

Business Operations, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of 

Section 2-512 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-512. Controller/city treasurer. 

(a) Appointment. A controller/city treasurer shall be appointed by the director of finance and business 
operations and shall be directly responsible to the director of finance and business operations.  

                                            [unchanged provisions omitted]  

 

                         Section 2.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-537, Information Systems 

Manager, of Division 2, Information Systems Division, of Article V, Department of Finance and 

Business Operations, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of 

Section 2-537 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-537. Information systems manager. 

(a) Appointment. An information systems manager shall be appointed by the director of finance and business 
operations and shall be directly responsible to the director of finance and business operations. 

                                                           [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

                          Section 3.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-572, City Clerk, of 

Division 4, Public Records Division, of Article V, Department of Finance and Business 

Operations, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-572 

is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-572. City clerk. 

(a) Appointment. A city clerk shall be appointed by the city council upon recommendation of the director of 
finance and business operations. The finance and business operations director shall be responsible for the 
daily supervision of the city clerk and annual review of the city clerk's performance. Upon entering the duties 
of city clerk, the oath or affirmation of public office shall be administered.  

                                            [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

                           Section 4.  Subsection (a), Appointment; Supervision, of Section 2-599, 

Appointment, Powers and Duties of City Attorney, of Division 5, Legal Services Division, of 

Article V, Department of Finance and Business Operations, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the 

347

Item 6.



3 
 

Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new 

Subsection (a), Appointment; Supervision, of Section 2-599 is enacted in lieu thereof, as 

follows: 

Sec. 2-599. Appointment, powers and duties of city attorney. 

(a) Appointment; supervision. A city attorney shall be appointed by the director of finance and business 
operations and shall be responsible to such director. The finance and business operations director shall be 
responsible for the daily supervision of the city attorney and file an annual evaluation of the city attorney's 
performance. 

                                              [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

                           Section 5.  Subsection (a), Appointment; Supervision, of Section 2-613, 

Appointment, Powers and Duties of Human Resources Manager, of Division 6, Human 

Resources Division, of Article V, Department of Finance and Business Operations, of Chapter 2, 

Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in 

its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment; Supervision, of Section 2-613 is enacted in 

lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-613. Appointment, powers and duties of human resources manager. 

(a) Appointment; supervision. A human resources manager shall be appointed by the director of finance and 
business operations and shall be responsible to such director.  

                                                              [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

                                 Section 6.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-690, Planning and 

Community Services Manager, of Division 2, Planning and Community Services Division, of 

Article VI, Department of Community Development, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new 

Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-690 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-690. Planning and community services manager. 

(a) Appointment. A planning and community services manager shall be appointed by the director of community 
development and shall be directly responsible to the director of community development. The planning and 
community services manager shall act as the city planner and the city zoning administrator.  

                                             [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

                          Section 7.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-717, Manager, of Division 

3, Tourism/Cultural Programs Division, of Article VI, Department of Community Development, of 

Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-717 is enacted in 

lieu thereof, as follows: 

348

Item 6.



4 
 

Sec. 2-717. Manager. 

(a) Appointment. A visitors and tourism/cultural programs division manager shall be appointed by the director 
of community development.  

                                              [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

                            Section 8.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-744, Building Official, of 

Division 4, Inspection Services Division, of Article VI, Department of Community Development, 

of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is 

hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-744 is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-744. Building official. 

(a) Appointment. A building official shall be appointed by the director of community development and shall be 
directly responsible to the director of community development. 

                                                 [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

                            Section 9.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-780, Manager, of 

Division 5, Recreation and Community Programs Division, of Article VI, Department of 

Community Development, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of 

Section 2-780 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-780. Manager. 

(a) Appointment. A recreation and community programs division manager shall be appointed by the director of 
community development and shall be directly responsible to the director of community development.  

                                                   [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

                    Section 10.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-837, Manager of Operations 

and Maintenance, of Division 2, Operations and Maintenance Division, of Article VII, 

Department of Public Works, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, 

of Section 2-837 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-837. Manager of operations and maintenance. 

(a) Appointment. The manager of operations and maintenance shall be appointed by and shall be directly 
responsible to the director of public works.  

                                              [unchanged provisions omitted]   

 

349

Item 6.



5 
 

                      Section 11.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-865, City Engineer, of 

Division 3, Engineering Services Division, of Article VII, Department of Public Works, of Chapter 

2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed 

in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-865 is enacted in lieu 

thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-865. City engineer. 

(a) Appointment. A city engineer shall be appointed by the public works director and shall be directly 
responsible to the director of public works.  

                                             [unchanged provisions omitted]      

                         

                      Section 12.  Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-876, Water Reclamation 

Manager, of Division 4, Water Reclamation Division, of Article VII, Department of Public Works, 

of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is 

hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection (a), Appointment, of Section 2-876 is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-876. Water reclamation manager. 

(a) Appointment. A manager of water reclamation shall be appointed by and shall be directly responsible to the 
director of public works. The manager will also serve as the superintendent of water reclamation.  

                                           [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

INTRODUCED:     July 1, 2024    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   July 1, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

 

 

                                                                                            

                                                                                       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

350

Item 6.



6 
 

 

351

Item 6.



ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING UNTITLED SUBSECTION (a) OF SECTION 17-210, 

PUBLIC EVENTS ON CITY PROPERTY, OF ARTICLE V, PARK REGULATIONS, 

OF CHAPTER 17, PARKS AND RECREATION, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO CLARIFY THAT CITY SPONSORED 

EVENTS AND ACTIVITIES ARE NOT SUBJECT TO A PUBLIC EVENT PERMIT. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

             Untitled Subsection (a) of Section 17-210, Public Events on City Property, of 

Article V, Parks and Regulations, of Chapter 17, Parks and Recreation, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new untitled 

subsection (a) of Section 17-210 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows:  

Sec. 17-210. Public events on city property. 

(a) Persons who wish to use city owned, occupied or controlled areas or facilities for public events must first 
obtain a permit as described in this section from the director of finance and business operations or designee.  
City sponsored events and activities are not subject to this section.  

                                          [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                     _________________________ 

                                                                                       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

352

Item 7.



 

 

 

 

353

Item 7.



ORDINANCE NO. 3072 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING UNTITLED SUBSECTION (a) OF SECTION 17-210, 

PUBLIC EVENTS ON CITY PROPERTY, OF ARTICLE V, PARK REGULATIONS, 

OF CHAPTER 17, PARKS AND RECREATION, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO CLARIFY THAT CITY SPONSORED 

EVENTS AND ACTIVITIES ARE NOT SUBJECT TO A PUBLIC EVENT PERMIT. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

             Untitled Subsection (a) of Section 17-210, Public Events on City Property, of 

Article V, Parks and Regulations, of Chapter 17, Parks and Recreation, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new untitled 

subsection (a) of Section 17-210 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows:  

Sec. 17-210. Public events on city property. 

(a) Persons who wish to use city owned, occupied or controlled areas or facilities for public events must first 
obtain a permit as described in this section from the director of finance and business operations or designee.  
City sponsored events and activities are not subject to this section.  

                                          [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

INTRODUCED:     July 1, 2024    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   July 1, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

 

                                                                                           

                                                                                     Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 
      
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

354

Item 7.



 

 

 

 

355

Item 7.



ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SUBSECTION “CLAY STREET” OF SECTION 23-374, 

PARKING PROHIBITED ON SPECIFIC STREETS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, 

OF ARTICLE IV, STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, 

TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO CLARIFY THE IDENTITY OF THE PARKING 

LOT NORTH OF CITY HALL. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

             Subsection “Clay Street” (Table) of Section 23-374, Parking Prohibited on Specific 

Streets, of Division 1, Generally, of Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, 

Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection “Clay Street” (Table) of Section 23-374 is enacted 

in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 23-374. Parking prohibited on specific streets. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle at any time upon any of the 
streets or portions of streets enumerated in this section.  

                                   

Street  Portion Where  
Parking Prohibited  

 

            [unchanged provisions omitted] 

Clay Street  On both sides between 
First Street and a point 
35 feet south of the 
south line of First 
Street.  

  On both sides of said 
street from the south 
curb line of West Third 
Street north a distance 
of 245 feet to the 
north line of the 
driveway entrance to 
the city hall 
northpolice station 
parking lot, extended 
westerly, on Saturday 
mornings only 

356

Item 8.



commencing with the 
first Saturday of May 
of each year and 
continuing through the 
last Saturday of 
October of each year 
during the hours of 
6:00 a.m. to 12:00 
noon.  

  On both sides of said 
street from the south 
curb line of West Third 
Street south a distance 
of 134 feet to the 
north line of the 
northerly driveway 
entrance to the Cedar 
Falls Women's Club 
parking lot, on 
Saturday mornings 
only, commencing with 
the first Saturday of 
May of each year and 
continuing through the 
last Saturday of 
October of each year 
during the hours of 
6:00 a.m. to 12:00 
noon.  

  On the east side from 
the south curb line of 
West Third Street 
south a distance of 35 
feet.  

  On both sides from 
the south curb line of 
West Fourth Street 
south a distance of 48 
feet.  

  On the east side from 
the north curb line of 
West Fifth Street north 
a distance of 32 feet.  

357

Item 8.



  On the west side from 
the north curb line of 
West Sixth Street 
north a distance of 41 
feet.  

  On the east side from 
the north curb line of 
West Sixth Street 
north a distance of 41 
feet.  

  On the east side from 
15th Street to 18th 
Street.  

  On the west side 
between 15th Street 
and 18th Street.  

  On both sides 
between 18th Street 
and Seerley Boulevard.  

 

                 [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                     _________________________ 

                                                                                       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

358

Item 8.



 

 

 

 

 

359

Item 8.



ORDINANCE NO. 3073 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SUBSECTION “CLAY STREET” OF SECTION 23-374, 

PARKING PROHIBITED ON SPECIFIC STREETS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, 

OF ARTICLE IV, STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, 

TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO CLARIFY THE IDENTITY OF THE PARKING 

LOT NORTH OF CITY HALL. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

             Subsection “Clay Street” (Table) of Section 23-374, Parking Prohibited on Specific 

Streets, of Division 1, Generally, of Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, 

Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection “Clay Street” (Table) of Section 23-374 is enacted 

in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 23-374. Parking prohibited on specific streets. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle at any time upon any of the 
streets or portions of streets enumerated in this section.  

                                   

Street  Portion Where  
Parking Prohibited  

 

            [unchanged provisions omitted] 

Clay Street  On both sides between 
First Street and a point 
35 feet south of the 
south line of First 
Street.  

  On both sides of said 
street from the south 
curb line of West Third 
Street north a distance 
of 245 feet to the 
north line of the 
driveway to the city 
hall north parking lot, 
extended westerly, on 
Saturday mornings 
only commencing with 
the first Saturday of 

360

Item 8.



May of each year and 
continuing through the 
last Saturday of 
October of each year 
during the hours of 
6:00 a.m. to 12:00 
noon.  

  On both sides of said 
street from the south 
curb line of West Third 
Street south a distance 
of 134 feet to the 
north line of the 
northerly driveway 
entrance to the Cedar 
Falls Women's Club 
parking lot, on 
Saturday mornings 
only, commencing with 
the first Saturday of 
May of each year and 
continuing through the 
last Saturday of 
October of each year 
during the hours of 
6:00 a.m. to 12:00 
noon.  

  On the east side from 
the south curb line of 
West Third Street 
south a distance of 35 
feet.  

  On both sides from 
the south curb line of 
West Fourth Street 
south a distance of 48 
feet.  

  On the east side from 
the north curb line of 
West Fifth Street north 
a distance of 32 feet.  

  On the west side from 
the north curb line of 

361

Item 8.



West Sixth Street 
north a distance of 41 
feet.  

  On the east side from 
the north curb line of 
West Sixth Street 
north a distance of 41 
feet.  

  On the east side from 
15th Street to 18th 
Street.  

  On the west side 
between 15th Street 
and 18th Street.  

  On both sides 
between 18th Street 
and Seerley Boulevard.  

 

                 [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

INTRODUCED:     July 1, 2024    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   July 1, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

 

                                                                                            

                                                                                       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

      
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

362

Item 8.



ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SUBSECTION (1), PRINCIPAL PERMITTED USES, 

OF SECTION 26-165, R-2 RESIDENCE DISTRICT, OF DIVISION 2, SPECIFIC 

DISTRICTS, OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF 

CHAPTER 26, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO ELIMINATE AN OBSOLETE REFERENCE TO ANIMAL 

AND POULTRY HUSBANDRY. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Subsection (1), Principal Permitted Uses, of Section 26-165, R-2 Residence District, 

of Division 2, Specific Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, 

Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its 

entirety and a new Subsection (1), Principal Permitted Uses, of Section 26-165 is enacted in lieu 

thereof, as follows:  

Sec. 26-165. R-2 Residence District. 

In the R-2 Residence District, the following provisions, regulations and restrictions shall apply:  

(1) Principal permitted uses. Principal permitted uses are any use permitted in the R-1 Residence District., 
but not including animal and poultry husbandry on any lands used or platted for residential purposes.  

                                          [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                     _________________________ 

                                                                                       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

363

Item 9.



 

 

 

 

 

364

Item 9.



ORDINANCE NO. 3074 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SUBSECTION (1), PRINCIPAL PERMITTED USES, 

OF SECTION 26-165, R-2 RESIDENCE DISTRICT, OF DIVISION 2, SPECIFIC 

DISTRICTS, OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF 

CHAPTER 26, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO ELIMINATE AN OBSOLETE REFERENCE TO ANIMAL 

AND POULTRY HUSBANDRY. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Subsection (1), Principal Permitted Uses, of Section 26-165, R-2 Residence District, 

of Division 2, Specific Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, 

Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its 

entirety and a new Subsection (1), Principal Permitted Uses, of Section 26-165 is enacted in lieu 

thereof, as follows:  

Sec. 26-165. R-2 Residence District. 

In the R-2 Residence District, the following provisions, regulations and restrictions shall apply:  

(1) Principal permitted uses. Principal permitted uses are any use permitted in the R-1 Residence District.  

                                          [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

INTRODUCED:     July 1, 2024    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   July 1, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

 

            

                                                                                           Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

      

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

365

Item 9.



  
 

MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall, 220 Clay Street 

July 1, 2024 
 

The meeting of the Committee of the Whole met at City Hall at 6:21 p.m. on July 1, 2024, with the 
following Committee persons in attendance: Mayor Daniel Laudick, Councilmembers Gil Schultz, 
Chris Latta, Daryl Kruse (via electronic), Aaron Hawbaker, Dustin Ganfield, and Hannah Crisman.  
Absent: Kelly Dunn. Staff members from all City Departments and members of the community 
attended in person.   
 
Mayor Laudick called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the Committee of the 
Whole agenda, FY2025 Cash Management Report and introduced Lisa Roeding, Controller/City 
Treasurer. Roeding reviewed the investments and rates of return, operating cash reserves and 
provided an outline of our financial position, and capital expenditures. Roeding stated that in 
FY2024 we will watch cash reserves that include the rollback and state backfill, national and local 
economies and any state legislature action.  It was motioned by Crisman and seconded by Schultz 
to recommend approval of the FY2025 Cash Management Report. Councilmembers thanked 
Roeding and the Finance Department staff; discussed money interest rates and the City’s AAA 
bond rating and rates, with responses from Roeding and Finance and Business Operations 
Director Jennifer Rodenbeck. Rick Sharp, Cedar Falls, spoke about the market rates, working with 
local banks, the parking fund balance and future funding. Rodenbeck and Roeding responded 
regarding Police and Fire pension funds, vehicle maintenance and replacement funding. 
Councilmember Schultz asked about vehicle maintenance and replacement and Roeding 
responded. Councilmember Kruse asked about new bonds and interest rates with responses from 
Rodenbeck; Kruse questioned AA versus AAA bond rates.  The motion to recommend the approval 
of the FY2025 cash management report was put to vote. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, 
Ganfield, Crisman. Nay: None. Motion passed. 
 
Mayor Laudick introduced the second item on the Committee of the Whole agenda, Proposed Health 
Plan Amendments, and introduced Human Resources Manager Bailey Schindel.  Schindel gave an 
overview of current policy regarding group health continuation coverage for line-of-duty deaths and 
proposed changes to the City’s health plan policies for eligible Peace Officers and Firefighters to 
include duty-related (which encompasses both line-of-duty and accidental death) continuation of 
policy and stop-loss coverage for eligible spouses and children.  Councilmembers discussed 
specificity to Police and Fire, how eligibility is determined, continuation of coverage versus re-
enrollment, frequency of these circumstances, agreement of coverage by Wellmark Blue Cross and 
Blue Shield, eligible family members, and cost to the City.  Schindel, Director of Business and 
Finance Jennifer Rodenbeck, Public Safety Director Craig Berte, and Mayor Laudick responded.   
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:07 p.m. 
 
Minutes by Katie Terhune, Administrative Supervisor 

366

Item 10.



 MAYOR DANNY LAUDICK  
  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 PHONE 319-273-8600 
 FAX 319-268-5126 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 
 

 

 

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Danny Laudick   

 DATE: July 15, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Art and Culture Board – Member Reappointment 

 REF: (a) Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls §17-133: Art and Culture Board 

  (b) CFD 9101.22d: Appointment Process for City Boards and Commissions 

 

1. In accordance with the candidacy and qualification requirements of reference (a) 
and (b), I hereby nominate Peter Berendzen for reappointment to a four year term 
expiring on July 1, 2028.  
  

2. The board service of Berendzen has been reviewed by Community Development 
staff; Berendzen has had satisfactory attendance and actively contributes to the 
work of the Board; Berendzen has agreed to serve for an additional term if approved 
by the City Council. 
 

 

 

xc:   City Administrator 

  Stephanie Houk-Sheetz, Director of Community Development 

  Jennifer Pickar, Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager 

 

 
 

### 
 
 
 

367

Item 11.



368

Item 12.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council Members 

 FROM: Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

 DATE: July 3, 2024 

 SUBJECT:  FY2025 Cash Management Report 

 
Attached is the FY2025 Cash Management Report, which was presented to the Council 
at Committee of the Whole on July 1, 2024. The Council recommended the FY2025 Cash 
Management report be received, filed and approved at the July 1, 2024 Council Meeting. 
 
If you have any questions about the report, please feel free to contact me.  
 
cc: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

369

Item 13.



370

Item 13.



371

Item 13.



372

Item 13.



373

Item 13.



374

Item 13.



375

Item 13.



376

Item 13.



377

Item 13.



378

Item 13.



379

Item 13.



380

Item 13.



381

Item 13.



382

Item 13.



383

Item 13.



384

Item 13.



385

Item 13.



386

Item 13.



387

Item 13.



388

Item 13.



389

Item 13.



390

Item 13.



391

Item 13.



392

Item 13.



393

Item 13.



394

Item 13.



395

Item 13.



396

Item 13.



397

Item 13.



398

Item 13.



399

Item 13.



400

Item 13.



401

Item 13.



402

Item 13.



403

Item 13.



404

Item 13.



405

Item 13.



406

Item 13.



407

Item 13.



408

Item 13.



409

Item 13.



410

Item 13.



411

Item 13.



412

Item 13.



413

Item 13.



414

Item 13.



415

Item 13.



416

Item 13.



417

Item 13.



418

Item 13.



419

Item 13.



420

Item 13.



421

Item 13.



422

Item 13.



423

Item 13.



424

Item 13.



425

Item 13.



426

Item 13.



427

Item 13.



428

Item 13.



429

Item 13.



430

Item 13.



431

Item 13.



432

Item 13.



433

Item 13.



434

Item 13.



435

Item 13.



436

Item 13.



437

Item 13.



438

Item 13.



439

Item 13.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

TOURISM AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS 
6510 HUDSON ROAD 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-268-4266 

 
MEMORANDUM 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council Members 

 FROM: Cory Hurless, Cultural Programs Supervisor 

 DATE: June 27, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Art and Culture Board Bylaws Updates 
  
 
 
Attached please find updated Art and Culture Board Bylaws.  
 
One document is red lined so you can easily see recent updates. Items already covered 
in the City ordinance were removed. Changes were made to update the correct process 
for posting agendas and financial records, shift HR functions to city staff, and remove 
inactive standing committees. 
 
These changes were discussed and approved by the Art & Culture Board in June 2024.   
 
 
Cc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Community Development Director 
 Jennifer Pickar, Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager 
 

440

Item 14.



BYLAWS - Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board  
Revised 5/20/24 

1 
 

 

BYLAWS 

Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board  
 

The Cedar Falls Art & Culture Board was established in February 1987 (Ordinance 1827) and exists as the policy-making 
and advisory body that works with staff and the Cedar Falls City Council to develop and provide a high quality, multi-
faceted art and culture program for the citizens of Cedar Falls. 
 
 

Article I: Composition of the Board 

A. Appointment: Pursuant to City Code related to the Art and Culture Center and Board (herein after referred 

to as City Code). 
 

B. Term of Office: Terms begin July 1 of the initial year and end on the last day of June of the fourth year in 
office. 

 

C. Compensation:  Pursuant to City Code.  However, reimbursement of actual expenses must be pre-approved 

by the Department of Community Development. 
 

D. Absence from Board Meetings or Vacancies:  City Code.  
 

E. Ex Officio Members:  The Director of Community Development, the Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager, 
and the Cultural Programs Supervisor for the City of Cedar Falls shall each serve as ex officio members of the 
Board, without voting privileges.  Other individuals, such as the President of Friends of the Hearst and the 
Chair of the Public Art Committee may be invited to give reports and participate in the discussion at the 
Board’s discretion. 

 
 

Article II: Officers 
The Executive Officers shall consist of a President, Vice-President, Treasurer, and Secretary  

A. The President shall: 
1) Preside at all meetings of the Board;  
2) Prepare board meeting agendas and send them to the Cultural Programs Supervisor no later than one 

week prior to the next regularly scheduled meeting date; 
3) Appoint committee members and committee chairs; 
4) Appoint ad hoc committees as necessary; 
5) Appoint a Nominating Committee for officers as outlined in Article II.F; and 
6) Perform such duties as may from time to time be required.   

 

B. The Vice-President shall perform the duties of the President in their absence. 
 

C. The Treasurer shall, for Art & Culture Board Funds: 
1) Keep financial accounts of the Board; 
2) Receive and disperse payments on behalf of the Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board; 
3) Prepare detailed monthly financial records for review at Board meetings;  
4) Meet with the Executive Committee at least once each year; and 
5) Annually submit financial records on all Art & Culture Board Funds to the city’s Finance Division for 

inclusion in the City’s annual audit; and 

441

Item 14.

https://library.municode.com/ia/cedar_falls/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_CH17PARE_ARTIIIARCUCEBO_S17-135MEBOAPME
https://library.municode.com/ia/cedar_falls/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_CH17PARE_ARTIIIARCUCEBO_S17-137COMEBO
https://library.municode.com/ia/cedar_falls/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_CH17PARE_ARTIIIARCUCEBO_S17-137COMEBO


BYLAWS - Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board  
Revised 5/20/24 

2 
 

6) Ensure all funds are invested in accordance with Iowa Code Chapter 12. 
 

D. The Secretary shall: 
1) Take notes at Board meetings; and 
2) Send notes to Cultural Programs Supervisor. 

 
E. The Officers of the Board shall: 

1) Be elected by a majority of Board members present at the regular Board meeting in June; and 
2) Hold office from July 1 of that year through June 30 of the following year, or until their successors are 

elected. 
 

F. In the event a vacancy occurs among board officers during the year: 
1) The Cultural Programs Supervisor and the Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager shall pursue the 

process outlined in the Boards and Commissions Appointment Process document. 
 

G. Nominating Committee  
At least three months prior to the June meeting, the President will appoint a Nominating Committee of three 
(3) members. The Nominating Committee will: 

1) Prepare a Slate of Officers for the upcoming year and present this slate at the June meeting each year; 
and  

2) Call for nominations from the floor and conduct the vote according to Robert’s Rules of Order. 
 

H. The Cultural Programs Supervisor or a designee shall: 
1) Work with the City Clerk to keep a public record of the agenda and minutes of the meetings of the Art 

& Culture Board; 
2) Maintain a complete file of all meetings, correspondence, and business of the Board; 
3) Be responsible for any notices to be distributed to or by the Board, working with the City Clerk 

accordingly;  
4) Have custody of all the books, records and documents of the Board, working with the City Treasurer 

accordingly; and  
5) Forward copies of all minutes and formal correspondence to the Director of Community 

Development and the Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager.  
 
 

Article III: Meetings 
Meetings of the Board and its committees and all related records are open to the public and are conducted in 
compliance with the State of Iowa’s Open Meeting Laws.  
 

A. Notice of all meetings and meeting agendas shall be given per the Iowa Code Chapter 21 Official Meetings 
Open to the Public.   The Cultural Programs Supervisor will work with the City Clerk to complete this as 
required.  
 

B. Meetings of the Cedar Falls Art & Culture Board shall be held each month, as needed. A quorum for 
conducting a meeting shall consist of four (4) or more Board members, unless otherwise provided by State or 
local proclamation.  
 

C. Proxy votes or votes by email will not be honored at any time.  
 

442

Item 14.



BYLAWS - Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board  
Revised 5/20/24 

3 
 

D. Meetings will be set by the Board on a regular day and time at the beginning of each fiscal year; however the 
schedule may be modified as needed.  
 

E. Special meetings may be called by the President at any time, or by a majority  Board members present during 
a regularly scheduled meeting. An agenda must be published pursuant to Article III A.  
 

F. Public Comment shall not be allowed during meetings, unless upon prior approval of the President. 
 

Article IV: Committees 
The Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board shall determine Standing and temporary committees. There shall be two 
Standing Committees serving as consultation and planning groups for the Board and the Cultural Programs Supervisor. 
Committee Chairs are appointed by the President of the Board in August of each year. Committee members are 
appointed by the Art and Culture Board. 
 

A. The Collections Committee shall: 
1) Advise on the review and implementation of the Collection Management Plan, to the Art and Culture 

Board;  
2) Recommend accessions for the collection; and  
3) Make policy recommendations to the Board regarding the Collections Management Plan.  

 

B. The Public Art Committee shall be comprised of no more than eleven (11) members chosen from the Cedar 
Falls Art and Culture Board and members of the community. This committee shall: 

1) Make recommendations to the Board in regard to building a collection of public art and the purchase 
or commission of individual works of art; and  

2) Promote community awareness of and involvement in enhancing public spaces with art.  
 

C. These committees shall also perform such other functions as may be required by the Board.  
 

D. The President of the Board shall appoint such temporary committees (Ad Hoc) as deemed necessary by the 
Art and Culture Board. (e.g. Membership, Development, Education, Building & Grounds).  Members of Ad Hoc 
Committees shall be chosen from the Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board and can include members of the 
community.  Committee members and committee chairs will be appointed by the President of the Board.  
Such ad hoc or special committees shall follow all rules and regulations of the board and shall report to the 
board any recommendations for action.

 
E. Committee Chairs shall contact committee members, arrange meetings to conduct committee-related 

business, preside at committee meetings, and ensure meeting notes are taken.   
      

F. The Community Development Director, the Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager, and the Cultural 
Programs Supervisor are ex officio members of all committees. 

 
 

Article V: Review of Bylaws 
A. The Cedar Falls Art & Culture Board shall review its organization and bylaws on a regular basis. 
 
B. Board members can propose changes, additions, or deletions at any time. 

 
C. After being reviewed and accepted by a two-thirds (2/3) majority of all Board members present during a 

regularly scheduled meeting, amendments to the bylaws will be in effect. 
 

443

Item 14.



BYLAWS - Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board  
Revised 5/20/24 

4 
 

 

History: 
First Revision of the Bylaws; Approved: August 1991 
Second Revision Approved: September 1997 
Third Revision: Approved by the Cedar Falls City Council:  March 25, 2006  
Fourth Revision:  Approved by the Cedar Falls City Council: March 3, 2012      
Fifth Revision: Approved by the Art & Culture Board:  August 30, 2023 
Sixth Revision:  Approved by the Art & Culture Board:  June 26, 2024 

444

Item 14.



BYLAWS - Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board  
Clean Version 8/16/23 

Revised 5/20/24 

1 
 

 

BYLAWS 

Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board  
 

The Cedar Falls Art & Culture Board was established in February 1987 (Ordinance 1827) and exists as the policy-making 
and advisory body that works with staff and the Cedar Falls City Council to develop and provide a high quality, multi-
faceted art and culture program for the citizens of Cedar Falls. 
 
 

Article I: Composition of the Board 
A. Appointment: Pursuant to Article III, Section 17City Code related to the Art and Culture Center and Board 

(herein after referred to as City Code). 
 

B. Term of Office: Pursuant to Article III, Section 17. Terms begin July 1 of the initial year and end on the last day 
of June of the fourth year in office. 

 
C. Compensation:  Pursuant to Article III, Section 17City Code.  However, Rreimbursement of actual expenses for 

must be pre-approved by the Department of Community Developmenttravel to a conference on behalf of the 
City/division may occur. 

 
D. Absence from Board Meetings or Vacancies:  City CodePursuant to Article III. Section 17.  

 
E. Ex Officio Members:  The Director of Community Development, the Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager, 

and the Cultural Programs Supervisor for the City of Cedar Falls shall each serve as ex officio members of the 
Board, without voting privileges.  Other individuals, such as the President of Friends of the Hearst and the 
Chair of the Public Art Committee may be invited to participate at the Board’s discretion. 

 
 

Article II: Officers 
The Executive Officers shall consist of a President, Vice-President, Treasurer, and Secretary  

A. The President shall: 
1) Preside at all meetings of the Board;  
2) Prepares board meeting agendas and sends them to the Cultural Programs Supervisor within oneno 

later than one week prior to of the next regularly scheduled meeting date; 
3) Appoint committee members and committee chairs; 
4) Appoint ad hoc committees as necessary; 
5) Appoint a Nominating Committee for officers as outlined in Article II.F; and 
6) Perform such duties as may from time to time be required.   

 

B. The Vice-President shall perform the duties of the President in their absence. 
 

C. The Treasurer shall, for Art & Culture Board Funds: 
1) Keep financial accounts of the Board; 
2) Receive and disperse payments on behalf of the Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board; 
3) Prepare detailed monthly financial records for review at Board meetings;  
4) Meet with the Executive Committee at least once each year; and 

Commented [SS1]: ACB should identify if this means vote 
or if it’s the same as staff: ex officio? 

Commented [CH2R1]: Board has stipulated to add “give 
reports and participate in the discussion” 

Commented [SS3]: It was pointed out that this terminology 
would allow an agenda to be created/sent even 1 hour before the 
meeting.  This does not meet State requirements.  Language has 

been clarified to what I believe was its intent. 

445

Item 14.

https://library.municode.com/ia/cedar_falls/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_CH17PARE_ARTIIIARCUCEBO_S17-137COMEBO
https://library.municode.com/ia/cedar_falls/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_CH17PARE_ARTIIIARCUCEBO_S17-137COMEBO


BYLAWS - Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board  
Clean Version 8/16/23 

Revised 5/20/24 

2 
 

5) Annually submit financial records on all Art & Culture Board Funds to the city’s Finance Division for 
inclusion in the City’s annual audit; and 

6) Ensure all funds are invested in accordance with Iowa Code Chapter 12. 
 

D. The Secretary shall: 
1) Take notes at Board meetings; and 
2) Send notes to Cultural Programs Supervisor for review and formatting as Meeting Minutes. 

 
E. The Officers of the Board shall: 

1) Be elected by a majority of allthe Board members at the regular Board meeting in June; and 
2) Hold office from July 1 of that year through June 30 of the following year, or until their successors are 

elected. 
 

F. In the event a vacancy occurs among board officers during the year: 
1) The Cultural Programs Supervisor and the Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager shall pursue the 

process outlined in the Boards and Commissions Appointment Process document. 
 

G. Nominating Committee  
At least three months prior to the June meeting, the President will appoint a Nominating Committee of three 
(3) members. The Nominating Committee will: 

1) Prepare a Slate of Officers for the upcoming year and present this slate at the June meeting each year; 
and  

2) Call for nominations from the floor and conduct the vote according to Robert’s Rules of Order. 
 

H. The Cultural Programs Supervisor or a designee willshall: 
1) Work with the City Clerk to keep a public record of the agenda and minutes of the meetings of the Art 

& Culture Board; 
2) Maintain a complete file of all meetings, correspondence, and business of the Board; 
3) Be responsible for any notices to be distributed to or by the Board, working with the City Clerk 

accordingly;  
4) Have custody of all the books, records and documents of the Board, working with the City Treasurer 

accordingly; and  
5) Forward copies of all minutes and formal correspondence to the Director of Community 

Development and the Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager.  
 
 

Article III: Meetings 
Meetings of the Board and its committees and all related records are open to the public and are conducted in 
compliance with the State of Iowa’s Open Meeting Laws.  
 

A. Notice of all meetings and meeting agendas shall be given per the Iowa Code Section Chapter 21 Official 
Meetings Open to the Public.   The Cultural Programs Supervisor will work with the City Clerk to complete this 
as required.  
 

B. Meetings of the Cedar Falls Art & Culture Board shall be held each month, as needed. A quorum for 
conducting a meeting shall consist of four (4) or more Board members, unless otherwise provided by State or 
local proclamation.  
 

Commented [SS4]: ACB: Do you wish this to be majority 
of all members or just a majority of those present? 

Commented [CH5R4]: Board wants the text to say “Board 
members present at the regular Board meeting” 

446

Item 14.



BYLAWS - Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board  
Clean Version 8/16/23 

Revised 5/20/24 

3 
 

C. Proxy votes or votes by email will not be honored at any time.  
 

D. Meetings will be set by the Board on a regular day and time at the beginning of each fiscal year; however the 
schedule may be modified as needed.  
 

E. Special meetings may be called by the President at any time,  or by a majority of the Board during a regularly 
scheduled meeting. An agenda must be published pursuant to Article III A. Three days prior to the date of the 
special meeting, Board members will be emailed a link to copies of the: 

F.   a) Meeting Agenda; 
G.   b) Minutes of the previous meeting; 
H.   d) Financial Reports of the Art & Culture Board Fund, if available; and 

I.   e) Correspondence, data, and background information related to items on the agenda. 
E.  

 
J.F. Public Comment shall not be allowed during meetings, unless upon prior approval of the President. 

 

Article IV: Committees 
There shall be committees of the The Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board shall determine Standing and temporary 
committees. There shall be twoThe purpose of Standing Committees shall be to serveing as consultation and planning 
groups for the Board and the Cultural Programs Supervisor. Committee Chairs are appointed by the President of the 
Board in August of each year. Committee members are appointed by the Art and Culture Board. 
 

A. The Collections Committee willshall: 
1) Advise on the review and implementation of the Collection Management Plan, to the Art and Culture 

Board;  
2) Recommend accessions for the collection; and  
3) Will mMake policy recommendations to the Board regarding the Collections Management Plan.  

 

B. The Public Art Committee will shall be comprised of no more than eleven (11) members chosen from the 
Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board and members of the community. This committee willshall: 

1) Make recommendations to the Board in regard to building a collection of public art and the purchase 
or commission of individual works of art; and  

2) Promote community awareness of and involvement in enhancing public spaces with art.  
 

C. These committees shall also perform such other functions as may be required by the Board.  
 

D. The President of the Board shall appoint such temporary committees (Ad Hoc) as deemed necessary by the 
Art and Culture Board. (e.g. Membership, Development, Education, Building & Grounds).  Members of Ad Hoc 
Committees shall be chosen from the Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board and can include members of the 
community.  Committee members and committee chairs will be appointed by the President of the Board.  
Such ad hoc or special committees shall follow all rules and regulations of the board and shall report to the 
board any recommendations for action.

 
E. Committee Chairs shall contact committee members, and arrange meetings to conduct committee-

related      business, preside at committee meetings, and ensure meeting notes are taken.   
      

F. The Community Development Director, the Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager, and the Cultural 
Programs Supervisor are ex officio members of all committees. 

 

Commented [SS6]: See majority question earlier & address 
here. 

Commented [CH7R6]: Board wants the text to say 
“majority of the Board present” 

Commented [SS8]: Suggest deleting all the specificity 
about a special meeting that implies more information to be 

provided than a regular meeting.  A special meeting, at a 
minimum, must follow Iowa Code Chapter 21, so setting it is no 

different than provided for in III.A.  This is duplicative then? 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt, Font color: Black

Commented [SS9]: Need to confirm this is the intent. 

447

Item 14.



BYLAWS - Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board  
Clean Version 8/16/23 

Revised 5/20/24 

4 
 

 

Article V: Review of Bylaws 
A. The Cedar Falls Art & Culture Board will shall review its organization and bylaws on an regular basis. 
 
B. In the event of a deficiency in those bylaws, any Board member can propose changes, additions, or 

deletions at any time. 
 

C. After being reviewed and accepted by a two-thirds (2/3) majority of all Board membersvote of the Board, 
amendments to the bylaws will be in effect. 

 
 

History: 
First Revision of the Bylaws; Approved: August 1991 
Second Revision Approved: September 1997 
Third Revision: Approved by the Cedar Falls City Council:  March 25, 2006  
Fourth Revision:  Approved by the Cedar Falls City Council: March 3, 2012      
Fifth Revision: Approved by the Art & Culture Board:  August 30, 2023 
Sixth Revision:  Approved by the Art & Culture Board:  June 26, 2024 

Commented [SS10]: Avoids argument on what qualifies.  
Simply wish to state changes can be proposed for review. 

Commented [SS11]: ACB: Do you wish this to be majority 
of all members or just a majority of those present? 

Commented [CH12R11]: Board wants “majority of those 
present” 

Commented [SS13]: Anticipated date, not confirmed. 

448

Item 14.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Laudick and City Councilmembers 

From:  Craig Berte, Public Safety Services Director 

  Mark Howard, Police Chief 

Date:  July 8, 2024 

Re:  Retail Alcohol License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for retail alcohol licenses. We find no records that would 
prohibit these licenses and recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:   

a) Dollar General, 1922 Valley Park Drive, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 

b) Cypress Lounge, 209 A State Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 

c) Wal-Mart, 525 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

d) Wal-Mart, 525 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class E retail alcohol - change in ownership. 

e) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street - Plaza, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor 
service -temporary expansion of outdoor service area. (August 31 - September 1, 
September 14 & September 26, 2024) 

f) Patton, 317 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol - temporary outdoor service/sidewalk café. 
(July 16 - November 15, 2024) 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

449

Item 15.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Laudick, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: July 9, 2024 

   SUBJECT:   Amendment to CFD 1121:  City Council Meeting Procedures 
 
 

A new law took effect on July 1, 2024, involving the conduct of meetings of governmental 

bodies, including the City Council and City authorized Boards and Commissions.  HF 2385, 

Sections 78 – 80, (red lined and as amended versions attached), makes it much easier for 

members of governmental bodies to appear at meetings electronically.  Whereas before, a 

meeting other than in person required that an in-person meeting be impossible or impractical.  

With this change in the law, that is no longer the case.  Electronic attendance is now allowed, 

even if fewer than a quorum of members is present in person. 

 

As a result, CFD 1121, Section 2.4 Remote attendance, must be modified to conform to the 

law.  What follows is staff’s proposed change to Section 2.4: 

 

     Members may attend City Council meetings may be conducted electronically as a hybrid 

meeting, by way of teleconference participation, as a virtual meeting, or by remote 

participation as provided in Iowa Code § 21.8via remote means, as long as a quorum (4 

members) is present in person.  The Mayor shall determine which type of access shall be 

provided to members attending electronically.  Members attending electronicallyremotely 

shall provide advance notice to the City Clerk by noon on the business day prior to the 

meetings, unless unexpected circumstances arise.  If members participate via video 

conference, it is preferred that members have their cameras on and remain visible throughout 

the meeting.  Unless otherwise approved by the mayor, the presiding officer of council and 

committee meetings must be in physical attendance at the meeting.  If no members are 

present in person for the meeting and the presiding officer is also not present in person, then 

arrangements shall be made for the public to participate electronically as the Mayor may 

direct.  

 

Staff recommends approval of a Resolution adopting these changes.  Please feel free to contact 

me if you have any questions.   

 

Thank you.  

450

Item 17.



SF 2385, Sections 78 - 80 

 

Sec. 78.  Section 21.8, subsection 1, unnumbered paragraph 1, Code 2024, is amended to read as follows:  

A governmental body may conduct a meeting by electronic means only in circumstances where such a meeting in 

person is impossible or impractical and only if the governmental body complies shall provide for hybrid meetings, 

teleconference participation, virtual meetings, remote participation, and other hybrid options for the members of 

the governmental body to participate in official meetings. A governmental body conducting a meeting pursuant to 

this subsection shall comply with all of the following:  

Sec. 79.  Section 21.8, subsection 1, paragraph c. Code 2024, is amended to read as follows:  

     c. Minutes are kept of the meeting. The minutes shall include a statement explaining why a meeting in person 

was impossible or impractical.  

Sec. 80.  Section 21.8, Code 2024, is amended by adding the following new subsection:  

NEW SUBSECTION. 4. For the purposes of this section:  

     a. '"Hybrid meeting'' means a meeting involving both remote participation and in-person participation by 

members.  

     b. '"Remote participation" means real-time participation by a remotely located individual in a meeting which is 

being held in a different physical location using integrated audio, video, and other digital tools. 

     c. '"Teleconference participation" means participation using audio conference tools involving multiple 

participants in at least two separate locations.  

     d. '"Virtual meeting" means a meeting involving real-time interaction using integrated audio, video, and other 

digital tools, in which participants do not share a physical location. 

 

As amended: 

21.8 Electronic meetings. 

1.  A governmental body shall provide for hybrid meetings, teleconference participation, virtual meetings, remote 

participation, and other hybrid options for the members of the governmental body to participate in official 

meetings.  A governmental body conducting a meeting pursuant to this subsection shall comply with all of the 

following: 

     a.  The governmental body provides public access to the conversation of the meeting to the extent reasonably 

possible. 

     b.  The governmental body complies with section 21.4.  For the purposes of this paragraph, the place of the 

meeting is the place from which the communication originates or where public access is provided to the 

conversation. 

451

Item 17.



     c.  Minutes of the meeting are kept. 

2.  A meeting conducted in compliance with this section shall not be considered in violation of this chapter. 

3.  A meeting by electronic means may be conducted without complying with paragraph “a” of subsection 1 if 

conducted in accordance with the requirements for a closed session contained in section 21.5. 

4.  For the purposes of this section:  

       a. '"Hybrid meeting'' means a meeting involving both remote participation and in-person participation by 

members.  

       b. '"Remote participation" means real-time participation by a remotely located individual in a meeting which is 

being held in a different physical location using integrated audio, video, and other digital tools. 

       c. '"Teleconference participation" means participation using audio conference tools involving multiple 

participants in at least two separate locations.  

       d. '"Virtual meeting" means a meeting involving real-time interaction using integrated audio, video, and other 

digital tools, in which participants do not share a physical location. 

 

 

 

452

Item 17.



1 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO.  __________ 

RESOLUTION AMENDING CFD 1121, Section 2.4, REGARDING CITY COUNCIL 

ELECTRONIC MEETING PROCEDURES 

 

       WHEREAS, the City Council has adopted CFD 1121 which sets forth City Council 

Meeting Procedures; and 

       WHEREAS, Section 2.4 of CFD 1121 entitled “Remote Attendance” addresses the 

subject of electronic meetings; and 

       WHEREAS, the Iowa Legislature has amended Iowa Code Section, 21.8, governing 

electronic meetings by governmental bodies with an effective date of July 1, 2024; and 

       WHEREAS, the City Council deems it necessary to amend CFD 1121, Section 2.4, 

to conform to the new legislation 

     NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

CFD 1121, Section 2.4, “Remote Attendance”, is hereby stricken in its entirety and the 

following adopted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

2.4     Remote attendance.  Members may attend City Council meetings may be 

conducted electronically as a hybrid meeting, by way of teleconference 

participation, as a virtual meeting, or by remote participation as provided in Iowa 

Code § 21.8via remote means, as long as a quorum (4 members) is present in 

person.  The Mayor shall determine which type of access shall be provided to 

members attending electronically.  Members attending electronicallyremotely shall 

provide advance notice to the City Clerk by noon on the business day prior to the 

meetings, unless unexpected circumstances arise.  If members participate via 

video conference, it is preferred that members have their cameras on and remain 

visible throughout the meeting.  Unless otherwise approved by the mayor, the 

presiding officer of council and committee meetings must be in physical attendance 

at the meeting.  If no members are present in person for the meeting and the 

presiding officer is also not present in person, then arrangements shall be made for 

the public to participate electronically as the Mayor may direct. 

INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 15th day of July, 2024. 

453

Item 17.



2 
 

 

                                                                                         

__________________________  

                                                                                                  Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

__________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk  

 

  

454

Item 17.



1 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  __________ 

RESOLUTION AMENDING CFD 1121, Section 2.4, REGARDING CITY COUNCIL 

ELECTRONIC MEETING PROCEDURES 

       WHEREAS, the City Council has adopted CFD 1121 which sets forth City Council Meeting 

Procedures; and 

       WHEREAS, Section 2.4 of CFD 1121 entitled “Remote Attendance” addresses the subject 

of electronic meetings; and 

       WHEREAS, the Iowa Legislature has amended Iowa Code Section, 21.8, governing 

electronic meetings by governmental bodies with an effective date of July 1, 2024; and 

       WHEREAS, the City Council deems it necessary to amend CFD 1121, Section 2.4, to 

conform to the new legislation 

     NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA: 

CFD 1121, Section 2.4, “Remote Attendance”, is hereby stricken in its entirety and the following 

adopted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

2.4     Remote attendance.  City Council meetings may be conducted electronically as a hybrid 

meeting, by way of teleconference participation, as a virtual meeting, or by remote 

participation as provided in Iowa Code § 21.8.  The Mayor shall determine which type of 

access shall be provided to members attending electronically.  Members attending 

electronically shall provide advance notice to the City Clerk by noon on the business day 

prior to the meetings, unless unexpected circumstances arise.  If members participate via 

video conference, it is preferred that members have their cameras on and remain visible 

throughout the meeting.  If no members are present in person for the meeting and the 

presiding officer is also not present in person, then arrangements shall be made for the 

public to participate electronically as the Mayor may direct. 

 

ADOPTED this 15th day of July, 2024. 

 

                                                                                         __________________________  

                                                                                         Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

__________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk  

455

Item 17.



456

Item 18.



457

Item 18.



458

Item 18.



459

Item 18.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council Members 

 FROM: Bailey Schindel, Human Resources Manager  

 DATE: July 15, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Revised Joinder Agreement with National Insurance Services of 
Wisconsin Insurance Trust for Group Term Life Insurance 

 
 
Attached for your approval is a revised joinder agreement with National Insurance 
Services of Wisconsin Insurance Trust for group term life insurance. The only revision to 
the agreement is the addition of supplemental life insurance for employees, spouse and 
child(ren), and supplemental accidental death and dismemberment (AD&D) insurance for 
employees. Supplemental life and AD&D insurance is a newly offered benefit to City 
employees and their dependents. Supplemental life/AD&D rates are paid 100% by the 
employee with no cost to the City. All other rates and provisions of the agreement remain 
the same through the 07/01/2025 duration of the agreement. 
 
City staff recommends approval of the revised joinder agreement. If you have questions 
regarding the attached, please contact me at 268-5531 or Jennifer Rodenbeck at 268-
5108. 
 
 
Attachments 
 

460

Item 19.



 

GTL-JA-0708 1 

NATIONAL INSURANCE SERVICES OF WISCONSIN INSURANCE TRUST 

JOINDER AGREEMENT FOR 

GROUP TERM LIFE INSURANCE 

 

The below named Employer hereby requests application for participation in group term life 

insurance benefits under the Group Policy issued to the below named Group Policyholder (hereafter 

referred to as “Policyholder”, and underwritten by Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc. 

(hereafter referred to as “Insurer”).  The term Group Policy means only the provisions of the Group 

Policy that apply to the Employer, based upon the coverage requested under this Joinder Agreement. 

 

Insurance and Benefit Information 

 

A. Administrative 

1. Policyholder: National Insurance Services of Wisconsin 

Insurance Trust 

2. Employer: City of Cedar Falls 

  220 Clay Street 

  Cedar Falls, IA  50613-2783 

3. Employer Plan No: 5205 

4. Nature of Business: Government 

5. Initial Plan Effective Date: July 1, 2022 

6. Revised Joinder Effective Date:  July 1, 2024 

7. Evidence of Insurability Requirements: Applies to Late Enrollees, Increases in Benefits 

and Amounts over Guarantee Issue Amounts 

8. Employee Classes: 

01 Active Fire Department Members 

02 Active Union Police Members 

03 All Other Active Members 

04 Retired Fire Union Members retiring on or after July 1, 1989 and Retired 

Union Police who retired between July 1, 1989 and June 30, 1996 who are 

covered under the Employer's Health Insurance plan 

05 Retired Union Police who retired on or after July 1, 1996 who are covered 

under the Employer's Health Insurance Plan 

06 All Other Members who retired on or after July 1, 1989 who are covered under 

the Employer's Health Insurance plan 

9. Minimum Hourly Work Requirement:  

Classes 01-03: 32 hours per week 

Classes 04-06: None 

10. Waiting Period for Insurance Coverage:  

Classes 01-06: None 

11. New Employee Eligibility Date:  

Classes 01-03: Upon completion of the Waiting Period 

Classes 04-06: Date of retirement 

461

Item 19.



 

GTL-JA-0708 2 

12. Leaves / Layoffs:  

Classes 01-03: Coverage with premium payment while on 

FMLA leave; Coverage with premium 

payment for up to 60 days while on Paid or 

Unpaid Leave; Coverage with premium 

payment for up to 12 months while not 

Actively at Work due to Physical Disease or 

Injury; Coverage with premium payment 

while on Strike or Locked Out; Coverage 

with premium payment for up to 60 days 

while on Layoff 

Classes 04-06: None 

 

13. Employee Premium Contribution:  

Classes 01-03:  

Employee Basic Insurance: 0% 

Employee Supplemental Insurance: 100% 

Dependent Supplemental Insurance: 100% 

  

Classes 04-06:  

Retiree Insurance: 100% 

 

14. Participation Requirements:  

Classes 01-03:  

Employee Basic Insurance: 100% 

Employee Supplemental Insurance: 15% 

Dependent Supplemental Insurance: 15% in Employee Supplemental Life 

Insurance 

Classes 04-06:  

Retiree Insurance: None 

 

15. Insurance Reduction Schedule: 

Classes 01-03:  

Employee Basic Insurance: Basic Life and AD&D Insurance reduces to 

50% at age 70 and terminates at retirement, 

unless eligible for retiree coverage. 

Employee Supplemental Insurance: Supplemental Life and AD&D Insurance 

reduce to 50% at age 70 and terminate at 

retirement. 

 

 

 

462

Item 19.



 

GTL-JA-0708 3 

Dependent Supplemental Insurance: Dependent Spouse Supplemental Life does 

not reduce and terminates at the earlier of 

the Dependent Spouse's attainment of age 70 

or the Employee's Retirement.  Dependent 

Child Supplemental Life does not reduce 

and terminates at the earlier of the 

Dependent Child's attainment of the 

Limiting Age or the Employee's Retirement. 

  

Classes 04-06:  

Retiree Insurance: Retiree Basic Life Insurance does not reduce 

and terminates at age 65 

 

B. Basic Life Insurance 

Employee Basic Life 

Classes 01, 03: 1 times Annual Salary, rounded to the next 

higher $1,000 

Guarantee Issue: $225,000 

Maximum Issue: $225,000 

  

Class 02: $11,000 

Guarantee Issue: $11,000 

Maximum Issue: $11,000 

 

 

C. Supplemental Life Insurance 

Employee Supplemental Life 

Classes 01-03: $10,000 increments 

Guarantee Issue: $150,000 if younger than age 60; $10,000 if 

age 60 - 69; $0 if age 70 or older 

Maximum Issue: $500,000, not to exceed 5 X Annual Salary 

 

Spouse Supplemental Life 

Classes 01-03: $5,000 increments 

Guarantee Issue: $25,000 if Dependent Spouse is younger 

than age 60; $5,000 if Dependent Spouse is 

age 60 - 69 

Maximum Issue: $250,000, not to exceed 50% of Employee 

Supplemental Life amount 

 

 

 

 

 

463

Item 19.



 

GTL-JA-0708 4 

Child Supplemental Life 

Classes 01-03:  

Age:  Birth through 13 days: $0 

Guarantee Issue: $0 

Maximum Issue: $0 

Age:  14 days to 6 months: 10% of the Dependent Child Supplemental 

Life amount 

Guarantee Issue: 10% of the Dependent Child Supplemental 

Life amount 

Maximum Issue: 10% of the Dependent Child Supplemental 

Life amount 

Age:  6 months through Limiting Age: $2,000 increments 

Guarantee Issue: $10,000 

Maximum Issue: $10,000, not to exceed 100% of Employee 

Supplemental Life amount 

 

D. Retiree Life Insurance 

Retiree Basic Life 

Class 04: $10,000 

Guarantee Issue: $10,000 

Maximum Issue: $10,000 

  

Class 05: $11,000 

Guarantee Issue: $11,000 

Maximum Issue: $11,000 

  

Class 06: 1 times Annual Salary in effect on the last 

full day of active work, rounded to the next 

higher $1,000 

Guarantee Issue: $100,000 

Maximum Issue: $100,000 

 

 

E. Additional Benefits 

1. Conversion of Insurance Benefit: Included for all classes 

2. Waiver of Premium Benefit: Included in Class 01-03 

3. Living Benefit: Included for all classes 

4. Portability Benefit: Included in Class 01-03 

  

464

Item 19.



 

GTL-JA-0708 5 

 

F. Accidental Death and Dismemberment (AD&D) Insurance  

1. Basic AD&D Insurance  

Employee Basic AD&D Insurance 

Classes 01, 03: 1 times Annual Salary, rounded to the next 

higher $1,000 

Guarantee Issue: $225,000 

Maximum Issue: $225,000 

  

Class 02: $11,000 

Guarantee Issue: $11,000 

Maximum Issue: $11,000 

 

2. Supplemental AD&D Insurance 

Employee Supplemental AD&D 

 

Classes 01-03: Equal to Employee Supplemental Life 

amount 

Guarantee Issue: Equal to Employee Supplemental Life 

amount 

Maximum Issue: Equal to Employee Supplemental Life 

amount 

 

G. Additional AD&D Benefits 

1. Exposure Benefit: Included in Class 01-03  

2. Disappearance Benefit: Included in Class 01-03  

3. Felonious Assault Benefit: Included in Class 01-03  

4. Seat Belt Benefit: Included in Class 01-03  

5. Air Bag Benefit: Included in Class 01-03  

6. Spouse Training Benefit: Included in Class 01-03  

7. Education Benefit: Included in Class 01-03  

8. Repatriation Benefit: Included in Class 01-03  

9. Fare Paying Passenger Benefit: Included in Class 01-03  

10. Day Care Benefit: Included in Class 01-03  

  

465

Item 19.



 

GTL-JA-0708 6 

 

H. Premium 

1. Rate: 

Classes: 01-03  

Employee Basic Life Premium Rate: $0.16 per $1,000 of coverage 

Employee and Dependent Spouse 

Supplemental Life Premium Rate: 

See Table Below 

Dependent Child Supplemental Life Premium 

Rate: 

$0.22 per $1,000 of coverage per 

dependent unit 

Employee Basic AD&D Premium Rate: $0.03 per $1,000 of coverage 

Employee Supplemental AD&D Premium 

Rate: 

$0.03 per $1,000 of coverage 

Employee and Dependent Spouse Portability 

Premium Rate: 

See Table Below 

Dependent Child Portability Life Premium 

Rate: 

$0.22 per $1,000 of coverage per 

dependent unit 

  

Classes: 04-06  

Retiree Basic Life Premium Rate: $0.16 per $1,000 of coverage 

 

Employee and Dependent Spouse Supplemental Life Premium Rate 

Age* 

Premium 

Rate per 

$1,000 of 

coverage 

0 - 29 $0.04 

30 - 34 $0.05 

35 - 39 $0.07 

40 - 44 $0.09 

45 - 49 $0.15 

50 - 54 $0.23 

55 - 59 $0.39 

60 - 64 $0.52 

65 - 69 $0.95 

70 - 74 $1.50 

75+ $2.06 

*Dependent Spouse Supplemental Life Premium Rate is based on Spouse’s age 

  

466

Item 19.



 

GTL-JA-0708 7 

 

Employee and Dependent Spouse Portability Premium Rate: 

Age* 

Premium 

Rate per 

$1,000 of 

coverage 

0 - 29 $0.13 

30 - 34 $0.15 

35 - 39 $0.18 

40 - 44 $0.25 

45 - 49 $0.42 

50 - 54 $0.66 

55 - 59 $1.17 

60 - 64 $1.86 

65 - 69 $2.83 

70 - 74 $4.70 

75 - 79 $9.12 

80+ $10.17 

*Dependent Spouse Portability Premium Rate is based on the Spouse’s age.  

2. Rate Guarantee: 12 months until July 1, 2025 

3. Frequency of Billing Monthly 

 

I. Benefits and coverage for Insured Persons are as agreed upon between the Insurer and the 

Policyholder.  All coverages and actual benefit amounts in effect, with respect to each Insured Person, 

are described in the Certificates of Insurance issued by the Insurer to the Policyholder for distribution 

to the Insured Persons or, directly to the Insured Persons.  This includes any applicable Riders or 

Endorsements which generally describe, without amending, superseding or changing the Policy in any 

way, the essential features of the coverages Insured Persons are entitled to under the Group Policy and 

this Joinder Agreement, and to whom the insurance benefits are payable in the event of a covered loss. 

 

TERMS AND DEFINITIONS 

All terms are as defined in the Certificates of Insurance (hereafter referred to as Certificate). 

 

PREMIUMS, PAYMENTS AND TERMINATION 

A. Payment of Premiums  

1. Premiums are due on the 1st of the month of coverage for which the premium applies (e.g., 

premium for coverage in October would be due October 1st). 

2. The premium due on each Premium Due Date is the sum of the premiums for all Insured Persons 

under the Group Policy.  Premium rates for each Employer covered under the Group Policy are 

shown in this Joinder Agreement. 

3. The Employer determines the amount, if any, of each Insured Person’s contribution toward the 

cost of insurance. 

467

Item 19.



 

GTL-JA-0708 8 

4. Each premium is payable on or before its Premium Due Date directly to the Insurer at their home 

office. 

5. Premium is due for an Insured Person for each month the Insured Person is covered under the 

Group Policy.  The Employer must notify the Insurer immediately whenever an employee 

becomes eligible or ceases to be eligible for coverage.  Effective dates of coverage or termination 

dates which occur mid-month will be billed as follows: 

 

a) If the effective date of coverage is between the 1st of the month and 15th of the month, 

premium for an entire month will be due to the Insurer.  If the effective date of coverage is 

between the 16th of the month and the end of the month the Employer will be billed for the 

next full month of coverage.  The Insurer does not prorate premium. 

b) If the date coverage ends is between the 1st of the month and the 15th of the month, no 

premium will be due for that month.  If the date of termination is between the 16th of the 

month and the end of the month the Employer will be responsible for an entire month’s 

premium. 

 

6. All premiums will be based upon information provided by the Employer in the Census Reports. 

 

B. Changes in Premium Rates. 

1. Special Circumstances. The Insurer may change premium rates, to be effective on the next 

Premium Due Date, if any of the following occur: 

a) A change or clarification in a law or governmental regulation affects the amount payable 

under the Group Policy.  Any such change in premium rates will reflect only the change in the 

Insurer’s obligations. 

b) One or more changes occur in the factors material to the underwriting risk the Insurer assumed 

under the Group Policy with respect to the Employer, including, but not limited to, the number 

of persons insured, age, gender and occupational classification. 

c) The premium contribution arrangement for insured employees changes or varies from that 

stated in this Joinder Agreement when issued or last renewed. 

d) Plan design changes are requested by the Employer. 

e) The Insurer and the Employer mutually agree to change premium rates. 

  

2. In all other cases, and subject to a period for which the Insurer has provided the Employer with a 

written rate guarantee, the Insurer may change premium rates upon 60 days advance written notice 

to the Employer.  Any such change in premium rates may be made effective on any Premium Due 

Date, but no such change will be made more than once in any Contract Year.  Contract Years 

means successive 12-month periods computed from the end of the initial rate guarantee period, or 

from a time agreed to in writing by the Employer and Insurer. 

 

C. Premium Adjustments. Premium adjustments involving a return of unearned premiums to an 

Employer will be limited to the 12 months just before the date the Insurer receives a request for 

premium adjustment. 

  

468

Item 19.



 

GTL-JA-0708 9 

 

D. Information Required from Employer 

1. The Employer will furnish all information reasonably necessary to administer the Group Policy, 

including but not limited to the following:  

 

a) At least one Census Report during each plan year, no later than six months prior to the next 

plan renewal date. The Census Report means a written report providing the following 

information for each Employee insured under the Group Policy: name, social security 

number, date of birth, gender, occupational class, Annual Salary as defined under the Group 

Policy and Certificate, and the amount of coverage. 

b) A list of all eligible employees and documentation supporting employee eligibility under the 

Group Policy. 

c) Information about employees who become eligible, whose amounts of coverage change 

and/or whose coverage ends. 

d) Occupational information and any other information that may be required to manage a claim. 

e) Notification of the Employer’s change in legal status, expansion of business, dissolution, 

merger, buyout or any other significant business operational change. 

f) Notice of any additional eligible employee segment(s). 

g) Any other information that may be reasonably required. 

 

2. The Employer must provide such information to the Insurer or its agents in a regular and timely 

manner as may be reasonably specified by the Insurer and/or its agents. The Insurer and its agents 

have the right at all reasonable times to inspect the payroll and other records of the Employer 

which relate to insurance under the Group Policy. 

 

E. Grace Period, Termination for Nonpayment and Reinstatement. 

1. If a premium is not paid on or before its Premium Due Date, it may be paid during the Grace 

Period.  The coverage under the Group Policy will remain in force during the Grace Period. 

2. Grace Period means the 31 days following the Premium Due Date. 

3. If the premium for coverage is not paid during the Grace Period, the coverage under the Group 

Policy will terminate automatically at the end of the Grace Period. 

4. The Employer is liable for premium for coverage during the Grace Period.  The Insurer may 

charge interest at the legal rate for any premium which is not paid during the Grace Period, 

beginning with the first day after the Grace Period. 

5. Reinstatement.  If any renewal premium is not paid and coverage is terminated, the Employer may 

request a reinstatement by reapplying with the Group Policyholder and submitting the required 

premium.  Coverage will be reinstated upon the Insurer’s approval, if the Employer requests 

reinstatement within 31 days of termination date.  The Insurer shall approve or disapprove the 

reinstatement within 15 calendar days following receipt of the reinstatement request and premium.  

The Insurer and Employer shall have the same rights hereunder as they did under the Policy 

immediately before the due date of the defaulted premium, subject to any provisions endorsed 

hereon or attached hereto in connection with the reinstatement. 

  

469

Item 19.



 

GTL-JA-0708 10 

 

F. Termination for Other Reasons 

1. The Policyholder may terminate the Group Policy and the Employer may terminate coverage 

under the Joinder Agreement by giving the Insurer at least 60 days written notice.  The effective 

date of termination will be the later of: 

a) The date stated in the notice; or 

b) The Premium Due Date immediately following the date the Insurer receives the notice. 

 

2. The Insurer may terminate coverage under the Group Policy as follows: 

a) On any Premium Due Date if the number of persons insured is less than the Minimum 

Participation requirements provided for under this Joinder Agreement. 

b) On any Premium Due Date if the Insurer determines that the Employer has failed to promptly 

furnish any necessary information requested or has failed to perform any other obligations 

relating to the Group Policy or coverage under the Group Policy. 

c) On any Premium Due Date by giving the Employer at least 60 days advance written notice. 

d) On the date the Employer breaches any part of the Entire Contract. 

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

A. Certificates. The Insurer will prepare the Certificates setting forth the main features of the Group 

Policy applicable to each Insured Person.  The Insurer and Employer may agree to distribute the 

Certificates to Insured Persons in paper format, or to make the document available and accessible for 

review by Insured Persons on the Employer’s website. The Employer will be responsible for 

providing sufficient notice to the Insured Person of the existence and availability of the Certificate, 

including instructions on how to view the document, and a statement that a paper copy of the 

document will be made available upon request. Upon receiving such a request from either the 

Employer or Insured Person, the Insurer will provide a written copy of the Certificate to the Employer 

for distribution to the Insured Person.  If the terms of the Certificate differ from the terms of the 

Employer’s coverage under the Group Policy, the latter will govern. 

 

B. Limitation of Liability.  Individuals selected by the Employer to secure coverage under the Group 

Policy or to perform their administrative function under it, represent and act on behalf of the person 

selecting them and do not represent or act on behalf of Madison National Life Insurance Company, 

Inc.  The Policyholder and Employer hereby release, hold harmless and indemnify Madison National 

Life Insurance Company, Inc. from any liability arising from or related to any negligence, error, 

omission, misrepresentation or dishonesty of the Policyholder or Employer respectively, or any of 

their respective representatives, agents or employees. 

 

C. Agency. The Policyholder and Employer are not agents of the Insurer for any purpose under the 

Policy. 

  

470

Item 19.



 

GTL-JA-0708 11 

 

D. Entire Contract, Changes: This Joinder Agreement, the Policy, including the Certificates and any 

Riders, Amendments or attached papers, if any, constitutes the entire contract of Insurance. No change 

in the Group Policy will be valid unless it is approved in writing by one of the Insurer’s executive 

officers and given to the Policyholder for attachment to the Group Policy.  No change in an 

Employer’s coverage under the Group Policy will be valid unless it is approved in writing by one of 

the Insurer’s executive officers and given to the Employer for attachment to the Joinder Agreement.  

No agent has authority to change this Policy or waive any of its provisions. 

 

We have authority to determine all questions arising in connection with the Policy, including its 

interpretation.  Our failure to enforce any provision shall not waive, modify or render such provision 

unenforceable at any other time; at any given time; or under any given set of circumstances, whether 

the circumstances are or are not the same. 

 

E. Incontestability. All statements made by the Employer in the Application are, in the absence of fraud, 

representations and not warranties.  The Insurer cannot contest the Policy or this Joinder Agreement 

after it has been in force for 2 years from its Date of Issue.  No statement shall be used to contest the 

validity of coverage or reduce benefits, unless it is in writing, signed by the Employer, and a copy of 

such statement is furnished to the Employer. 

 

F. Non-Participating: The Policy is non-participating. It does not share in Our profits or surplus earnings. 

 

G. Conformity With State Laws:  If any provisions of Our forms are contrary to any law to which it is 

subject, such provision is hereby amended to conform to the minimum requirements of such law. 

 

H. Workers' Compensation. The Policy is not in lieu of and does not affect any requirements for 

coverage by any Workers' Compensation Act or similar law.  

 

I. Misstatement.  If Policyholder or Employer premiums for the Insured Person are based on age or 

gender and the Insured Person's age or gender has been misstated, there will be a fair adjustment of 

premiums based on his or her true age or gender. If benefits for the Insured Person is based on age or 

gender and the Insured Person's age or gender has been misstated, there will be an adjustment of said 

benefits based on his or her true age or gender.  We may require satisfactory proof of age or gender 

before paying any claim. 

 

J. Clerical Error.  A clerical error may be made by the Insurer, Employer or Policyholder in keeping 

data.  If so, when the error is found the premium and/or benefits will be adjusted according to the 

correct data.  An error will not end insurance validly in force, nor will it continue insurance validly 

ended. 

 

ACCEPTANCE AND SIGNATURES 

The undersigned Employer adopts and agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 

as amended from time to time and Group Policy.  Copies of these documents are available for Employer 

review at the Policyholder’s place of business.  The Employer may also contact the Insurer for further 

information.  

 

The Group Policy is a vehicle for obtaining group insurance plans in which Employers join together as a 

single policyholder for the purchase and maintenance of group insurance policies.   

471

Item 19.



 

GTL-JA-0708 12 

 

The Insurer, in performing its obligations under the Group Policy, is acting only as a life insurer with 

respect to the Group Policy.  The Trust Administrator, in performing its obligations under the Group 

Policy, is acting only as a trust administrator with respect to the Group Policy.  The Insured and Trust 

Administrator are not in any way acting as a plan administrator, a plan sponsor or a plan trustee for the 

purposes of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), as amended, or any other 

federal or state laws.  

 

The signatures below constitute acceptance of the undersigned Employer as a participating member under 

the Group Policy. 

 

 

Signed into effect this _______ day of ________________________, 20____. 

 

 

              

Signature of Authorized Signer for Employer   Printed Name & Title of Signer 

 

              

Signature of Authorized Signer for Employer   Printed Name & Title of Signer 

 

 

Administrator: 

AP / National Insurance Services 

 

 

 

 

By:  

 Hank Ehrsam, President 

 June 27, 2024 

 

472

Item 19.



 

 473

Item 19.



 

Notice/NIS(NISW) 0320 

NOTICE  
 

This notice describes identities of and relationships among the Insurer, Administrator, and Policyowner of 

this insurance. 

 

Insurer:  Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc. (MNL) is the insurance underwriter of this 

insurance. 

  

Third Party Administrator: National Insurance Services (NIS) is the administrator for this group 

insurance.  NIS provides administrative services for insurance issued to groups, including, but not limited 

to underwriting, premium billing, premium collection, client services, and policy and certificate issuance. 

 

There is no ownership affiliation between MNL and NIS. 

 

 

Policyowner:  The Policyowner of your policy/certificate of insurance is the National Insurance Services 

of Wisconsin Insurance Trust (Trust).   

 

Employer:  Your Employer participates in the group insurance under the group policy issued to the Trust.  

 

NIS is the Administrator of the Trust.  

 

474

Item 19.



475

Item 20.



476

Item 20.



477

Item 20.



478

Item 20.



479

Item 20.



RESOLUTION NO.  
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION 
OF A SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT BETWEEN US BANK NATIONAL 

ASSOCIATION AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA RELATIVE TO THE 
CEDAR HEIGHTS AREA RECONSTRUCTION PROJECT 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has considered 

approving and authorizing execution of a Subordination Agreement between US Bank 

National Association and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, relative to the Cedar Heights 

Area Reconstruction Project, and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it in the best 

interest of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve and authorize execution of said 

Subordination Agreement. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that said Subordination Agreement between City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and US 

Bank National Association, relative to the Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Project is 

hereby approved and the Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute said 

Subordination Agreement on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.  

 

ADOPTED this 15th day of July, 2024. 

 

                                                                                                                                            
___________________________ 

                                                                                      Daniel Laudick, Mayor                                                                                                      
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

480

Item 20.



 

 

                                                                          

 

481

Item 21.



1 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

LYNGSOE SYSTEMS 

AUTOMATED MATERIALS HANDLER (AMH) 

 

This Agreement is by and between Lyngsoe Systems (“Contractor”) and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (“City”), and is 

to be effective on the date last signed by the Contractor or the City below. 

1.0.       Contractor’s Services 

1.1.       Contractor’s services shall consist only of those services and/or products provided or supplied by Contractor 

as defined in this Agreement and as listed on Exhibit “A” attached.  (“Services” or “Scope of Services”) 

1.2.       Contractor shall not commence or perform any work outside the Scope of Services unless and until 

authorized in writing by the City.  No changes to the Scope of Services shall be valid unless agreed to by both the 

Contractor and the City in writing.  Any work performed or expenses incurred by the Contractor shall be conclusively 

presumed to be part of the Scope of Services unless a written change order covering such work, and the cost of such 

work, has been agreed to in advance.  If Exhibit “A” includes provisions for contingent services, such services shall 

not be performed until written authorization is given by the City.  

1.3.       Contractor shall assign qualified and experienced personnel to perform the Services, and Contractor hereby 

warrants to the City that Contractor has sufficient experience and financial resources to complete the Services 

required by this Agreement.  Where the Scope of Services identifies particular personnel who shall perform the 

Services, such personnel shall remain assigned to provide the Services throughout the term of this Agreement, 

unless otherwise approved in writing by the City.  In the event that such particular personnel must be replaced, 

Contractor agrees to replace such particular personnel with persons of equivalent or better qualifications, as 

approved by the City. 

1.4.       Contractor shall perform the Services in a timely manner and in accordance with any schedule set forth in 

Exhibit “A”.  The Contractor and the City agree that time is of the essence with respect to Contractor’s performance 

under this Agreement.         

1.5.       Contractor warrants that its fulfillment of this Agreement will not infringe on or misappropriate the rights of any 

third party, and that the Contractor has the complete right and full authority to convey ownership of the Services to 

the City.  Contractor shall obtain all required governmental and third-party licenses, approvals and permits for the 

provision of Services, at Contractor’s cost. 

1.6.       The person signing this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor represents and warrants that the person has 

full and sufficient authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor. 

2.0.       Compensation 

2.1.       All bids and prices shall be shown in U.S. Dollars.  All prices must remain firm for the duration of this 

Agreement. 

2.2.       After inspection (if applicable) and acceptance by the City of Services, City shall pay Contractor in 

accordance with the payment terms set forth in Exhibit “B”.  The maximum amount of all payments for Services shall 

be the amount set forth in Exhibit “B”, unless additional Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, in which 

case the maximum amount of all payments shall be adjusted accordingly.   

482

Item 21.



2 
 

2.3.       Following acceptance of Services by the City, payment shall be made to the Contractor within thirty (30) days 

of receipt of a proper invoice.  The invoice shall include, at a minimum. The name and address of the Contractor, the 

invoice number, the date services were performed or goods were shipped, a general description of the services or 

goods, total amount to be paid, any discounts or credits, and the net amount to be paid.  The invoice shall be mailed 

or emailed to the authorized representative of the City listed below, at the address listed below. 

2.4.       Expenses shall not be reimbursed to the Contractor unless specifically described in Exhibit “B”. 

2.5.       If services in addition to the Scope of Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, Contractor must 

provide a separate invoice for such additional services before payment will be made. 

2.6.       If the City fails to make any payment when due to the Contractor, the Contractor may charge the City interest 

on the unpaid balance at the rate of 5% per annum until paid.  In addition, Contractor may, after giving seven (7) days 

written notice to the City, suspend services under this Agreement until such unpaid balance is paid in full. 

2.7.       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the City may withhold payment to Contractor for 

faulty Services, or if the City is advised of liens or other claims against any Services, including products. 

3.0.       Taxes. 

3.1.       The City is exempt from all federal, State of Iowa, and other states’ taxes on the purchase of products and 

services used by the City within the State of Iowa.  The City shall provide tax exemption certification as required.   

3.2.       Any charges for taxes from which the City is exempt will be deducted from invoices before payment is made.  

4.0.       Ownership and Use of Documents 

4.1.       All Services to be provided under this Agreement, and any invention, improvement, discovery, or innovation 

(whether or not patentable) made, conceived or actually reduced to practice by Contractor in the performance of the 

Scope of Services in this Agreement will be owned exclusively by the City, including all proprietary and intellectual 

property rights.  To the extent not automatically vested in the City, Contractor hereby assigns to the City all right, title 

and interest in and to the Services, including, without limitation, copyright, patent and trade secret rights.  Upon the 

City’s request, Contractor shall execute any additional documents necessary for the City to perfect such ownership 

rights.   

4.2.       Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Contractor retains ownership of its pre-existing and proprietary materials and 

other intellectual property that may be incorporated into the Services. 

4.3.       Copies of City furnished data that may be relied upon by Contractor are limited to the printed copies (also 

known as hard copies) that are delivered to the Contractor.  Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or 

of other formats that are furnished by the City to the Contractor are only for the convenience of the Contractor.  Any 

conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the Contractor’s sole risk. 

4.4.       During the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of the Agreement, the Contractor 

and any authorized Subcontractors shall maintain all accounting records and other documentation generated in 

providing Services under this Agreement.  The City or its designee shall be allowed to have access to such 

information for the purpose of inspection, audit and copying during normal business hours for a period of five (5) 

years after the final payment by the City, termination of this Agreement, or resolution of all matters under this 

Agreement, whichever date is latest.  No additional compensation shall be paid to Contractor for such retention or 

inspection by the City or designee.  

5.0.       Term and Termination. 

5.1.       The term of this Agreement shall commence on the effective date and end on ________ unless earlier 

terminated under the terms of this Agreement. 

483

Item 21.



3 
 

5.2        The City may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience by giving written notice to the 

Contractor of such termination and specifying the effective date of the termination, at least thirty (30) calendar days 

before the effective date of termination.  In that event, all finished or unfinished Services, reports and materials 

prepared or furnished by the Contractor shall, at the option of the City, become the City’s property.  If the Agreement 

is terminated by the City as provided herein, the Contractor shall be paid for all Services which have been authorized, 

approved and provided up to the effective date of termination.  The City will not be subject to any termination fees 

from the Contractor. 

5.3.       Either party may terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) calendar days written notice in the event that the 

other party fails to substantially perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party 

initiating the termination. 

6.0.       Warranties. 

6.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that Services shall be performed in a manner consistent with the 

standard of care of other professional service providers in a similar industry and application.   

6.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that products delivered as part of the Scope of Services, including each 

component, shall be free of defects and shall conform to the quality standards of the applicable industry and shall 

meet in all respects the requirements of the Scope of Services.  If any defect or sign of deterioration is identified by 

the City within one year after delivery which is not due to the acts or omissions of the City, Contractor shall, within 15 

days after notification by the City, at Contractor’s expense, repair, adjust or replace such items to the complete 

satisfaction of the City.  

6.3.       Contractor shall be responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, completeness and coordination of all 

Services under this Agreement.  Contractor shall promptly and without charge, provide all corrective work necessary 

as a result of Contractor’s acts, errors or omissions with respect to the quality and accuracy of Contractor’s Services. 

6.4.       Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damages to property or persons as a result of Contractor’s 

acts, errors or omissions in performing the Services under this Agreement, and for any losses or costs to repair or 

remedy any Services undertaken by the City as a result of any such acts, errors or omissions. 

6.5.       Contractor’s obligations shall exist without regard to, and shall not be construed to be waived by, the 

availability or unavailability of any insurance, either by the City or by the Contractor.  None of the provisions of this 

Agreement shall be construed as a limitation on the City’s right to seek recovery of damages it suffers as a result of 

Contractor’s fault or breach. 

7.0.       Warranties – Intellectual Property.   

7.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services produced or provided to the City do not infringe upon 

any copyright, trademark, trade name, trade dress patent, statutory, common law or any other right of any person or 

entity. 

7.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services, and the City’s use of the same, and the exercise by the 

City of the rights granted by this Agreement, shall not infringe upon any other work or violate the rights of publicity or 

privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person or entity. 

7.3.       Contractor represents and warrants that it is the owner of or otherwise has the right to use and distribute the 

Services contemplated by this Agreement. 

8.0.       Disputes. 

8.1.       Should any dispute arise with respect to this Agreement, the parties agree to act immediately to resolve such 

dispute.  Time is of the essence in the resolution of disputes. 

484

Item 21.



4 
 

8.2.       Contractor agrees that, the existence of a dispute notwithstanding, it will continue without delay to carry out 

all of its responsibilities under this Agreement that are not affected by the dispute and the City shall continue to make 

payment for all Services that are performed in conformance with this Agreement.  Should the Contractor fail to 

continue to perform its responsibilities regarding all non-disputed Services, without delay, any additional costs 

incurred by the City or the Contractor as a result of such failure to proceed shall be borne by the Contractor. 

8.3.       Should any dispute between the parties remain unresolved, the parties mutually agree to engage in 

mediation prior to the filing of suit by either party.  The cost of mediation shall be divided equally between the parties 

except that each party shall be responsible for that party’s own expenses and attorney fees associated with 

mediation.  The City shall not engage in arbitration of any dispute. 

9.0.       Indemnification and Hold Harmless. 

9.1.       To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor (for purposes of this Section 9.0, includes employees, 

subcontractors, agents and others working on behalf of Contractor under this Agreement) agrees to defend (for all 

non-professional claims), indemnify, and hold harmless the City (for purposes of this Section 9.0 includes elected and 

appointed officials, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City) against any and all claims, demands, suits 

or loss, including any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages, which may be asserted, 

claimed or recovered against or from the City, including, but not limited to, damages arising by reason of personal 

injury, including bodily injury or death, and property damage, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 

associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City under this Agreement, to the extent 

caused by or arising out of the errors, omissions, negligent or intentional acts of the Contractor.  

9.2.       Contractor’s duty of indemnification and to hold harmless includes, but is not limited to, Contractor’s breach 

or alleged breach of the warranties found in Sections 6.0 and 7.0 above, and shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement.  Such duty also includes damage, loss or injury to the City or City property. 

9.3.       Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for loss, expense, damages or injuries which may result to 

the Contractor by reason of or in connection with the work and/or services provided by Contractor under this 

Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of the errors, omissions, negligent or intentional acts of the 

Contractor. 

9.4.       It is specifically agreed between the parties that this Agreement is not intended to create in the public or any 

member of the public third party beneficiary status or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to maintain a 

suit for personal injuries or property damage.        

10.0.       Insurance. 

Contractor shall at all times during the performance of this Agreement maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit “C” 

unless this insurance requirement is waived by the City in this Section. 

Insurance requirement waived:  _______________________________________________ (Signature and title of 

authorized City employee or officer) 

The City may at any time during the term of this Agreement require proof of such insurance. 

11.0.       Compliance with Laws and Regulations. 

11.1.       Contractor certifies that in performing this Agreement it will comply with all applicable provisions of federal, 

state and local laws, ordinances, rules, licenses and regulations and shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that its 

employees, agents, subcontractors and others working on behalf of the Contractor under this Agreement do the 

same. 

11.2.       Contractor is responsible for determining which products are considered to be hazardous chemicals under 

applicable standards and to provide the most current Safety Data Sheet (“SDS”) with the initial shipment of such 

chemicals.  Failure by Contractor to do so may be considered by the City to be delivery of a defective product and its 

485

Item 21.



5 
 

delivery may be refused.  It is also the Contractor’s responsibility to provide to the City any updated or revised SDS 

as it becomes available for any such hazardous chemicals sold and delivered to the City. 

12.0.       Independent Contractor. 

Both parties shall act in their individual capacities in the performance of this Agreement and not as agents, 

employees, partners, joint ventures or associates of one another.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be 

deemed or construed to be the employees or agents of the other for any purpose whatsoever. 

13.0.       Non-Collusion. 

13.1.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has employed any person to solicit or 

procure this Agreement, nor will the Contractor make any payment or agreement for payment of any compensation in 

connection with the solicitation or procurement of this Agreement. 

13.2.       Contractor agrees that there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding expressed or implied, 

contemplating any division of compensation for Services provided under this Agreement, or in the participation in 

such Services, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity, except as provided in this Agreement.  

13.3.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has either directly or indirectly entered 

into any agreement, arrangement or understanding to collude or otherwise take any action in restraint of free 

competitive procurement in connection with this Agreement. 

14.0.       Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity. 

14.1.       Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, sex, 

color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, 

genetic information or veteran status, or any other classification protected by federal, state, or local law, except where 

age or sex is an essential bona fide occupational requirement, or where disability is a bona fide occupational 

disqualification.   

14.2.       Contractor shall inform all subcontractors and agents performing under this Agreement of this 

nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their compliance with 

the same. 

15.0.       No Conflict of Interest, 

Contractor represents, warrants and covenants that no relationship exists or will exist during the term of this 

Agreement that is a conflict of interest under Iowa law.  No employee, officer or agent of the Contractor shall 

participate in the procurement or performance of this Agreement if a conflict of interest exists as to such person.  

Should a conflict of interest arise during the term of this Agreement for Contractor or any employee, officer or agent of 

Contractor, Contractor shall immediately notify the City, in which case this Agreement may be terminated and any 

excess costs incurred by the City due to such termination shall be paid by Contractor or deducted from any sums yet 

due to Contractor. 

16.0.       Force Majeure. 

16.1.       Force majeure shall be any of the following events:  acts of God or the public enemy; compliance with any 

order, rule, regulation, decree, or request of any governmental authority or agency or person purporting to act as 

such; acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism, or sabotage; floods, hurricanes, or other storms; strikes or 

labor disputes; or any other cause, whether or not of the class or kind specifically named or referred to in this 

Agreement which is not within the reasonable control of the party affected.  A delay in or failure of performance by 

either party shall not constitute a default in performance nor be the basis for, or give rise to, any claim for damages, if 

and to the extent such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. 

486

Item 21.



6 
 

16.2.       The party who is prevented from performing by force majeure shall be obligated, within a period not to 

exceed fourteen (14) calendar days after the occurrence or detection of any such event, to provide notice to the other 

party setting forth in reasonable detail the nature thereof and the anticipated extent of the delay, and shall remedy 

such cause as soon as reasonably possible, as mutually agreed between the parties. 

16.3.       If a remedy to an event of force majeure cannot be agreed upon within a reasonable amount of time, this 

Agreement may be terminated by either party. 

17.0.       Assignment. 

No rights under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the prior written consent of the 

City.  The benefits of this Agreement may inure to Contractor’s assigns, transferees, or successors in interest if 

approved by the City in writing in advance, and if such assignee, transferees or successors agree in writing to be 

bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

18.0.       Governing Law.   

18.1.       This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Iowa, regardless of choice of law principles. 

18.2.       Venue for any dispute under this Agreement shall be the District Court in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa.        

19.0.       Discrepancy.   

In the event that there are any discrepancies or differences between any terms or conditions of the Contractor’s bid or 

quote and this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail, even if the Contractor’s bid or quote is incorporated into this 

Agreement. 

20.0       Public Record. 

20.1.      This Agreement as well as Contractor’s bid or quote and all documents submitted with any such bid or quote 

shall become public documents subject to Iowa Code Chapter 22, the Iowa Open Records Law.  By submitting the 

bid or quote or any document to the City in connection with such bid or quote, the submitting party recognizes this 

and waives any claim against the City, its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and agents working on 

behalf of the City, relating to the release of any bid or document submitted. 

20.2.       Each submitting party shall hold the City and its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and 

agents working on behalf of the City, harmless from any claims arising from the release of any document or 

information made available to the City related to or arising from the bidding or quoting process. 

20.3.       Notwithstanding Sections 20.1 and 20.2, protection from disclosure may apply to those elements of any 

submittal that may be a trade secret, or confidential or proprietary information.  Should the submitting party wish to 

designate submittals as such, they must be clearly and prominently marked.  The City shall make no determination as 

to whether or not such documents are protected from disclosure under Iowa Code Chapter 22.  Rather, the City shall 

endeavor to notify the submitter of any request for such information and the submitter shall be solely responsible for 

asserting exemption from disclosure by obtaining a court order.  As long as the City makes a good faith effort to notify 

the submitter of a request for such information, the City and the City’s elected and appointed officers, the City’s 

employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, shall not be liable for any damages resulting from such 

disclosure, whether such disclosure is deemed required by law, by an order of court or administrative agency, or 

occurs through inadvertence, mistake, or negligence.  

21.0.       Debarment. 

21.1.       Contractor hereby certifies, pursuant to 48 CFR Part 9, that neither it nor its principals are presently 

debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 

Agreement by any federal agency. 

487

Item 21.



7 
 

21.2.       Contractor further certifies that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 

ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in any contracts with the City or with the State of Iowa. 

22.0        Confidentiality of Shared Information. 

No information shared between Contractor and the City in the performance of this Agreement shall be deemed 

confidential unless clearly designated as such in writing by the party seeking confidentiality at the time of sharing.  If 

designated as confidential the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of such information except as necessary 

for performance under this Agreement, unless or until written authorization for disclosure is given by the designating 

party, or as required by law, or by an order of a court or administrative agency.  In the event of a dispute over the 

confidentiality of shared information, the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the designated information 

until the issue of confidentiality is resolved.  The duty to maintain the confidentiality of such information shall survive 

the termination of this Agreement. 

23.0.       Entire Agreement. 

23.1.       This Agreement, and Exhibits, which are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference, contains the 

entire agreement and understanding by and between the parties with respect to the subject matter, and no 

representations, promises, agreements, or understandings, written or verbal, not contained in this Agreement, shall 

be of any force or effect. 

23.2.       No change, modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless the same is in writing 

and signed by the party against whom such change, modification or waiver is sought to be enforced. 

24.0.       Additional Terms. 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

25.0.       Notices. 

Any notice required to be given under this Agreement and any authorization required to be provided shall be given or 

provided to: 

City:                                                                                               Contractor: 

Name: Kelly Stern                                           Name: ___________________________ 

Title: Library Director                                       Title: ______________________________ 

Address: 524 Main Street                                        Address: ___________________________ 

             Cedar Falls, IA 50613                                                     ___________________________ 

Telephone: 319-268-5541                                         Telephone: __________________________ 

Email: director@cedarfallslibrary.org                                         Email: ______________________________  

 

In Witness Whereof, the City and the Contractor have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the last date listed 

below. 

488

Item 21.

mailto:director@cedarfallslibrary.org


 

 

  

 

CONTRACTOR  

(Name of Contractor)___Lyngsoe Systems____________ 

By: ______________________________    

Its: __________________________________________                    Date: ___7/5/2024____________  

  

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA  

  

By: __________________________________  

        Daniel Laudick, Mayor  

  

Attest: ________________________________                                      Date: _____________________              

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk   

                                  

  

489

Item 21.



9 
 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF THE WORK 

Requirements/Deliverables: 

1. Successful delivery and installation of one four-bin automated materials handler (AMH)/sorter 

with exterior and staff inlets.  Sorting bins are not needed if product is compatible with bins that 

are 32”H x 23”W x 23”D. 

2. Post-warranty maintenance /service agreement should allow for site visits for repairs when 

repairs cannot be accomplished remotely and should be renewable annually for life of the 

sorter. 

3. Product must meet the following technical requirements: 

Real-time integration with the Library’s ILS  

All equipment must be new   

Integration with  RFID Tags 

Automated Materials Handling system with RFID tag based enabled check-in and multibins/totes sorting 
capacity.  

System must interface with the library’s ILS using SIP2.  

Electrical requirements comply with current building design of 120V 20A power supply.   

System will provide a wide range of statistical reports as requested by the Library with the ability to 
customize individual reports.  

Require no more than one staff member to operate the AMHS.  

Items must be checked into the circulation system in real time.  

AMHS must have ability to or be programmable to randomly distribute in transit (not on hold) items into 
bins/totes. Programming should provide for an item location exception list, where items going to set 
locations would not be randomly distributed.  

490

Item 21.



10 
 

Sorting machine must be completely visible(no top covers) to staff in order for staff to see any undetected 
jams or overflows  

System must not require use of proprietary bins/totes 

Be easily reconfigured for additional or modified sorting arrangement.  Sorting software must be capable 
of providing multiple sort schemes that can be implemented in less than five minutes.  

In the return/sort process, security bits must be reactivated.  

A staff induction station is available with RFID and barcode reading capability.  

Staff processing station must have an option for accepting at least 20-30 items at a time. 

Must provide safety for staff and guests for fingers, ties, loose clothing etc 

AMH design must fit within the current architectural design.  No addition building modifications are being 
required. 

 

4. Product must meet the following project, service, and warranty requirements: 

 

Warranty will be for a minimum of one year and will include all service including labor, parts, materials, 
and preventive maintenance for operational hours.   

Warranty is defined as Proposer fully absorbing the cost of parts, labor, travel and/or transportation to 
repair or replacement of any defective part(s) in the system, including all hardware, software, cables, etc. 
and maintaining the system in an operating condition for a minimum of one year.    

Warranty shall include preventive maintenance visits per year as recommended by manufacturer.  

491

Item 21.



11 
 

Preventive maintenance shall include checking for mechanical and electrical safety, lubrication, functional 
testing and adjusting for optimal performance.   The service representative shall observe and record all 
operating parameters in complete service reports signed by the department representative.   Copies of all 
service reports shall be provided to Library staff upon completion of all service calls.  

Proposer shall provide on-site training with equipment installed.  

Proposer shall provide system administration and technical training to Library designated IT staff during 
and after installation. Please include pricing for additional training as part of the Cost Proposal.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

492

Item 21.



12 
 

EXHIBIT B 

PAYMENT TERMS 

 

Net payment is due 45 days following successful delivery and installation of automated materials 

handler (AMH). 

 

493

Item 21.



 

Page 74 of 82 
June 28, 2024    Project B26094-000 
185.601.000    Cedar Falls, IA  
   Main Branch 

 
“Use or disclosure of proposal data is subject to the restriction(s) on the confidentiality page of this proposal.” 

CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE 

 

494

Item 21.



 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  
 

 
RESOLUTION RESCINDING RESOLUTION #23,667, BEING A RESOLUTION 
APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXPENDITURE OF FUNDS FOR THE 

PURCHASE OF GLOCK 26 PISTOLS WITH TRIJICON SRO2 OPTIC FIREARMS 
FOR THE PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENT 

 

 

 WHEREAS, City Staff has recommended to the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa that said Council rescind Resolution #23,667, being a Resolution approving 

and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of Glock 26 Pistols with 

Trijicon SRO2 Optic firearms for the Public Safety Department, for the reason that there 

were errors in the quotes received; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it in the best 

interest of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa to rescind Resolution #23,667.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that Resolution #23,667 is hereby rescinded. 

 

ADOPTED this 15th day of July, 2024. 

 
                                                                                                                                              

___________________________ 
                                                                                     Daniel Laudick, Mayor  
                                                                                                         
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 
 

495

Item 22.



496

Item 23.



497

Item 23.



498

Item 23.



499

Item 23.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
VISITORS, TOURISM AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS 
6510 HUDSON ROAD 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-268-4266 
FAX: 319-277-9707 

M E M O R A N D U M 

TO: The Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
FROM: Cory Hurless, Cultural Programs Supervisor 

DATE: July 1, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Red House Studios (224 West Seerley Boulevard) 

Please find attached three lease agreements for use of 224 West Seerley Boulevard as artists’ 
studio space, in conjunction with the Hearst Center’s Visiting Artist Program. Two agreements 
are extensions for continued use of the studios per the original lease agreements, with a new 
lease expiration date of June 30, 2025.  The third agreement is a new lessee, as part of our 
partnership with the UNI Art Department, an alumni artist selected by the Art & Culture 
Board.

Please let me know if you have any questions or concerns. 

CC: Stephanie Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
Jennifer Pickar, Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager 

500

Item 24.



501

Item 24.



502

Item 24.



503

Item 24.



504

Item 24.



505

Item 24.



506

Item 24.



507

Item 24.



508

Item 24.



509

Item 24.



510

Item 24.



511

Item 24.



512

Item 24.



513

Item 24.



514

Item 24.



515

Item 24.



516

Item 24.



517

Item 24.



518

Item 24.



519

Item 24.



520

Item 24.



521

Item 24.



522

Item 24.



523

Item 24.



524

Item 24.



525

Item 24.



526

Item 24.



527

Item 25.



528

Item 25.



529

Item 25.



530

Item 25.



531

Item 25.



532

Item 25.



533

Item 25.



534

Item 25.



535

Item 25.



536

Item 25.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
 
  

 TO: Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

 DATE: July 5, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Iowa Highway 57/W. 1st Street 
  Addendum to Agreement No. 2018-4-269 

DOT Project No. NHSX-057-2(29)--3H-07 
 

The Iowa Department of Transportation has completed the West 1st Street 
Reconstruction project and sold all of the excess right-of-way that was not needed upon 
completion. As part of our original agreement with the Iowa DOT, the City would be 
compensated 50% of the sales from the excess right-of-way. 
 
This addendum outlines a lump sum payment to the City of $78,000 for excess right-of-
way that was acquired for this project. 
  
 

The Public Works Department has reviewed this addendum.  Staff recommends that the 
City Council approve this addendum and received funds as noted above. 
 
Please feel free to contact me with questions or for additional information. 
 
 

 

537

Item 26.



December 2010 

2018-4-269B_CedarFalls 1

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
Addendum to 

Agreement No. 2018-4-269 

County Black Hawk 
City Cedar Falls 
Project No. NHSX-057-2(29)--3H-07 (DOT) 

STP-057-2(28)--2C-07 (CITY) 
Iowa DOT 
Addendum No. 2018-4-269B 
Staff Action No. 

This Addendum, is entered into by and between the Iowa Department of Transportation, hereinafter 
designated the "DOT", and the city of Cedar Falls, Iowa, a Local Public Agency, hereafter designated the 
"LPA" in accordance with Iowa Code Chapters 28E,  306, 306A and 313.4 and 761 Iowa Administrative 
Code Chapter 150 as applicable; 

The DOT proposes to establish or make improvements to Iowa 57 within Black Hawk County, Iowa; and 

The DOT and the LPA are willing to jointly participate in said project, in the manner hereinafter provided; 
and 

The DOT and the LPA previously entered into the following agreements/addendum related to the above 
referenced project:  

Agreement/Addendum No. Project No. Full Execution Date 
2017-P-177 NHSX-057-2(29)--3H-07 8/21/2017 

2018-4-269 
NHSX-057-1(29)--3H-07 (DOT) 
STP-057-2(28)--2C-07 (CITY) 11/20/2018 

2018-4-269A 
NHSX-057-2(29)--3H-07 (DOT) 
STP-057-2(28)--2C-07 (CITY) 2/11/2019 

Subsequent to execution of the above referenced Agreements and Addendum it was determined that a 
lump sum payment is due to the LPA as part of the agreement to acquire certain right-of-way.  

This Addendum reflects the current concept of this project which is subject to modification by mutual 
agreement between the LPA and the DOT; and 

Now, therefore, it is agreed as follows: 

1. Per Paragraph 4a. of Agreement No. 2017-P-177, the LPA, or its consultant, shall acquire the
necessary right-of-way.

2. Paragraph 4a. of Agreement No. 2018-4-269 is hereby replaced as follows:

4a.   As part of the agreement for the LPA to acquire the necessary right-of-way, the DOT
 agrees to pay the LPA a lump sum payment of $78,000 based upon the estimated value of 
 excess right-of-way acquired for the project.  

3. The DOT project number referenced in Agreement No. 2018-4-269 is hereby amended from NHSX-
057-1(29)--3H-07 to NHSX-057-2(29)--3H-07 to correct a typographical error.

General Provisions 

1. It is the intent of both (all) parties that no third party beneficiaries be created by this Addendum.

538

Item 26.



December 2010 

2018-4-269B_CedarFalls 2

2. If any section, provision, or part of this Addendum shall be found to be invalid or unconstitutional,
such finding shall not affect the validity of the Addendum as a whole or any section, provision, or part
thereof not found to be invalid or unconstitutional, except to the extent that the original intent of the
Addendum cannot be fulfilled.

3. All previously executed agreement(s) and or addendum(s) will remain in effect except as amended
herein.

4. This Addendum, as well as the unaffected provisions of any previous agreement(s), addendum(s),
and/or amendment(s); represents the entire Agreement between the LPA and DOT regarding this
project. All previously executed agreements will remain in effect except as amended herein. Any
subsequent change or modification to the terms of this Addendum will be in the form of a duly
executed amendment to this document.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed Addendum No. 2018-4-269B as of the 
date shown opposite its signature below. 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS: 

By:        Date  , 20___. 
Title:    Mayor 

I,  , certify that I am the Clerk of the City, and that 

       , who signed  said  Addendum for and on behalf of 

the City was duly authorized to  execute the same on the          day of                                      , 20___. 

Signed: _____________________________ 
 City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION: 

By:  Date  , 20___. 
 Nickolas J Humpal, P.E. 
 District Engineer 
 District 2 

539

Item 26.



540

Item 27.



541

Item 27.



542

Item 27.



543

Item 27.



544

Item 27.



545

Item 27.



546

Item 27.



547

Item 27.



548

Item 27.



549

Item 27.



550

Item 27.



551

Item 27.



552

Item 27.



553

Item 27.



554

Item 27.



555

Item 27.



556

Item 27.



557

Item 27.



558

Item 27.



559

Item 27.



560

Item 27.



561

Item 27.



562

Item 27.



563

Item 27.



564

Item 27.



565

Item 27.



566

Item 27.



567

Item 27.



568

Item 27.



569

Item 27.



570

Item 27.



571

Item 27.



572

Item 27.



573

Item 27.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: July 15, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Project Phase IA  
  City Project Number RC-092-3271 
  Temporary Easements  
 
The City of Cedar Falls is reconstructing the North Cedar Heights Area Phase IA, 
primarily along West Ridgewood Drive from Cherry Lane to Greenwood Avenue. The 
project requires the acquisition of temporary easements to complete construction. 
Temporary easements that were originally obtained are expiring and therefore new 
temporary easements are required. The owners of the properties that have accepted 
our offer are shown below. 
 
 

Parcel # 
Property 
 Owner 

Street Address Temporary  
Easement 

100 Fairhurst Trust 2125 Greenwood Ave. X 

101 Vasquez 2211 Greenwood Ave. X 

102 Byrd, Twitchell & Hanson 2204 Greenwood Ave. X 

103 Yezek 1612 W. Ridgewood Dr. X 

104 Guy & Seelye 1606 Greenwood Ave. X 

105 Harbach 1522 W. Ridgewoo Dr.  X 

106 Andersen Trust 1514 W. Ridewood Dr. X 

109 Hall 1424 W. Ridgewood Dr. X 

110 Schrage 1513 Cherry Lane X 

 
 
Attached are the maps that identify the location of these properties. Also attached are 
the individual Easement Agreements for the new easements and the documentation for 
them.   
 
 
 
 
 

574

Item 28.



The City has used General Obligation Funds for the design and right of way portion of 
this project. The City entered into a Supplemental Agreement No. 3 with AECOM, Inc., 
of Waterloo, Iowa, on March 22, 2024, for additional property acquisition services for 
Phase IA of the project. If approved, staff will prepare the necessary documents and will 
complete the acquisition process for the parcels. 
 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council state their support in the form of a resolution 
approving the easement acquisitions and authorizing the Mayor to execute the 
agreements for the North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Project Phase 1A. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
   

575

Item 28.



DATE

DR
N

DE
S

CH
K

AP
P

N
O

RE
VI

SI
O

N
S

DR
N

CH
K

DA
TE

PROJECT NO.

SHEET NO.

DRAWING NO.

MILESTONE

576

Item 28.

WickeD
Rectangle Sketch to Scale
0 sf

WickeD
Typewritten Text
The Fairhurst Trust

WickeD
Rectangle Sketch to Scale
0 sf

WickeD
Typewritten Text
Heather Harbach



DATE

DR
N

DE
S

CH
K

AP
P

N
O

RE
VI

SI
O

N
S

DR
N

CH
K

DA
TE

PROJECT NO.

SHEET NO.

DRAWING NO.

MILESTONE

577

Item 28.



DATE

DR
N

DE
S

CH
K

AP
P

N
O

RE
VI

SI
O

N
S

DR
N

CH
K

DA
TE

PROJECT NO.

SHEET NO.

DRAWING NO.

MILESTONE

578

Item 28.



DATE

DR
N

DE
S

CH
K

AP
P

N
O

RE
VI

SI
O

N
S

DR
N

CH
K

DA
TE

PROJECT NO.

SHEET NO.

DRAWING NO.

MILESTONE

579

Item 28.



580

Item 28.



581

Item 28.



582

Item 28.



583

Item 28.



584

Item 28.



585

Item 28.



586

Item 28.



587

Item 28.



588

Item 28.



589

Item 28.



590

Item 28.



591

Item 28.



592

Item 28.



593

Item 28.



594

Item 28.



595

Item 28.



596

Item 28.



597

Item 28.



598

Item 28.



599

Item 28.



600

Item 28.



601

Item 28.



602

Item 28.



603

Item 28.



604

Item 28.



605

Item 28.



606

Item 28.



607

Item 28.



608

Item 28.



609

Item 28.



610

Item 28.



611

Item 28.



612

Item 28.



613

Item 28.



614

Item 28.



615

Item 28.



616

Item 28.



617

Item 28.



618

Item 28.



619

Item 28.



620

Item 28.



621

Item 28.



622

Item 28.



623

Item 28.



624

Item 28.



625

Item 28.



626

Item 28.



627

Item 28.



628

Item 28.



629

Item 28.



630

Item 28.



631

Item 28.



632

Item 28.



633

Item 28.



634

Item 28.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Ben Claypool, Principal Engineer, PhD, PE 
 
 DATE: July 8, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Main Street Reconstruction (6th St. to University) 
  City Project Number: RC-000-3283 
  Temporary Easements 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is currently reconstructing Main Street from 6th Street to University 
Avenue from a 4-lane roadway to a 3-lane roadway. Included in the project are the 
intersections at Seerley Boulevard, 18th Street, and 12th Street. The project also includes 
improvements to the water main, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, sidewalks, and other 
miscellaneous roadway items. The project has required the acquisition of temporary 
easements from one-hundred twenty-nine (129) properties to complete construction. Two 
additional temporary easements are required to complete the work. 
 

Parcel # Owner Address/Parcel ID Acquisition Type 

29/30 2C Properties, LLC 2018 Main Street Temporary Easement 

 
Attached is a map of the entire project where these properties can by identified by parcel 
number. 
 
The City has already used a combination of General Obligation and Street Construction 
Funds for the design and right of way portion of this project and would continue to utilize 
those funding sources for these easements. If approved, City staff will complete the 
easement acquisition process for these parcels. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends that the City 
Council state their support in the form of a resolution approving the easement acquisitions 
and authorize the Mayor to execute the agreements for the Main Street Reconstruction 
Project. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 
 Lisa Roeding, City Controller/Treasurer 

635

Item 29.



p
w

:/
/f

o
th

-p
w

.b
e
n

tl
e
y

.c
o

m
:f

o
th

-p
w

-0
1

/D
o

c
u

m
e
n

ts
/C

li
e
n

ts
/C

e
d

a
r 

F
a
ll

s
 I

A
 C

/M
a
in

 S
tr

e
e
t 

R
e
c
o

n
s
tr

u
c
ti

o
n

/C
A

D
/D

is
p

la
y

s
/A

lt
e
rn

a
ti

v
e
s
/S

tr
ip

M
a
p

_
U

lt
im

a
te

_
P

U
B

5
/2

3
/2

0
2

2

11
14

15

16

17

18

21

22

23

24 27

28

29

30

31

33

32

40

39

38

37

36

41

44

42 43

45

46

47

50

51

52

53

54 55
56

57

58

59

62

63 64 65

66

67

68

71

72

73

74 75

76 79

80

81

82

83

84

87

90

91

92

93

94

95

96

97

98

99

102

103

104

105

106
107

108

109

110

111 114

115

116

117

120

121

122

123

124

125

126 129

130 131 132 133

134

135

138 139
142

150

151

154

155

156
157158

159

162

163

166

167

168

169
170

171

174

175

176177178179

180183

184

185

186

187

188

191

192

193

194

195

196

197

198

199

202

203

204

205

206

207

208
211

212213214

215

216

217

218

221

222223224225

226

227

230

231

232233

234

235

236

237240

241

242

244245

246

243

247
250

251

252

253

254

255

256

259

261

260

262
263

264

265
266

267
270

271

272

273

274

275

278

280

281

282

283

279

284

288

287

289

290

291

292

293

294295

296

298

300

299

BUS-45

AASHTO 2018 (US)
(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45
AASHTO 2018 (US)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45
AASHTO 2018 (US)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45
AASHTO 2018 (US)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

B
U

S
-

4
5

A
A
S

H
T
O
 
2
0
1
8
 
(U

S
)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

B
U

S
-

4
5

A
A
S

H
T
O
 
2
0
1
8
 
(U

S
)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45
AASHTO 2018 (US)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45

AASHTO 2018 (US)
(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

B
U

S
-

4
5

A
A
S

H
T
O
 
2
0
1
8
 
(U

S
)

(c)
 2

02
2 

Tra
ns

oft
 S

olu
tio

ns
, I

nc
. A

ll 
rig

hts
 re

se
rve

d.

FEET

0 100

 WASHINGTON ST

Cedar Falls, Iowa
Main Street Reconstruction

STATE ST

W
 2

0
T

H
 S

T

 W
 2

1
S

T
 S

T

W
 2

2
N

D
 S

T

 S
E
E

R
L
E

Y
 B

L
V

D

 E
 2

0
T

H
 S

T

E
 2

1
S

T
 S

T

 W
 1

7
T

H
 S

T

W
 1

8
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

5
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

6
T

H
 S

T

 WASHINGTON ST

 E
 1

6
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

5
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

4
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

3
T

H
 S

T

W
 7

T
H

 S
T

 E
 7

T
H

 S
T

 W
 9

T
H

 S
T

W
 1

0
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

1
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

1
T

H
 S

T

STATE ST

 W
 6

T
H

 S
T

 WASHINGTON ST

 E
 6

T
H

 S
T

W
 8

T
H

 S
T

E
 8

T
H

 S
T

E
 9

T
H

 S
T

E
 1

0
T

H
 S

T

STATE ST

 W
 1

2
T

H
 S

T

 E
 1

2
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

3
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

4
T

H
 S

T

2604 MAIN ST

D AND J INVESTMENTS INC
110 E SEERLEY BLVD

HARDING ENTERPRISES L C 2310 MAIN ST

LINCOLN SAVINGS BANK

TWIN CARD HOLDINGS LLC

201 E 22ND ST

201 PROPERTIES LLC

TWIN CARD HOLDINGS LLC

2120 MAIN ST

TWIN CARD HOLDINGS LLC

TWIN CARD HOLDINGS LLC

107 E 21ST ST

105 E 21ST ST

WEVERINK, MICHELE L

115 E 21ST ST

TRAETOW, MARY A

2018 MAIN ST

2C PROPERTIES LLC

106 E 21ST ST

104 E 21ST ST

MAI, JASON J

114 E 21ST ST

SULLIVAN,DIANE M TRUST

SULLIVAN,DANIEL E TRUST

2C PROPERTIES LLC

ANGOVE,VICKI TRUST

ANGOVE,GREGORY TRUST

111 E 20TH ST

SCHWAN, EMILY

MASON, THOMAS

115 E 20TH ST

ROBERTS, DONALD

1934 MAIN ST

DJS PROPERTIES LLC

DJS PROPERTIES LLC

T & R RENTALS LLC

106 E 20TH ST

MANLEY, LYNN A

114 E 20TH ST

DAGIT, DEBORAH K

DAGIT, SCOTT K

1932 MAIN ST

1930 MAIN ST

T & R RENTALS LLC

1820 MAIN ST

DEERY INVESTMENTS INC

1922 MAIN ST

KLEIN STORAGE LLC

1904 MAIN ST

DEERY INVESTMENTS INC

103 E 18TH ST

PROPERTIES L C

GRACIE MAE 

113 E 18TH ST

111 E 18TH ST

109 E 18TH ST

107 E 18TH ST

HESSE,C AND L LLC

123 E 18TH ST

ROUNDABOUT CENTER LLC

CVVC PROPERTIES L L C

120 E 18TH ST

118 E 18TH ST

TRP PROPERTIES L L C

1718 MAIN ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1702 MAIN ST

PERMANENT PLANNING INC

1624 MAIN ST

CREW, JUDY L

1616 MAIN ST

RENTALS LLC

CHRISTOPHERSON 1612 MAIN ST

BIENFANG, MARY K

1604 MAIN ST

HAND, MARCEY J

HAND, CHRISTOPHE M

115 E 16TH ST

CRONKHITE, SARA N

CRONKHITE, LEE J

CRONKHITE, SARA N

CRONKHITE, LEE J

120 E 16TH ST

MONAGHAN, BRIAN P

MONAGHAN, BRIDGETTE R

1524 MAIN ST

ROLFES, LANA

ROLFES, DENNIS

1516 MAIN ST

CRALL, MICHAEL G

1504 MAIN ST

CRALL, MICHAEL

115 E 15TH ST

GREDER, GRANT

KEW, BRANDON C

119 E 15TH ST

STRICKLAND, JANE M

121 E 15TH ST

PEVERILL, TAMARA K

PEVERILL, KENNETH W

116 E 15TH ST

GEMINI PROPERTIES L L C

110 E 15TH ST

KRAAYENBRINK, MARLA R

KRAAYENBRINK, RANDY L

1422 MAIN ST

PRIEBE, JOSHUA

PRIEBE, DANIELLE

1416 MAIN ST

VORLAND, DAVID E

1404 MAIN ST

SHYMANSKY, BROCK JAMES

SHYMANSKY, JAMES ANDREW

SHYMANSKY, MICHAEL BOND

1403 STATE ST

SHYMANSKY, BROCK JAMES

SHYMANSKY, JAMES ANDREW

SHYMANSKY, MICHAEL BOND

114 E 14TH ST

PAULI, JACOB

PAULI, NIKOLE

1322 MAIN ST

MALBEC PROPERTIES LLC

1316 MAIN ST

KOG PROPERTIES LLC

1310 MAIN ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1303 STATE ST

PAGEL, LA DONNA K

PAGEL, LARRY E

110 E 13TH ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1121 STATE ST

KUEHL, JEANETTE M

1124 MAIN ST

MARTINEZ, SHEREE

MARTINEZ, MICHAEL R
1120 MAIN ST

LILLY, JAMES A

LILLY, JOSEPHINE A

1116 MAIN ST

COLLINS, JOHNPAUL

1112 MAIN ST

MC FARLANE, DIANE M

MC FARLANE, MONTELL G

1108 MAIN ST

CV PROPERTIES II LLC

1104 MAIN ST

TENTINGER, PETER

111 E 11TH ST

RENTALS OF IOWA LLC

115 E 11TH ST

GERKEN, SUSAN K

GERKEN, ROBERT D

1103 STATE ST

MB RENTALS II LLC

1021 STATE ST

SOUTER, JASMINE M

GASSMAN, MICHAEL

112 E 11TH ST

MC CARTY RENTALS LLC

1022 MAIN ST

SMITH, CHARLOTTE I

1018 MAIN ST

AIRJB LLC

1014 MAIN ST

1012 MAIN ST

1010 MAIN ST

WERNIMONT LLC 1006 MAIN ST

SMIGELSKI, JUSTIN P

1004 MAIN ST

WELSH INVESTMENTS LLC

109 E 10TH ST

HERNANDEZ, THERESA M

GRIFFIN, ELAINE C

117 E 10TH ST

RENTALS OF IOWA LLC

1003 STATE ST

JOHNSON, CHARLES T

JOHNSON, MELINDA C
921 STATE ST

JRICE, MIMI

114 E 10TH ST

MELICK, KENT

MELICK, JEAN

902 MAIN ST

FIRST PRESBYTER, IAN CHURCH C

FIRST PRESBYTER, IAN CHURCH C

124 E 9TH ST

KNAPP, WENDY S

114 E 9TH ST

RUSSELL, NATASHA K

RUSSELL, JAMES C

824 MAIN ST

SHYMANSKY, BROCK JAMES

SHYMANSKY, JAMES ANDREW

SHYMANSKY, MICHAEL BOND

816 MAIN ST

SHYMANSKY, BROCK JAMES

SHYMANSKY, JAMES ANDREW

SHYMANSKY, MICHAEL BOND

802 MAIN ST

800 MAIN ST

ST PATRICKS CHU, RCH

113 E 8TH ST

PIGGOTT, KAIA A

PIGGOTT, JUSTIN G

803 STATE ST

801 STATE ST

KEL MAR LC

721 STATE ST

PIGGOTT, KAIA A

PIGGOTT, JUSTIN G

720 MAIN ST

DEV PROPERTIES LLC

716 MAIN ST

WILCOX, PETER J

712 MAIN ST

710 MAIN ST

708 MAIN ST

706 MAIN ST

BAUCH, CHRISTINA B

BAUCH, JAMES C

702 MAIN ST

702 MAIN LLC

115 E 7TH ST

PROPERTIES LLC

RANDYS RENTAL 

703 STATE ST

123 E 7TH ST

RETH, ADAM

622 MAIN ST

KNUTSON, MARK L

KNUTSON, THERESA B
602 MAIN ST

FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF

528 MAIN ST

524 MAIN ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

515 MAIN ST

FARMERS STATE BANK

516 WASHINGTON ST

CHEVROLET CO INC

RASMUSSON 

HI YIELD LLC

116 W 6TH ST

RICHARDSON FUNERAL HOME INC

601 MAIN ST

CASEYS MARKETING COMPANY

613 MAIN ST

NELSON FUNERAL HOME INCHI YIELD LLC

123 W 7TH ST

HI YIELD LLC

123 W 8TH ST

705 MAIN ST

ST PATRICK CHURCH

115 W 8TH ST

ST PATRICK CHURCH

804 WASHINGTON ST

KEISER, CAROLINE

KEISER, DOUGLAS B

801 MAIN ST

SCHMITT, THERESA D

SCHMITT, KASEY J

805 MAIN ST

CNC INVESTMENTS L L C

811 MAIN ST

M J KNOX LLC
815 MAIN ST

JUANITA LLC

822 WASHINGTON ST

BECKER, AMY L

BECKER, BRIAN C

904 WASHINGTON ST

HARTON, HELEN C

116 W 9TH ST

RICKARD, CLARK J

RICKARD, TWYLA J

903 MAIN ST

RICKARD, CLARK J

909 MAIN ST

HOVENGA, MICHELLE

HOVENGA, REGGIE S

915 MAIN ST

CHASE, SCOTT A

921 MAIN ST

SHUMAKER, CHARLES A

SHUMAKER, AMANDA L

920 WASHINGTON ST

NEWTON, MARK R

122 W 10TH ST

PITZENBERGER, MARY

112 W 10TH ST

STICKFORT, SUSAN G

STICKFORT, THOMAS E

1003 MAIN ST

CHRISTMAN, JESSICA A

CHRISTMAN, KEVIN J

1009 MAIN ST

WILSON CLASBY, NIKKI J

CLASBY, DANIEL B

1015 MAIN ST

CALVARY BAPTIST, CHURCH OF C

1022 WASHINGTON ST

BUTLER, BETTY J

BUTLER, MICHAEL J

120 W 11TH ST

RUSSELL, MEGHAN D

RUSSELL, BEN J

118 W 11TH ST

COLSCH, JOSHUA

COLSCH, JENNIFER

COLSCH, JONATHAN

1103 MAIN ST

1103 MAIN CO OP INC

1109 MAIN ST

MERSHON RENTALS LLC

1115 MAIN ST

CUNNINGHAM, MICHAEL E

1117 MAIN ST

ANDERSON, JOYCE E1123 MAIN ST

1125 MAIN ST

K3D LLC

109 W 12TH ST

K3D LLC

1124 WASHINGTON ST

BEARDSLEY, BRYAN L

1204 WASHINGTON ST

RASMUSSON, DONALD R

114 W 12TH ST

RASMUSSON,JACK R FAMILY TRUST

RASMUSSON,PATRICIA M

1203 MAIN ST

CHRISTOPHERSON, VALERIE K

CHRISTOPHERSON, DAVID J

1209 MAIN ST

TIGERHAWK RENTALS LLC

1217 MAIN ST

MOSSMAN, OLIVIA

MOSSMAN, JONATHAN

1221 MAIN ST

MEINDERS, KOREY J

MEINDERS, CLAYTON

1220 WASHINGTON ST

WINTERHOF, KIM A

WINTERHOF, GARY L

1304 WASHINGTON ST

LEEPER, JENNIFER R

LEEPER, BRADLY D

1303 MAIN ST

ASCHERL, NANCY L

1309 MAIN ST

TURNER, PATRICIA M

TURNER, JOSEPH W

1315 MAIN ST

TURNER, PATRICIA M

TURNER, JOSEPH W

1321 MAIN ST

PONTIOUS, BIANCA

111 W 14TH ST

PURDY, KENT N

115 W 14TH ST

SCHLICHER, MARY A

1322 WASHINGTON ST

PHILLIPS, ANDREA L

1404 WASHINGTON ST

FUCHS, MIKAYLA

FUCHS, BENJAMIN

1403 MAIN ST

COURTNEY, JAY J

1411 MAIN ST

1409 MAIN ST

1407 MAIN ST

MAIN PROPERTIES LLC

1415 MAIN ST

RICHTER, RENELL S

RICHTER, DOUGLAS A

1421 MAIN ST

WEBB, KAREN J

WEBB, DALE S

115 W 15TH ST

RIDENOUR, KIMIE A

1422 WASHINGTON ST

RIDENOUR, KIMIE A

1504 WASHINGTON ST

NORTHWESTERN BELL TELEPHONE CO

1503 MAIN ST

STINER, EMILY M

STINER, DAVID HENRY

1509 MAIN ST

KOTZ, SUE A
1515 MAIN ST

MORAN, AIDAN

1523 MAIN ST

BLOOMQUIST, KARIN

BLOOMQUIST, MITCHEL

115 W 16TH ST

GILGEN, JAMES D

117 W 16TH ST

WERNIMONT REALTY LLC

1520 WASHINGTON ST

WERNIMONT REALTY LLC

1604 WASHINGTON ST

PROPERTIES L L C

OTTER CREEK

114 W 16TH ST

SWAYNE, JENNIFER

110 W 16TH ST

EVERSON, JULIE

1609 MAIN ST

BUNDY, STEVEN J

1615 MAIN ST

KOTZ, LINDSEY A1621 MAIN ST

MB RENTALS II LLC

1603 MAIN ST

MAKA PROPERTIES LLC

1622 WASHINGTON ST

FAUSER, JANE A

FAUSER, RICHARD D

1702 WASHINGTON ST

HOUG, DUSTIN W

1703 MAIN ST

KOG PROPERTIES LLC

1709 MAIN ST

MORD, SHARON J

MORD, JAN K

1711 MAIN ST

FISHER, MARY C

1715 MAIN ST

FREED RENTALS L L C

1721 MAIN ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1722 WASHINGTON ST

DT RENTALS LLC

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1907 MAIN ST

SLINKER, GEORGIA M

SLINKER, DARYL R

1901 MAIN ST

VETTER, LEANN M

VETTER, THOMAS J

1915 MAIN ST

KELLY R & J FAM TRUST

1925 MAIN ST

REISETTER, JENNIFER A

REISETTER, MATTHEW T

1929 MAIN ST

CLAYTON, JENNIFER

CLAYTON, JEREMY

1931 MAIN ST

ROBERT, RICHARD L

1935 MAIN ST

BUDKE, PATRICIA L

BUDKE, KENNETH A

115 W 20TH ST

ROBERT, RICHARD L
2004 WASHINGTON ST

HOEL, TERRY D

2003 MAIN ST

DOLLYS RENTALS LLC

2009 MAIN ST

NUSS, JAMES B

2017 MAIN ST

CHRISTOPHERSON, DAVID J

2021 MAIN ST

CBJ HOLDINGS LLC

2022 WASHINGTON ST

KERR, KATHLEEN A

110 W 21ST ST

SOUTHGATE PROPERTIES L C

2109 MAIN ST

REFSHAUGE, BONITA M

2115 MAIN ST

SOUTHGATE PROPERTIES L C

2121 MAIN ST

HICKS, BONNIE K

HAHN, JERRY W

2125 MAIN ST

PURDY, KENT N

2103 MAIN ST

THOMPSON, SANDRA L

117 W 22ND ST

ANDERA, JORDAN D

2203 MAIN ST

JACOBSON, DONALD L

2204 WASHINGTON ST

THOMPSON, JOANNA L

2205 MAIN ST

COULTHARD, VERLA F

COULTHARD, ALVIN E2215 MAIN ST

2217 MAIN ST

SCHWAKE, MARY L

SCHWAKE, JEFFREY A

2221 MAIN ST

RIVERSIDE INVESTMENTS LLC

2301 MAIN ST

RIVERSIDE INVESTMENTS LLC

2303 MAIN ST

CV PROPERTIES II LLC

2309 MAIN ST

EMAAD LLC

2323 MAIN ST

EMAAD LLC

2322 WASHINGTON ST

PARTNERSHIP

IVERSON AND REIGHARD

204 SEERLEY BLVD

Z PROPERTIES LLC

7404 UNIVERSITY AVE

D AND J INVESTMENTS INC

STATE OF IOWA

636

Item 29.

AndreasenL
Line

claypoolb
Rectangle

claypoolb
Rectangle

claypoolb
Callout
Temporary Easement

claypoolb
Callout
Temporary Easement



637

Item 29.



638

Item 29.



639

Item 29.



640

Item 29.



641

Item 29.



642

Item 29.



643

Item 29.



644

Item 29.



645

Item 29.



646

Item 29.



647

Item 29.



648

Item 29.



649

Item 29.



650

Item 29.



651

Item 29.



652

Item 29.



653

Item 29.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Daniel Laudick Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Ben Claypool, Principal Engineer, PhD, PE 
 
 DATE: July 15, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Viking Rd and Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements Project  
  City Project Number: RC-232-3308 
  Right of Way Acquisition 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is planning to reconstruct the intersection of Viking Road at 
Prairie Parkway by converting the stop-controlled intersection to a roundabout. Work will 
also include the installation of curbed medians between Andrea Drive and Prairie 
Parkway. The project will require the acquisition of two (2) temporary construction 
easements, two (2) fee title acquisitions for right-of-way, and one (1) Crop Loss 
Agreement with the tenant farmer from a total of three (3) property owners. The owners 
of the following two (2) properties have accepted our offers: 
 
 

Parcel # Owner Address/Parcel ID Acquisition Type 

6 Deere & Company 891331101003 
Fee Title &                                            
Crop Loss Agreement (w/Tenant Farmer) 

8 Tiger Lilly Investments, LLC 1000 Brandilynn Blvd Temporary Easement 

  
 
Attached are maps depicting these properties and the associated acquisition limits. Also 
attached are the individual Owner Purchase Agreements for the new easements and 
fee title acquisitions, the Crop Loss Agreement for the tenant farmer for Parcel 6, and 
the documentation for them. 
 
The City will be using the Pinnacle Prairie Tax Increment Financing as the funding 
source for the design and right-of-way portion of this project. The City entered into a 
Professional Services Agreement with Snyder and Associates, Inc., of Cedar Rapids, 
Iowa, on June 6, 2023 for this work. If approved, staff will prepare the necessary 
documents and will complete the acquisition process for the parcels. 
 
 

654

Item 30.



Staff recommends that the City Council state their support in the form of a resolution 
approving the fee title, easement acquisitions, and crop loss agreement and authorizing 
the Mayor to execute the agreements for the Viking Rd and Prairie Parkway Intersection 
Improvements Project. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 
 Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 
 Lisa Roeding, City Controller/Treasurer 

655

Item 30.



EASEMENT

10' UTILITY

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

ACCESS EASEMENT

25' UTILITY & 

EASEMENT

WATER UTILITY 

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

EASEMENT

10' UTILITY

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

ACCESS EASEMENT

25' UTILITY & 

EASEMENT

WATER UTILITY 

1
0
0
0
 B

R
A

N
D
IL

Y
N

N
 B

L
V

D

T
IG

E
R
 L
IL

Y
 I

N
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
S
 L

L
C

08

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

1000 BRANDILYNN BLVD

TIGER LILY INVESTMENTS LLC

08

IMPROVEMENTS
PROPOSED SIDEWALK 

IMPROVEMENTS
PROPOSED ROADWAY 

EXISTING ROW

GRADING LIMITS

PROPOSED TEMPORARY EASEMENT

148.6'

5
0
'

23'

EXISTING

EXISTING

5'

1
0
'

138.7'

5'

ORDColorHalfWeightPDF.pltcfg

6/25/2024 OpenRoadsDesigner_SAA

\\Gemini\Volume\Projects\2022\122.1702.08\CADD\EXH_1221702_ROW_Acquisitions_2024-03-21.dgn

VIKING RD AND PRAIRIE PARKWAY INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 06/25/2024TIGER LILY INVESTMENTS LLC EASEMENTSFEET

0 25

PROPOSED RIGHT OF WAY

EXISTING RIGHT OF WAY

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

LEGEND

2,038 SQ. FT

TEMPORARY EASEMENT

EXISTING EASEMENT

656

Item 30.



OVERFLOW EASEMENT

STORM SEWER & STORM 

20' UTILITY, RECREATION, 

SEWER EASEMENT

30' STORM 

RECREATION EASEMENT

20' UTILITY & 

EASEMENT

10' UTILITY 

OVERFLOW EASEMENT

20' STORM SEWER & STORM 

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

EASEMENT

OVERFLOW 

10' STORM 

EASEMENT

OVERFLOW 

10' STORM 

OVERFLOW EASEMENT

15' UTILITY, ACCESS & STORM 

OVERFLOW EASEMENT

15' UTILITY, ACCESS & STORM 

EASEMENT

10' UTILITY

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

ACCESS EASEMENT

25' UTILITY & 

ACCESS EASEMENT

25' UTILITY & 

EASEMENT

WATER UTILITY 

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

OVERFLOW EASEMENT

STORM SEWER & STORM 

20' UTILITY, RECREATION, 

SEWER EASEMENT

30' STORM 

RECREATION EASEMENT

20' UTILITY & 

EASEMENT

10' UTILITY 

OVERFLOW EASEMENT

20' STORM SEWER & STORM 

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

EASEMENT

OVERFLOW 

10' STORM 

EASEMENT

OVERFLOW 

10' STORM 

OVERFLOW EASEMENT

15' UTILITY, ACCESS & STORM 

OVERFLOW EASEMENT

15' UTILITY, ACCESS & STORM 

EASEMENT

10' UTILITY

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

ACCESS EASEMENT

25' UTILITY & 

ACCESS EASEMENT

25' UTILITY & 

EASEMENT

WATER UTILITY 

10' UTILITY EASEMENT

WATERLOO IA 50703

3500 E DONALD ST

DEERE AND COMPANY

06

WATERLOO IA 50703

3500 E DONALD ST

DEERE AND COMPANY

06

EXISTING CFU ALIGNMENT

PROPOSED CFU ALIGNMENT

203.2

449
.8

157.2

132

ORDColorHalfWeightPDF.pltcfg

3/22/2024 OpenRoadsDesigner_SAA

V:\Projects\2022\122.1702.08\CADD\EXH_1221702_ROW_Acquisitions_2024-03-21.dgn

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 3/22/2024

VIKING RD AND PRAIRIE PARKWAY INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT

DEERE AND COMPANY PROPERTY ACQUISITIONFEET

0 40 80

PROPOSED RIGHT OF WAY

EXISTING RIGHT OF WAY

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

LEGEND

65,874.9 SQ FT

FEE AQUISITION

65,786 SQ FT

657

Item 30.



658

Item 30.



659

Item 30.



660

Item 30.



661

Item 30.



662

Item 30.



663

Item 30.



664

Item 30.



665

Item 30.



666

Item 30.



667

Item 30.



668

Item 30.



669

Item 30.



670

Item 30.



671

Item 30.



672

Item 30.



673

Item 30.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Benjamin Claypool, Principal Engineer, PE, PhD 
 
 DATE: July 5, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Viking Road & Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements Project 
  City Project Number: RC-232-3308 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the Viking Road & Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements 
Project. 
 

We recommend setting Monday, August 5th, 2024 at 7:00pm as the date and time for the 
public hearing on this project and Friday, August 9th, 2024, at 2pm as the date and time 
for receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders be published 
by Thursday, August 8th, 2024. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for distribution 
to contractors on Tuesday, July 16th, 2024 via QuestCDN, allowing more than two (2) 
weeks of review before contract letting. 
 

This project generally consists of the installation of a roundabout at the intersection of 
Viking Road and Prairie Parkway, storm sewer, sidewalk, and landscaping within the 
roundabout center island. Raised Medians will be installed from the proposed roundabout 
to Andrea Drive. 
 

The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $2,532,090.00. The project 
will be funded by Pinnacle Prairie Tax Increment Financing.  
 

The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approving the 
Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities for the Viking Road & Prairie 
Parkway Intersection Improvements Project. 
 
xc: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
  

674

Item 31.



ITEM # ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE
DIVISION 1 

(CITY)

DIVISION 2 

(TSIP)
EXTENDED PRICE

1 2010-C Clearing and Grubbing 1 LS 12,000.00$     12,000.00$        12,000.00$           
2 2010-D-1 Topsoil, On-site 3400 CY 5.00$              17,000.00$        17,000.00$           
3 2010-E Excavation Class 10 5435 CY 8.00$              43,480.00$        43,480.00$           
4 2010-G Subgrade Preparation, 6" 2792 SY 1.00$              2,792.00$          2,792.00$             
5 2010-G Subgrade Preparation, 12" 9537 SY 2.00$              19,074.00$        14,156.00$       19,074.00$           
6 2010-H Granular Stabilization 558 TON 27.00$            15,066.00$        15,066.00$           
7 2010-J Subbase, Modified, 12" 9537 SY 16.50$            40,573.50$        116,787.00$     157,360.50$         
8 2010-M Compaction Testing 1 LS 3,500.00$       3,500.00$          3,500.00$             
9 3010-C Trench Foundation 20 TON 50.00$            1,000.00$          1,000.00$             

10 3010-D Replacement of Unsuitable Backfill Material 100 CY 60.00$            6,000.00$          6,000.00$             
11 3010-F Trench Compaction Testing 1 LS 2,000.00$       2,000.00$          2,000.00$             
12 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  HDPE, 15" 280 LF 45.00$            12,600.00$        12,600.00$           
13 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  HDPE, 18" 297 LF 50.00$            14,850.00$        14,850.00$           
14 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  HDPE, 24" 27 LF 75.00$            2,025.00$          2,025.00$             
15 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  HDPE PERFORATED, 15" 92 LF 70.00$            6,440.00$          6,440.00$             
16 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  HDPE PERFORATED, 24" 204 LF 85.00$            17,340.00$        17,340.00$           
17 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  RCP, 15" 196 LF 50.00$            9,800.00$          9,800.00$             
18 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  RCP, 24" 70 LF 95.00$            6,650.00$          6,650.00$             
19 4020-D Removal of Storm Sewer, RCP, 15" 823 LF 20.00$            16,460.00$        16,460.00$           
20 4040-A Subdrain, Type 1, PE, 6" 2812 LF 10.00$            28,120.00$        28,120.00$           
21 4040-C-1 Subdrain Cleanout, Type A-1, 6" 11 EA 250.00$          2,750.00$          2,750.00$             
22 4040-D-1 Subdrain Outlets and Connections, CMP, 6" 25 EA 160.00$          4,000.00$          4,000.00$             
23 5010-A Water Main, Trenched, DIP, 12" 10 LF 300.00$          3,000.00$          3,000.00$             
24 5010-C-2 Fitting, DI MJ, 12" 156 LB 20.00$            3,120.00$          3,120.00$             
25 5020-A Valve, Gate, 12" 1 EA 2,500.00$       2,500.00$          2,500.00$             
26 5020-C Fire Hydrant Assembly 1 EA 6,800.00$       6,800.00$          6,800.00$             
27 5020-G Valve Box Extension 1 EA 2,000.00$       2,000.00$          2,000.00$             
28 5020-I Fire Hydrant Adjustment 1 EA 1,500.00$       1,500.00$          1,500.00$             
29 5020-J Fire Hydrant Assembly Removal 1 EA 1,200.00$       1,200.00$          1,200.00$             
30 6010-A Manhole, SW-401, 48" 2 EA 5,200.00$       10,400.00$        10,400.00$           
31 6010-A Manhole, SW-403, (Inside Dimensions 4'-0" X 9'-0") 1 EA 11,000.00$     11,000.00$        11,000.00$           
32 6010-B Intake, SW-501 1 EA 4,000.00$       4,000.00$          4,000.00$             
33 6010-B Intake, SW-507, Small Box 2 EA 6,000.00$       12,000.00$        12,000.00$           
34 6010-B Intake, SW-509, Small Box 4 EA 9,000.00$       36,000.00$        36,000.00$           
35 6010-B Intake, SW-512, 24" 1 EA 3,000.00$       3,000.00$          3,000.00$             
36 6010-B Intake, SW-545, Extended Opening (7'-10") 3 EA 9,500.00$       28,500.00$        28,500.00$           
37 6010-B Intake, SW-545, Extended Opening (11'-10") 1 EA 10,500.00$     10,500.00$        10,500.00$           
38 6010-G-2 Connection to Existing Intake 1 EA 2,500.00$       2,500.00$          2,500.00$             
39 6010-H-2 Remove Intake 6 EA 750.00$          4,500.00$          4,500.00$             
40 7010-A Pavement, PCC,  8", Class C 7078.2 SY 52.00$            368,066.40$     368,066.40$         
41 7010-E Curb and Gutter, PCC Sloped 6", 2' wide, 8" thick 2076 LF 37.00$            76,812.00$        76,812.00$           
42 7010-E Curb, PCC, 12" wide, 12.6" thick 289 LF 40.00$            11,560.00$        11,560.00$           
43 7010-G Concrete Median 427 SY 125.00$          53,375.00$        53,375.00$           
44 7010-I PCC Pavement Samples and Testing 1 LS 3,000.00$       3,000.00$          3,000.00$             
45 7010-999-A Truck Apron with 8" PCC Base for Pavers 435 SY 85.00$            36,975.00$        36,975.00$           
46 7010-999-B Splitter Island with 8" PCC Base for Pavers 230 SY 125.00$          28,750.00$        28,750.00$           
47 7030-A-1 Removal of Sidewalk 910.4 SY 10.00$            9,104.00$          9,104.00$             
48 7030-D Special Subgrade Preparation for 8' & 10' Sidewalk, 6" 4257 SY 1.00$              4,257.00$          4,257.00$             
49 7030-E Sidewalk, PCC, 6" 2878 SY 37.00$            106,486.00$      106,486.00$         
50 7030-F Brick/Paver, Granite 32 SY 220.00$          7,040.00$          7,040.00$             
51 7030-F Brick/Paver, Rustic Red 633 SY 170.00$          107,610.00$      107,610.00$         
52 7030-G Detectable Warning 320 SF 55.00$            17,600.00$        17,600.00$           
53 7030-H-1 Driveway, Paved, PCC, 7" 56 SY 50.00$            2,800.00$          2,800.00$             
54 7030-H-3 Driveway, Granular, 12" 11 TON 35.00$            385.00$             385.00$                
55 7040-B Subbase Over-excavation 215 TON 45.00$            9,675.00$          9,675.00$             
56 7040-H Pavement Removal 8374.3 SY 6.00$              50,245.80$        50,245.80$           
57 8010-999-A Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) System A 1 LS 21,600.00$     21,600.00$       21,600.00$           
58 8010-999-A Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) System B 1 LS 21,600.00$     21,600.00$       21,600.00$           
59 8010-999-A Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) System C 1 LS 21,600.00$     21,600.00$       21,600.00$           
60 8010-999-A Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) System D 1 LS 21,600.00$     21,600.00$       21,600.00$           
61 8010-999-A Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) System E 1 LS 21,600.00$     21,600.00$       21,600.00$           
62 8010-999-A Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) System F 1 LS 21,600.00$     21,600.00$       21,600.00$           
63 8010-999-B Remove & Salvage Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) System 1 LS 7,000.00$       7,000.00$          7,000.00$             
64 8020-B Painted Pavement Markings, Solvent/Waterborne 42.84 STA 150.00$          6,426.00$          6,426.00$             
65 8020-G Painted Symbols and Legends, Solvent/Waterborne 12 EA 250.00$          3,000.00$          3,000.00$             
66 8020-K Pavement Markings Removed 45.25 STA 80.00$            3,620.00$          3,620.00$             
67 8020-999-O Water Blasted Grooves for Pavement Markings 42.84 STA 110.00$          4,712.40$          4,712.40$             
68 8020-999-P Water Blasted Grooves for Symbols and Legends 12 EA 180.00$          2,160.00$          2,160.00$             

OPINION OF PROBABLE PROJECT COSTS
VIKING ROAD AND PRAIRIE PARKWAY

INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

PROJECT NO. RC-232-3308

\\Gemini\Volume\Projects\2022\122.1702.08\CADD\2024-07-03_122.1702_CF_Prairie&Viking_FINALBID.xlsm

675

Item 31.



69 8030-A Temporary Traffic Control 1 LS 25,000.00$     25,000.00$        25,000.00$           
70 8040-B Traffic Signs by Area 143.5 SF 28.00$            4,018.00$          4,018.00$             
71 8040-D Perforated Square Steel Tube Posts 242 LF 20.00$            4,840.00$          4,840.00$             
72 8040-I Removal and Reinstallation of Sign 2 EA 250.00$          500.00$             500.00$                
73 8940-999-A Removal of Signs 13 EA 150.00$          1,950.00$          1,950.00$             
74 8999-A Lighting, Overhead 1 LS 134,000.00$   134,000.00$      134,000.00$         
75 9010-B Hydraulic Seeding, Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching, Type 5 1.04 AC 4,500.00$       4,680.00$          4,680.00$             
76 9010-B Hydraulic Seeding, Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching, Type 6 (Salt-Resistant) 3.40 AC 5,500.00$       18,700.00$        18,700.00$           
77 9010-D Watering 340 MGAL 95.00$            32,300.00$        32,300.00$           
78 9030-D Plants with Warranty 1 LS 37,800.00$     37,800.00$        37,800.00$           
79 9040-A-2 SWPPP Management 1 LS 2,500.00$       2,500.00$          2,500.00$             
80 9040-D-1 Filter Sock, 8" 5812 LF 2.00$              11,624.00$        11,624.00$           
81 9040-D-2 Filter Socks, Removal 5812 LF 1.00$              5,812.00$          5,812.00$             
82 9040-O-1 Stabilized Construction Entrance 150 TON 40.00$            6,000.00$          6,000.00$             
83 9040-T-1 Inlet Protection Device, Surface Applied 12 EA 100.00$          1,200.00$          1,200.00$             
84 9040-T-2 Inlet Protection Device, Maintenance 12 EA 20.00$            240.00$             240.00$                
85 9030-999-A Mulch, Shredded Bark 24 CY 200.00$          4,800.00$          4,800.00$             
86 9030-999-B Mulch, Rock 4 CY 300.00$          1,200.00$          1,200.00$             
87 9040-N-1 Silt Fence or Silt Fence Ditch Check 2184 LF 4.00$              8,736.00$          8,736.00$             
88 9040-N-2 Silt Fence or Silt Fence Ditch Check, Removal of Sediment 6 EA 1,500.00$       9,000.00$          9,000.00$             
89 9040-N-3 Silt Fence or Silt Fence Ditch Check, Removal of Device 2184 LF 1.00$              2,184.00$          2,184.00$             
90 9060-E Fence Removal 1464 LF 8.00$              11,712.00$        11,712.00$           
91 9080-C Safety Rail, 42" 30 LF 175.00$          5,250.00$          5,250.00$             
92 9920-999-A Mowing 33 AC 300.00$          9,900.00$          9,900.00$             
93 11,020-A Mobilization 1 LS 190,000.00$   190,000.00$      190,000.00$         
94 11,050-A Concrete Washout 1 LS 1,500.00$       1,500.00$          1,500.00$             
95 0000-999-A Monuments 1 LS 155,000.00$   155,000.00$      155,000.00$         
96 0000-999-B Limestone Edging, 6" Wide x 6" Tall 8 TON 915.00$          7,320.00$          7,320.00$             
97 0000-999-D Electrical & Lighting 1 LS 11,000.00$     11,000.00$        11,000.00$           

Subtotal (rounded): 1,687,400.00$    628,610.00$     2,301,900.00$      

Contingency (10%): 230,190.00$         

CONSTRUCTION TOTAL: 2,532,090.00$      

Other Project Costs

Right of Way(1): $231,234.14

Utility Relocations (2) 580,000.00$         

TOTAL PROJECT COST (Rounded): 3,343,330.00$      

Notes

(1)

(2) The CFU relocation costs are based on previous estimates from CFU and a 25% contingency.  

This item includes the acquistion areas shown on the H sheets.

\\Gemini\Volume\Projects\2022\122.1702.08\CADD\2024-07-03_122.1702_CF_Prairie&Viking_FINALBID.xlsm

676

Item 31.

claypoolb
Snapshot

claypoolb
Snapshot



677

Item 32.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
DAILY INVOICES FOR 07/15/24 COUNCIL MEETING



678

Item 32.



679

Item 32.



680

Item 32.



681

Item 32.



682

Item 32.



683

Item 32.



684

Item 32.



685

Item 32.



686

Item 32.



687

Item 32.



688

Item 32.



689

Item 32.



690

Item 32.



691

Item 32.



692

Item 32.



693

Item 32.



694

Item 32.



695

Item 32.



696

Item 32.



697

Item 32.



698

Item 32.



699

Item 32.



700

Item 32.



701

Item 32.



702

Item 32.



703

Item 32.



704

Item 32.



705

Item 32.



706

Item 32.



707

Item 32.



708

Item 32.



709

Item 32.



710

Item 32.



711

Item 32.



712

Item 32.



713

Item 32.



714

Item 32.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
COUNCIL INVOICES FOR 07/15/24 MEETING



715

Item 32.



716

Item 32.



717

Item 32.



718

Item 32.



719

Item 32.



720

Item 32.



721

Item 32.



722

Item 32.



723

Item 32.



724

Item 32.



725

Item 32.



726

Item 32.



727

Item 32.



728

Item 32.



729

Item 32.



730

Item 32.



731

Item 32.



732

Item 32.



733

Item 32.



734

Item 32.



735

Item 32.



736

Item 32.



737

Item 32.



738

Item 32.



739

Item 32.



740

Item 32.



741

Item 32.



742

Item 32.



743

Item 32.



744

Item 32.



745

Item 32.



746

Item 32.



747

Item 32.



748

Item 32.



749

Item 32.



750

Item 32.



751

Item 32.



752

Item 32.



753

Item 32.



754

Item 32.



755

Item 32.



756

Item 32.



757

Item 32.



758

Item 32.



759

Item 32.



760

Item 32.



761

Item 32.



762

Item 32.



763

Item 32.



764

Item 32.


	Top
	Item 1.	Minutes 07-01-24
	240701MINUTES

	Item 2.	PH-Convey vacated Right-of-way alley at 1307 Longview St.
	1 staff report
	2. Res to conveyLongview alley row 7-10-24
	3. survey
	4. appraisal

	Item 3.	PH-Adoption of CDBG 5-Year Consolidated Plan and Annual Plan
	Council information

	Item 4.	3069-Rezoning 2216 Main St. & 127 E 23rd St.
	1 CC Staff Report two lot RezoningPHf
	2. ZoningLocationMap2 lot
	3 Rezoning Plat
	4 Ord. 3069-2216 Main St. & 127 East 23rd

	Item 5.	3070-Chap. 10-Garbage & Refuse
	1. Refuse Draft
	2. Ord. Chapter 10-Final

	Item 6.	3071-Chap. 2-Administration
	1. Memo to Mayor and Council 2nd tranche of Amendments
	2. Ordinance Chapter 2 amendments
	3. Ordinance Chapter 2-Final

	Item 7.	3072-Chap. 17-Parks & Rec.
	1. Ordinance Section 17-210 Amendment
	2. Ordinance Section 17-210 Final

	Item 8.	3073-Chap. 23-Traffic & Motor Vehicles
	1. Ordinance Section 23-374 Amendment
	2. Ordinance Section 23-374 final

	Item 9.	3074-Chap. 26-Zoning
	1. Ordinance Section 26-165 Amendment
	2. Ordinance Section 26-165 final

	Item 10.	Committee of the Whole Minutes 07-01-2024
	07-01-24 Standing Committees Minutes

	Item 11.	Boards & Commissions
	2024-07-15_ACB_Reappoint_Berentzen

	Item 12.	Maintenance Worker - Civil Service Certified List
	MaintWkrCertList-Final7-24

	Item 13.	Receive and file FY2025 Cash Management Report
	1cash mgmt council memo FY25 Rec-File-Appr
	2FY25 Cash Management Report

	Item 14.	Art & Culture Bylaws
	1. Memo ACB Bylaws 6-2024
	2. Bylaws adopted June 26
	3. Bylaws Redlined 053024

	Item 15.	Retail alcohol 7-15-24
	Retail alcohol 07-15-24

	Item 17.	CFD 1121, Section 2.4-Electronic Meeting Procedures
	1. Memo to Mayor Council amendment to CF1121
	2. SF 2385 red line
	3. Resolution Amending CFD 1121
	4. Resolution Amending CFD 1121 FINAL

	Item 18.	Sidewalk Cafe - Patton's
	3051_001

	Item 19.	Joinder agreement-National Insurance Services of Wisconsin Insurance
	7-1-24 revised joinder agreement CouncilMemo
	Joinder Agreement - MNL - LIF -  - 24984 - 7-1-2024 - SENT - CEDAR FALLS CITY OF - IA - 026982 - 5205 -

	Item 20.	Subordination Agreement-2339 Greenwood Ave.
	2. 2339 Greenwood Ave
	Res.-SubordinationCH

	Item 21.	Lyngsoe Systems Agreement
	Lyngsoe Packet

	Item 22.	Rescind-23,667-Firearms Purchase
	Rescind.RES

	Item 23.	Firearms Purchase
	Firearms purchase

	Item 24.	Red House Studio Extension of Lease Agreements
	1-Red House Studios Extensions Memo_07012024
	2. Lease Extension AW
	3. Lease Extension ND

	Item 25.	Red House Studio-New Lease
	4. Red House UNI 2024-25 Lease

	Item 26.	Iowa DOT Addendum to Agreement
	1. Addendum
	2. 2018-4-269B_CedarFalls_Final

	Item 27.	Fresh Start Agreement
	CC custodial packet 2024

	Item 28.	North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Phase 1 A-Temp Easements
	1.Memo - North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruciton Phase 1A Temp Easements
	2. Acquisition Locations Map
	3. Parcel 100 - Fairhurst Trust
	4. Parcel 101 - Vasquez
	5. Parcel 102 - ByrdTwitchell- Hanson
	6. Parcel 103 - Yezek
	7. Parcel 104 - Guy
	8. Parcel 105 - Harbach
	9. Parcel 106 - Andersen Trust
	10 .Parcel 109 - Hall
	11. Parcel 110- Schrage

	Item 29.	Main Street Reconstruction-Temporary Easements
	1. ROW Memo - Main Street Reconstruction Temporary Easements
	2. Map
	3. Owner Purchase Agreements and Temp Easements

	Item 30.	Viking Rd and Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements-ROW Acquisitions
	1. Memo ROW Acquisition - Viking Road and Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements
	2. Maps
	3. Deere Fee Title & Crop Loss Agreement
	4. Tiger Lilly Temporary Easement

	Item 31.	Set PH-Viking Road & Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements Project
	1. Memo PSE - Viking Road & Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements Project
	2. Estimate

	Item 32.	Bills and Claims 07/15/24
	1 Daily Invoices 071524
	2 Council Invoices 071524

	Bottom

